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Chapter 1

The highway patrolman got oof his cruiser and approached the other
vehicle, a fiveyearold Toyota Corolla with enough patchwork orethody to
shame a quilt. As he did so he checked his shotddiés to be sure it was set to
mic on, so that thelashcamin the cruiser could pick uand record the audio.

The officer was a big mahntall, and athletic too. He was in his late
thirties bu still had the narrow waist and broad shoulders of a college
linebacker, which in fact he had once been. His chest was huge, in part from
pumping iron, bualso due to the thick Kevlar vest he wore under his uniform
shirt. He spoke with an air of authoyjtpolite but firm, asking the driver for his
license andegistration

The driver of the Toyota was much shorter, but outweighed the officer by
fifty pounds. His license identified him as William Houck, male, heighB5n.,
weight Z75. Houck was dviing north on 45 between San Diego and Los Angeles,

a known drug transportation routeince much of the stuff came from Mexico.
This was the real reason the officer had stopped him. He fit the profile of a drug
courier an adult male in highirties driving alone in midday in the right lane,

at exactly 65, the speed limit, in a nondescript car. Everyone else drove 70 or
more. He practically screamed that he was trying to avoid drawing attention to
himself.The officer had noted that the license plate cmlescured the rear plate

a bit, cutting off the bottom of the letters so the E looked like an F. This was the
legal reason to stop him in case he rexbohe.

The officer walked back to his pa
plate. No wants or waants on the car. It was registered to someeafse but
wasnodot reported as stol en. Houcé&ndhad
a petty theft two years ago, but W ¢
returned to the Toyota and asked the dritcestep out of the vehicle. He directed
Houck to the rear of the car where he pointed out the plate cover. He did not,
however, begin to write up a ticket. Instead he asked the driver what was in the
trunk. It appeared to be riding a bit low in back, lwerenented.

Houck said there was nothing in
taking a | ook, now would you?0 the
mumbled something unintelligible. The officer demanded the keys, which Houck
produced, but continued tdage there was nothing inthere iBut you d
me | ooking, right ?06 Houck answered
legally might have been consent, meamiogh e di dnét mind, or



4 FATAL DOSE

refusal to consent , aisagon the ldwixeoarguidgdhe 6 t
matter. But it didnot matter here an
several hundred pounds of cocaine wrapped in plastic bags. He turned to Houck
just in time to see the gun, a .32 calilseubnosedrevolver, aSaturday night
specialwithout a lot of stopping power.

The patrol man batt e dndidlowed kind kardg u n
the shot went wide. Houck stumblbdckward and fell as the officer, in a
smooth, practiced motiopulled his own gun, a .38&miautonatic pistol with a
four-inch barrel loaded with hollowpoint rounds, and fired five times into
Houckods torso. Houck | ay i mmobile o
wounds his gun on the ground a few inches from his hand

The officerquickly stepped bck a few paces onto the shoulder of the
road and radioed in for backup, reporting that a man was down from multiple
gunshot wounddde released the mic button so that he could hearg¢bponse
Asthe patrolmanturned his headlightly to listen, Houck gked up the gun from
the ground and from hisupine position fired a single shot in the general
direction of the officer. The point of impact was not obvious, but the officer
immediately began to stagger and radioed that he had been hit. Desperation
couldbe heard in his voice. Within seconds he crumpled to the ground and died.

The video stopped and the lights came on in the courtroom.

Cliff had watched the video dozens of times by now but it still made him
sick to his stomach. A fine young officerttiar of threehad his life snuffed out
by a single shot from a drug couriand all caught on dashcalhwas a horrible
crime under any circumstances, but this one seemed outrageously, obscenel
unfair. The officerds gutnhehadado urwiecred
longer barrel and larger caliber ammunition. His bullets traveled much faster and
hit the criminal five times in the body with no ballistic proteetivest Yet
Houck had |l ived and the offi ceioushhad
hurt. The hollow point rounds were designed for the safety of the public in mind.
They were supposed to expand in the human body on impact, thus expending al
their energy thereas the tip flattenedprevening them from penetratinghe
t ar g day d@dhittibgdnnocent persons behind the criminal. That was fine in
theory. But Houckdés obesity served
encased his midsection. Not one of the five shots had penetrated intitathe
organs. H o uat, lord the otheér mand, éad kiththe officer in th
upper armyricochetedoff the bonethrough the armhole of his protective vest,
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and penetrated the aorta, l eading toc
had been to go for his radio befalisaming Houck
Anofficer Knowles, o0 the | awyer beg

not, that the officer shot my client three times aftehddd r opped hi s ¢
Technically, this was true. As Houck had fallen, his grip on the gun
loosened betweethe second and third shots and some slight space could be seer
between his hand and the butt of the gasrit fell This couldonly be seen when
the video from the car camera was played in dtosv motion. The slow motion,
however, was misleading, as thieots were so close together thateal time it
was impossible to tell the gun was loose before the fifth shot was fired.
AfCounselor, you have my title wroc
Agent before | retired. An FBI agerdMr. Knowled will do. Actually, let me
correct that. aBman of fi cer. An officer of the
of the California Bar and |1 6ve been
can call each other officer, sinas a lawyey o u @nrofficer of thecourt t oo . C
The judge, agraying moonfaced womarwearing large hoop earrings
smiled ever so slightly at the answer before resuming her neutral expression.
The defense counselad been trying to mini
calling him officer, butbpbwhebecame fl ustered and sp
guestion.The officer gunned my client down after my client no longer posed a

threat, didnét he?0

AActuall vy, t hat wasnot your qgues’
defendant three times after had dropped his gun. The answer to that is no, for
sever al reasons. Firstéo

iThat s enough, 06 t he-nd quesyoe.rin facta r k
didndt éo

iObjecti on. The witness shoul d k
Defense counsel is the one whokexs for this hearing to provide expert
testimony to the court on reasonabl e
from hearing that expert t estadsmpny . ¢
tongued woman with bifocals framed in a severe shade oShedlooked as hard
as a cricket bat anmbuld strike with equébrce

il withdraw t he The defense atorney wae hoping h ¢
to change course, but the judge was having none of it.

Al dm going to sustain t hris,soonbyle ct
want to hear what they have say. | listened to your experthis is a death

A

penalty case, afteralL et 6s hear from Mr. Knowl e:
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extra emphasis on the word AMr. o0 to
on he . AThe witness wild/l compl ete his

AFirst, o CIliff continued, ithe d
word drop implies an intentional act. It is obvious from his first shot that he
intended to shoot the officer, an intentionduickly carriedout, thus showing he
never changed that intenton The gun f el from his
Second, it is only discernible from the slomotion replay that the gun had begun
to separate from his hand bet wengl® sh
t hat i s, above the defendantds hand
separation at that point. He would only have seen that the gun was still pointed in
his direction andhe defendant, who had shot at him, was moving. It would have
been unlikéy that he could telivhether the defendant was ducking, dodging, or
falling, in the split second between those shots. As to your second question
whether the defendant posed a threat when the final shots were fired by the
of ficer, I t h iyrtHe fatt tha defersdantashad thee affieed dedd
within seconds after that point. o

Defense counsel was getting nowhere. This was ground already covered
on direct examination and he was just giving the prosecution another chance tc
put it before the judge. ¢ldecided to take another tack.

AnAre you familiar with Professor
during police shootingsn the Yale Law Reviewthe one ceauthored by
ProfessoiRachelMar gol i n? 06 The dappingsnew, hopirsgy |
to belittle Knowles by comparing his academic credentials to his own paid
expert, Bernstein, a professor at Yale Law School wharote a paper with
Margolin, now a judge in the U.S. Court of Appeals who was being touted as a
likely Supreme Court nominee.

Adve read it.o

AiThen you know that Professor B e
cases where officers had shot defendants who then fell down anoh ttinet
majority of those cases where the victim is brought to the groundowithone
or two shots, thecourt held that police continuing to shoot the victim was
unreasonabl e force. o

il di dnot count the cases or the
t hat article, o CIliff answered cal mly
ifAnd you also know that i n Prof

opinion, based on this overwhelming body of case l#e victim would be
justified in treating the officer who continues to shoot after the second shot as an
aggressor and would be legally justified in using deadly force irdselff e n s e
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The defense layer put on his best smug look, as though he had brushed away a
lightweight opponent.

AnActually, thatodos not a fair char
professors said that under some circumstances, @efelfise claimmight be
justified if the shooting victim clearly posed no threat the officer and the
officer knew thatbut kept shootingHowever, | also know thatob one of the
cases in that article involved an officer who was sbateathwhile his own gun
had been holstered, like thin@ . 0

AiMove to strike as unresponsive, 0

ADeni ed. O

The prosecutor was smiling broad
need her help.

The defense counsel paced around for several seconds until the judge
prompted hinto ask a question or sit down.

AiYou claim to be an expert on usc¢
published a single article on that s

AThat Cligf retnainedenonohalant.

AHow many cases on ralgosatoasthave yod o r

read?0 This was a mistake, t he ol des
the answer to the question.
iScores, maybe hundreds. I i nstru

the subject. | never counted them as | read them.

The judge made a note on her pad.

AiBut you know that Professor Ber
cases. o0
il have no idea how many heds rea
The defense counsel knew, absolutely knew without one iota of doubt,

that he shouldnét ask the next quest

AWhat case is that?o
AiMy case. When | was attacked wi't
my attacker. To me, it all happened

shooting until the gun clicked on empty at least three times. There was no way |
could judge between shots whether | was still in dangerstibeswere coming

so fastand | was so pumped full of adrenaliriéhe forensicteamlater told me
several of my shots sged, too, which meatitat | was Gable to know whether

I had hit the target two or three or ten times, or not at all. In law enforcement,
your training is to keep shooting until the threat is gone, and the training and
adrenaline just take over. o
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The udge was leaning over the witness stand nakgroughly
ergrossedlooking down to jot notes furiously from time to time.

Pani cked, t he def ense counsel h a
background other than his lack of experience as an expert withesblshing
legal articles. Of course he knew he was a retired FBI agent, but he had expecte
some desk jockey from some ulranservative backwater law schawith low
credibility among lefleaning California judgedHe had only found out on direct
exanination that Cliff had gone to Boalt Hall, the law school at the University of
California Berkeley as liberal as they come and with an academic standing to

rival the vy League AThat 6s not a case, t ha
What thecitatiorr 6 he sputtered.
ANo citation. That wasThatves mppawt

Professor Bernstein never read That was just me saving my own life by
shooting until the threat lay lifeless on the grouidd.reads case law in his vy

League® f i c e. I lived |life and death on
The defense counselgaveup ANo f urt her questi o
AAny redirect?0 the judge asked.
iNo, your honor. o The prosecutor

meaningless anyway.

AAny more witnesde80on eithe

Both lawyers answered no.

Houck was charged with capital murder, which meant every legal stone
had to be turned. Appeals were certain and the defense lawyer was protecting hi
own reputation and livelihood as a death case lawyer by throwingtleivey he
had at it, regardless of how small a chance there was it would work. His client,
Houck, had shot first and was trying to kill a peace officer while committing a
felony. Houck was going to be convicted of murder. The only question was
whether it would be the death penaltilis selfdefense theory was doomed to
failure and he woul dnot use it at t
protected against any later ploy by the appellate counsel that Houck had beer
denied competentrial counsel if h e di dn 6 tlt would i here him t .
professionally ithe was found to have been incompetent. Besides, he got paid by
the hourby deeppocket taxpayers, so the more work he did, the bigger his
paycheck.That was enough reason to request the hearingtddspring no
chance of succes¥he prosecutor had at least much motivation to hold the
hearing, whi ch is why she make durebthe o
defendant had every possible crumb of due protessake sure the conviction
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held up on app®. The hearing was necessary evil on both siddsv er y on e
tax dollars at work.

AYour llefemse rcqurised a i d Al move that
videotape, both audio and visual, that occurs after the second shot by the officel
be excluded from aeglence along with any other evidence acquired after that
point in time, such as the bullet that killed the officer. All that evidence was
acquired as the result of a violatio
be excluded as a matter of laAs a result, the capital murder charge must be
dismissed as the only evidence supporting it is inadmissible. The state has no
charged him with attempted murder or assault on an aofftber only violent
offenses that arguably might have been supportedhbyfirst part of the
videotape evidencd-urther we move that the drug charges be dismissed too in
that the search of the trunk of his
tree. o

AYour olsdimoreked the prosecutisis, i
outrageousT h e é 0

iSave it, both of you, o0 the judge
and heard the evidence. |l 6ve all owe
argument in the form of questioning
hearoral argument yet again. Submit briefs to me by noon Friday of next week
and |16l schedule oral argument | at e

The prosecutor motioned Cliff over to her table when the defense
counsel had moved a wlegyouhadsdeaen anta gynfglid .
yourself. Thatwasper f ect comeback. 0

il was never in a gunfight, o CIlif
ABut you just testifiedéo
il testified about being attackec

attacked by a mountain lion, which sveunging for my throat when | emptied my
guni nt o hi m. 0
i o, o cour s e, the |lion attack.. Th;
You said attacke§ not gunman. Very clever. odr testimony was on point
whether the attack was human or not. It wasatiltes qu el ch. Thank
AMy pléasure.
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Chapter 2

AHow di d i tMaevaaskedbrigbtlyHerpale’skin andrizzy
red hair betrayed her Norse heritage by way of Minnesmadsa few generations

AFi ne, 0 Cduliyfhkeadimgedipeltyitetbde coffee potMaeva
knew how to brew it just the way he liked it, not too strong but very hot. And she
wasnodt one of t hosassistad. d®meé t wonalk é&n &t
the job if she were. In a omaan office her job was to do whatevhe boss
wanted or needed. As a dropt from Stanford Law School, she had the brains
for a professional career, bahe had quickly realizedfter her first yeasshe
di dndét want Sheanayphave beenl daseepded from Vikings but she
di d n @& the Kilar instinctso she got out earlyrhe job market being what it
was, she just felt lucky to have employmeitThe pr osecut or t
the death penaliy he continued.

Maeva opposed to the death peheldl ty
her tongue. Wh e 1t to » comsiultare who hwerkedh mostly fot a
police agenciesr crime victims you coul dndt d@sort ofoo
thing.

AWill you haveaoQOranfgley Coaicnk yd?cdown

iNo, I was | uastteohier dd@arongesdst HeEy !
at his desland set the coffee mug on a coaster. The desktop bore only a small
pile of mail, all bills or junk mail, it appeared. After he quickly scanned through
the envelopes he opened his browser to check his. étaevaknew he liked to
have the computer on before he arriwv

sequence.
iYou got a call yesterday after nce
SFO. I t hi nk Maegasaidaanticpatimg thal heeuld tsee der
emai | about the <call momentarily. T
hadndét checked his work email from h

Whether the coffee or the news was responsible, his mood brightened.
He could use the business. This wholesceanl t ant t hi ng hadn
quite what he had hoped. He had run at a negative cash flow for his first eight
monthsand most of the time had been spent withugehasslesOnly recently
had he begun to make a small profite 6 d t r i e domthis homey leut a t
when he6d tried to open his business
l'icense number. Wh elicendeteid el g@ionye ¢ @i d
operate a business from his home if he would have customers (theif Wwoedd d
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ued ficlientsd) coming to the |l ocatio
hedd tried to find a decent of fice |
Silicon Valley and there was just nothing for a small solo grangr anywhere

near his homewhich wasmore or lesshalfway between Google and Apple
headquarters. The big companies and startups were gobbling up everything
decenbut t here. He didndédt want to have
stuck in some remote strip mall and be squeérddeen nail salons and produce
stands.

He could have slapped himsdifr taking so longwhen he finally
realized the solution. He was already a landlord. After his wife had been killed by
a drunk driver he had received a sizeable settlement from tliseitaide retired
soon thereafteand wi th his FBI pension he he
invested onservatively Among other investmentdshadvisor had put him in a
partnership that owned a professional buildimglowntown Los Altos if you
coud call four blocks of boutiques and restaurants a downtown, that is. The
tenants were a boutique, tdo Cross and Silveri a boutique law firm
specializing in intellectual propertitigation. As it turned out Barry Cross was
more than happy to reduce thequare footage and rent by giving up their law
library, since 98% of legal research was now done online. The books had beer
moved into new bookcases lining the rest of the space and the library had beel
converted to a small office, with a wall put in $eparate it from Cross and
Silver. Fortunatelyit already had @ outsidedoor to the hallway. Cliff and
Maevawere a tight fit, but it suitetis purposes. The rent seemed outrageous,
but at least he could consolémself that onehird of it came backa him
through the partnership

fiReally?So wh o Qlifi asked, interésted.

AnA Mr. Vogel , f rXectrixaHe sawdrBarrg next doora | |
gave him the referral. I'tdos all i n t

Cliff scanned the inbox and quickly determined thatdtiesr stuff could
wait. He opened her email. The message said little more thanMa®atahad
just told him, with a telephone number and email address for Vilgelvahad
thoughtfully looked up th&lectrix website and provided the link. He clicked on
it.

Xlectrix made radiation oncology equipment. Those were machines used
to treat cancer by beaming radiation at the tumors. That was abQlitfatbuld
glean from the website. The rest walisk graphics and medietechnical jargon
he di dn ot colimatdre megavatage and orthovoltage optipgamma
rays
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AfAnd you have t hr Blaevasag eten shé saw Hino mo
look up from the screen.

iSpecial s0 were speci al appearanc
an arcandegal nicheto bring in regular, easy money, something to count on to
pay the rent while between the more interestiogsulting or investigationases.
After retiring from the FBI Cliff had become bored with the lonely life of a
widowed retiree. His FBI friendsis ag were all still working since hé daken
the earliestpossible retirementThe older ones who had retired had almost all
moved away tgarts of the country where the FBI pension went twice as far. He
had his hobbie$ running, geocaching and volunteework, but he found he
missed being in the battle, the adrenaline rush. He had realized this only when he
became anurdersuspect himself and started investigatingt ttase to save his
own skin.That was over a year ago and he had solved the case andsotie
good pressSo he had paid his bar dues up to active status and taken the private
investigator exam.

Now he was officially licensed to practice law as wellhatd himself
out as a privatenvestigaor. He didndét want tiocourte pr e
though. Litigation was anajor pain and a pressure cooker on a schedujast
di dnot s 0.U5n de hhdidkedised ta the local bar his willingness to
appear in court for them on routine status conferences and motion hearings whel
t h esytiégd up in trial elsewhere. In this county those appearances all took place
on Tuesday and Tiisdaymorningson the Law and Motion calendars. When one
| awyer appears for another 1itds call
announce he is aking a special appearance it is deemed a general appearance
which means the attorndieoreticallybecomes responsible for the entire case
and may even be sued for malgiee if the original attorney has screwed
something upTechnically the party the plaintiff or defendani washis client,
but for practical purposes he worked for the lawygrahnouncing himself as
specially appearingll those headaches were gone.

ADid they send the case info?0 ClI

Cliff could not do a respectable jolurthg these appearances unless he
knew the basigroceduralstatus of the case, such as whether discovery was
complete, whether the parties had discussed settlement, had all parties bee
served, and so forth. He di d ail$ of the e al
underlying factsStatus conferences were egsyt too often his clients were so
busy they failed to send him the necessary informaitiat least a summary
email. This being Wednesday, he needed to read through these summaries i
order to mak the three appearances the next morriiimgder the terms of his
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contract he could refuse to appear for them if they failed to send the necessan
summary, but hdnad become fairly adept at faking it in court, especially if he
had previously appeared on tteseandalready had some of the background, so
he generally appeared anyway.

AiTwo of them did. Hammond didno6t.
and out of reach.

iGreat, o CIliff replied, di sgust
assistant or sneone to look up the status if you can. | think they had a motion to
compel scheduled for discovery court which means | can just tell the jhdge
parties are waiting for that hearing before entering mediati@meck the
discovery calendar to confirm that

Maevanodded and started to dial the

This sideline was bus yandvad|déw stathsa t
but it was steady income, only took two days a week, and was low stress. Mostly
it involved sitting in court waiting for # case to be called, standing up for five
minutes, and getting out by 11:00. He also got to know a lot of litigators who in
turn referred him consultingr investigatbn cases from time to time. Buight
now he was more interested in this Vogel thing

Vogel came on the line promptly when CIiff told his secretary he was
returning Vogel 6s call . fi Nbtting bdckto md e s
so quickly We were given your name as someone who might be able to help us.
| 6m t he ge n eXteearix and waineedeah invéstigator. | understand

youdre an active member of the Calif
Al am. o
iGood. Thatdéds good. This investioc
be very clear that attorneyl i ent confidentiality mu:
fi Of urse.cCaryout e | | me the nature of tF
his tone neutral. He had no idea whether this case was going to be something h
wanted to get invol ved in, and he ¢

business. Clients sometimes trieml get his fee down if they thought he was
desperate for the work.
iWe make radiation oncol ogy equip

Cliff interrupted, a habit he kne
l engthy explanation. il | o o tare dvhatthat y o
i s. Machines t hat zap cancer tumor s,
ASimplified, yes. Of course ther

enclosurestraining,and ot her things that go a
problems with some of our machines. 0
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il see. Well, | 6 mor phgsicist Why de yowgthink e e r
you need an investigator instead of
i We  hdazensof engineers, scientists and doctors on our payroll.
They havendét been abl e t ounfainn dp rtohbd ep
AA minute ago you said it was a |
say ités a human probl em. I think vy
nature of the problem. o
iWe think someonebs been tamperi:r
figure out how. o
Sabot age,sentalcehn .n eo dtomedt wor k an
Oh they work al/l right, o Vogel s
Then whatdés the probl em?0
They work too well. THWehyedber e b
ng 100 times t bdgoor adi ati on they

3 ot ot o

bea
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Chapter 3

Ellen Kennedy sat in a chair pulled close to the bedside of the young girl.
The former nun was only thidsix, but looked older largely because of her
prematurely gray hair and an unbecoming stoutness. The gray was a trait that ra
in the family. Her sister Theresa went totally wHitgred by age thirtgight but
was still shapelyand youthful looking Theresaos previo
modeling careehad takeroff at that point. She was suddenly in great demand
for photo shoots forll sorts of products aimed at the senior set where the
manufacturer wanted a stéle x y i o | d & eréctilewdgsfarection pills,
cosmetic surgery, weight loss medications and treatments. Today, however,
Theresa sat across the bed from Ellen. Betweemth was Ther es af
Ashley.
Al won! o0 Ashley exclaimed with de
the Home circle on th8orry! board that sat perched precariously on the bed next
to her.

AYou sure did, Ash, 0 EIll en agreed

iYou wer e |Tuhcekrye s ak i adidiod edd . il sho
cardonyouinsttcadohy our Aunt EIl Il en. o

il é6ve got to go,0 EIlIl en announced

iNo, Aunt ardIMbnehave toinish the gamé&.o see who
comes in | ast. o

il dm sorry, Asho. worhkav eWet oc agnebtt bl
away with it can we?0

ACan | hold your gun?0 Ashley ask

Theresa mouthed a virul ent Anoo t
with her hands resemblirggminiaturelncomplete Pass signal.

iYou can see it, thatdés all, o E
momentarily away from her hip, revealing the butt of a Sig Sauer Sinran
leather holster on herbelt The girl 6s eyes went wi
face. This glimpse seemed to beeit enough to satisfy her.

fiThanks for coming by, Sis, 0 Thel
giving Ellen a hug. Ellen returned the hug and then bent over to exchange hugs
with her niece.

At that point a tall, lean figure in a white lab coat erdeitee room and
pull ed the <curtaihi sarmamed tAsc | regedd i
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Ellen waved goodbye arédft, as the doctor cleared his throat to speak. It was too
crowded within the curtain for all four of them anyway.

fi He IMrsoBishop Hello, Ashleyp t he doctor saidd
bentdownqui ckly to the pat iteday. Ashléylbeathes
deeply for me.d He | istened intently
When done, he took a pulse.

AYour vgoddaNoveplease mlloveronyosii de. 0

The girl complied.

ifiShe seems better today, Doctor, 0O
on his | ab coat that she hadnaditlackeen
white, and green stripes with a rieiingle on the left. It looked vaguely familiar
to her, but she was never very good at geography. Presumably it was some
Arabic country, but she hadnot t hou
colloquial English with no accent. It occurred to her ninat he had always
worn a short beard like many Muslim men, but so what? Lots of men wore
beards these days and she didndét <car
to cure her daughter of the cancer that threatened her life.

iThe | ab good.sThese isatil ro sign of the cancer. | think we
got it all. Surgically it was pretty simpleAs we discussed,hsdl need these
radiation treatmentsve 6 r e s t ato makel sure thered aaeyno malignant
cellsleft,butl 6 m very hopefuab thegerwhnpil ef f e

Al dm not going to | ose my hair,
expression fouling her usually cherubace At nine years old she wasaif-
skinned andvery blonde,with h e r mo told mok® Fhe bigh cheekbones
were startingo make themselves known as she lost her baby fat.

i No, no. That only happens if t |
chemotherapy. Your tumor was on ydag. That 6s where wec¢d
you. o0

AiThe technician wil/ o ¢akety@urine You n
should be able to go home in a coupl
and daughter and pulled the curtain open.

AThank you, doctor, 0 Theresa sai ¢

her voice betray her concern to Ashley.
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Chapter4

Xlectrix was located behinfearsomechain link fences in the heart of
Pal o Altods high technology hub, amo
Valley. It was just a block off Page Mill Road between Hewlett Packendl
headquarterand he Vet erandés Administration
worked in concert witmearbyStanford Medical Canter to conduct cutting edge
research of all kinds, but especiallyr treatments that benefit veterans. It also
had a full complement of patientstiwthe usual diseases and ailments.

Cliff pulled into the small visitor parking lot that fronted the street and
entered the spaciousmodernistic lobby. He was greeted with non
representational art in steel and glass that strained for grandeur andi feettle
grandiosity. He asked the receptionist, a wdikssed black woman, for Mr.
Vogel. She asked if he had an appointment and he answered in the affirmative
With a few efficient clicks she checked a calendar and confirmed the
appointmentthencalledVgel 6 s extension. Within t
Vogel 6s office.

The room was impressive for its large dimensions and expensive
furnishings, a clear success story if dollars were the metrics. One wall had a large
display cabinet populated with a mof golf trophies and a series of Lucite
crystals mounted on walnut bases, appareatlypngoing award for charitable
activities of some kind. Above the cabinet were professiofficiyped
certificatesi his diploma fromHarvard Law (Order of the Coif, of aese), his
certificate of admission to the California Bar, a certificate of admission to the
patent law section, one from a professional society open only to general counse
of major corporations, and one of appreciation from a legal aid society. Less
congicuous were a few others CIiff did not recognize.

The man himself was less impressive, at least to lodkeatvas medium
height and nearly totally bald. Dalkotches dotted his hands, neskalp, and
ears, presumably from all that sdrenched Califaria golf at which heseemed
to excel His dull brown eyes were closet, almost beadynd partly obscured
by half glasses, over which he peered intensely at Cliff. His tailored suit was
conservative and as expensive as the rest of the surroundingsd bitiiedto
conceal a small pot belly. It was also inconsistent with Silicon Valley sartorial
culture where business casual was consideledgueur for corporate lawyers.
This told Cliff thatXlectrix was a conservative, traditional firm, not like gtart
ups he sometimes dealt with.
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i Mr . Knowl es, 0 he began, At hank
It had been only two hours since they had spoken on the phone.
fiMr. Vogel. 1 6 m happy t o h a vCéff raplie@ nom p p o

committally.
i Plee,ascall me Roger. May | call vy
AiCertainly. o
nAs | told you on the phone, some

need someone to investigate and find out how this is happening. You come
highly recommended. 0

il dm gl ad t o hieeatmat ifil take thisyob the@sono r €
guarantee of success. O

nOf cour se. Every litigator |1 0ve
contract.| realize youbre not a |litigator
promise my bosses | can prevail ewery patent casé/ou can only do your
best. o

AiHow many cases of suspected tamp

AiTwo t hat have resulted in pati el
need to amputate a limb that was irradiated. All three have resultedangful
death or malpracticelaims Fortunately, none of those have gone to court so it
hasndét gotten out to the gener éWwaspub
tricky because we had doctors and hospitals who also had claims against then
and werdooking to us formdemnity.The pl ainti ffdos | awye
had a problem proving damages since the patients were suffering from cancel
and had short expected life spans, as well as the fact that their medical bills
obviously ceased to accuratg once the patients died.n e o f the ¢
cause of death was actually from the cancer, not the treatifiemtradiation
overexposurenight have contributedhe amputeecasei n negot i at i

Cliff was not surprised at the bloodless caltiola that went into these
remarks. This is the way lawyers thought, he knew, from dealing with so many in
recent years. Vogel was almost saying his company did the patients a favor by
killing them and thus eliminating the high medical bills they would hazaid if
they had survived for a few years more, medical bills that would have been
| argely due to t he obscenely expen
machines providedOf course, that was only true if the company was negligent.
If someone was tampeg with the machines, they woulikely be no more
respomsible than a car manufacturer would be for a death that occurred because
someone cut the car 6s bEvankteen, thoughthes ¢



FATAL DOSE 19

company might be negligent for failing makethe machines tampgroof or at
least more tampeaesistant

ADi d the paQifiaskeadd s suf fer ?0

AiNo doubt t h ey réatiwtly swifi. Pain addesafteding wa
were within reasonable limits and we compensated the claimants genefsusly.
lsai d, wedre stild]l negotiating with t

Cliff was more appalled at this response. He had actually wanted to
know whether the patientsuffer so thathe would have an idea whethar
successfulnvestigationcould prevenmore suffering Instead, Vgel seemed to
think he was asking about the size of damages the company had to incur.

AWhy donodt we do this, o0 Vogel c
downstairs. o He rose and moti onteed t
office and down a long hallwato a different set of elevators from the ones in the
lobby. When they emerged, they were in a large area that looked very much like
a hightech factory floor, whiclin factit was.

Vogel led CIiff to a corner occupied by a windowless room built within
the larger space. As they entered Cliff saw that the room had been divided into
two sections. One was a small booth not much larger than a closet, with a
window onto the larger section. He surmised that was a control booth of some
kind. The larger area wasccupied bywh at appeared t o
examination tablattached ta large machin¢hat looked like it belonged on a
Star Trekset. In physical configuration it was not unlike theray machines
dentists use, only larger and more frighteniligvas easily twice the size of a
refrigerator, with overhead and underneath projections giving the impression of a
gi gant i c aThereneas a oAk Bpvpointing down from the upper
structureT h e p atdbiewas mmdresimposing than the corner destt 6 s o f
chairas well with rotating gimbals and straps evident.

AThe patient i s positioned here,.
to thepaddedtable A The straps and joints all/l
optimum position for directinghe radiation beam. The beam is produced by the
' i nac, that 0s short for ' inear acc

affectionately. This model is our most recent. It sells under the hdawe4 and,
as you would expect, replaces the previous nmeshiLilac 1 through 3. We refer
to it internally as L4.60

i | t hought i near accelerators
noticing for the first time that the device was a light purple ¢goesumably to

be consistent with the name.
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iThey ca@omr d@deno Ydoaubt thinking of
Accelerator Center just a few miles from here. SLAC does-&igdrgy physics

research, splitting the atom and all
what we use for clinical treatment. But thessvides we make are still quite
power f ul and can be dangerous i f wuse

Cliff grunted noncommiittally.

AThe L4 bptheettror ams andrdy beams. Both are used
for various treements. This makes it very verdati Clinicians need only one
system rather than two. It has sold very well with radiologists all over North
America. We have a nearly identical model we sell to Europe. Their standards
and regulations are diff er enttheUNedd v e
States. 0

Vogel stepped into the control booth and motioned for CIiff to join him.
The console | ooked much I ike a progr
besieging the regioMhere were two large monitors attached to a single desktop
computer. On the desktop was a microphone connected to a control box with two
knobs marked Volume and Gain. Also emanating from the control boxawas
wire leading to a headset.

i T hrael tech, or operator as we call thdras tweway communication
with the mtient at all times. She controls the settings, the dose, and so forth
through the keyboard and mouse. 0

Cliff thought it interesting that Vogel used the feminine pronoun. He
wasnot sure if he was being polilact i c«
operators were female. Perhaps this was one more parallel to dentistry, where al
the hygienists Cliff had ever had clean his teeth were wotieawing how
mar keting drives most product s, he
floral name was desigdeto appeal to women, although he assumed most
purchasing decisions were made by doctarsle doctors.

AWhmaat er i adotoppedloyouhuse@ 6 CI i f f asked.

iNone. L4 uses only electricity
manufacturers who use adi oacti ve i sotJugt adinear b u 1
accelerator or linacThis is much safer. No hazardous material, and electricity
doesndt decay to uselessness. 0

ASo what goes wrong?06 Cliff asked
had to get backotthe office to review the documents for the court appearances
tomorrow.

i One mo netRdd Tegcelt ian here t o demons
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Shortly, he returned with diminutive Asian woman of middle age. She
was carrying a cooler. Cliff watched as she positiosigips of bacon on waxed
paper on the patient chathen placed a cantaloupe on the bacon. On top of the
melon she placed some more strips of bacon. Then she flipped a switch by the
door to the factory floor and verified that a red warning light washitey. She
closed that outer dopflipped a switch on the Lilagnd then squeezed into the
control booth, where she closed the inner door and sat at the console.

She booted up the computer on the console. As the system was loading
she lifted a small deee from the drawer under the desktop. It looked to Cliff like
the male end of the printer cable on his old PC, the big one for the parallel port,
back before printers all became wireless or ran from USB ports or network
cables. She held this up to Vogelpectantly. He shook his head no. When the
system was ready she keyed in socommands. When the enter kegsahit for
the last one a large warning window appeared in the center of the screen.

Error code 41. Max dosage exceeded

AOverride, dedVogel instruc

The woman held the Alt key and pressed O on the keyboard. Another
warning came on the screen again warning of the high dosadmtion and
asking if the operator wanted to proce@&tle options were Y for Yes or C for
Cancel.

ALook at tlhesdid4dd ot wo@lei f fonthé Sdee t
near the tip of the delivery cone?0

AYeah, o CIliff replied, once he s
the window.

iOkay, go ahead, d he said to the

She pressed the Y key and the warning wimdlisappeared, revealing a
timer window. It counted down from five seconds to zero. Then the screen
f | as DPRinterupfi0.024s message. Cliff didnodt
to be watching the screen or the L4, but his gaze shifted from aie ather
during thefive seconds.

Vogel then opened the door of the booth and led Cliff out to the

mel on/ bacon fApatient.o Cliff could s
pointed out was still shining on the L4.
iSo, I dondét see anything, d he sa

firThat 6s because thereds nothing t.
cut off after a fraction of a second
next to the green lighfiThat light shows that there is power being fed to the
DPP. T h a tpérpulseamonitor.sifetheDPP detects a beam that is too
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powerful to be safe, it closes the beam aperture completely and blocks the
radiation from reaching the patient.
back inside. o

They returned to the booth. Bhtime the womarpluggedthe small
device from the drawer onto the back of the compianténe parallel printer port.

She then closed the program on the desktop and reopened it. This piopeip
window appeared sayingiagnostic mode enable&he clickedhat closed and

then repeated the sequence of commands and keystrokes as before, until she ¢
to the final screen. Instead of hitting Y, however, at a signal from Vogel she
pressed and held the Alt, Shift, and F1 keys with her left hand. Still nothing
happened that Cliff could see. Then Vogel tapped Cliff and again nodded toward
the L4. The woman pressed the F12 key and CIiff could see the green light nea
the cone go dark.

AOkay, now, 0 Vogel said quietly.

Still holding all four of the other keys, teman pressed the Y key with
her thumb, barely able to reach it. She released her thumb but kept the other key
down. When the five second countdown enddr released all the keys. Instead
of the DPP message, this ti nppeaedsi mp

ALet 6s take another | ook, o6 Vogel
boot h. When they got to the fApatient
dime on the bacon that was darker than the rest. He bent down tochugttta
strongwhiff of cooking bacon. The sman picked up the melon and the bacon
on the underside had a similar circle the size of a qudrker.melon had soft
spotson either sideShe left with her zapped groceries.

AThe beam scatters asoOitVopgpabks od
AThat s why the exit beam is | arger
there would be a cylinder of dead or dying tissueere that beam passed
through.You could see the damage to the bacon from the heat, but the real harn
is indde. The damage in some ways would resemble gunshot damage, in that it
could destroy parts of internal organs, joiti®od vesselasnuscle and so forth
whateveris in the pathThere would be a tube of cooked fleséhwound would
open on the skin at bo entrance and exit points. Attempts to graft over the
wounds would fail, as the skin woul o
our victims. We | uheobverdoserhéppenadn der st an

AfAny software can have sdactiully asshe i n
could manage.

ATr ue, but we have moOfcourse thesprofray e r
is written to give multiple warnings if the operator has keyed in wrong values.
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You saw those windows appear and the operator must override thene Bui ks
assume the softwarfailed somehowT h a t DPP isnot softw
circuitry is built in ia sidpte analog circuitAs long as it has power it will
automatically shut down the beam once it detects a dose being beamed that is to
high. There are only three ways to disable it. You can cut the power to the whole
L4, i n which c¢ase andtno haronubuldnoécuiyouwmcarr k
physically open up the cabinet and detach the power wires to the DPP, which is
not easy as they are soldeiagdandthe connection nodes are covered by metal

pl ates. Youdd probably have to cut a
if that had happened. l'tds wired in
you could put the system in diagnostic raditke we did and use the specific key

combination you saw, which isnot e as

couldnét be done by accident. 0
iSo that gizmo she plugged in the
AfiThat 6s cal |l ed athed thimgg, litteablesYiagnhgstica m
mode. It contains an NSApproved algorithm using a 2&fit key that is unique
to eachprogram The dongle must be plugged in at the time the program is
launched. The program queries tbarallel port and if the donglesiin place,
diagnostic mode is enaldleotherwise itisnoend canot be | at
program is closed and reopened with the dongle in plakhe company that
makes the dongles is a specialty contractor that has been providing this type tc
DOD for decades and there has never been a known breach or hack. The onh
peqle who have these dongles are our researchers here and our field service

reps. o
AiThe clients dondt have them?0
ANo. Absolutely not. I n addition

is used to decrypt certain highly sensitive files that the service reps use. Things
the clients shouleot be fooling with. The dongle, as | said before, is unique to
each computer. The field repbs machi
when frst set up and all the trade secret files are enciphered with that dongle.
Anot her repbs dongle wonot decrypt
diagnostic modd not unlesshe had an exact copy of tHestguy 6 s ma

program and files on his machine. 0
ilédém not sure | follow. Can you e
Vogel paused, trying tthink how tos i mp | i fy i t. nLet

John Doe covers five oncology cente
computer attached to it. Those five would all bealst with the codes from
John Do e 6Boe abddnperifoen. service on those systems either by
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plugging his dongle into the L4 computer, or by plugging the dongle into his own
computer and slaving the L4 system to IRéschard Roe, another service rep,

coul dnodt put those machines into di
computerand dongle, or at leaBt 0o e dbrsgle and access to the computer at the
L4. Similarly Doe coul dndt access t

covered. o
Cliff was momentaly amused at the use of Doe and Roe. Lawyers used
those names in hypothetical cases on tests or moot court questions, even o
pleadings to represent unknown partibssYoudéve done an i nv
dongles, | take it?o0
ioOf cour se. AAl dbur emgineensiamdtfieiddreps veere able
to produce them immediately when asked. We tested each one and each matche
the computer it was supposed to matc
ADid you check the Lilacs that w
filesto be uncorrupted nd t he power to tRe DPPs w
iWwWe did. Ever yt hiAi gttenpis poereproduce the o r
dangerousbehavior met with failure, other than going through kKegyboard
sequence you saw here, which would have to be intentional malisenbeone
with a dongle and the knowledge of how to use it. The operators who
administered the overdoses in our three cases are three unrelated indatduals
threedifferent radiobgy centerasvh o swear they did ever
AJesus, 0 Gltilfifngs asiodf,t | wl fo stait ondhisn 6 t
one. Il s there anything else about th
AWwel | | yes, 0 Vogel sighed. AnALl I
administering the dose said they checked the green DPP light vimiblygh the
window and it was on just before giving the treatment, but they then looked
down at their screens or keyboards to enter the comnsands t hey di dn ¢
while the beam was activeThe doses were all supposed to be much less
powerful than theneyou saw us do today, of courge.normal dsewould be
150 to 200 rads. | just showed you 15,000 rads on the bacon, which is about wha
we think was administered to the three injured patiefite beam was only
active for two seconds or less. One bé tthreeoperators however, said she
looked up after pressing the Y and she thinks that when she looked at the L4, tha
' ight wasndét on. But it came back on
iSo the power was cut to the DPP
ialf sheds riglhdne ywoul dBubdtt thhaavte
dosage would have had to be altered, tnpa factor of 100If the dosage is
correct the DPP wo ulRkmeinbertbevDPP jusacuts affv a
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an overdose. Somehow the dose was increased and the DPPddigdbk same

time. Both of those actions require the dorigle.V o g e | paused f or
before continuing. ARThereds one ot he
Cliffbs eyielbraonwsi Qkaays,edl et 6s hear
Al I t hree cases hhneshavibeeninstalledoatt a |

over the continent yet all the problems h&eenconfined to a small geographic
area. And all of them are in the territory of a single service rep. His name is
Frank CrabbeHe goes byBuster. Of course we interviewed him amel swears
he didndét have anything to do with i
|l ocati ons. VWerGice eepgo awt and tohfienr that. But we still
think he must have done something wr
Cliff was old enougland enough of a séifan, to remember theriginal
Buster Crabbethe Olympic swimmer turned actoHe played Tarzan, then Flash
Gordon.
AfHave you disciplined him or fire
i No, hebds stildl e mp | oy eHis accbunts arew e
being serviced by someone else for ndVie have his computer and donglée
reinstalled the Lilac software on those three systems using a different dongle.

Hebs been told to stay a@vailable if
il do. T heeammenglatioh wauld be to polygraph him. Once |
get those results weol|l know wher e
goi ng. Herebs my fee agreement. o6 CI

contract.

Vogel took a quick look at it. Within secamdie could tell it was all
boilerplate, standard language suggested by the California Bar. He flipped right
to the hourly rate. fAThat seems high

il @vae you a referral to some reputable detective agencigsuif
want something cheaper. o0 He knew hi s
who did private investigations, but he also knew it was half what Vogel was used
to paying for legal specialists like Barryd@3s. He also knew other inviggttors
wer ewd®tr baandgoadas he nwaést Invessgators fell into that odd
category with perfumes and wine where demand went up as the price went up
Buyers figured that the most expensive one must be the bestuSingiyhad no
other way to evaluate, at l¢amt at the time of purchase.

nAl I right. Youdre hired. Give n
agreement in duplicate and gave one copy back to @lifier e 6s a ¢ h
retainer. o0 Hedd already had a check
negotation.
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Chapters

AHer eds Gina now. 0 The sapsenokagent we
in the Palo Alto Resident Agency of the RB&s addressing Ellen Kennedy, the
newest addition to the R.A. He was referring to his wife, the supervisor of the
violent crime squad in San JasEhey often met for lunchToday it wasat The
Jury Room, a pulike spot near the San Jose Superior Court building that catered
to lawyers. It was all wood paneling and leathpholstered booths.

When Matt stood to greet his wif Ellen thought they made an odd
couple. Matt was thin, almost painfully so, and of only average height. Gina was
at | east as tal/l as her hus b gustcgolih nd
Kennedy decidednuch like herselfput would definitelyoutweigh hethusband
by at least fifteen pounds. At the mom&inawas also frazzled, with her full
head of lush black hair in disarray.

AiSorry | &d&m | ate, 06 Gina began. AT
horrible morning. You.c adodhtdtbYalstkiety eS&
b e E ISheeast adgracious smile at Kennedy.

I am. ltds nice to meet you. Ma t
Heb6s told me a | ot about vyou, E
That 6s a n.aeferredto ©ffice of ®refBrence transfers, where the
agent requests to go to a particular division. Usually O.P. transfers are grantec
near the end of the fiscal year and only to the most senior agents, using whateve
is left of the FBI transfer budyg. Ellen only had five years in, despite her gray
hair. Not only that, but agents usually @g@. when they were nearing retirement
age to transfer out of expensive areas, like Palo Alto, to go to a nice sun belt
retirement locale where prices are cheagret taxes arkower, like Utah so this

was a counterintuitive direction

AActuall vy, it was on a hardship,
undergoing cancer treatments at Stanford. My sister hastowd@kn her e t
out as much as hecahdorl dmmwl i wiong twist
yet anyway. o0

i
i

i Oh, Il 6m so sorry to hear that. V

fiSoft tissuecancer on helower leg They already operated. The doctor
thinks he got it al | entsSoweTbessurdery utdelh g
wasndét bad aé those things go.

AfiHey guys, 0 Matt broke in. ALet O

Gina. #fAls Cliff coming?59
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AfHe said he should be out of <cou
bynowHe 6 s t he odnihés placbHe 6psi cpkreobabd v on t

Right on cue CIiff walked in, huffing and puffing, a scowl marring his
forehead. He wal ked directly to the
seating area could be seen from the doorway. As he sat n@hdohe cast a
wary eye at the woman across from him in the booth. Was this another setup”
Gina was always trying to play matchmaker, never successfully.

ACliff, o Gina gushed. AThis 1is E
from Salt Lakse.sqSuhaedbsO on Matt 6

Cliff exchangeda pol i te but unent husi ast
shook EIl end6s hand perfunctorily. H e
woman who, when your mother tries to set you up on a blind date and you ask
what she looks like, youmother say$ias a good personality. Her eyes were a
very pretty light blue, but too close set asurmountedby a pair ofbrowsin
serious need of a good tweezirghe hada nice complexiorand wore little
makeup; at least she had that going for kst gray hair was cut very short,
what some men might cathannish although short hair was common among law
enforcement women for valid professional reasons; then again, there were a lot o
mannishwomen in law enforcemenShe had the requisite curves, bty were
mounted on an overlarge frarhenore burly than girlyStil,even i f she
his type,there was no reason to be rude.

iSo, do you know Ti m ,R @itothhach beéno f
Cliffdés closest friend aagehtsmthé $ano dosema
office years earlier. Tim had transferred to Salt Lake City Division after he
married a woman who was as rabid as he for camping, horseback edihg
kayaking. They bought a sevanre spreadcompletewith horses,barn and
corral near Zion National Park when Tim got transferred to the St. George
Resident Agency.

il do. He said to say hi i ool rat
for some of my squadds surveill ances
had a nice longalk in the planel got to sit up frontinthecpi | ot Ble 6 s e
real |l y a f dakeawbnmeadlllikadglimguy . 0

Cliff took the opportunity to look at her finger for the first time. No ring.
Uh oh. I't was ti meTitnod smatigpypgtrel 8 f f nmu

looking over the menwavoiding eye contacalthough he already knew he would
order theclub sandwich
fiYou |l ook Iike hell, o Mat't broke
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iYou could say that. T, thelawyeu ldvge s
appearing for, $500 for failing to appear personafiyh e leen trying to
schedule a triabut the lawyer has sent others to do special appearances three
times in a row. |l didnoét know about
trial date but she set a date anyway at the convenience of the opposing cbunsel
thought it was just a routine status confererfserward, when | calledhe
lawyer | was appearing foto tell him what happenethe chewed meut like it
was my fault angad | cost him $500. He said | could kiss my fee goodibje.
knew this was a trial setting conference and had to know the sanction was
comingi f he diHkn&tendghowve to take the | uc

fiSounds |l i ke fun, o0 Gina isaibHien . b o
herebs a geocacher, 0 s heéeyngtdladge thha t h
subject to her real purpas&ina knew CIliff geocached as a hobby. This was
obviously a ploy to get him to offer to takdlen out geocaching. Both Ellen and
Cliff squirmed in their seats. An awkward silence followed.

Finally, CIliff announceddutifully that there was a geocaching event
pl anned for | ater in the maoadela mentald r
note not to go. Ginaclearly dissatisfied with his respse, kicked him in the
ankle at hiobstinacyjust as the waitress came to take their orders.

In pain, but mintimidated, Cliffgave the waitress his order thasked
Matt how things were going on the squad, hoping to change the sydtiegain
Palo Ato was a small enough office that there was only one squad. Each agent
on the squad had a specialty of sdrtsMat t 6 s wa't but theyralb r i
worked together on all types ofcasksat t coul dndt tal k atl
sensitivecasematters, bt he began to fill Cliff in on some office gossip. The
conversation devolved into a string of Bureau slang and acronyms and hushec
mur murings that other diners wouldnbo
ticked at Cliff, silently nibbled the chipshile the men ignored the women.

When that was oveEllen asked Gina what it was like to supervise a
bunch of macho men working bank robberies and other violent crimes. Gina
made clear that she had no trouble exerting her authority, something Clitbhad
difficulty believing, knowing Gina as he did

When a lull in the conversation descended upon them, Ellen excused

herself to go to the | adiesd room. W
AfiwWwhat 6s so funny?d Gina asked.
ANow | know whwrtyheRyoaomldol it The
nWhy?o0
iThe restrooms are | abeled Hung a



FATAL DOSE 29

Gina rolled her eyes and looked at Cliff accusingly.

iWhat ?tnamedherdnt® s a good |l unch spot

Gina looked over at Matt, but it was obvious he enjoyed the joke, too.

At that poirt their food arrivedjust in the nick of time so far as Cliff was
concernedand conversatiomalted for a few minutes. As the meal progressed
Gina resumed questioning Ellen. She learnedHEHiah had been a nun, that her
sisterwas a widowwhich was wlg Theresehad to work to support the family, a
family that now consisted only of herself and her daughter Ashley. Ellen was
living with Theresa in Monte Seremiie to the hardship

When CIiff heard that he joined in, satisfied that he had shown enough
disinterest in ay dating situation. Monte Sereno was a tiny aBdy expensive
burg squeezed into the western hills
you transferred here on an O.P., 0 he
missed the conversan earlier andlike Gina hadassumed that she was senior
enough to qualify for an Office of Preference transfer.

AMy eyes are down here, o0 EIll en r
fork at herface

Cliff blushed It was always embarrassing to baught looking, even
though the direction was the oppoditem the usualHe fumbled for something
to say.

After a beat she let him off the hadkughing at his discomfiture Al g
that all the time. The gray haP.e op | e al way sl tt Janilgdait.| 6 m

Theresa s  Wwemti totally white when she hit thiregight. A t | east I

starting to show gray. 6 m a c t wma & hagdshih wanséto help Theresa

with Ashley. Sheds so busy owith her modeling
Grateful to be let off easily, Glif smil ed back, c

happened to Theresads husband?bd0

ifiHe had a heart attack running a
street in the middle of the crowd. He was only fiftyo and trim. No history of
heart problems. 0

Bells suddenly wentdf i n Cl i ffdés brain. Thi
which explained a lot. Bishop was a former FBI agent who left the Bureau after
five years to pursue a political career. He worked in the San Francisco U.S.
Attorneyds offi ce a miheanafthe Crimihal Rivision, o
then took the same position at the U.S. Department of Justice in Washington.
There he became a close friend and golfing buddy of the current FBI Director
who was also a DOJ attorney at the time. Finally, Bishop left thé &ft@r two
years to run for Congress, won, and served on the House Judiciary Committee
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the committee that handled the FBI budget among other tHinggirprisingly,
he had a reputation as a staunch FBI advo&ixemonths ago Bishop dropped
dead of a hart attack at age fiftywo while running a marathon. As a close
friend of the Director and of the Bureau, he, or his widow at least, would get
every consideration the FBI could offer. If she wanted her FBI agent sister out
here to help with a sick childhat sister would be there. Cliff wondered whether
Ellen even really wanted the transfer. Salt Lake Division was considered a pretty
plush assignment on the whole. She may even have been transferred against h
will Afor the IgtheoFBlyon §owhdaiegheyBsand goa.u . 0

ils your sister Mar k téiatvélyonotesereifwi d
that was insensitive.

AfYes, 0 she answered simply. Al
Congressmen get good lié@d health nsur ance aumedeatagt . 0

Cliff wasndét sure how muwwrthisbiooh c er

intelligence a while before speakincg
seem uncaring either. He remembered
funeral a few month b ac k. Bi shopbés wife and vy«
bl ack, evocative of Il ittl e J oheresalleo h n

now recalledwas her namé even in blackvas stunning despite being fiftyish,
or at least he assumed then she wmaker fifties from her white hair. Now he
realized she was probably only in he
a successful model . T h & @&t leksh nbh that heb e ¢
rememberedThat might help explain why abngressman couldfford to live in
Monte Sereno, although Bishop was the scion of a wealthy family anyway, he
knew.

Al édm very sorry to hear alsdAshtey t h.
sick with?o

ifCancer . Sheds being t r etaStamfdrd o v
Everyhing looks good for a full recoveryhe Bureau is being really good about
giving me time off on days when she has hertineant s . 0

This news sent a chil!l up Cl i ffo
clearly coul dn &itectrig,du if ha saig hothingwgs he puttingt
Ashl ey, this girl he didnét even kno
were c¢chemo, not radi ati on. Then he w

much as he wanted to ask,udmsumd & wasd e
chemo, not radiation, even while he realized he was rationalizing.

fJeez, thatodés a tough break. I h ¢
anyt hing Imearlikenistiibre @afundstarted 6 d be happy
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AiNo needhadhgoesai nsurance, 0 EIl |
want charity, especially from someone wdeemed to biying to avoid her on a
personal level.

Mat t , sensing anot her awkward m C
about the latest smart phone and other tégih gadgets, an interest they shared.
This was something of little interest to either Gina or Ellen, so they began
chatting about where to shop and similar topics of interest to a woman moving
into the area. The conversation was difficult since GinaElleh were sitting
diagonally in the booth, as were Matt and CIiff, but they finished the meal this
way, talking between bites.

They settled the bill, splitting it four way#s they filed out of the
restaurant to the parking I&tflen and Matt climbed ito his Bureau car to return
to Palo Ato, while Gina headed to hers, which was parked only two spots away.

Just before Ellen closed herdd®i na cal |l ed over, i h
with her radiation treatments. 0

AThank you. It wasEhliee ¢al meedtb:
door.

Cliff, just emerging from the restaurant a few steps behind, stopped cold
when he overheard this exchange. His heart sank. So it was radiation, not chemo
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Chapter

Cliff sat across the glistening walnut cord@iece table from Frank
Crabbe, the service rep on suspens@nabbelooked nothing like his namesake.
Frank was on the short side, with stringy black hair arsivarthy skin tone,
resembling an Italian or even Turk with his jumbo Mediterranean ridee.
drummed his fingers nervously on his knee

AFrank, I want to thank you for t
me.l 6 m r e c odHbiplacgd hts lZdéosnecorderon the table, red light
gl owing. AThatés okay with you, 1isnb
ASur e. Waylmk my saldryeand tgdl me to show up so | guess |
donot have any choice. Who =exactly
introduced them with only the most cursory mention of Kivowlesbeing hired
to Alook into the L4 problem. 0

iMy name agrowlesl Dsm €hi Af t Krney hir
what is going wrong with the Lilacs. | appreciate thatd/elwbeen put on the hot
seat over this and 1| ¢€0

AAn attorney?! 0 Crabbe interrupte
hel p? Youor elpspiuthig to dvad liability, bke Wogel. This is an
engineering problem. o

nlt may be. And yes, avoiding |
and its lawyers. The best way to do that is to find out what is causing the problem
and correctitbefore her e are any more injuries.

AnThey think | screwed up somehow.
i ssue, but theyo6re trying to pin it
pulsed noticeably on one side o$ Imeck.

AFr ank, calm down. |l Om not tryin

A

here to find out whatés happening. o
Crabbe was unconvinced, but paused before speaking, unsure whethe

Cliff posed a threat. iLook, C esign m
i ssue, but the design engineers won¢
me . 0
AWhat makes you think ités a desi
Ailtodos obvious isndét it? The DPP v

to be possible without a dongle, but evemdiit happened | had the dongle with
me, in my computer bag and | was nowhere near the L4. | was out on the roac
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between calls or at another installation working. If there was no design flaw, this
just couldnét have happenedtatl dwas 7

This was news to Cliff, but not |
you if you had the dongle 70 miles a
il guess t hey t hwifi hndt spbtor somathme andl dida t
this remotely. But why woabd my dpolbh
probably go to jail for hurting peop

AnThat o0s possible to put the L4 i
assumed the L4 was handred to the computer in the control room and could
not be accessed any other way.

iY e s, t hat 6 s . Sometimes we Have toldiagndsel problems
on an emergency basis from here. But it can only be done if you have both the
dongle and computer that can slave sgtemat t he L 4. Basi c
my laptop and dongle to do #motely. To do it from the installation y@lonly
need the dongle since the program i s
have the dongl es. 0

iokay, so explain this to me agai
and programd. 6 m n o .Bumj it dowendar me

fiThe service refd meT installs the program at the treatment site using
his dongle. The dongle is the key to
encryption. Once installed the program can run without it to treat patient it
can only be put into diagnostic mode using the dongle, either at the site, or
remotely with my | aptop. The DPP,
radi ati on beam i f i tos t oo high, Cc a
difficult keyboard ombination. None of the other dongles will work on the
systems | 6ve idnstalled with mine.

AThat doesnét explain how you cou

nSever al things would have to haj
now | donot h a gsgnedanty myl repladerngnt. so He tcah service
my accountsvh i | e | 6 m oButassuming lehadsitirso Invould have
to find some place with nt er net connectivity. The
VPN i a virtual private network to the desired amputer if you know its IP
address. All our L4 installations have Internet connections with fixed IP
addresses so we can do this. o

ifiDo you have the | P adddavesensofb o
some kind so that a user can just select whichone hewaho CI i f f w
thinking that someone el se with acce
pick a site by just clicking.
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i No . You haviky thantdype hiat 6sna t o
right thereo

iSo do you have tlkgse emomareidz esd ma

iWwel | | yeah, of C 0 U r segentdeh4synémye r
territory. Therebs no way | coul d r
seldomu s e . Therebs an encrypted file o
need the dngle to decrypt thatoa That s a separate a
same dongle. Of course here at HQ we
so the I P addresses are there.o

iOkay, go on. You type in the 1P

i The \eBtablished so | would then have a secure, encrypted point
to-point connection with the L4. Once tfmtdone & make sure my dongle is
plugged in andaunchthe main control program in diagnostic mode on my
computer. It would send a request to the L4 poter to slave it to my laptop.
That computer would then send the serial number back to my laptop and check
for the dongle. If the hash comes back right, that computer releases control to
mine.| could then operate it however | wanted, including disalilegDPP. But

it coul dnodt be done accidentally. Y
simultaneously to do that. oo

il saw a demonstration. I assume
messages. 0

nOf course. I woul d haveputimhighent e
dosage®@ Exasperation crept into Crabbe

from sounding insulting. He was used to talking to engineers radidtion
technicians who knew most of this stuff already.
RnSo do you have flesaoudwith yos & doeyout e
just pack the one youbre going to?0
iNo, no, no. I only carry one dor
wel | this ti me. AfEach dongle is wunigq
systems i n a therepdortheBay ArgaRegion and | dave one
dongle. It would be totally unworkable to manage so many in thedield.
ifiAnd you had your computer and d
this happened?590
il Yesdyesl dd. So t heydre bbamitrhei me
because they dondédt want to admit ité
inSo do you have a theory as to w
di dnét have to take notes. He woul d
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il think there mus tutslpaver soopareof theo n d
system, but not all, maybe just for a few secainds.

iSo youbre saying maybe the | ine:¢
strength while the DPP power was <cut

AExactl y. I think thereds gpowartoor t
both the DPP and the moderating pane

ifWhat are moderating panel s?0

ARnTheyor e | eaves t hat mo v e thei ins an
constricting the pupilor the fstop on a camer&ome move all the way across
the beam likdiltersonacemer a | ens . T hgetséduced mewsateh e
amount or the specific frequency tgpe of X-ray or electron bearis blocked or
l et through. I f the | eaves and fubPP
strengthbeam would project to the patend Cr abbe was rol |
spitting out his answers now with a sarcastic edge like he was talking to an
inattentive moron.

Cliff was following this, but barely. It was getting too technical for his
taste. He could see that Crabbe was becomingldiobte decided to cut the
interview short. He pull ed out Crabt
personnel file and went over the dai
any warmer in his attitude, but remained minimally cooperative.

Cliff gleaned a few extra tidbits a personal cell phonaumberin
addition to the company one and the land line listed irp#reonnel file, some
personal history. Crabbe had a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Chico State,
High Honors. He was married witme child, a daughter age three. His wife was
a schoolteacher, but quit working when the girl was born. She planned to go back
when the girl ent er ed s ctimoamploymddteafied h
college, working in a community hospitah a sulurb of Sacramento as a
Facilities Engineer, but that job disappeared when a huge hospital operator
bought it out and then closed it dotmeliminate cheap competition to its nearby
large hospital He 6d been with Xlectri xworkor
record, first as &estEngineer in Palo Alto, then as a Field Service Engineer.
Cliff ran out of background questions to ask, thanked him again, and let him get
back to getting paid for sitting around waiting to be cleared of wrongdoing.

fiOne finalquestion Bust er . Do you | ike wor
ils that a threat?29
i No, no. [ di dnot mean it that w

know if you consideta good company to work for.
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Crabbe took a long time to answer. Finally he gredbbetween his
teetlwgsangbod company t o wodkifokthem.olrsit N

around by the phone, 6éstaying availa
daytime TV and playing solitaire on
mi ght as wel |l be in prison. o

The bitterness in his voice was evident. Cliff knew resentment to an
employer could be a motive for sabotage, but did this attitude predate the
problems? Or was it the result of his treatment and the cloud under which he
remaned?
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Chapter7

Maeva was none too happy to have an interview recording dumped on
her for transcription. That was probably her least favorite part of the job, but one
to which she had become accustomed. She stuck out her tongue when CIif
placed the Zom on her desk. CIliff just smiled an evil grin and retreated to his
office.

Cliff pulled out his directory of retired FBI agents. He knew three
retirees who had been qualified FBI polygraph examiners, and felt all were
competent. But one was vastly superio the others in evoking confessions
when the polygraph subject was guilt
number and called. Bergman answered on the third ring.

Y e albwa®a bark.

AiSol, is that any way to greet an

AShit.tWhe?dsCliff paused a few
mean it. | 6mdégoing to hang up.

AYou doancempwgmaph job?0

fiGoddam it. That és you, Cliff, i S
told you | dm retir ed.seventywdmyeastold.detmae h a
decay in peace. 0 His New York accent

in California for the last forty years.
ALiar . o

AwWhaddya mean 61 iaré? | told cha
more. o0

iAnd vy eid sughcaaugread jobfor me Have you sold your
polygraph?d6 There was smugness in ClI

iwhat 6s that got to do with anyth

iSo you stildl have it. You stil!]l

needit. Whichmean youébére not retired. o
AMi ster psychi aYau st hinrmokv, y au Gr ey o
now?J ur i s Dichcet orpérctonounced ifidoégobt ansg

doctor mor on. I't means 6doctor, my ass¢
iSo youbll l et tdheat W, et menn 22X cr uc
AnDi e. . what ? Wh a 't t he hel | ar e

Del usions are a sign youdre the one
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iCancer patients. I have a case
needless pain, death or disfigurementause of a medical device problem. You
can help me stop it.o

Bergmanremained silent for several long secoads Cliff knew he was
hooked. He explained the situation in detail, how he wanted Crabbe polygraphed
and how that might lead to removing a sabotud saving patient8ergman
continued to spit ouinvective but eventually agreed. He wanted Cliff to send
him the transcript of the interview and a summary of the facts first. When he had
studied them and felt ready to do the polygraph he would cifflt€larrange a
time.

AiHow soon do you think thatoél]l b
urgent . o

ATwo weekd thaw® tour nament final
after that. o

i Wh at tournament? You jousting n
hd d you. &0 Ber-gewen had balaoded to ébveruwo hundred fifty
pounds after retirement.

AFunny man. Lawn bowling. Mont er
sport. Pure skill. Not like thatgeodep ot t i ng shit you do.
ARi ght . Just drodo @rty headiuding urdilnaftelAtel

pol ygraph. |l need you healthy. o
AOne more thing.o0 Bergmandés tone
AWhat ?0
AThanks, Cli ff. | was bored as hi

my polygraph and guns so we can move a retirement community, you know,
one of those big condo things with a central dining hall and doctors oiYsite.
know,a pl ace where geezers go to die.o

Thisremarkgav€ | i ff pause. fiHow is your
AHeal thy as a horbeketi Ag hotbeidic
iYou have a wife. Youdre a | ucky
Maeva brought in a stack of mail

knew the In and Out baskets were anachronisms in this day and age but the
reminded him of his days as an FBI squad stiper. He enjoyed the nostalgic
feeling they gave him. He even used the samengetal gray wire baskets the
government used.
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The mail was mostly junk. Ads for office equipment, ads from other
lawyers with specialized servicesads for providers of Mandaty Continuing
Legal Educatiortourses.

Near the bottom of the stack of mail was an envelope from one of his
clients, an attorney he had appeared for as a special two months earlier. Insidk
was a check for $300. Cliff shook his head. Sixty days it to@etgaid a paltry
$300. And that was his only check this week, other thari®e000 retainer
Vogel had handed him. But that ten grand had to go into his client trust account
and coul dnodt be used for expensed or
Xlectrix for his time and the bills were approved. Then he could pay himself
from the trust account . Maeva didno
secretaryébés salary than Cliff had fo

Cliff worked through the rest of the mail. When dphe returned some
phone calls then began drafting his first weekly report for Vogel.
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Chapter8

Matt Nguyen and Ellen Kennedy watched t8&)V pull out of the
parking lot of the Home Depot and head noEhen pulled herChevy Malibu
into the stream dfraffic four cars behind thelue SUV. She was a little nervous
today. Shedd done many moving survei
been transferred here and she did not know the area well yet. In addition, it was &
brand new cawhich she hadeen assigned only a week earliand the nicest
Bureau cas h e 6 ddrivervLeke anyone with a new car, she was yetfully
used to its handling and the pimn of all the buttons. To top that, Matt was in
the car with her vewaackihg to hadiesa caldagua gbhserve
your every move.

Normally a physical surveillance, or fisur in FBI lingo, would involve
only one agent per car, but Matt knew Ellen would have a hard time by herself
new territory and it was handy for him to kable to work the radio while she
drove. He was the case agent and would be directingj & ¥isbirs He also
wanted to ride in the new car. At first inad resented the fact that this new
arrival to the squad gaissigneda brand new car. Matt was the sedamost
senior agent on the squad, and last year the most seniorregkatnew car
assigned. That meant Matt would normally be the next to get onelsgeas
over five years old, dase model Dodge Avenger with reliability problems.
InsteadMatt had o settle for a promise that he would get the mext car His
supervisor had explained to him off the record that the Director himself had
called the Special Agent in Charge of the division, and told him to make sure
Ell en fAgot a de dnethetBureaaMatt kihew SvhycElen was | |
here and understood she was not pulling strings.

fiHe made t hat y e |, radiownjk®in Hdrdt as theaSUY o u
scooted through as the light ahead changedi We 6 r e red ball e
pick him up?bo

Afhave the eye, 0 a deep male Vvoi Cc¢
probl em. 0

ASorry, o EIll en began, Al didno6t w
fiNo sweat, ElIl en, 0O Mat t assured
t eam. I told you to stay back. 0

They listened as the radio chatter told them the subject had gotten on
280 south. When the light changed Ellen took off from the line as quickly as was
safe andzippedright, into the next lane, weavindgexteroushthrough traffic She
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made the next greenglit just barely and fishtailed onto the freewayramp.
Within minutes she caught up with the subject who was in the second lane from
the right. She moved into the right lane, which was moving at about the same
pace angositionech er c ar t ohtreanabouifth\Medasvayr i ¢

AOkay Unit 2,0 Matt announced, W

The SUV continued southeast until it reached the Nimitz Freeway, which
led up the east side of the bay to Hayward and Oakland. Today, however, the
SUV wert only one exit north and exited at Bascostill in San Jose. Ellen
dropped back and another car that had not been up close took owuail the
position. The team followed the SUV into the neighborhood and saw it pull up
and park on Emory, directly acrosem the Municipal Rose Garden.

The Rose Garden was both a city park, a beautiful getknown
among rose lovers, and the name of the district. It was one of the nicest
neighborhoods in San Jose and had been used as the turnaround point in eve
Silicon Valley Marathon in recent years. The local schoold keeir graduation
ceremoniedere

The tail car drove on and parked around the corner to avoid being spotted
as surveillance by t he Malkyl hatlitoige past..

He was peing his car mieblock. Can someone get an eye to see where he
went ?0

i Ro gteig is Unit 1.We 6 | | take it,0 Matt r
bar ked, AHurry up and get onto that

She turned left off Bascom onto Emory, making the oncoming car hit its
brakes and honk angrily, but she dic
the Rose Gardefinally slowing to normal traffic speed. As they drove down the
block looking at the cars parked on either side, the SUV was easily spottiee
right.

fHeb6parked near the Rose Garden e
announced to the crew. iHeb6s not in
he got out. o

AUnit 2 negative. o
AUnit 30negative

ioOkay, wedre goi ngrodegardgndcs e ainfd Iy
there. Unit 2, you stay at that end of the block in case he comes out and goes the
way. Unit 3, can you park back about four houses from the subject and watch to
see if he comes out of one of those

AlD. 0

5
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The others positionedhiemselves as instructed. Matt and Ellen drove to
the far side of the smallish park where they left the car and entered the Rose
Garden. They walkedt a leisurely pace across the grass toward the SUV,
glancing around as they talked, pretending to be justh@r couple. There was a
cluster of teens in one corner and a man throwing a Frisbee for his dog in the
center of the grass. Joggers patrolled the outer perimeter beyond the chain linl
fence that encircled the block, long ago having worn a path in thewnatrip of
grass between the fence and the sidewalk. Matt and Ellen could readily see tha
the subject of the surveillance, an Arab male in his twenties, was not among the
current park uss on the grass side.

The park was divided in half by ng mound on which aline of
redwoodsstoodin aneatrow. The mound was bordered by a stone retaining wall
that served as a dais. During ceremonies, the speakers or dignitaries sat or stoc
on the top levelhile the audience sat on the ftass expansa fewfeet below
in folding chairs On the other side of the redwoods were rows and rows of roses
of almost every varietgncircling a large fountain addvingly cared for by a
local flower club and the city staff. Matt and Ellen walked almost to the far side
of the park near the Emory entrance and then turned right, passing the rest room
and entering the rows of roses. There were people everywhere, mostly couples o
moms with children, strolling through the aisles, reading the labels and admiring
the blooms.

AThis is beautiful, Matt, o EIIl en
first t wo columns of fl ower s. il had
AYup. Itds nice. Do you see him?0

Her head snapped up. She was supposed to be working, not sightseeing
i No, where?b90

ANd, dondt see him. Il 6m just askin
She looked around. There were too many people in thihé#hie park
to be certain. i No, not yet . Let 6s k
Matt pulled a small handheld radio from his jacket pocket anddwsaoe
thatnoone but Ell en could see him using
AUnit 2 negative. o
ANot hing, Matt.o
iOkay,oukpeoesp ti ons. We dond6t see hi

looking.0

They continued to make their way through the rowsying faster than
the other groups around them. After ten minutes they had satisfied themselves
that the subject was not in the park. They moved back to the grassy area wher
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they could see the SUV, still parked on the street just on the other side of the
chain link fence. They sat on the grass and tried to look natural while keeping an
eye on the houses across the street.

ifiHave you followed Abboud to th
Ghalib Abboud was the driver of the SUV, although they refrained frangus
his true name on the radio for secur
or Athe subject. o

i No, | havenot foll owed him bef
Alexandria coming out of the national headquarters of the Scimitar Relief Fund.
TheSRHF s a phony charity. On paper ité
funneling money to a violent faction ¢famasi a s pl i nter gr ol
probably used to buy weaponsr a't |l east that 6sThewhat
followed him for a coum of days and eventually got a name and address from
the hotel where he was staying. He lives out here, in Mountain View. This is just
the initial fisur to see if we can figure out where he works and who his contacts
are. Wedre the Office of Origin now.

AHow about this area f or foroAtabserr s
anything?bo

iNo. Maybe some of t he 9Sroaseshdbk e
h avenodtPethirsua subjecys comitgo wn her e. 0

Af ter fifteen mi nut ees hela ttot issearr a ¢

di screetl vy, vol ume | ow. iMatt . WEJ w
Dark skin, black hair, maybe Arat/ith a WMJ. Blondo

ifiRoger . 0 He turned to EIIl en. fi Wi
Watch to see if she turns onto Emddyond guy with heid

AUni t 2. Matt, they turned your w

The girl wore glasses and carried a backpack, obviously a student. The
boy with her wasskinny, very fair, and on the short side, but taller than the girl,
wh o was petite. T hbaty seemved] rt@ hed tn friendly ¢ h
conversation. They stopped before reaching the park entrance strappieared
to say goodbye. The boy turned around and headed back toNdahand Ellen
watched ashegirl walked up Emory on the far side until she wasdliyeacross
from the SUV.There she turned and walked up the walk of the colatydd
two-story house. She pulled out a key, unlocked the front door, and went in.

ioOkay, she went i n a house near
coloniald Mat t He didinotogevalthe other units the address since it was
theoretically possible the channel could be monitored despite being scrambled.
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iWe donoét know if shebs connected. V
watch the rest. o

Within minutes, howeverthey had their answer. Two Arab males
walked out onto the front step of that same house. Matt recognized the youngel!
one asAbboud,the driver of the SUV.

iALl I uni t s. The subjeciTheguebs eamer
male with him, probably theawer or renter of the ho
hands. Our package is returning to
car in time. You guys see i f you can

Got it Matt . See you back at th

MattandEl | en headed back to their <ca
they had no chance of catching up. Halfway across the Blék turned and
looked back but the SUV was already gone. Matt turned the radio off.

When they got in the car Ellen asked Matt wieetto try to catch up with
the surveillance team. He listened to the radio traffic for a few seconds and hearc
the team say it looked like Abboweas heading home to his house in Mountain
View.

ANwedd have to risk our rmraadjussto an
prove he drove home.d@ackto the R.A. We have the address of a new contact.
That should be enough for starters. o

Ellen pulled out antieaded for the freeway
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Chapter9

Cliff walked into the bank to deposit his weekly receipts. Herssaed
to order more business checks. He waited dutifully in line with the other
customers until he got to position one. When a young male teller came free Cliff
waved the person behind him ahead. He was waditing/largaret his favorite
teller.

When CIif had been working on the FBI violent crimes squad fifteen
years earlier he had responded to a bank robbery at this same bank whel
Margaret was a brand new teller. She had been a basket case, since she was t
victim teller and that was her first robbe@liff had interviewed her. The police
had already been there and interviewed her, which was normal since city police
patrol cars were always closer than the FBI ageviie cover a much larger area
with fewer personneMWhat was different about the poliaad FBIcontactsback
then, though, was that Cliff had calmed her down patiegintly joking to
make her feel less threatened, emphasizing how she did not have to worry abou
the robbers coming back to hurt her if she cooperated. He had even called he
three days later to find out how she was doing, and when she sounded shaky
drove the fifteen miles from his office to the bank and brought her a small
bouquet of flowers. He made her feel safe.

That act of kindness kept her from quitting banking altogietShe was
now the assistant manager of the bank, and when CIiff had set up his law office
he had made a point to come to her bank. During the busy lunch hour, she filled
in as an extra teller. She was a veteran of four bank robberies now, and they ha
becomealmost a mundane part of everyday banking life.

Cliff moved to her window, the one farthest from the street, when she
came open. He did his transactions, chatting withabeut her four kidas she
moved with characteristic efficiency. He was jasiout to leave when all hell
broke loose.

Two young punks broke from the line of customers. One, the taller of the
two and apparently in charge, wore a hoodie and sunglasses, the otheaga do
and baggy pants that s a g g eodld wal& Eacho w
held a cloth sack in one hanthe taller one announced in a loud voice, almost a
scream, that this was a robbery and nobody should move. Immediately a womar
customer got faint and sank slowly to the floor.

Cliff whispered to Margareto hand him a dye pack. Every teller has a
bundle of bills, with exploding dye packs embedded between theTdikkspacks
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activate on a time delay when they pass through sensors at the door.KheNers
which bundle that is and they are supposed to giveettmsny robber, but, of
course, not to regular customers. Trusting CIliff implicitly, she quickly handed
him asmallpack of twenties, which he slipped into his outer suit coat pocket.

ifiWebve got guns, 0 hoodie man shol
hur t . 0 He mot i withdid hamdeundardis hogdi€liff thought it
was a bl uff, b lbthere avasual ganruidder thbere, it ad to de a
small one.From his experience he knevkig was definitely a higlprofile
robbery. Most were quieaffairs where the robber just passes a noteveaills
out with maybe two or threthousand dollars. It was obvious here that these guys
wanted to clean out all the teller cages of cdsto-man, multiteller robberies
were rare and usually very dangerous

The shorter robber was already at the first teller cage demanding all her
hundreds and twenties. A N,0 he dyyrgedThe c k s
woman complied. He moved to the nekhis robbey too, wore sunglasses. His
jet blackhair was longand on the bushy sidé stuckout of the bottom edge of
the daeragover his ears

AfEverybody back away from the tel
wall ets in the bag. Al your <cash ar
customersholding his sack in his left hand while his right hand remained in his
hoodie. Customersnumbering around a dozestumbled backward until they
formed a loose herd in the middle of the lobby around the thhtehousedll
the deposit slips and other forms. Theypired their wallets in the sack.

iYou too, 0 hoodie yelled at Cl i f
farthest teller window.

Cliff picked up his pace slightly. Dmag was now at teller number three
of the fivewhile hoodie was collecting wallet€liff joined the herd and held out
his wallet and dropped it in the sack with a show of cooperafimmg with the
pack of twentiesThe robber was watching him intently and there was no way to
do it discreetlyWhen he sa the twenties go in the saclqddie smdkd a rat; he
pulled the pack out and threw it on the floor, suspecting it of being a dye pack.
He gave CIiff the evil eye, but said nothinghe robber finished with the
customers and moved to tHesks where the loan officer and manager sat. Cliff
pickedup the pack anddged his way to the end of the milling herd closest to the
door.

Do-rag finished with Margaret and headed back towardetiteanceas
his partner turned to join hinThe two turned their backs on the groapd
headed to the front doo€liff , heart racingsprinted forward and dove onto the
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back of the shorter robber, taking him to the flokdne other robber turned and
pulled a.32-caliberrevolver from his hoodie.
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Chapter 10

Sol Bergman directed Crabbe to sit in the chair neXtéqblygraph, but
did not attach any of the deviceds |

Al dm recording this conversation
Recordbutton on his oldashioned cassette style recorder and watching the reels
begin to tutraand fitYloaut uaardcersonsent t o i

il guess | dondét have any choice.

AfYou do have a choice. I am not
or with any | egal authority. I mu st
be validunlessi was voluntary. o

AMy boss said I 6d be fired if | d
guy Knowles is doing. I woul dndt cal

ABut that is stildl your <choice.

polygraph examination so thdtere will be no question as to what exactly was
asked and how you answered at each step in the exam. Do you consent to thi

process or shall | pack up and go?0
AYeah, yeah, I consent, 0 Crabbe
with.o

Bergman gave hina form to sign, which Crabbe did quickly, without
reading it.

Bergman then went on to explain how the polygraph worked. It recorded
various body reactions during questioning, such as pulse rate, respiration rate
and skin conductivity. He emphasized hibwould detect any lie and that it was
important to be truthful. His tone was somber and authoritative, but polite.

Bergman then began a series of questions largely covering the same
ground CIiff had, but veering off into some more personal areas eudtathe
investigation. When he was ready, he hooked up the polygraph to Crabbe. One
lead went onto the fingers of one hand. A blood pressure cuff was placed on the
bicep of the other arm. Bands around his chest measured respiration.

iBegi nni ngnationh Answerxad nguestions truthfully and

promptly yes or no, unless | ask you
AfYes. o
nAre you employed as a Field Serv
AfYes. o
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A series of similar background questions followed, distaing a
baseline for the readings. There was a pause after each answer while Bergma
examined the readings that followed. It sometimes took several seconds for the
nervous reaction to demonstrate itself. The examiner had to determine whethel
the subjectvas a quick reactor or slow reactor.

AiDo you intend to tell the trutdl
important question.

AYes. O

AfiHave you ever taken something fr

ANo. O

Bergman studied the readings and scowled.

AnFrank, itdéds obvious you Ilied on

have you ever taken something from a
Crabbe broke out in a sweat and his body odor filled the small room.

AWell, no. I mean he wasndét a friend
AExplain, 0 commanded Ber gman.
Ailn Little League, I wanted to pl

the team, but the coach always played his own son there. So one time | took hit
catcherdéds mitt and hid it sdaditheanty t h
ot her catcherds mitt. But he just m:
hated Cory and gave up baseball after that season. So | was telling the truth. H
wasndt a friend so my anveaswong. Wetdeltt h e

guilty. Thatdés what you saw. 0 Crabbe
understand.

AAnd thatds the only time?b9d

nwell, my wife. She used to date
him. And then | ater | starmedShadd nag
dumped hi m, but he accused me of :
stammering.

AfiLook me in the eye when you ansyv

Other than those two instances you just told me about, have you ever taker
anythingfroma fri end that you shoul dndt ha

ANo. 0 The voice was barely audib
this time.

Another long pause while Bergman read the output.

AiDid you sabotage the Lilac machi
case?0

fi N o . abbe @ractically shouted this answer.
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Do you know what caused the radi
A momentds hesitation. AYes. O

=1}

AExpl ain. o

Altés a design flaw. o

iYes or no. To the best of your |
explanation fortheoverdose i s a design fl aw?d0

AYes. O

iDo you know of any other cause?0

ANo. O

AfDo you know of anyone who woul d
to happen?d

ANo. O

iAre these overdoses your fault?bo9

Anot her hesitation. ANo. 0

AfiYou reacted todtt hael loinkg Me® us @mg¢

Explain. o

iNo, no. Real ly. | donodt know. |

iThat s not good enough. Youbdre n
says youdre lying. o

Al dm not | ying. 't 6 s ¢educsnye&lieritst fds |
one el sebs [ keep thinking maybe |
see what. Theyodove sent other enginee
to |l ook at those machines and they h
just afraid that maybe | d6m responsib

iYes or no. Thatdéds the only reaso

AfYes. 0 Tears streamed down Crabbe

iDo know of anything el se you hay
ownengi neers that might help deter mine

ANo. O

AAl'l right. The test is over. o0 Be

ADid | pass?0 Crabbe was now a ne
polo shirt, bore dark stains in the armpits. bligly odor was even stronger.

Al ol | have to study the results
can only tell Mr. Knowles or Mr. Vog

to use theesultsfor. But if you think of anything that can prevesmnyone else

from being hurt by these machines, you absolutely must come forward with it. If

you conceal anything, it wondt go we
Bergman handed Crabbe a tissue, packed up, and left.
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Chapterll

Cliff guickly got tatkeHemad be hés r b
neck in a carotid artery hold with his right arAt.the same timehetried to slip
the dye pack into the bag that-dmy carried in his left hand, but in the
commotionthe bundlefell to the floor.The bag had a drawstring andsaeosed
too tightlyfor Cliff to manage it.

This freneticwrestlingmatch lasted no more thahreeseconds, as the
ot her robber gave Cliffds exposed ba
go. A shard of pai nHeskheainhstattlyhis kidngyhadC | i
taken the brunt of the blgwhe only thing that saved him from a serious rupture
was the fact the robber was wearing Air Jordans instead of. lididgtsreleased
dorag andarched his body backward in an involuntasgasmodiaespmse to
the blow. He opened his eyes, which he had squeezed shut when the kick landec
and saw aevolver pointed right between his eyes from a distance of no more
than a foot. So much for the bluff theory.

ADonodt shoot . I 6 m s oracyoak td the gallev e
robber as daag got up from the floor.

il shoul d shoot vy eaus sj, wsddclafeddnitred e i
sneer but turned back to the front and with a jerk of his head signaled the other
robber to get out. They both sprintéddugh the door anithento the right on the
sidewalk.Cliff lay writhing in pain.He lay on the floor for another thirty seconds

as Margaret and two of the customers rushed to his aid.

They all told him to stay down until help came, but he struggledsto h
feet anyway, with Margaret helping him as best she could once she realized he
wasnot goi ng tWhenlhe sdcleed a semianding positmm he
noticed for the first time that the dye pack was no longer on the floeragpo
must have picked up, thinking it had fallen from his baglis back was a wall
of flame. He had to brace himself with his elbows on the lobby table until his
senses adjusted tagmew normal.

ACIiff, o Mar gar et excl ai med, it h
k i | ISkeccluaked her tongue and scowled like a playground monitor scolding
a clutch of rowdy boys.

The first police officer rushed through the fraltior at that moment, gun
drawn, but depressed toward the floor. He was followed immediately by another
officer, a freskhfaced rookie typeBoth looked around, scanning for signs of
danger or medical emergency. Several customers rushed toward them. The
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woman who had fainted was only now coming to. Like CIiff, she had been
surrounded by othggood Samaritanas sooras the robbers left.

Cliff made a point to stand up as straight as he could. His back was still
afire, but he could tell already that he would be able to tolerate it if he took it
easy. He didnét want t he p.dHeivantedot o
police attention atall Hedéd had a | engthy and h
only a Ilittle over a year ago. He di

One officer barked some code into his radio, then told everyone to calm
down and notto leave untihey d6d been interviewed.
gotten when a message came over his radio that grabbed his attention. On
robber had been apprehended a block away, writhing in pain ordéweadk, his
front pants pocket scorcheaddbright red.

Clffcoul dnét make out the entire t
stopped talking he heard t he ltjleoonenger
must have tried to rip off his partner instead of splitting the loot. His partner
probably realized it whetihe pack went off and took off without him. They never
l earn. o

This was exactly the scenario Cliff had hoped the police would adept.
thought the officer had it slightly wrong; doa g pr obably coul
drawstring open quickly while runmgnand just stuck the bundle in his front
pocket . He woul dnét have been the fi
wasndt sure whet héytosalniypo nteh eh addy es epeanc |
sack but he wasndt going to volunteer

A few seconds later two more uniformed officers appeared just outside
the front door, visible through the glass, supporting theadorobber, who
resembled something from a horror movie at this potmrred clothand red dye
completely covering onede of his groin. Several customers pointed and most of
them yelled AThatés him!o

iWe have our | D6s, 0 the ol der of
outside as he opened the bank door.

The officer turned back and asked whe thanager was. A man in the
crowd identified himself and the two moved to a desk where the officer was no
doubt getting the information on the cameras, security systems, and telling him to
prepare a list of serial numbers of the bait money takehthe ttal dollar loss
Cliff knew the drill. The younger officer began taking down the names of the
witnesses, whether they were customers or staff, and so on. Soon he was joine
by two more officers and they divided up the people for interview. Several of the
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witnesses, seeing that this was goi ni

see anything and werenodt feeling wel
Cliff had not yet been interviewed and was looking for a way Bwt

that time three FBI agents had atdwmwn up. Cliff knew them all. One was from

the Palo Alto office and the other t

buttonholed the one he knew the b&ggody Braswell,a strapping black fellow

Cliff had once supervised, and explained that béy@eeded to get out of there.

Braswellhadnodt seen Cliff in several mo r

news, but Cliff said hebs slipped ar

back to his office and lie down on his counaswellofferedto take him to the

hospital, but Cliff declined. The agent took pity on him and told the spniae

officer that Cliff was exBl and needed medical attention and Breswell was

taking him. The officer shook his head and muttered something, pototioige

of the witnesses and then back at CI

of the robber. The agent just shook his head in return and wh#adoverto

Cliff.

iLetdbs go, 0 he said. fAHang onto n
Cliff diodrn@tkeneed tHe hel d onto tt
of the bank to the agentbs <car. Wh e |

from there, his office being only two blocks away. The agent told him that the
second robber had been arrested, toot Message had come over the radio as
the agent had driven up. He asked if Cliff could do a-lipdater, and Cliff
agreed. They shook hands, an act that sent excruciating waves through his tors
once moreBraswell again suggested Cliff go to the hospitalt again CIiff
begged off and started walking toward his office, thanking the agent once more.

nSay hi to Gina and the gang for
not looking.

Al wi | | Braswelleall baeka r d
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Chapter 12

Vogel invited Begman to sit on the plush sofa. Clifftill in pain from
themo r n iadvgniusestood andsipped at a bottled water, impatient for the
resutsHe 6d doped hi msel f wilitlehbut ¢he pain wasn ,
still enough to make him cuaind tety.

ASo, Sol , | ebluded ouhas soen as Bergrhan Wds sitfinf.

ifiHe has very strong responses. F
never play poker for money. 0

ASo hebés telling the truth?o

Al ol | have to st udal witthneaeportewhighiwills &
t ake anot her t wo or three days, bu
decepti ve. He really believes itbés a

ANo written report, o Vogel decl a
that can be found duringlt i gati on. 0O

Ailtoés all privileged, o Cliff remi

ifiOnce itbds on paper, or wor s er, a
anywhere a n d I donét want that.o

iThat 6s okay with me, d Bergman r e
putinthe hourswtii ng t he report. o

il still want you to put in the h
official final opinion, but make it oral. Can you do it by tomorrow afternoon? If
Busterd6s innocent, | want to puterhim
l ong enough. o

iAwel |, | &m not sure hebdés innocent
whet her it was his fault. Heds afrai

but he seems honestly not to know what it couldfbiee did screw up, he could
doit again.ldot hi nk heds ,thaughhé6hbksgemagou a
tomorrow, three P.M. Will you be here then for my aall?

il ol 1 make a point of [ Thank
pl ease stay a minute. o0

Ber gman s h o odkpicked gpehisvéllsvorinraetal polygraph
case, and left.

ACliff. So whatdéds next?0
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il start interviewing the <client
t here. Maybe ités wuser error or som
L46s. 0

ils tslhbpdtutaby necessary? Webve al
repeatedly. If we send in a lawyer teirent er vi ew t hem, t he:
trying to intimidate them and find a way to shift blame to them. If our clients get
a whiff that tfhoery 6p et ebretiinagl sleawswp t s
Acme anvil.This could literally put us out of business if it becomes known in the
industryMost of them have competitorsodo d
notes and talk to our engineedsout theii nt er vi ews . 0

inYes, ités absolutely necessary.
to see these things in action myself and judge the attitudes and competence of th
user s. I dondt have to tell them | 0n
egi neer would wear and | can go in |
to diagnose the problem. o

nAl I right, but wunder no circums’

know that this has happened anywhere
incident thafs only happenedncei to them You could bankrupt us if you
screwthisup. 0

ilf we dondt get this figured ou
Now | 6ve got to go. My back is kil l:i

Cliff spent the next two days at home stretthmut in his recliner,
recuperating from the kick in the back, self medicating with aspind the
occasional beer.

He knew he should get checked ou:
any blood in his urine or any other symptoms he recognized as sé&igney
damage

Hed had Maeva call off his Thursday special appearahaesaid he
could take businesscalls at home. One of those wdé&ody Braswell,the FBI
agent who had gotten him out of the baBkaswelltold him he wanted to come
by wi t hwall€t] whicl thespolice had released to himi n c e it
needed as evidendgliff told him to come on by.

When he got therBraswellsaidthat both robbers were on parole and so
were going back to prison without the need for a tiachhad rolledover on
the otheroneand made quick deals for lighter sentenceghe recent robbery
but with their priors they were going to be in for at least ten more years.
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AcCliff,d the agent finally asked,
to tackle thatguy? It was an armed robbery. You could have taken a bullet. The
witnesses identified you @aavackowh o tri ed t o take dowr

ioOkay, it lwads denda pisde.e a weapon
bluffing with the gun threal. d o n & tat donirdowne Wlhe olBBI instinct
| guess. By the way, | heard one of the robbers got caught because of the dys
pack. How di d t hHetknew the anewer, of eoxrsecutl hg ?
wanted to find out what the police knew.

AnWe intervilewsd tama tad | of them I
him any dye packs, because he told them not to. They were too @fraicbbber
made them point out the dye pack at each window.

AfAnd the one? Let meAgsiestsanti tMava

iYou know her? Yeah, t hat 6s her .
in his bag even though he said not to. The unlucky moron must have tried to slip
a little extra into his clothing to avoid splitting it with his partner. But he chose

the wrong bundle and he wr ong place to hide it
hypothesis anyway. o0
iYeah, whatiadostyuopu dk nbcawm k r obber ?!
ifiThose packs get to over 400 degr
pants wereset on fireand his love life mabe over for good | have no

beenpainful as hell It sounds like a real civil suit in the makingiifand | am
saying this purely as a hypotheti¢ait turned out someone actually put that dye
pack there. Say, like someone wrestlingaround¢éne f | oor wi t h h

fiYou think | shoved that pack in his clothing? Dream or.Hs a b ¢
robber and a lying thief wiith no doubt try to make a buck any way he can. You
have the word of a bank teller against that of an armed robber on parole. Who are
you going to believed

fiMargaret For now anyway

ATher ethgnoaw go

The agent eyed CIiff with a sardonic smifeOd d | vy, t hough
guy who wrestled with the robber left the scene before being interviewed by the
police, due to medical necessit.o0 t he police donodt h
report. Since the bad guys are back in the slammer for parole violation, and have
cut a deal already on the robbery, topsar en 6t going t dei nv
waited a couple of beats to see if Cliff saidy more. When he was met with
silence, he handed Cliff his walldgbld him to get welland said he had to be

going.
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As soon as Braswell left he picked up the phone and ordered a large
bouquet of flowers for MargareBy the end of the day his back wkeling
almost normal.
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Chapterl3

Fridays were running days for Clidind his back was feeling fin& was
expected to hit 90° by midfternoon, so CIliff decided to get out for a morning
run while it was stil] c o od of gup THere h e
was nothing pressing at work so figured he could go in late. Hate a light
breakfast andfter reading the morning paper, put on his running clothes.

It was 9:30 by the time he reached the parking lot at the county park. He
got out ad stretched for a few minutes, but it was alreadyming upso he
decided to get going while the shadows were still long and the air cool.

He had a regular route he liked to follow. He was so familiar with this
route by now that he tended to runirt a subconscious reverieHe ran on
autopilot, vaguely aware of the hikers, the birdh® squirrels and trees, but he
relished the zoned out feeling, the vacancy in his mind that running brought.
When he got in the zone he achieveedort of nirvana, a sensé all worries
melting away. So it was a bit disturbing when something caught his eye and
jerked himback to reality

He saw a woman and girl twenty feet or so off the trail by a chain link
fence that demarcated the edge of the parki. The girl was sea@ing and
talking inanimpatiens oundi ng voice, although he
He recognized both the woman and location. It \Eden Kennedy and the
location was that of a notoriously hard geocache in that park, one which he had
found a yearmr two earlier. The girl must be the niece, Ashley. He stopped to
watch, amused.

When he had stood there next to the trail for two or three minutes, Ellen
noticed him and at first stepped protectively in front of the girl as though to
shield her from someper vert 6s gaze. Al most i
recognized Cliff and cocked one of her formidable eyebrows.

AWhat 6s so funny?0 s hehisdiettibndid et o
me guessfoundrbuédvene already. o
fi | have, 0 he wail#edl aowgmerg, hamd
evi | . Not one to break in a newbie.

Ashley, hearing her name, looked up and was now watching the two of
them.

AnAshl ey, come on over here, 0 EI | ¢
friendofmi ne. This is Cliff.o
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Ashley took the few steps to join them held out her right hand stiffly to
shake. AHel | o. 0O

AnHel |l o, Ashl ey. I's this your firs

i No, Aunt EI |l en t ook me once be
geocacher, too?0

il es wam. I found this one before.

Ashl ey grinned and | ooked at EI Il e

iOf cour se. Come on, | eleddhem kmdkkto g C
the fence and showed Cliff her GPS unit. The distance indicator shratiotd
eight feet as she got to the met al f
she said, Al think ités in the fence

there.Just a hollow stegliped6 She removed t he mett al
and held it upside down for CIiff to selothing was glued to the underside of
the cap.There was no wire hooked onto the top of the pife peered down the
post as though to demonstrate her previous futile attempts.

AYoubre very, very warm.o

At tha remark Ashley turned to the post and knocked on it, but she was
too short to look into the top.

iThe cache page says you dondt ne

0

have to use some sort of tool t ge
disapproval.

fiDoes it say you dondt brngamy at ¢ @lo
A slight smirk crept over Cliffos vi

Ellen took a second look at the cache page readout on her smart phone
After a beat she har r ugupsk that mears@e tool Y ¢
you need is here somewhere. o

fiTool or tool s, yes. 0

At this Ashley piped up, fAWe need

El'l en repl i ed,withfretdlvops os masnPVC tuledh e s
that you need to retrieve using a magnet,tb t hat 6s t he <cl o
magnet woul dndét do aodarglegaon@aghet bnearsteingit | f
would just stick right to the steel

AfiUnl ess the cache had a magnet or
a cork or film canistersay, and you had a magnet dead center on a wooden pole
that you could stick straight down. The wood would prevent the magnet from
sticking to the side and you could make contact with the cache and pull straight
up. o0 Cliff grinned as he said this.
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Ellen and Ashley immediately started looking around for a wooden pole
as described. CIiff let them scour the area for about five minutes before he said,

Aiof course that would only work if t
This oneds all plastic. o

Ellenst ood wup, shot him the evil e )
dirty, |l owdown é. 0 She cast an eye a
wer enot present shedd have finished
maybe a harder punch.T h a r serelindusoawi | d goose chase

Cliff laughed gleefully, althoughhis shoulder hurt more than he
expected. This gal could throw a punch. Ashley looked on bewildered and maybe
just a little shocked that her aunt would hit a friend.

iThe tobltshere,rjgst | ike he said
an expansiveweepingnovement with his arm.

Ellen looked around once more, but quickly looked back up at CIiff.
fnWedbve searched all around here. The
pal m fronds. 0

The California coast may be the only place in the world wher#earsn
deciduous trees and palms grow side by side. The palms are not native, of course
but the many imported specimens have thrived and even spread in a few places
much as pical parrots, escapees from birdcages have thrived in San Francisco.

AiBingo!d Cliff replied.

ABingo? What, the palm fronds?0o

Ashley looledon confused.

AiNotice anything different about

Ashley and Ellen both bent and picke up a frond bas
were cut of f, 0 Ashley answered brigh

AOh no. No, no, not thatéodo EIl Il en
that lay aheadSeveral fronds had been cut so that their broad bases were
separged from the leafy part. These particular frond bases were exceptionally

curved so as to form natural cups. A0
fAbout a hundred yards, o Cliff an
AfnCarrying water in t hesespifandossioghs i
al | over .o Ell en was shaking her hea
AnHer e, you can borrow my water

midsummer day was expected to be hot, he had brought a water bottle for the
run. He lifted it to his lips and took a big gihen handed it to Ellen, still about
half full.
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Ell en took it and handed it to A
pol e. 0o

Ashl ey gushed, noOh | get it You
geocache float to the top. o

ASmart girl, o Cliff replied.

Ashley poured the water into the pole, but almost immediately cried out,
ifAunNnt EIl en, itds |l eaking out!o

Ellen examined the pole and saw that, indeed, the water poured in was
leaking out a neat screw hole near the bottom of the pole. She shot Cli a loo
that could have scorched all the ice off Greenland.

Unfazed, he comment ed, ANOw you s
at | east two people for this one. o

El'l en handed CIliff a palm frond.
the bottleandodédplugtilhe hleolee. 0 She sa
put her thumb over the screw hole. Some of the water from the bottle was still in
the pole.

iCome on Ashley, o6 Cliff sai d. il t
to go back to that pond and getrme wat er . 0

Rather than being discouraged, Ashley thought this was a greatamwist,
adventureof sorts and immediately took off jogging back toward the pond they
had passed. Cliff had to jog to keep up. When they got there, Ashley submergec
the bottle inthe green algaglled water and stood up. Cliff dipped the frond in,
but his payload was at most a third of hers, and, as Ellen predicted, tended tc
slosh and spill ashe moved. When they made it back to the pole Ashley
immediately emptied the bottle mtthe top. From the increasing pitch it was
evident that the pole was filling fairly rapidly. The cache must take up a fairly
large part of the volume of the pole. Ellen continued to sit on the ground, thumb
over the screw hole, giving Cliff a smug lookdi Who6s having f U
guy?o0

Cliff dumped his meager cargo into the pole and then turned back. He
had to sprint to catch up with Ashley, who was scampewity a lot more
energy than Cliff would have thought a cancer patient would have. Bitle
round trip he was panting heavily, but the pole was nearly full enough to see the
cache. He peeked down inside. Ashley was about to return to the pond, but CIiff
stopped her.

AfAshl ey, hold on, o6 he call ed. i M
the e, but maybe yours arenét. Can you
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She came back to tfencepaost. She reackd her hand up and slyed
three fingers in.
il can feel somet hing! o she squec
considerable effort she finally pulled up a lengtiPMC pipeobviously chosen
to be small enoughn diameter to filooselyin the steel pipelt had been sealed
on both ends with caps, and both caps had projecting tdapdon cordthat had
been glued on so that someone could extract the cache. Thel@dnsisely put
loops on both ends so that the cache could be extracted even if put babkrin
endfirsf so it coul dn 6 tAshikegbegamnttying toropan i, ®ut d e
was unsuccessful.

Ellen stood, letting the watedribble out of the pte through the small
screwhole A Great job, Ash, 0 she said hea

Ashley handed her the cache. With an effortless twist of her wrists she
had unscrewed one cap and handed it back to her niece, who quickly pulled ou
the log sheet hich had been rolled into a cylinder and stuffed in a plastic bag.
The logsheetwas surprisingly long and had been signed by dozens of geocachers
already. Ashley signed her name and handed it to Ellen. Ellen signed and took &
moment to read over the nanwsthe sheet.

AWhat 6s your geocaching name?0 sk
she added, running her finger down the list until she stopped on one entry.

AClIiff Notes, | bet . 0
fYoOou must be a trained detective.
AnHar har . Never heard that one. 0

Ashley took the log sheet back and started rolling it tightly, to fit into the
bag and the PVC pipe.

iSo how did you get off on a Frid

iTheresa had to see her agent t o
going to work out. She spends tlours at that club every day. Models have to

do that. She tries to do it mostly i
watch Ashley while she wast heramywaat,6 sso | 6m j usH
day. Like | said, the Bureé&s been very generowgith my schedule. | just log
this as 199. I donét have to take | e
Cliff knew that 199 was the FBI classification for terrorism cases. She
was | ogging her time babysitting a

national counteterrorism budget. Ris arrangement bothered him, especially
sincethe widow was living in Monte Sereno, in a home that was probably worth
milions.And wasnot Bi shop from a wealth)
trust fund for the granddaughtenu s tthey? tAttheleasg o ul dndét s he
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house and Ilive modestly on the int:
answers, but the questions bugged him. Still, he said nothing.

nwel | | congratul ations on findineg
pure evil .o

ASeri OGluist fy, 0 sottoevocg eptl hawk you for
sure this cache is the highlight of
glad shebés feeling so peppy today. o

iSheds a sweet kid, and smart, t ¢
Ashl ey, who was replacing the cache,
run. See you around. 0

She waved at him and calldda ¢ k , AThanks, Cliff

around a bend in the trail.
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Chapteri4

The radiation tech was named Brittany and tdf Ghe looked like a
teenager. He wondered how a young &alld be given control of a millien
dollar machine that had the power to kill someone. He soon learned, however,
that she had graduated from San Francisco State in Biology summa cum laude
five years earlier and had been a radiation tech for the last three years. Her
chubby baby face contributed to the youthful appearance. Strands of mousy
brown hair kept struggling to escape from their perch behind her eaoamte
natural resting spot in fromdf her eyes. Sheontinually brusked them back as
she spokea selfimposedSisypheanask of which she seemed totally unaware

ifiThe patient jumped right of f t h
burned her skin.o

AiWhere was the radiwdataitompabbei mg a
had his Zoom recorder going.

ARi ght there, o BrittanfiLupgl cadce

ADid you examine her skin?bodo

inof cour se. It was a I|little bit
shoul dnét hapipe® with 180 r

AiwWhat happened next ?0

il got the doctor to come in and
somet hi ng TWwwammanthslater shegwags deatbld all this to the other
engineer. 0

fi | know. | -up. kjustchavl sose differéent espise so they
wantme t o take another | ook at it I O «
did. o

Brittany led CIiff into the console room and showed him the setup
process. It seemed identical to what he had seen at Xlectrix. The tech placed :
heavy lowl-like object on the treatment table, then another on top of thatathen
small electronic device on top of that.

AThese are | e,adfiandcd htehiex pilsaiar eddo s

Back in the console room she went through the nopradess Cliff had
witnes®d back in Palo Alto, except there was no dongle. The system did not
show the diagnostic mode notification and the tech did not get the warning about
the dosage being too high. This was as expected since she was showing him ho
the normal treatment had gmnnot how to force an overdodde watched the
DPP light on the Lilac as the beam shot into the lead. It staya/loen she was
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done she opened the door to the treatmeom and led him back to view the
dosimeter.

AOne hundred f i friitmphantlyas she deldup the s ¢
device Ajust | i ke littddss wsourpkpionsge df itnoe .b eT.
it with the patient. If they told you | messed up thato t a | BS. Il o6ve

i No, Brittany, nNo one has tdacloTedl me
me, did the DPP Iight stay on the wh

iWelll have to watch my screen, S
window at the Lilac. It always came on during all the checklists and has seemed
nor mal . 0

AfiHas there been antye incidem,eaayw unusual t
behavior from the system at all ?290

nNo, everything has seemed nor ma
treatments. Waeverstopped usingthe Lildte cause t he compar
capable of overdosing like that. They said then&a probably died of cancer,
but there was a big exit burn in her back when she came back in a few days later

I saw pictures in a textbook. Webre
X-rayb e a m. | 61 Bhe musthave hat @ tubedefadtissuein her body
where the beam passed through. The doctor said the dose looked like it was ove
10,000 rads. One thousand will kil
ten in a smal/l hole 1| ike that ?rightt 6s
through the bodyand filling it with decaying flesh and plugging both ends.
Gawd, it was awful .o

Cliff tried to shut the image out of his mind They r ei nst
sof twar e, [ under st and, is that righ

Y e ;ce th8yinstalledthenewreleas it 6s been fine

AfBetter? How so0?0

ifiFaster, thatods all. It all | 00Kk s
guite so |l ong for some of the steps.

system there was a hitch, a little delafger you hit a key before the screen
refreshed. It could be irritating to wait for it singeu want totype the next
command. l'téds i mmedi ate now. 0

ADi dsetviteeeps wap i n new har dpeviowslf 0 (
heard that the reinstall involvedreew release of the software. Vogel had just
said they reinstallethe programwith a different dongle. If the software and
hardware were the same as before, th

i No. He just put that dongl samé hi r
system | was here when he did it. took half a dayHe must have rebooted at
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leasttentimed. t was a new guy, Tom somebody
a nice guy.o

The phone on the console rang. Brittany picked it up, listened for a
moment ad replied with an affirmative grunt, then hung up.

ifiWebve got to get out of her e. T
treatment rooms cost thousands of dollars per hour to sit idle. They only gave this
to us for fifteen minutes. Patients are waitingSo | 6 ve got t o g

They left the treatment area and moved back to an inside offitiff.
shook her hand and thanked her for her time.

AOne | ast t hYoo gentione@ Bustér.fDid sieadio dnything
out of the ordinary around thei me t hi s happened??0

nNo. NOubBtnghe nor mal service. I
time near when the incident occurred, tha could have beerhere when
someone el se was on the shift. He 6 s
comes.lrebl 'y | i ked hi m. This new guy Tor
going to |l ose his job over this. Di d

i Not t hat I know of, but I donot

decisions. If you think of anything call me at this numbér He hande
business card with the Xlectrix logo on it and a telephone extensionvthere
messages would be recordetis title was Special Consultantogel had set that
up sothat the clients would not realize he was working with the legalrtiepat.

i OK. Hevy, has this happened anywh
Lil ac?o

Damn. The guestion he was hoping to avoid. He hated lying, but he was
bound by attorneg | i ent confidentiality. iGod
would hearabau it i f it did.o Technically
out of there. He was saved by the ringing of his own cell phone. Hurriedly he
reached in his pocket and pulled out the phone and held it up in apology. Brittany
nodded andliff headed forthe front lobby. The phone said Unknown Caller. He
stopped in the lobby and answered it.

AHel | 0?0

ifiHel | o, Cliff? This is EIlIIl en Kenrt
hope thatoés okay. 0

ASure, 0 he managed, hoping was mats
one of those liberated women who believed in asking the man for a date. He
di dnot mind | ibermadtedwamtmeno hwhkag utt

would be his excusk he had to wash his haiFbr a split second he appreciated
how awkward itmust be forawoman to reject a man calling to ask her out.
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iSorry to bother you. Ashley forg
wanted to know if Ishouldjust take it by your house or leaitewith Matt or
what . o

He di dndét want metaddregsj althwugh e realibed ghis h
was silly since she could get that from FBI or motor vehicle records. At least if
he didndét give it to her she coul dnb
astalkerHe di dndét real |y le dehad taobotherd. But he e
figured that as long as Ellen had it, she would have an excuse to contact him
again.

AWhere ar Atthe BRA® now?

fiNo.| 6 m a withiAshleye Mont e Sereno. 0

fi L o, ddkmmear Good Samo he r epl i ed, thandsforn g
Good Samaritan HospitaifY o u6r e mor e or | ess on m\
by and pick it up. Whatés the addres

She gave it to him.

AOkay, | should be tohere in fifte

He had nothing further to do at this cancer treatroenter so he told the
receptionist to thank the office manager for giving him the chance to interview
Brittany.

When he pulled up to the residence at the address Ellen had given him,
he was awed at thenormity of theestate laid out before his eyes. hied seen
some very impressive homes in his day but this one shamed them all. The lanc
alone,severalacres at least, must have cost tens of millions by itself. The main
house was fashioned after an English manor houigle two looming wings. The
faux Jacbethan style reminded him of the castle in Downton Aldi#yugh it
wasnodét that grand. De s pi t dookedhtetallyeoxtp a n
of placein the wooded hillsespecially since it was accompanied by a smaller
fimotherin-lawo unit only fifty feet away built in a California ranch house style.
That structurealone could have housed a dozen mothersaw, and it was
unclearto Cliffwh et her it was intended as ser

All this he could see through the wroughtri gate as he idled in the
driveway, but sturdy brick wallsovered in English ivy obscured the manse from
the street. After a moment the gate cranked open at some silent command and f
drove onto the grounds. As he followed the meandering pavemeradiedea
point where he could see yet another structure, a Caritdtgancabana of sorts,
in the rear overlooking a massive swimming paold barbecue complex. If
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consistencywas the hobgoblin of little minds, the Bishop architects were darge
minded inded.

Cliff intended to just knock on the door, grab his bottle and go. He
parked his Volvo G70 convertiblenext to a Chevy that he immediately
recogni zed as E | Inearby gardeeu was atimmirg atine.
immaculate hedges that delineated the pagsviarough the luxuriangarden.

Cliff got out of the car, walked to the front door and knocked. The massive
knocker could have doubled as an anchor for the Queen Mary.

The door flew open immediately. Ashley stood there holding the door

open, grinning. Sé wore faded jeans and a Justin Biebex i r t . ACl i
you coming up the driveway. 0

iAWwel | | hi there, Ashley. o0 He | ool
her hands or within reach. When he

d
fiShe hadtpeeSheb6s in the bathroom, 6 sh
embarrassment She grabbed his fingers with
i n. I got some geocoins. Come see O6¢e

Reluctantly, he stepped inside and closed the door behindThiengirl
had @ncer after all. Disappointing her was out of the questfshley ran to a
long, low table nearby that looked like it just needed ten pins and a Brunswick
ball return to be complete. She scooped up three shiny objects and handed thel
to CIiff.

Some geoazhers have their own personalized coins minted, usually with
bright colors and fanciful designs, similar to the coins some military units or
motorcycle clubs have minted. These are rarely left in geocaches except
occasionally as a firgb-find or FTF priz. More often they are awarded after a
geocacher has completed a difficult challenge, or won a contest at a geocachin
event. They are not parted with lightly. Cliff was surprised to see she had
acquired three so early in her geocaching cakderrecognied the patterns on
all three and knew the geocachers whose signature items these were.

AAwe s ome, Ashiin&y minehéi veoedHe be
his hand palm out.

She gave him a hearty slap, palm to palm, beaming. At that moment
Ellen emerged.

fio h , hi, Cliff,o she said, a bit
was in the back of the house. o0 Sorry

AfAshl ey did fine. She was showing
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iWe went to an unevent | acleets. Yaui g h
have someeally nice people here in this community. Ashley won three coins
playing rock paper scissors.o

The significant look she gave Cliff at that moment told him the whole
story. An unevent is an informal gathering of geocachefien for coffee or
pizza, with no special purpose other than hanging out, talking, and eating, maybe
sharing tips on solving a puzzle cache or finding a particularly hard cache. The
name was coined to distinguish it from an event, which is an organized gathering
with its own cache page. Geocaahder s
logging it online Uneventsnay just be arranged by email among friends aeit
sometimes announced on the local online geocaching forum. Ellen was a
newcomer but was no doubt wemed. Equally evident was the fact that the
geocachersnusthavad i screetly | earned of Ashl e
no doubt, her fight with cancer. Cliff was certain thégames were rigged so
Ashley could win.Ellen and Ashley werereviouslyunknown to the group, but
that fact would not have been a deterrent to the coin owpertsng with their
precious prizesSome things you just do.

Cliff nodded an acknowl edgment .
|l i ke this?0 heryBosdk walld hafela hdarchtime knoclBng a
balloutofthsl i vi ng room. 0

Ailtds big, o0 Ellen replied evenly,

Cliff was waiting for her to produce the water bottle, but it was still
nowhere in sighget NReal hgpwirfgimardioitatgdt s a
at the pretentiousness and opulence of his surroundigfi at 6 s wi t h
sister’She coul d sell this place for eig
estate from Bishop, a gogmhying career. She glal hire a nanny or move
somepl ace cheaper and rent this out.
l' i ke this. o

Ellend s f a c eSheflobkedsab thadigh sheas about taell him off,
but bit her tongue since Aosnhelyey wnihays

you go run and get Cliffds water bot
Ashley ran out.
AfJust who the hell are you to ju
gone. AWho the heldl are you todainudg
busi ness, but the house is under wat e

loan, too. The bank is threatening to foreclose. @tee n ga§ireg the gardendo
keep it marketable Theresa doesnét .ShAeést hey.i
negotiatea short saleMar k6s estate is a | ong way
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up in complicated trust arrangements. Tineneygrubbinglawyers arebleeding
her dryandA s h | eanad seatments are batkr ea ki ng f i nanci
kinds of stuffthai s ndét ¢ ov e r,dkd childycare Mas updresits are
helping her out andveent ual ly she shoul d come
keeping the sheriff from the door ri
Cliff was completely chagrined. He had made some assumptions he now
real i zed werenodt justified. nOkay, | O
His halfhearted apology was interrupted by the sound of tires at the front
of the house. He turned to look through the window. A gleaming Mercedes S550
came screeching in mucba fastand rolled to a halt right outside the front door.
Theresa Bishop stepped out of the Benz and slammed the car door. Even throug
the ornately leaded and beveled windows Cliff could see she was beautiful. Tall,
shapelywith a striking contrast betgen herdeeply tannedkin and white hair.
He also recognized her now as one of the inhabitants of those twin bathtubs in
those ridiculous Cialis ads.
Bishop shoved the door open roughly and stepped inside. Immediately
shelit the cigarette she had fishdédm her purse as she walked from the car.
Then she noticed CIiff.

AWhobs this?0 she asked EIIl en.

ATheresa, 0 she replied stiffly, A
you about who hel ped Ashley the othe

AOh, right. T h ponded finallg makingdeyescbneact r €
with Cliff. ANice to meet you. 0 She

extended her right to shake.

He gave her hand a perfunctory shake. Her nails were long and might
have had more paint on them than the Mersede A Li kewi se. 0

Cliff had worn thick glasses throughout his FBI career because he
needed them, needed them badly. But after he retired he found a surgeon wh
could correcthis eyesightwith laser surgery. He loved the freedom this gave
him, since he no Iager needed to wear glasses. But higided vision now was
not quite as good as it had beeith glassedefore. So sometimes faces were in
a slight soft focus, like what cinematographers use to make older actresses lool
young.

This is why he was shockedhen she stepped forwardHe was
unpreparedo discover that the beauty he had seen through the front window was
gone. Well, not entirely gone. She still had a breathtaking figuma fine
cheekbonesBut her facavas riddled with the feathery cracks ofréddle aged
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smoker and showed sun damage, too. She looked ten yearslolkrupin
person.

iGod, the tanning salon was over
believe it? 16m in there three ti mes:s
they makewe wai t fifteen minutes?0 Then
arriving with the water bottl e, i As h

Ashley seemed just as happy to fetch the ashtray as the water bottle. She
took off again.

A $100,000 car, thre¢etmes a week tanning, an
to apologizefor his hasty judgment had entirely evaporated. From his days in
New York he knew that v iwrhtemna I tl hye ya | w
shooting heroin or puking in the ladies room. Anythingkéep the weight off.

But smoking in front of her daughter who had cancer? The sdwami smoke

coul dndt be good for her. He knew i f
tanning and smoking as necessary faradel He shot Ellen a scowl which was
returned with a small shrug and an
wrong. She handed him the water bottle.

Al 61l be going now, 0 he said simp

AiThanks for saving me t he llytdevoido, 0
of warmth.TheresaBishop ignored the exchange and was already walking back
toward the kitchen still muttering about the tanning salon.

Cliff hastened out the door before Ashley could return and beg him to
stay. He climbed into hisar feeling slighly embarrassd that moments ago he
had actually felt relieved he had an upscale car that fit into the mHeu.
realized how shallow that wable turned on the ignitioand began driving the
circle back around the soccer field of a lawn to the fgane.

As he pulled out onto the street an announcement came over the car
radio:

We have breaking news. A large explosion occurred in Palo Alto at the
Jewish Community Center moments ago. Police and Firefighters are on
the scene. Initial reports indicateat it may have been a bomb but that

has not been confirmed. There is no official word on casualties yet but
witnesses reported seeing a woman running from the building in flames.
Another report on Twitter stated that a Palestinian flag was draped over

the centerds sign. That too is ur
way to the scene now. @Wéave more on this as soon as we can.
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He turned up the volume, but the announcer moved on to traffic and
weather. He was no more than ten minutes away frenBishophomewhen he
heard a siren behind him. He pulled over and watched &ken ¢ Malibu
zoom by him, blue and red lights flashing.
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Chapterl5

Matt Nguyen was stopped at the light at Charleston and Fabimg
block away from the Jewish Conumity Center when he heard the sound of the
explosion. It was surprisingly faint and ifdoehad the radio on at the moment he
would have missed it. But it was enough to draw his attettidns left. He saw
smoke and knew something bad had happenedabipla gas leak exploding.
Two seconds later a dark SUV pulled out onto the street in that vicinity and
headed north, away from his direction. The way it leaned over as it squealed ouf
of the diveway told him it was going mudbo fast.

He di d n oértsurekhatdt was ftaming from the same driveway at
thatdst anc e, but he decided hedd better
lights and siren and started to turn left from the through lane, cutting in front of
the cars waiting in the left turn lari@/hen he pulled onto Fabiahdre was a car
between him and the SUV, blocking his view of the lower half and making it
hard to identify the make and model, although at this distance he probably could
not have anyway.

He floored it, and began to catch tgpthe car in front, but he had to
watch for anyone pulling out of the many driveways since this was a commercial
area with parking lots lining both sides. The dawer in front must have heard
the siren or seen the lights because it pulled over taneby. Within seconds he
was in front of thelewish Center, now engulfed in flames, and for an instant he
was conflicted whether to stop and render assistance, call 911, or chase the SUV
but it was obvious that thereeredozens of people now in the pargilot, some
on cell phones, and he doubted he could be of much use there. He was the onl
one doing this particular taskchasing the SUVY sohekeptgoing

He got close enough to be confident the car was the same make as
Abboudos, b urent to him dornebdwelabked darfkdr; avith the sun
reflecting off the back it looked like a shiny black but the lower part igasek.
Maybe it was a different year or different moddlay be it wasnot
all. The SUV wheeled left, out of his $ig clearly fleeing howMatt continued
to accelerate. When he got to tlside streetthe SUV had already turned left
again, still out of sight. He came to the cross street and could see it half a block
down to his left. He floored it once more, fishtagliand almost hitting a line of
parked cars before recovering.
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He got close enough to tell the SW not havea standardCalifornia
plate, but it was heavily musblattered and impossible to reddhere was some
color under the mud. It could have bemmoutof-state plate or one of the many
Californiaspecialty plates with artwork on theinthe whale tail, the palm trees,
Yosemite. Of course, a bomber would not be likely to use his real license plate; it
would be a simple matter to steal one off gasked car. Theentire lower part of
the rear was covered in thick mud, in fact, which Matt assumed was an
intentional attempt to hide the license number and any other identifying stickers
or marks. Maybe that was why it looked different. He could alsdrtath the
silhouette that the driver was a male

Finally on a straight stretcheHooked down to grab the microphone off
the dash and radio in to the FBI that he was in pursuit. At that moment a bus
pulled away from the curb directly in front of him. Paxsgers on the bus had
been making too much noise for the driver to hear the sirens. Matt looked up a
split second later, but it was not soon enough. He slammed on his brakes but stil
hit the rear of the bus at over 30 miles an hour.

The bus driver, a yoig black woman, stopped the bus immediately, got
out and r an b ac &car washdemofished.rShe retufned Nbahert
bus and radioed fdrelpthen went backto M@ s c ar . He stil]l
driverds seat. The tadimharddaratige fabeabdirnimgeiip | o
cheels but saving his life. The white lubricating powder from the airbag covered
his head and upper body, bestowarghima ghostly appearance.

The woman tried to open the door, fiuvas jammed. She ran around to
the passenger side. @hdoor opened, although with difficulty. By this time
several passengers had gotten outgotten closgtaking photos or videos with
their smart phones. One or two asked if they could héit sat motionlessstill
stunnedThebusd r i ver t ouc he dindidaughtadpslise.rAs spéntas h
he felther hand he moved his arm. The bus driver helgedrthe airbag away
and breathed a sigh of relief.

AAre you okay?0 She asked the app

Mat t took a moment stuo er, ®s hhend.i nfall
to move his arms around. His left hand and arm hurt like hell, having been driven
by the airbag against the side window. But he could move everythlags,
arms, head. He releabhis seat belt and tried to openthevde r 6 s door ,
just as unsuccessful as the bus driver had been. Slowly, he climbed out the
passengeside.

il 6m slodrnr ysébr j wét di dndét h etatteredy o u,



FATAL DOSE 75

AUh yeah, ités okay, o0 Matt gaul pec
fault. o

Al ém sorry, o0 the woman repeated.
whole exchange. One of them came over to Matt and asked again if he was okay
He assured him he was.

AiYoubd better cal l in and get an
pasengers, 0 he told the driver. AThe |
you. o0

She returned to her bus while Matt climbed back in the passenger seat of
his Bureau car. He checked the radio and it was still working. He called in that he
had been irmn accident with a bus and to send another agent. The radio operator
asked if he or anyone needed medical attention, and upon being told no, told hin
that everyone in the area was going to the bombing in Palo Alto and would not be
able to respond. Swow he knewit was a bombing, not a gas leak.

AMy Bureau car is totaled. Youdol
supervisor | witnessed a suspect flee the bombing. Male, driving a darkrblue
blackSUV . Hedl | send someone here. East

AlD. 0

The bus driver pulled her bus over to the side and returned to tell him
that they were dispatchi ng aDepanferiti c e
patrol car rolled upThe officer determined that there was little if any damage to
the bus ther than some scratches on the rear bumper. Matt and the driver both
made statements that the bus driver was not at fault. The deputy chose not to cit
anyone and said he would normally do a lot more investigation, talk to the
passengers, and so on, bettmad to get back over to the Jewish Center to help
with crowd controlHe | ai d out two | ighted fl ar
in the lane blocking traffic.

Matt told him about the SUV and the deputy told him he had heard the
vehicle description putut by the FBI. When Matt told him the license plate and
back of the vehicle ereobscured by mud the deputy went back to his patrol car
and put that detail out over the air. He made Matt prove to him that he was
coherent and physically okay by walking anol and answering some questions.
Onceeveryone was satisfied thdtere was no significant injurhey agreed to
call it done and go on their wayhe bombing had to take priority.

The driver, assured that she was not going to be blamed for the accident,
and being told that the deputy could not stay on the scene due to the bombing
obtained permissionfrom her dispatcherto continue on her route. The
replacement bus was canceled. The deputy asked the passengers who were s
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standing around if anyone hadbottle of water they could spare. One young
woman did. The deputy took it, handed it to Matt, and told him to wash his face.
Then he said he had to go, returned to his patrol car and left.

Matt finally realized what he must look like. He began bruslofighe
powder from his clothes. He took his sport coat off and shook it violently,
sending a plume of cornstarch into the air and revealing his gun to the
passengers. This drew a chorusmairmurs and gaspsince apparently all or
most of them had nokalized Matt was law enforcement. The siren and lights
had been totally extinguished by the crash and the car was not a marked car. Th
airbagand powdercoating on the windowe ad obscured Matt¢d
the cabin when he radioed in. The bus dridieected the passengers to get back
in the bus, which they did.

As the bus pulled away, Ellen drove up and stopped by the curb behind
Mattodos car, which was stil]l bl ockin
washing the powder off his face. She rushedis side and assured herself he
was okay. Ellen told him that the FBI radio operator had a tow truck on the way.
She had a reflective triangle which she put out behind the flares. Traffic was light
and had no trouble driving around his car.

AWhat téhkeo btombi ng?0 Matt asked her

fiTwo deaths so far, sammajor injuriesT he f i r ebd6s THeeen
whole R.A. is thereal ong wi t hshetrdpled réfeRifg t0 the FBI
Emergency Response Team i They 6re taking statem
investgation, looking for any security camera or cell phone vidéos whole
nine yards. There was a Palestinian flag found draped on the sign oufrfrent.

PD has it in evidencdt looks like a terrorist jobT her eb6s Pal o A
Sheri ff 6s ovarrthg pldee. I think éheylhave enough manpower. We
need to stay here until the tow truck comes anyway. Tell me about this SUV you
were chasing. o

it tore out of the scene of t he
explosion happened. | was nearby ora#ston, and saw it come out down the
block. | started pursuit and almost caught up to it on East Meadow but the bus

pulled out in front of me as | was r
i Make, model é°7?
i Same as Abboudds, s ame & avhsoall |, t
splattered with mud. I't was definite

should have gottenéo
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i Wh o a. Sl ow down. ltds not a big
We 61 | ogue Did yolhsed for sure it was coming out of theidle Center
|l ot ?20

Matt had to think about that one for a minute.

nNo, I canot really say that. I

one of the other nearby driveways. Whoever it was definitely was fleeing,
t hough. o

AFl eeing the sestpoOotof maarbotmibe yngwaea
Could they have been fleeing you bec

il suppose | ater, but it &lmostkn t h
t wo wheels while I was still sitting
fOkay. Thatdéds a | ead at | east. o

They sat and speculated for another twenty minutes until the tow truck
came. By the time the Bureau car was on its wayhe Bureau maintenance
facility to be stripped of its radio and anything else twuld be salvaged had
been almost two houssnce the bombing. Ellen radioed in that they were leaving
the scene of the accident and they were directed to return to the Palo Alto
Resident Agency.
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Chapterl6

The next day Matt, Ellen and the entire surveillance team that had
followed Ghalib Abboud to the Rose Garden went to his house, a very small
older home near downtown Mountain Vighat could charitably be described as
ramshacklet best They did not have any sort of warrant, nor any probable cause
to get one. The plan was for Matt and onehaf other senior agents to interview
Abboud. The others were there in case things should go bad. They were to wai
outside and to stop Abboud if he tried to fletce they would then have
probable caus@y rush inside as backup if there was any sigriaénce.

They wanted to surprise him and to make sure to get there before he left
for wor k, i f he had a |job, t hat i s .
house at 6:30 A.M. and waited for some sign of life inside. There was none. The
SUV thatwasusually parked in his driveway watsll there.

After half an hour the nexdoor neighbor, an elderly womanmiginally
from El Salvador came by walking her dog and asked them what they were
doing parked in front A b b o wededtisls dnd u s
asked her if she knew the man who lived there. The woman told him sHautid
not well,and said she was looking after his mail and cat while he was §bgre.
was surprised he had asked f@rthe favorsince they barely knew each other.

He had not left her a key.

When did he | eave?0 Matt asked h
Last night. He had to go back toc
was dying. My husband gave him a rid

Matt thanked her and relayed the news to the others. He rayilea
agent went to the front door and knocked loudly several times but got no answer.
The neighbor stood watching and yelling at them that Gil, as she called him, was
not home. After a few minutes they gave up.

Matt asked the neighbor where Abboud watke b ut she sai
sure. She thought it was in construction because she had seen lumber and bucke
in the back of his SUV once or twice. He followed her back to her house to talk
to her husband, who, as it turned out, knew even less. His onkybcion was
t hat en route to the airport, t he or
with Gil, Abboud talked incessantly about how Israel dropped bombs on
Palestinian babies and otherwise oppressed his people.

Abboud was reprioritized to a majoase when this investigation was
reported back through FBI channel s,

]
]



FATAL DOSE 79

in the bombing The explosiorhad been confirmed as a bombing by the Palo
Alto Fire Department Arson Team and the FBI ERMatcasewasalsoassigned
to Matt but under a separate title and case number.

There were dozens of people to interview. By the end of the day the first
twenty leads had been assigned for these interviews. Ellen had three: one victin
who had minor injuries, one employee thie Jewish center, and one of the
paramedicsShe knew there would be many more to come.

Although CIiff followed the news of the bombing over the next several
days, and was as concerned as the next person, it did not involve him directly. He
had his owninterviews to worry about. The other two Lilac operators who had
patients suffer overdoses were located farther east. One was in Milpitas
bustling city in thenortheast corner of the valley where higich firms were now
overflowing, and the other wds Tracy, over the mountains into the Central
Valley.

He had been fortunate. He was able to schedule both interviews on the
same day, a Friday. He could do the one in Milpitas early in the morning and
then drive on to Tracy for a lunchtime meeting whk bther. He should be done
by mid-afternoonThis was all arranged on the Wednesday before the interviews.

Once he knew he had the times confirmed he called Bill Porter, a
geocacher friend who worked at the Livermore Lab and IhestTracy. He had
only met Bill a few times, all of them at geocaching events, but they had hit it off
and stayed in contact through facebosmkd email. They had talked about
kayaking together in some of the lakes in that area, but it had never seemed like |
convenient time tget together for it. He got a hold of Porterthe first try and
they arranged to go for some caches when Cliff was done with his interviews.
Porter could get a day off work and had two kay&akgf would gladly forgo his
Friday run for a kayaking trip.

Thursdaywas another day afpecial appearances. ldpent the morning
in court. Back at the officafter lunchhe reviewed his email and snail mail then
watched a training video, taking one small step toward satisfying his continuing
legal education requement. When done, he decidiedcall it a day. He logged
onto the geocaching site to figure out which caches he and Bill would do the next
day.
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Chapter17

Friday morning CIiff arrived at the oncology center in Milpitas right on
time. He had listenedtthe radio news en rout€here were several minutes of
coverage of the bombing, although it was now a week old and not much had beer

goingonat | east the reporting hadAdnah co
named Ghalid Abboud was declarefibarsm of interesb and his SUV had been
impounded.

The doorsto the treatment areapened and Cliff went in for the
interview. This technician was the woman who had thought she saw the DPP
light go out then on briefly. He questioned her thoroughly aboutathétwent
over her entire account once mor e.
consistent with what this woman had told the Xlectrix engineers who had first
talked to her.

Like Brittany, this Lilac operator had to cut the interview short. The
madines were so expensive that down time just could not be allowed. Another
employee had done the setup and gotten the patient prdjpéuis womarnwas
needed to actually operate the device.

ABefore you go, 0 Cliff asksndethefi ha

new software was installed?59d
iHMmM, not real |l y. Wel | , [ guess i
AfiCan you explain that?29
i Wel | somet i nhe sd otnhbetr ek nvoaws éhow t o ¢
l'i ke it wasndt going smoothly. o

AKind of a hit céyduhadtewaitfgrli to acdeptithe y
i nput ?0
ifYes, | guess you could calll it t
AJust asking. Thank you for your
She went inside and Cliff headed on to Trémythe next interview
The drive went faster than he had expected, sinc&dsegoing in the
countercommute direction. That resulted in a long watitthe hospital for the
Lilac operator to reach his breaRliff sat in the Oncology Department waiting
room for over an hoywatching the patients get called in and eventually geer
A malaise engulfed him as he slowiternalized the misery of the worst cases.
They were mostly old people, who tended to depress him even when healthy,
especially now that he had entered his fifties and saw hidrewitablefuture in
the shufflinggait and stooped posture. But the hairless women with their wan,
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drawn visages, the sallow sadness painted on their faces, made it all the worse
Then appeared a small blonde girl near the age of Ashley Bishop. She was crying
and pleading with her mothédntat she di dndt want to
it was okay if she died, she didnot
heaving into an emesis basin between her pleas. Her Pavlovian response to th
previoustreatments had already kicked in.

Cliff told the nurse at the chedh window that he was going to the
mends room and would be back precise
excuse; he simply could not stay there.

When he returnedenlearned no more from thadiation techthan e had
from the previous interview. This operator veagoung male already going bald,
sporting numerous tattoos on his biceps and neck. His patiadt beenthe
woman who had lost her lower leg to amputation. The patient, it seemed, was
doing well the opeator said A thirtyish marathoner, she had been fitted with a
Cheetah leg prosthetic and was quite pleased with the result.

Cliff questioned him thoroughly about any change in the software
performance, but the operator said he had noticed no differklechad never
experienced any delays before and none siowe the reinstallThe screens and
commands were all unchangdde h a d beént looking at the DPP light when
the dose was administered, so he cofilday whether it went out on that one
overdose otasion. He had never noticed it going out during treatment. He had
become aware of theverdoseonly when the patient yelled at him through the
intercom that h& burned her. That had made him look up from the console, but
everything had looked normal.

Ci ff was getting ready to go wher
there6s a problem with the Lilac 40s
Cliff was about to give his evasive denial as before, but hesitated

He didri like the way the question was worded. If the man was coademwhy
di dndét he ask fnThefiltsheirte tar uper otbh aetmé?0o
was some word out about that already.

Awhy do you ask? Have you heard
shocked as though the very notion was unthinkable.

'Y eah, myppaeentsthis morning said he had read on an online
forum for cancer patients that someone posted that their cousisufifaded
burnsfrom an overdose from a Lilac 4. The poster had said those machines were
defective. o

ACan you givename 1 hled ¢p altiikeenttbs t a
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i No, sorry. Pati ent iOnirflegal depatrtrneotn |
said | could talk to you about the woman who lost her leg, since we have her
waiver on file,butp u 6 d h av e them fag anyonhetelsgo u g h

ADli he teldl you the name of the w

iYeaths dne of the more popul ar fo
curious so | looked it up myseaidfHe pulled out his smart phone and pushed on
thetouch screem few times to bring u the site. He handed the phone to CIiff.
Cliff read the post. It was from username ConcernedRelative and time stamped
just after midnightearlier thaiday.

Cliff took his own smart phone and navigated the browser to the site. He
coul dnodt gebecdaustthehepowasnot a reg
bookmarked the home page.

il donot know what to tell you, 0
the first | 6ve heard of this. I 611 d

After a hasty goodbye he rushed outside, velieto be free of the
oppressive environment. He got into his car and immediately pulled up the
website again and registered. As with most forum sites, it required him to provide
a valid email addressisername and passwoathd enter the Captcha texttdbk
him two trieson the Captchahe was so anxious. When he succeeded, the screen
then told him an email had been sémithe address he had provided and he
would have to verify the registration by following the directions in that email. He
switched to s email app. Although it was only two minutes, it seemed like an
hour before the email came. iHe clicked on the link and was taken to a page
that said his registration had been verified and asked him to log in. When he
finally got to the post he bookmad it and scrolled across it to copy the text. He
went back to his email and sent the text and the link to Vogel. Then he called
Vogel 6s number .

WhenCliff got t hr ough, Vogel was | mpat

go?0 he asked without preliminaries.
i God,lgues At Il east | think | got st
i ke it.o
Silence.
fi | j ust sent you an e-ocalled Icognaerne@ | i

relative says that someoget burnedrom an overdose from a Lilac 4. It said the
machinewaslef ecti ve. 0

AHol d on. Let me check. 0 There w
hisemailand read it. AThis is not good.
work to do. o
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il dm all the Ayl @matgt ihwdrhlheyr s. 0
He was gaig to have to cancel his kayakingtiil. her e s one mor e

il ém afraid to ask. o
fiYou need to reinstall t he softv
territory. Use a different dongle. 0

ifiWebre already doing that vieesThepar
clients are Geven aware of the change. The clients would scream bloody murder
if we required them to give up an extra half day of billing titnet the annual
services are already expectadd scheduled inMost of these places run seven

daysave ek, some of them 24 hours a day.
AThen do it at night or somethi ng¢
the software. | dondét know what it i

AHow do you know this?0

Cliff told him about thedelayinth e r esponse ti me, t
and the other operatbad mentioned.

il 6m not Vaos stunries reported by all

iNo, j ust t wo . But both of t hem
One of them said the new software wasanesvl ease. Was it ?0

iNo. The program was identical
installed in those two. I't might hav
to check. The only difference should
il tyhoiunkhave to do all of them. |
computer, or just the way he installed the software originatiysupted the file
but y ou s h oyl dait dot themnaualt maintdndince some systems
could be at risk for a full year. o

acl i f f i f we did alll these at o]
problem. A lot of these doctors and operators tora@t more than one location
and wouldnotice since it interrupts their income streaihe word would get out.
We canodot Wd fdonoétt heaten have enough s
have to bring sonanein from elsewhere 0

fiYou read the post from ConcernedRelatiVée word is already out.

That ship has sailed. You gotta move
tohavea much bigger probl em. 0o
Al ol | have t o c aeoothkhe ardwahe chahge, if ang, g i
and my bosses. Get back here as soon
il 611 see you |l ater this afternoo

After they hung up CIiff called BilPorter his geocaching buddynd
told him he had to cancel. As he drove back to the Bay Areaedented this
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intrusion into his plans. He consideraalwv much geocaching had come to mean
to him.

Only four years earlier, when he was still an FBI agent, he could never
have imagined hevould be kayaking in the Sierra foothills. He had never been
much of an outdoorsman. As a high school wrestler,lated an FBI agent, he
had been more of a gym rat, concerned with building muscle and stanihea
weight room In recent yearsérhad motty enjoyed running in the local parks,
but too ofterhe had slacked off ardt himself get out of shapEitness had been
more of a job requirement than a passion. Camping and outdoor sports, however
had never held much appeal for himatwithstanding t§ submersion in aork
culture filled with hunters and fishermen

Since his retirement, though, he had taken up this strange hobby of
geocachingHe had gone kayaking and reckmbing, made fifteermi | e A de
ma r ¢ hseakd & utility polewithout saféy gearand crawled through dark,
slimy, bugfilled tunnels on several occasioas | in pursuit of
He had become addicted to tbenstantchallengewithout fully understanding
why. He had also grown to appreciate how fortunate he waseaniCalifornia
where the outdoors beckoned almost every day of the eavowed to himself
that he would make it a point to reschedule the kayak trip with Porter.
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Chapterl8

Video cameras had not captured anything useful around the scene of the
Jewish Community Center bombing. Abboud was still considered a prime
suspect, at least by Matt Nguyen, but there wabkimgp more tying him to the
crime after a weekkrom his visa papers they had identified his ostensible reason
for coming to the United Stas. He was a student at a local culinary academy, or
so the student visa said. An interview with the instructor had confirmed that
Abboud showed up sometimes but was a-teagassiduous studentie would
go through the exercises in a haphazard and petdynway and obviously had
little real interest in becoming a chef.

AfHe woul dndt even eat the dishes
fi H&d complain themain dishwa s n 6 t hal al so he coul
l earn to be a oduedvn dodkingiHe just shid mEbbecomea s t
a pastry cheb

The school had nothing more than
similar identifying information alre

Interviews had determined that a package had been left ppettaight
in the lobby of the building by someone unknown. The center had a protocol to
deal with suspicious visitors or situations like that, which required the office
personnel to call 911 and evacuate but the woman manning the front desk hac
been on te phone engaged in a heated conversation and not paying attention
when he had walked in. If sheathoticed himatal, shh adn 6t witbhting | i ¢
procedures. She was one of those killed and could not be interviewed. The othe
office worker there thoughthe remembered a man coming in and then leaving,
but she had only a vague recollection of it being a man with darkTiesy. had a
security camera but by bad luck it was not working.

Forensics had determined the bomb was relatively simptaditised a
firecracker as a fuse. That sat on a large bed of gunpowder that had beel
collected from shotgun shells, surrounded by metal scraps that served as
shrapnel. That whole arrangement, in a cereal box, had been placed on top of
large can of gasoline. The boarbmust have lit the firecracker and immediately
left, probablyjumping into an idling vehiclelhatvehicle if there was onanust
have been very close. There could have been no more than five seconds after tr
fuse was lit before the bomb went off. Exigedetermind the bomber was lucky
to have escaped without being consumed in flames.
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The Palestinian flag could be traced to a Chinese manufacturer who
marketed throughout the Middle East and the United States, among other places
but there was no way toace the specific point of sale for this one. No threats or
police warnings had been received by the center. With nothing more to go on,
Matt decided to begin interviewing A
to have the Scimitar Relief Fund pemmel interviewed and monitoring
increased, but out here the only known contact was the man who lived by the
Rose Garden: Dr. Akil Maloof.

Friday afternoon was the earliest Maloof could see him,Muit felt
lucky Maloof was willing to sedim at all. Hebrought along squadmate Dave
Warner, an eXArmy officer who had served in Iraq and traveled throughout the
Mi ddl e East. War ner wasnot fluent [
relatively familiar with theArab culture. The interview took place at Maléos
office not far from the Stanford Medical Center.

Maloof came to the front and showed them into his office himself.

fPl ease have a seat, gentl emen. A

Matt was surprised at his directness and decided to proceed cautiously
AWhy do you think thatés why wedre h

il édm Palestinian. A Jewish target
it be? Webre all terrorists to the F

i Of ¢ our &emademb judgiéats as to whessponsibleand
evenifittuns out to be someone affiliated

attribute thattootherlaa bi di ng citi zens. 0
This sounded like a lame platitude to Matt even as the words escaped his

l'ips, and he didndét I|ike starting ou
ABut ,yo@k,re right, o he went on, to

about that bombing. Not because youbd

you about a specific individual .o

AWho might that be?0

AGhali b Abboud. o

AYou think hecéssnbiimgd®?loved in the b

iDo you?o

Mal oof sighed heavily. AnGhalib i s
have no reason to think he would res

AfiDo you know where he is?0
Als he missing?o
iDoctor Mal oof , 0 Warner br olknee i n

momentarily, as though in apology for interrupting. His real purpose was to
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remind Matt to unioss his legswhich Matt quickly did. Matt had inadvertently
insulted Maloof by crossing his legs, allowing the sole of one shdacw®
Maloof. i Y o u rositg i8 understandahldut we have toask you to please
answer our questions rather than asking us about others. We keep oul
investigation privatea nd | 6 m s u 1ddke gng informatiam Absut you

that might come into apossessiontoberevedle t 0 ot her s. 0

i No, I do not know where he i s. |
one day and said he was a fundraiser for the Scimitar Relief Fund. How do you
even know that | know hi m? Oh, neve.l
have allourphoms t apped. 0O

Mat t, feet pl anted firmly on@ the

accused you or anyone else of being involved with the bombing. We do have a
vehicle description. Do you knowhatk i nd of vehi cl e Mr.

il do not . yHhdese anlg omee. Hemaidimy name was on a
l'ist of donors to the fund and he w
pay any attention to what car he may
Do you know any other Palestinia
I owenaFgrd Explorer. I suppose
Nguyen felt a twinge of guilatthis response. He had forgotten about the

Explorer. He had run all registered vehicles to Maloof back when he was first

]
i

identified, but was nadstk etdh itnhkei nggu easbtoi u
dar k, |l i ke black or dark blue or gra

fi | was in the hospital seeing pae
| earned about it for the first ti me

a security video of me there ybu want proof. But then you probably already
know that. o
They didndédt know that, but his p
need to ask. ADr . Mal oof |, p | a&slked you d o
your wher era hobaduspect aivdowme @dot consider you a terrorist.
But you are a member of the Palestinian community and wé& arore the
Palestinian flag and the fact that the bombing victim was a Jewish center. Who
el se should we be asking but Palesti
iThe Pal est imbingaictisms! Bheseaelisbbneé Pdlestinian
homes constantly. If they suspect some Palestinian fighter, a tersaxiisaithey
would call him of being in a house they will drop a bomb on it even if it is filled
with innocent Palestinian babjesvenwhent hey dondt even kn
there They dondt dley teat Rdiestinidn$ likeyrabid iarimals.
They are the terrorists.
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War ner spoke up. ADr . Mal oof , I
Palestinians haverdured. | have seen the Isliaecome into the West Bé& and
demolish your homes and replace them with their own settlements. Even the
Israeli government admits Jews are driving your people from their rightful lands
there taking their homes even. They promise to stop the violatoitssdime
Israelis think God has given them the entire Middle East. We are not here to

justify the Israelisd actions. We al
bombing of innocenmericanc i vi | i ans. Are you wil ||

N The BéeksThatis a paradise compared to Gaza. The Egyptians
dondt want wus and the I sraelis staryv

crops. Our farmlands are next to the border so the Israelis come in and mine ou
fields or shoot the farmers who try teap the crops they have worked on for an
entire season. Palestinians starve while their own crops wither on the vine and die

under the noses of the Israeli snipe
It was obvious Warner had a better rapport with Maloof, so Matt stayed
silent. Warnec ont i nued, fiDoctor, as true as
bombi ng. Do you know anything about
iNo. | deplore violence. I do not
side with many fine Jewish doctpisome who even useth& ot e r . It 0 ¢
what happened, but | know nothing ab
AiDo you know a hayedanesuch b thingmdr who might
have threatened to do something I|ike
iNo. Not hing. I cannot help you ¢
bombngcan only bring more discriminati
Warner continued, AiDo you know a
Abboud? Any way to help us find him?
i No, I donét. |l 6ve already told vy

They left.
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Chapterl9

Cliff stood behind Vogel 6s desk
ConcernedRelative.

ConcernedRelative: My cousin was severely burned by a Lilac 4
recently. Those machines are defective. The company needs to recall
them but they wont. Theieprehensible. If you need radiation make sure
your doctor uses a different system.

AThis doesndt smell right, o Vogel
had any reposto f patients being burned. At
would be describd. If hewasreferring to either of the deceased patients why
woul dnot he say the cousin was kill
now. That only | eaves the woman whos

iThat was f theonsimTreey. $he was a mhaater. The
Lilac operator there is the one who told me about the post. He said she was happ
with the Cheetah | eg prosthesis she

iReal l y? | can use that. I call e
left a message that | would be calling at 5:B@ should be there now. | know
theydédre anxi ous f or-time gesesat practieentavpet with H e
no experience in a medical mal practi
this to trial.o

Cliff stayed silent but formed a doubtful expsiEs. From his experience
conducting settlement conferencée knew it was never a good idea to
encourage a party as to the strength of his case af fral wanted a settlement
Settlements came when you could instill doiubeach partyas to a favorale
outcome at trial.

Vogel picked up the phone and dialégen put it on speakee was put
right through to the attorney in Tracy, a Gerald Farquhar.

nGeral d, Roger Vogel her e. How ar
i As wel | as can be e X p e d ttoe tdke H
responsibility for causing my <client
AnWel | |, there have been some di stu

AiLi ke what?d Farquhardés voice <cr
Vogel had correctly assessed the other lawyer asffblLdf.
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ifiHave you seen the forum post ab

from a Lilac 4? Did you or your <clie
iWwhat ? No. I donét know anything
Al 6l send you the | ink. o Vongvel F

clicked the send button. Withiirty seconds Farquhdrad received it and read
it.
AThis wasndédt us, 0 he stated vigor
ifiGer al d, as | made very cl easis i n
only going to happen if there is no public claimat our system caused the injury.
As you know, her leg was amputated because of the cancer, not the burn shi

received. An unwarranted accusation
grave financial consequences for us. And a defamation action against yo

Al o6l | have no problem proving th
amputation. But | ook, I under stand

told her to keep quiet and she promised not to say anything about the overdose
So far as her friends drfamily know, she lost her leg to cancer. Maybe this is
another patient who was burned they
been any others?o

AiThis could only be your <client.
who was burned by one of ommrachinesother than your cliend.

Cliff noticed how Vogel had skirted thguestion with a misleading truth.
The other two victims weredeado t hey wer endt O&ép®r son

il swear , itds not us . L osaysjtwds 6 m
a Lilac 4. I di dndét e v edthekThehespitaljuatt .
told her itdés a Lil ac. That 6s al | W

there?o0
This caused Vogel to pause. Farquhar was right. All discussions had only

been over the hospitalds ALilaco so
probably not returned for treatment after the burn because her leg had beer
amputated very quickly after the inq

staff at the oncology umnor looked at the device. Farquhar was unlikely to have
the financial resources to research the models and hire an expert yet. This mear
the post had to be from someone else. Someone at the hospital, perhaps, or eve
insideXlectrix, who knew the modeldt was time to shift tactics.
AHow i s she doi ng,adjeust idg | wdlolp.e
i Wh at do you think? She | ost her
Her pain and suffering is indescriba
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il u n d leer reinniagnhds been going great with her Cheetah leg.
Thatés good to hear. |l 6m a gol fer, f
prosthesis that gave me an extra 20

This brought a snort of disgust on the other end followed bgughing
fit. This had obviously shaken the other lawyer who probably was intimidated to
discover his client was already being investigated by Xlectrix.

iYoudd gi vlef atnhaatrons? supposed to b
Farquhar finally said.

fiLookGeral d, for now | o611 take vy
your si de. Letds get this whol ¢otalt hi
confidentiality clausgand you still have your claim against the hospital for the
oper at ar 6Ish agmiadoye xgterneer ous f or one we

she was going to | ose anyway. 0

AiThat hardly compensat ebyg ochuenrg.f oYro
talking fifty yearsormoreo f deal i ng with a disabil]

irThe orMdter@dai ng t eepouoningimparathdyandldok |
anything but di sabl ed. You Kk niowh eybosu
obsessed. And i f we find she was be
tabl e. o

Al o6l | talk to her. I t 6 s ivedype.Sheo o
may want to get it over with too. o

They hung up. Vogel beamed at Cl
worried weodl |l find out she spilled t

to take the deal now before that can happen. ee&xp call back first thing
Monday. We were ready to go to five. Our insurance picks up anything over that.
Three is a bargain.o

AiDid she | ose the |l eg due to th
curious,andit might be relevant to his investigationpto

fiHard to sayThe doctor told us she had a 60% chance of keeping the leg
until the radiationoverdose destroyed too much nerve and blood vessel tissue.
Necrosis would have set i n. Of cour
malpractice carrier woulblave told him to attribute it all to the cancer

The law was a cold, hard business.

oK, so is that true about t he wc
So0éo
iYes, I Kknow. I't probably is true

but I think they yist kept calling it a Lilac, which they spelleddL-L-A-C.He 6 s
obviously clueless about the technologyhat means the post came from
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someone el se, someone familiar with
your assignment. Find out who postedtha o

Cliff had his doubts about whether he would ever be able to identify
ConcernedRelative but he realized Vogel just credited him with saving the
company $200,000, so he probably had quite a few billable hours he could rack
up before Vogel would protest.

AiFi ne, | 61 I wor k on it. But what
something funkywith the ones Crabbe serviced. You have to fix them. All of
t hem. o

i We Obeemtalking it over since you reported the hitch thing We 6 r ¢

going to do that. Butweacn 6t do t hem al | overnigh
the oldest ones first and work our way forward to the most recently installed
syst ems. Webve already reinstthdntwe d o

others during the ahnsaeVesteenceWedh
push at some of these oncology centers. They really hate down time, but we think

we can do three a week i f webdre 1luc
done. O
iléd think two a day wawsl d olme | foena
AEven i f we could get the clients

do that many. We only have one ftitlhe tech dedicated just to doing the
reinstalls.The rest are busy with regular installs and service or live out of the
areao

iCanbt you reactivate Crabbe? Wit

~

rate. o

ARnToo risky. We still donot know
could even be ConcernedRelativge have him working again, rewriting some
of the procedures in our Tech Tip$ fe . That s one of tF
service reps use. Heds not t o fyae a

wantitspedupy ou find out how this happene
him back to work. o

AiYou got the flitnsal Hpeo Isyhgorwaepdh nroe sdu

1 S ol says, but he also showed inconclusive on that final question. He
mi ght be concealing something. I 6 m &
anyway. 0

Cliff shook his head in fbuwtsttrha
your call. If you get another one of these overdasea system still waiting for a
reinstall, -ggwausddiln g ey sswercoenldf f or year
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AcCl iff, how about you do your j o
Send me your report and ydoitl. 0

When he got back to the office Maeva was gone. There was a voice
message on his machine. Vogel 6s voi ¢
two minutes after Cliff left and they finalized the settlement for $300,000.
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Chapter20

The investigatia of the bombing continued for the following week with
little to show for it. Abboudds van
other forensic evience, but other than traces afsglinei present in any cair
there was nothing.

Victims, witnessesand Arab sources were all interviewed. The FBI even
consulted with the counténtelligence officer at the Israeli Consulate in San
Francisco, but still they had made no significant progress.

They had confirmed that Abboud had traveled to the Middle, Bas
had not been able to confirm he had arrived in Gaza. His plane reservation hac
been made only two days before the bombing, which made it very expensive.
That might be a sign he knew he was about to bomb the center and wanted :
getaway plan, or it mht mean he had learned his father was gravely ill, as he
had told his neighbor, and had to leave suddenly.

They still di dnot have probabl e
but they were able to gettall recordsauthorization, an order to seesttimes
and numbers of incoming and outgoing

no land line to his house. The records showed that he did get a text message fror
Gaza earlier on the day he had made his airplane reservation, bextitentent
was na available.

Ellen had conducted several interviews, including Jews who thought the
Palestinians should all be exterminated like rats anab-Americans who
thought Israel should be wipedf ehe map One radical Jewish activist supported
the Palestiniarrause. One of the'omen who was killed, a staff member there,
had a Jewish surname but turned out to be of German Catholic extraction,
married to a noipracticing Jew. Both of them were agnostic. Everyone professed
personal opposition to violence and nowiedge of anyone who might be the
terrorist.

The bomb had been of a style not seen in the Bay Area before. Records
of the FBI and the Bureau of Alcohol Tobacco and Firearms (Ashiewed
similar bombs beinget off in the south in the 106 by a white hat group
against black activistsThe manner of construction of those bombs was widely
described on the Internet, so anyone could have copied it.

The bottom line for Matt was that they were at a standstill until
something broke.
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In the week since his lagnterview with the Lilac operators Cliff had
been following the poston the cancer support forum about the Lilac.
ConcernedRelative had not posted any more. There were dozens of replies to hi
post from others who identified themselves as patientstivedaof patients,
doctors,or Lilac operators who countered the original post saying the Lilacs had
worked perfectly for them for years and never burned them or anyone they know.
Cliff wondered how many of those were real and whether Vogel or some PR
flack at Xlectrix wasbehind the posts.

His job now included trying to find out who had made that post, but he
knew the website would never give that information up voluntarily. Vogel could
get the information if he really wanted it simply by suing ConceretatRe and
the websiteownersfor defamation and subpoenaing the website operators for the
IP address and other registration information of ConcernedRelative. He knew
that would probably lead nowhere. The person who posteadiprobably used
some Interet café or other hot spot and had given a fake email created just for
that post.

Vogel was convincechtat it was done by a con
sure. The language of the post had been inconsistent. The word reprehensible we
a tendollar word h a t wasnot |l i kely to be wuse

it hewade d.dtemelied to him like someone educated trying to appear
uneducatedT hat di dndét rul e out competitor

Cliff had been studying the histories of theerdosevictims for clues
during this period. They had all provided various personal information when they
filed their claims and waived privacy rights with the treatment ceriet® the
companyso that Xlectrix could get the treatment records tlzare the doctors
and techicians could talk freely to the company. That had been part of the
settlement agreements. Cliff hatsoobtained family history from the attorneys
representing them or their families.

One of the victims had no first cousins. Her parents were both only
chil dren. Her family didnot even kno
hadnot di scussed the c¢ase wifitstrcousins,e m.
but they were both very old. One had z h e iaidé¢he étlser had been out of
touch with the fany for decades. Neither knew how to use a computer so far as
the families knewHe ruled them out as ConcernedRelatiMae third victim, the
marathoner, had several young cousins, but her attorney was insistent that sh
had not discussed the treatmenthwihem or anyone outside her immediate
family. He wasstill adamant that she had not even knaélae machine was called
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a Lilac 4. He said he learned the name Lilac through his research and only
l earned it was a Li |l amowaard dthepostinottiee | 6

forum but guaranteed it wasndt from
Assuming all these people were telling the truth, and he tended to think
t hey wer e, he was beginning to | ean

behind the post. If true, that meahere was a possible motive for someone to
tamper with the machines to cause the malfunctions, itilas hard to believe a
medical device manufacturer would do such a thing. If it was discovered, that
would probably be the end of the company. Why tiekt just to get a few more
sale®

There were only three other companies that made competing devices
used in the United States. He checked stock analyst reports on all of them, bu
they all appeared to be in financial good health and their devices diaawn
special advantages and disadvantagesh astechnology,price or size,that

made them more suitable for omeistomero r anot her . Thus
competing all that <c¢closely. So knock
share muchOf couse,even if it was a competitot, hat st i | | di dr

the sabotage could have been done technically.

Frustrated, he decided to call Vogel and follow up on the reinstallation of
the softwareover the past weekVhenhe got throughVogel told himthey were
two-thirds of theway through the process.

AnDid any of the clients mention
el imination of that hitch | reported
nYes, actually, one di d. He said
thatwagy ecent . That stopped after the re
AfRoger, youbdbve got to flitissh haftf

from Cr abb eAnaheroaecdi these incidents could happen any
minute. Bring Crabbe back if you need the manpaver.

AWe eandét risplecibhadty now that we
of the software is probabhesponsiblesomehowp ut t he bi ggest
been manpower. The clients have been reluctant to give us the time. Downtime is
very expensive for themt explaired this to you before They 6r e aski
paythem the hourly rate they would charge patieats more accuratel\knock
that off their bills for theegularservice contract 0

AiPay it. It o6l cost you a |l ot mor
il dm wel | aware of t hat . Wedre bri
and | think weol |l be done in five da

ifAre any of the remaining sites h
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il think so. One Paclkat o Ghilkbdmnmerm

pediatriconol ogy annex, put wus off for ano
one within ten miles or more. We jus

ANo reason. 0

AiNo reason? Not good enough. Why

il know someone uateegbinghaadbat
my mind at ease if | knew they were

AA juvenile?o0

Cliff hesitated. AYes. o0

ils that where the child is being

il donot know. And | donot know
treat ment , either . o

Vogel took on a stern school mast
them the Lilacs have had prldbelngamsp,r id

Al realize that. o

i We, If you have any ability to persuade the people over there to give
us our hdlday any soonérwi t hout t el | i ngibteh ey wghuye

AfHave you examined the files on t
if there are any differences?0

iYes. The engineers did a file ¢
thethee overdose machines, from the ma
Crabbeds | aptop, and from the | apto

dongle. All theprogramfiles from all the systems were identical bit for bit. The
new laptop files were alidentical except for the single data file that has the
uni que program key for the new dongl

fnSo the new program itself s ide
ARi ght. There doesnd6t appear to b
iMaybe Crtaabbketbscouihgtd be a design

Vogel did not like this suggestion and the irritation showed in his voice.
AThen why &ente lbeailyghaffected?0

fOr maybeC r a b torgée $s the key to this

ANSA uses these dongl ebseakthem, dobamp t
run-of-the-mill hacker. Maybe the Chinese NSA or somebody like tBait
t hat 6s an i de aodVuogelrolvibusly likea khat mdga béttartsince
liability would naturally flow to the vendor who sold them the dongles.

fiCangyvyee me the contact informati
Al édll have to look it up. 108611 en
AOkay. 1611l be back in touch if |



98 FATAL DOSE

Chapter21

The next morning Cliff called Matt Nguyen. Their regular monthly lunch
with Gina was comingip and he wanted to find out if it was still on and confirm
the time and place. Matt was in and was able to confirm all the details.

AfOne more thing, Matt,o Cliff sali
say. ADo you know wheirat iEd i etnrbesa thmerc
iSomewhere | ocal. Over by Lucill e

she said. | know she can get there in less than 15 minutes. She just left for ther:
in fact. Why?0

iShe just left? So Ashley is gett

fiThat 6s what she said. Whatés goin

Al 6l 1l explain | ater. o

He hung up and dialed Roger Vogel. Vogel was out, but his assistant
took the call and was able to look up the name and address of the cance
treatment center.

He reached the center thwe minutes later. Since the annex was separate
from the main buildings, he was spared the usual maze wanderings most
hospitals entail. He walked up to the gimired receptionist, showed his
Xlectrix ID, and said he needed to talk to the Lilac operaghit away.

The receptionist called back to a treatment room and, after many rings,
finally reached someone.

fiSomeone wil I be r i gShewrotethis nae iseh e
log book anchanded him a Vendor badge to pin on.

Cliff had scanned #hwaiting room as he came in, and there m@asign
of Ellen, Theresaor Ashley. He guessed they were inside already. There were
several other families sitting stoically, with children ranging in age from toddlers
to teens. Heried not to pace or look paky. He had considered just bursting
throughthe doors to the treatment room area but there was a limit to what he
could do without compromising his cl

After two or three minutes darkcomplectedmale in a lab coat came
out and asked him to follow himrhey went through the main doors to the
treatment area and as they did so he saw Ellen and Theresa sitting on a chee
sofa in a small room, apparently the waiting area for adaltempanying child
during treatment, right udside the treatment room. He diisee Ashley, but
from his angle he coul dndét see whet'l
area. The man lesim back to a small office area.
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iwhat 6s this about?06 The man aske

fiHugo Gliffsaid,readi ng t he name from the
Xlectrix. Has your Lilac 4 been slow to respond to keyboard commands
recentl y?o

il dondt operate it. Il just maint
tech. None of theechs has said anything to nabout it. Is this related to the
reinstall ? You guys already asked me
after tomorrow. 0

iYou really should do it right a\

your patients, | can explain it to them as being esponsibility, not yours. | can
have someone over here later today. Can | just talk teathéechnow to see if

the problem has shown up here? | f no
ifShedbs giving a treatment ran gsk t |
her . Whuggéntabout same response time from the keyboard? Is there
something serious | should know abou
Suddenly a door sl ammed andHugd s h.
Come back here. Somet hdngbs wrong wi

Cliff bolted toward the direction of the voicelugoonly a step behind.
A young woman with purple hair and black fingernails clad in a lab coat similar
toHuggdbs was holding open a door . The
Cli ff 6s thnoagh the floar.aAshley Bishop was sitting on the treatment
table crying and holding hdeft calf. She looked up at Cliff with a puzzled
expression.

AThe patient saidd | burned her
suspiciously.

Seconds later Ellen an@lheresa rushed through the open door, too,
increasing the crowd to six.

AWhat 6s the matter?!d Theresa bel
She showed no sign of recognizing Clifhe rushed t o her ¢
hugged the sobbing gialsking ifshe was okay

Ellen, on the other hand, looke&liff up and dowrdumbfounded]ike
she was seeinipe Loch Ness Monstemergerom the floor

AncCliff, what in the world are yo
side of her mouth.

nCal l t hHugo debled &t the dpérator, who disappeared into the
controlbooth and picked up a phone.

Al ol l tell you | at aveiding eyecdomtefctf Al ¢ @

complicated. o
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Everyone gathered around Ashlélhe skin of hedower legbore red
circles he diameter of a pencil, one on top and one on the bottom. The bottom
one was slightly larger. CIiff noticed for the first timesurgical scar that was
bisected by the top mark.

Within thirty seconds twenore people appeared in the dooniay pale,
pearshaped womam n h e with @ Batba Streisand ngsand atall Arab-
looking male. Both wore white lab coats and had name tags.

iOut ! Everyone out but the patie
woman, obviously the doctor in charge. The group begéitdr out.

Ellen Dbl anched when she saw the
Maloof. She had been by his house near the RoseeGardl knew that Matt had
interviewed him, but unt il now she
physician.In her prevous trip here she had left before the doctor showed up.

As they stepped outside the rogrugo informed Cliff that the woman
was thechief radiation oncologisand Maloof was theurgicaloncologist.

iYou knew this coul d hapopuebnr,e dhed
Hugosaid accusingly.

Cliff ignored him, as he was paying attention to Ashley and her mother.
Theresa had refused to leave the room and was still hugging her daughter
Maloof was bent low, examining the red burn marks closely. There wasiheate
discussion going on inside, but froBl is fvantdge point he could only catch
fragments of the conversation. Then he felt a strong grip on his biceps. It was
Ellen.

Ails that true? You knew about thi
She flicked hefingernail hard against the Vendor badge.

Cliff remained silent and looked at her helplesslying hard not to
choke upHis heart was racingndhis stomach was a roiling ma&ut it was the
| ook of accusation on EIndstrnwakingtavare t
the lobby. He had braved many things as an FBI agent but this was beyond him
Coward or no, he just had to get out of there.

AHey, wher e a&dugpc yloluedyoamig@®mod hi m.
going to want to talk to you. oo

AClliof fEI'l en chorused.

He kept walking until he got to the reception desk. He threw the Vendor
badge on the receptionistés counter
lot.

When he got in his car he sat for several minutes, unsure he waaf
state to drive. Then he spiddugo stepping out of the front door of the annex,
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looking around. He decidddugo was probably looking for him and he did not
want to be answering any questions just then. He put the car in gear and took off.

Back at the ofieMaeva i mmedi ately spotted
demeanor as he walked in. His body language showed defeat and his eyes wel
watery.

Aiwhat 6s wrong?0 she asked anxi ous

He di dnot answer her . | nsedttlee aaor, h e
andcalled Vogel, who was still not in. He had the assistant put him through to
voice mail, where he leti curt message telling Vogel there was another incident,
this time at the Palo Alto location, and to call him right away.

This turned at to be unnecessary, for no more thlare¢ minutes later
Vogel called him. He picked the line up before Maeva could.

AncCliff, what the heldl did you do"
AiThe company president | ustencimadayingd |
thereb6s Dbeen another mal function dut
happen. They said one of our service repghey gave your nameé was there
asking about a keyboard problem and
il | u sattly what gou authorized me to @dao try to get them to
expedite the reindial did notsay it was urgent or to stop treatment.

il specifically told you not to
i ncidents. o0

AAnd | di d n 6 $croogé recslliedetime,Liladgs for takem them
of fline remotely i mmediately this wo

ATherebs no cal/l for that . We t
expedite it.o

fBecause you didndot tell tahdesmoft he
radiation. 0

nCliff, they have your name. todouo
if there is one. We have o damage control now if we can. We need to be on
the same team. Recriminations arenot
Idonét have any of the details. o

Al t wayearal di gier | . Mar k Bi shopds d

This brought Voge lJesus,tie Congressm&poo r lae
finally managed.

AThe same. 0

ifWhere was itwheatt rpeaattmeonft t he body’

i Héeg 0
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imMat 6s good. Shedl | probably su
amputation. That didnodét hit us too h

Cliff could hear the gears of t he
computing the likely damages. He was disgusted with Vogelewen more so
with himself. This could have been prevented. He realized suddenly that his
fingernails were digging into his palm and drawing blood, he was balling his fist
So hard.

fdThat 6 s g o alkkéufiful Gheyeatoldtgid ia going to log
herlegand probably wondt di e@ abbghtswgetu st
tempered, friendly kid whose life just changed because you were more concernec
with liability than saving th@atientsfrom harmo

ADamn it, CIliff 6 Iftwélsdtolathetworld that eur h a
machines might cause accidental overddskad already caused fatal overdoses
T that would be the end of our company. No one would buy them. These
machines save thousands of | i vtEngora vy
canét do it as cheaply or requidlrbe ma
many people who go withouteatmentif we go under. Keeping the company
solvent is my duty and it serves the best interests of the patients, too. So come of
your high horse. You need to understand where your ethical duty lies. Your
financial interests, too, for that m

ADonot give me that crap about
identified the probleni and t he f i x. Youdbdd st iag | l

part of the annual service if I had:]
And how much did I save you with the
ATr ue. And 1 6m grateful, but we
You werenot t h e ;you jussgot it expeditedhAinchylou sallf t
havendét identified hdvesporsSiblé i s being
AThatds not going to help Ashl ey
AWhobs Ashley? Oh, t he Chirdtsitm. sHh
juvenile you said youw&mewtelilsinmd md
AfYes. o Cliffdéds voice cracked on t
Al dm sorry. Ok ay, I must have so
realize you knew her. But look, if this girl is as appealing as you make her out to
be, shedds d4d awyardsi dream client. | f
you in that Owe 6, held back infor ma

could be punitives in the tens of millions. Maybe hundreds of millions. Punitives
areno6t cover ed inswance @ithelf, angol gay, goa only die
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as linstructed and |1 d6m not ciotheo ppdui ndg dtntoat dyoe
wrong, Cliff, but this coulduiny our | i f e, t oo. Think r

Cliff slammed his left fist down so hard on his dédkeva jumpedip,
despite thecloseddoor muffling the sound A Screw t hat! | f
because | dmydif@aiértuiwaead. hledGd never f or

The door opened and Maepaeked into see if he was all rightHe
waved her away.

AncCliff, there are other peopl e s
reinstalls, and we still need to find out how this is happening. Have you made
any progress on finding out who Conc

ANo. O

AWel l, you can h ethe stihat hisk byyfindiaghodt a |
what happened and how. You still owe me a weekly report. | want the whole
story of what happened over teelown to the last detail. And be sure to mark it
attorneyclient confidentialUnfortunately this will havetodd on paper s
going to have to present it to the Executive Commitiémy | have to go. My
phone is ringing off the hook andathCommittee is waiting for me to report to
them. The shit has hit the fan heBnodbyeo

He hung up before CIiff coulcespond. Cliff sighed and realized Vogel
was right about one thing at least. The best thing he could do is find out what
happened. He just didnét know how he
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Chapter22

The following morningCliff reviewedhis notes for the umpeath time,
looking for something he may have missed. As he was going through his emails
he saw the one from Vogel with the vendor information for the dongle
manufacturer: Secryptic Systems. It was located in Livermore, in the East Bay.
Cliff recognized thestreet name. It was within a mile of the Lawrence Livermore
National Laboratory, the most highly classified and best secured place in the Bay
Area the same place Bill Porter worke@ihat was where some of the most
sophisticated research of the militantelligence community was done,
including nuclear weapons. Cliff assumed from the location that the lab was a big
customerof Secryptic.

He called them, askinigy namefor the sales representative that handled
the Xlectrix account. When the man came oe ime CIiff said he was
representing Xlectrix and they were considering discontinuing use of the Xlectrix
dongles due to some technical problems they were having. The sales rep wa
certain that the issues could be resolved and wanted to know what helcdald
assure them of that. They agreed to a meeting the next afternoon in their facility
when the lead engineer could also be available.

No sooner hadliff put the phone down than he spotted Barry Cross, the
| awyer next door , i sted af the thréelfeetbétweendthe w i
front door and Maevads desk. He stoo
Barry, to what do we owe the hon
criff, 1 éd&m glad | caught you in.
Sure, sometimes. WoadXknmomwe 3® meon
Yeah, me . 0O
You? But I thought you just did
know anything about patent | aw. 0

AYou dondotl tn®@edj ut a motion to b
briefs and the judge has already posted hisatent ve r ul i ng. | t ¢
way. The other side wild|l try to argu
just need a warm body to be present.
to survive. | 6m getti ng rdsback eagt findimge i
housing for his son. Hedéds going to B
Geez, ,B@amrgor When is this hearir
Tomorr ow mo Couit.JudgeSchblersot r i ct

o I s ! Sien ! Sien ! Sien 1

i
i
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To a lawyerfDistrict Courd meant United States District Court, the
fedaal court, as distinct from Superior Court, the state court system. The
differences were more than just jurisdictional. Comparing the two would be like
comparing a Tesla showroom to a used car lot. Everything in federal court was
elevatedi the formality, the professionalism, the precision of the pleadings,
usually the intelligence of the judges and staifthough there had been some
notable exceptions both wayGliff had been in District Court many times as an
FBI agent, testifying, getting warrantand meeting with AUSAsso he knew
enough abouthe civil procedure rules in federal cownt get by, but he knew
nothing about patent law

The good news was that he knew Jutlge Schulemwell. Schulerhad
been an Assistant U.S. Attorney when CIiff haeémean agent in the San Jose

Of fice and had handled several of CI
Aiwhat time? | have an appoint ment
ANi ne a.m. Youdll be out by 11:30
Ok ay, i f you wa n thargméourly.d dotfixedl féd im  h

Superior Court, but thatos because |

ANo probl em. Whatever your stand:
pay you | ess than they do me. And do
minute argument or ploy by the other couns8thulerhas never reversed a
tentative ruling yetMy client is CiscoHereo

He handed CIiff a manila foldevith some legal documents in it, thanked
him and left.
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Chapter23

The next morning CIiff was sittingn the courtroom of the Honorable
Leonard Schuler along with a passel of other lawyers. This morning was
calendared for all civil cases, but in federal court the judges did not specialize in
a single type of case the wiyeydid in statecourti family law, juvenile court,
criminal court, small claims, and so fortht one pointSchulerinterrupted the
civil calendar to handle an immigration matter. On another occasion one of the
Assistant U.S. Attorneys entered the courtroom and was motioned to thifront
the judge to sign something, possibly an order on a criminal case.

I't was already (iscechse hhad yeOt@ be gatledl. HE | i
was beginning to wonder if he was going to get out in time. Then he hedgé
Schul eBrianBwarelera8X| ectri x. 0 An-agadtwomanc t i
with afull, Oprah Winfrey figureclad in an expensive tailored suitilked to the
defendant 6s tabl e an dwithacrmsanaosestdiffled p | a
to the other tableCliff recognized him fromSuper i or Court a
lawyer.Cliff had not known there wouldea n Xl ectri x case.
to Vogel about ongoing litigation. This could get interesting.

Without waiting for the judge to ask the lawyers to state their
appearances thearl e spoke, ADavid Hannity fo
the courtoo m, your honor. o0 He wavedwithouts h
looking. A tall, balding man that direction wearing half glasses, apparently the
plaintiff Byrne, sat up straight adoked intensely at the judgile had piercing
blue eyes fixed in a permanent scowl.

The defense lawyeidentified herself as Sharon Perrgliff did not
recognize her.

AYour honor , the conduct by the ¢
clientsolelyb ecause of his age is tipéamosi
lawyer blurted out, again without being invited to speak by the judge. His cheeks
were so lined with veins it looked like a grandchild had gone wild with a red
pencilon his faceHis potbelly threatened to fall over his belt onto the floor.

nStow it, counselor, 0o Schuler int
di scovery dispute. Save your <closing

The female attornesuppressed a small smile.

n MdPerry, yods motion, 0 Schuler cont
to her.
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i Your haenbeen tryingvte schedule a deposition with Mr. Byrne
for three months and he refuses to n
after excuse from Mr. Hannity. o

Hannity replied, i Def endant has been tryi.
afternoon in Palo AltopA deposi ti on would take a
time. That means it would take two days. Taking two days off his work would be
a financial h a r dMrhByrpe is avadable leeginniogl atl8:00 h €
a.m. in our San Jose office, halfway

The def ense | awy e d bervdllng tonlichie the t h
deposition to four hours. The argument went back and forth awhile and the judge
fi nally ordered Byrne to appear for ¢
three days, with questioning limited to four hours.

Cliff had no interest in the deposition timing, but one thing had caught
his attention. The pleadi nXl £t 6 s i xats
Areprehensi bl e. 0 Tthhear éry oftan Cliffogaw it ip 0 u
pleadings from time to time, but neveutside the courtroomontext Except
once.The only place CIiff could recall hearing or reading it in recent memory
wasthe forum post by ConcernedRelativalsoapplied to Xlectrix.

The two attorneys in Byrnebds case
called another case, this one with multiple parties on both sides and lawyers
galore, so Cliff decided he had a fevinotesbefore hiscasecould be calledHe
followed the lawyers out and caught up with the woman before she got to the
elevator. They were still out of earshot of Byrne and his lawyer.

AExcuse me, Ms . Perry, | 6m CIl i ff
Xlectrix, t oo. Can | speak to you for a s
The woman stopped nd | ooked him up and d
you, 0 she said tentatively. Al thoug

for Xlectrix. T h e HérickeMortoo & Sadldgi. d NS ey v
obviously skeptical.

Al dm here f or Bar r yi focanotlesclieotnl jug p
happened to be here and overheard yo
back in before my <case i s &apleadnds, b

Hereds my <card. You c aThe card evas kis negularh
attorneyat-law card, not th&lectrix one Vogel provided.
iThe pleadings are public inform

could get them from the court clerkchrave her the trouble of checking him out
with Vogel
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inWwel |, Il 6d Ii ke to talk to you, 1
you later today or tomorrow. Congratulations on getting the 1:00 depo time, by
the way. | assume you wanted that starttsme you 6d get Hanni
 unch. o

iAh, hi s reputation precedes ,him
pleased that her tactical victory had been recognizedi | 6 | | check w
wedll talk. o

Cliff headed back to the courtroonthe same case was still being
argued. After another fifteen minut e
stepped forward and stated his special appearance.

inAh, Mr . Knowl es. This is a rare

opposing counsel frowned.

The hearing went exactly as Barry Cross had predicted, with the
opposing counsel vainly trying to get Schuler to changeehistiveruling. Cliff
did nothing but stand thepatientlyand emerge victorious.

By the time he made his way out of the courtrodnwas almost
lunchttimeeHe gr abbed a Quarter Pounder fr
himself inwardy for doing so, then returned to the car. He buckled up and
headed for Livermore.

To say the Secryptic building was Iy would be an understatenbten
The front of the gray, flaopped structure bore not a single logo or sign. The
landscaping was tasteful and widhded but only the street address in a small
font on the glass door confirmed he was at the right location. He parked in a
visitor parkng spot on the side and started walking toward the front of the
building, only to spot a sign with an arrow stating Entrance In Rear. He walked
around to the back where a single sc
unlocked, so he did.

Inside hefound himself in a small lobby with two Danish modern chairs
and aPlexiglaswindow behind which a surprised young woman sat. Clearly this
company was n o0 tin cgstomersHe &sked forwsanukl, the sales
representative he had spoken to the jgneviday. The receptionist, or whatever
her title was, telephoned someotien told Cliff to be seated.

Presently two men emerged, one appearing Chinese and one Indian,
though neither had any trace of a foreign accent. They ushered him back to &
conferene room. Cliff explained that heas from Xlectrix and showed the 1D
that Vogel had given him. Samuel, the Chinese man, examined it closely and
nodded to the other. They introduced themselves, both saddled with lengthy titles
endi ng i nThé ladiagwasiGeeent something.
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Cliff was not about to reveal to them that the Lilacs were overdosing
patients. That was still not public and the dongle people did notdaeed to
know. Instead he told them that one of the dongles seenteiriterfering wih
the program, causing delays in the program responding to keyboard commands.

AThat 6s i mpossi bl e, 0 AfThen dongle rsdniota n
accessedy the Lilac control pp gr am except at progr a
explaining something about a modifidijndael algorithm which lost CIiff
within the first five seconds.

il donét needtogo aghobow dbaetaiclry,po
wanting to let on that he was in over his head. They would wonder why he was
t he one assi gn e dusttwant td enddrstand ihdwhthe progras .
interacts with the dongle during operation. One of our service reps says several 0
the clients who use the program have complained thatthamelayed response
time for their typing sometimesTime is money with or clients. This has
happened with several elits, but only ones serviced by that same guy. When the
program was reinstalled with another dongle, the problem went away. We think

the dongle is defective. O
ADi d you bring the doamuyelofefled We cou
AiNo. We might have you do that ir
get your opinion on how that could h
fi | dondét see how it could happen,

specs you have g¢gi Vven ediexcept ltytthe sedicerraps. e
The clients do not have them. They should not have them or the security is
usel ess. 0

AiThat 6s true, the c¢clients indtalledn o't
with one dongle are the only ones affected. Maybe that one donggedca
corrupted file or something. o

Clement was still adamarii.| mpossi bl e. Even if

that would have happened at the time the program was installed. The dongle ic
removed after thaf he problem would have been noticed right awaysWai t ? 0

ANo, itds quite recent. o

ATherebds your answer t hen. It 6s
problem after reinstalling with anot
the ones with the suspect dongl e?b90

Samuel j umped i nwoald be gladatd supply youn & .
replacement dongle for no charge if

like to examine it ourselves. | can tell you NSA, among other government
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customers, has used many of these and none has ever failed or reported thi
probl em. 0

Cliff was at a loss where to go from there. ¢i® u | returrbtihie dongle
to this company. His gut told him it might be important to kaed only Vogel
could make that callln fact, it was still needed to provide service on the few
remainingLilac sites that had not yet had a reinstall done. Then something struck
him about the conversation.

AiCl ement , didnot you say earlier
program | aunch?b9
nYes, thatdos true. Most of tthe t

They dondt need the dongle. The prog
in and cannot be put in diagnostic mpde it just operates in standard mode
Only the service reps have the donglesifsbey want to diagnoseomething,

the programnis shut down, then the rep launches it again withdtirggle plugged

in. Once the program verifies the right dongle is there, it indicates the program is

in diagnostic mode and the dongle is
nWait, the dongle is r emovhiedhe |t
program is used in diagnostic mode?0
headquarters had left the dongle pluggedtiile zapping the bacon
i No, t hat would be a security fI

the dongle were lein the service reps would forget to retrieve it at the end of the
day. There would be dongles left with the clients who could try to do their own
maintenance. That would be dangerous. Your company told us this. They wrote
the software so that the donggequeried at launch and once in diagnostic mode

the rep is supposed to remove it i mm
This was disturbing news to CIiff.
iSo i f someone got his hands on |
program, he could continue teseit in diagnostic mde even after the dongle
was gone, even after the service rep

The two engineers gave each other quizzical looks and leaned over close
to each other whispering. Clement shook his head a couple of times. Finally he
spoke again.

AT hat ¢ oppénd thd dervide aep stars the programvithout the
dongleafterfinishing the service like he is supposeditd. youb6r e t al
someone other than the clieft,at 6 s only true i f the
the program installed for that doeglEach dongle is unique and is only used on
ten ortwenty systemisone ser vi cellr aipmase rtsd ramidt. o rl

ifiYes,o Cliff agreed hesitantly.
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iSo how many systems are we tal
your s?29

iSever al .infentignally yague.w a s

AiDo you think your service rep |
locations? Even if he did, the dongle is still only active at program launch and
woul dnét affect the keyboard during

AThat s e e méffconceded.k el vy, 0 C

Samuel had mostly been following the conversation silently, but an idea
struck hmAiAre yoheswsreevice rep isnbdt do
intentionally or inadvertently, remotely®ith his laptop and dongle he could
access seval different systems.

AQuite certain, o Cliff sai d with
Crabbeds | aptop and dongle were 1|l oc
safely exiled at home during at least dneident. Still, in the back of his mind he
wondered if it was possible.

iLet me ask you something elteee, 0O
rephad made a copy of the program on his own personal computer and launchec
it with the dongle in, then removed the dongle and put it back with his cgmpa
|l aptop, could he control his systems

The two engineers conferred brief
long as he never closed the program. Anytime he rebooted, or just shut down the
program, he would need the dongle agala.would also need the IP addresses
of the remote machines if | understand your software correctly, which are in a
file with other restricted information. Our dongle is used to encrypt and decrypt
sensitive files like that, too, but those are separatgranes. Your own software
engineers should have explained this to you. He would have to have copied thost
files onto his home computer, launched the decryption program while the dongle
was in, then kept that program open, too, or repeat it with the dovete ttme
he shut the computer down. 0

ACoul dndt he just print out the
screen?o

i N o , clipbdaml,print, and printscreen functions are disabled by your
software to prevent that. For security. But | suppose he coylg them down by
handi f t heredsdnot too many

This gave CIiff food for thought. He ended the interview with no
resolution, leaving the two engineers as unsatisfied as he was. He headed back 1
the office.
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When he got there Maeva told him a check bathe in from Orange
County. This was his payment for the expert testimony against Houckyahe
who killed the patrolman. He picked up the envelope as he sat down, and opene
it. He smiled at the nice sum on the check. There was a note in the envetope fro
the prosecutor asking him to call her.

He called the number on the note. He was lucky to catch her just before
quitting time. She wanted to thank him again for his help and confided in him
that a plea deal had been struck. Houck had agreed to plepdtgitst degree
murder in exchange for lde sentence and identifying all the drug gang leaders
and the border agents they had corrupted, including testifying against them.

ifiHe deserved death for killing t
opined.

il agree, 0 the prosecutor replie:i
him. This is Orange County. You can get a death sentence for having an Obam:
sticker on your car. But you know how it Galiforniaj udges j ust v
happen. T h e rare exdrwian rindover e deaade. He would have just
rotted in a cell untii someppellatejudge declared our latest procedures
unconstitutionaland all the death cases would get changed to life sentences
anyway. Then weodod t weak Iltagam Thewaphwed a

get the rest of hisrew. Heodol | probably get whack
for ratting themoutHi | ar i ou s, i snot it? Death i
death sentence. 0 She cackled at this
il suppose, O0uskedatheegoliness.d, nonpl
il have another call. Anyway, tha
AOkay, goodbye. 0

Next he scanned his email and saw one from Sharon Perry, the lawyer
defending the Byrne lawsuit. It said she had checked with Vogelgake her
the okay to talk to him abouhe case. He called her.

nHI, Shar on, itos CIliff Knowl es. 0o
iYyes, CIliff, |l was expecting your
AnTel | me about this Byrne guy. Wh
ifiHe was |l aid off by Xlectrix. He 6
AiHowi sl he? He didndt | ook very ol
AFotwyg. The minimum age to Jhee i s

are a half a dozen field engineers o
of discrimination against people his age. He has noaghantrial if it ever gets
thatfar.o

ifiHe was a field engineer? He inst
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ALil acs?o0

AfThe cancer treatment machines XlI

il think so. We havenodét taken hi s
descripto n . 0

AiWhere does he work now? His | awy

iAiRi ght , at a radiology group t he
equi pment , maybe t hose Lilacs you
engineering unit | believe. o

AiwWhen diddheff§@d | a

AThr eahalnfd years ago. That 6s a | i

know. He filed a discrimination claim right away with the EEOC. He claimed
discrimination on every ground he could think of: race, age, religion, disability.
But it took hm a while to get a right to sue letter from the EEOC for some
reason. His claims were so outlandish that | guess they felt they had to look into
tHeds very intell i gdmwaydheydfinallydostintrest n d
and gave him the right tde suit himself.Hannity has been stallingoping for a
settl ement. 0O

AWhy was he | aid ewifd? Waesduictt i @an @
getting very interested. If this guy had been a field engineer he would know how
to use Xlectrix hardware and softvear

nSort of. Really he was being fil
showing up at clientsd sites with |i
was being rude. The company lumped him in with a couple of other problem
employees and some tempgldaid them all off, claiming it was a cost savings
measur e. He wasnét fired fionsorancedheys e .
even held their nose and gave him a good referéhee. got hired by
group right awayalthough at a lower saladis skills are in demand.

What did he claim his raceeligionnand di sabil ity wer

AWhite, Positive Christianity, an

APositive Christianity? Whatés th

fiA Nazireligiousd oct r i ne. Raci al purity a
can bok it up in Wikipedia owherever He dropped the claims of race, religion,
and alcoholism in the lawsuit. All he has left is age discrimination. | guess he
realized no Santa Clara County jury would be sympathetic to a claim the
company discriminated agest white guys, since 80% of the other field engineers
are whiteand half of the jurors would be minoritiesAnd | supposeh e di dn
want to publicly declare himself to be a Nazi type or an alcoholic in a court
proceeding!  w o uadduie ibi tf | Ordpresestingnhiml t woul dno
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helpedhisjob prospects. Actually, he might have been able to make a case on the
disability claim. The courts are pretty sympathetic to treating alcoholism as a
di sability. o

AnDid Vogel tell you what 1 06m doin

i No . He just said you were inves
me ? 0

AProbably not. At | east not unt i

know if hess made any threats, been on company groueckntly or anything
l' i ke that, though. o
ANot | & ma & wHeras a edl temper problem, though, | liear.
iokay. I 61 1 as k Voge ldevelopmdntneygur me
case. I may be back in touch. Thanks
AiSure. o
Cliff could hear the skritch of her pencil as she markedetigetime of
the call on her billing sheet.
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Chapter24

iThe real problem is t he bl ood

AFortunately her tumor wa snotomnthebhoriea n e
The radiation beam destroyed some muscle tissue and rsemwes, but those
should grow back fairly well if we can keep the lovieg blood supplygoing.

The vessels thengere badly damagebdyt he r adi ati on. I w
circulation, sepsis will set in and thawer legwould have to be amputatel.

looks like the firstvasculartransplant is failing. Weiseda vein from her other
legand wedre going t,o buuste waen octahnedrt okneee
own vessels indefinitelyArtificial veinsi Gortexi work well above the knee

but not elow, and the transplant surgeon tells me a cadaver vein is not likely to
work in this case because the radiation damage combined with the
i mmunosuppressants would prevent t h

unusual but wedd ddororewithagyood tissue raatifiwe a | t
need a third surgery 6d | i ke you both to be tes
vessels. Youbre her closest relative
inof course, o0 Ellen immediately re
iYou want to take our wei mO?T0 cbhhe
do whatever it takes to save heg, but does that | eave
Mal oof gave her an odd | ook. iLe

hope that her second vewill do better than the first one. In the meantiret| 6 s

see if Yo u O rissue anatah. Just because §euher mother doestbguarantee

that Al l we need is to take a bl ood sc¢
nCan we do that blood test right

want , o0 Ell en declared stoutly, nudgi
Theresa nodded agneent.

It took Roger Vogel three days to

il dve been out of town, o@lcompléted Y
the reinstalls. Every system has been chamyed Wed/e permanently assigned
a new service rep to handle allof Crabl®e ol d cl i ent s .andHe
there have been no further incidents and no more reports of that hitch in respons
ti me. o

iAiDi d you f i ndovesdose, withfAshteyh Bishofhadtthats t
del ay probl em?0
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AiThey aren6t s h.alheir lawgyer &das bobtan inwolved.d e
Our field engineer who did the reinstall said the rad tech told him it was behaving
a |little funny that day but that és a
|l earned?0

Cliff told him about the interview at Secryp and how it might have
been possible for Crabbe to have copied the program onto his home,system
plugged in the dongle, and as long as he kept the program running he
theoretically could have cawlled the affected machines remotely. Vogel
chewed thateer but said nothing.

Cliff then asked about Byrne and his lawsuit.

AYou think he could be involved?
di smissively. ASur e, heés angry abo
knowledge, but he left overthreeyearsagplhe L4 di dndt ¢ o me
l eft. Heds never been trained how to
l eft and it didnot have the necessar
never even had a dongle issued to him. | doubt he evenskwhat a dongle is.
They werendét used onl &rmep e tddegtogsouprea r
he works for now doesndt ewven have o

AWhy did you fire him?26 Cliff hac
he wanted toee ifVogel gave the same story.

ABi zarre behavior. He has an alc
gets belligerent. He was okayrdi ng r egul ar @gertchlledhoatu r s
to service machines after hour gliers o me
there was no remote access. The rep
home with his | aptop. Hedd have to |
or hospitalssometimes workwenty-four hours a daylf he got a call in the
evening, hé e out on the road drivingdrupdand hedd f or sur e

alienate one of our <clients. He had
AGi ve me an example. o
iAWwel I, he was working up in Il dah

too. One time he got called to a site in Bozemaménevening and was drunk as
usual. When he got there he found out someone there had accidentally
disconnected a cable. He blew up for having been called out that late over
something that simple. The rad tech was from one of those Indian tribes up there
I guess, and he began chewing her out, saying things like he should have
expected as much from an inferior breed like her. Of course the client
complained. We yanked him back here and had him work withsoftware
design team for a few months.
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fiHe6 s a sofiwam éngineer. Heeemed okay at first, but was angry
about being transferred. He had come to like that mountain environment. | think
hed djotten into one of those white hate groupke cost of housing here was
killing him, even with us paying theansfer costs and giving him a cost of living
adjustment. Housing here is at ledseetimes the cost of Boise. He had to rent
some shack way up in the hills above Morgan Hill, a-bwo ur c omdiut e
come in late and angry, leave eate waspretty good with codingthey said
but was real disruptive to the grougspecially the minorited t wasnot v
sohisbosd et him go. 0

il want t o bdallldevgdapmentsih that cased Can you

send me all the pleadings and discovery, hiscurrewor k det ai | s a
iOkay, I 61 | have my assistant ser
waste. Hedébs an L3 guy, not an L4 guy
AThat reminds me . Who services
Crabbe?0
Thi s made Vogel t hi,nkl ftolmi nak motm

geographical, not by product line. Crabbe serviced all our clients in the Bay Area.
There are even a coupl e of L26s stil
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Chapter 3

Cliff spent the next morning researching Brian Byrne online. There were
too many Brian Byrne®n facebook and Google+ to identify him, assuming he
was even there, but Cliff found his profile on LinkedIn. Byrne apparently
considered that site useful for his job search. Cliff also had a credit agency
account and found reporthere.

Byrne was 45 and unmarried, mediocre credit. Sharon Perry had told him
42, but that was the age he was when laid off, close to the minimum of 40 to
claim age discrimination. He lived dfinley Ridge Road in Morgan Hill. Cliff
looked that up and found ivas a short, sparsely built ti@ane road in the
eastern hills just before the entrance to Henry Coe State Park.

He knew the area only vaguely. Henry Coe was the largest state park in
northern California, buhot so well known or frequented as the msecenic and
accessible parks the western hillspneswith redwoods or the ones at the
shore Coe was dry and very hot during the summer and had very little
development. It was thirty minutes of winding mountain driving from the nearest
freeway entrancaend t hen once at the park, it
more interestingspat8 y r neés house wasnodét as f al
good distance from the beaten path.

By r n kirtkkedin profile claimed he graduated from Rensselaer
Polytechiic Institute with a degree in Electrical Engineering and a minor in
Physics. His prior employments looked impressive until one considered that most
of them did not last long. His listed current employment, as Cliff expected, was
at Fremont Radiology Groups Director of Engineering. Cliff printed out the
page and added it to the growing file he had on the case. Cliff then looked up the
website of that group and saw that it consisted of five doctors who did both
diagnostic radiology and radiation oncologyhother page added to the file.

Vogel had email ed over some of tt
contract with Xlectrix. As Vogel had told him, the group had a Lilac 3, but no
Lilac 4. The technical contact was shown as Byrne. No surprise therbillirige
contact was shown as a Lynda Satterlee. Cliff noticed something else: the service
contract was due to expire in six weeks. He called Vogel, but only got voicemail,
so he decided to call Buster Crabbe. He got through.

inHI, Buster ,wltehsi.s liosm QGlhief fé OKn o

fi remembewwho you are, o0 Crabbe ipedterr
me to be grateful that your investigation got me back to wdré.n 6 t hol d
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breath. Il 6m in a | ower paid job and
sti ltl tdromnsdt me . O

AnThey cut your pay? | didndot know
You passed the polygraph. o

ATheyore stild/l paying me the fiel
a makework position that could be done by someone right dutoc ol | e g e
gotta be temporary. o

Aldm sorry. At | east youldre actua
get this all back to normal you can

AHow?O

AfiDo you remember a guy named Bri a

i Of e.blaiwas a field service engineer like me. Got laid off three or
four years ago. He was wup north s ome
until they transferred him back here to headquarters. He only lasted here for a
year. Maybe | ess. o

AWhat Wi ylbuof hi m?20o
The long pause on the other end told Cliff that Crabbe was weighing

whattosay. Finallg ame a tentative, fAWhy?o0
AiThe why isnét i mportant. Just te
fiHe was kinda weird. A jerk, onf
that. But he did his job.o
AiwWeird in what way?o
AfiHe was i nt o -pldyiagsgames, rihe iviolemt ones. IHe

talked about those a lot, bragged about what a good shot he was. He was int
guns and always going on about the Second Amendment. dientolonce he
shot a reetailed hawk from his porch with a rifle. Not a shotgun, a rifle. | guess

that 6s har d; at | east he seemed to t
hunter. o
This gave Cliff pause. He h abddsn 0t

something he would have to take into account if he decided to investigate the
man.

AiYou say he did his job. Il heard
fiHe did his job. Wel | , he pissed
there were complaints. He was verycsatic and bitter about being transferred
her e. He was al ways running down man

AfiHow do you know this? Did he t:
drinking after work or what?o
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AiMostly other emp | oy eelatestvepisodedin t e
emails theydd say things ilsitkud fwhHao ks
iSo you nevewensotoal umed with him
ALunch a couple of ti médgouhiow, for a
s 0 me o irtleddyor like that. Once when he was new he got invited to go with
a coupleof other guys and me over to the local sports baEloBamino. The
Giants were playing a night game and in a tight race for the playoffs. He got
drunk and got nasty. That wastlast time | ever went after work if he was going
to be there, but | dondét think anyon
AHow nasty?o
iHe was making fun of the Giant
calling them faggots and like that, the usual rac@hes. And loud. Geegthis is
a sports bar. Everyone there was probably a big Giants fan. People were giving
us the evil eye.

iSo would you say he had a drinki
iThat night he did. I didnét see
AYou know hlecallgitoivlielr war losne of your
iOne of my former c¢clients, you me
AfHave you seeat htihmre oRvreemarhterRadi o
iWhen | have t-loevdlhegeypysl att pweo

there.His n a me ®he Lildteaslactually at the local hospital, not at their own
facility. They own it but i t 6 sThey lsaeedsomie ay t h e
machines and other hardware at their offices, but | go to the hospital to do the
service, so lusualy just see the radiation tech or one of the engineering guys
comes over. Byrne doesnodot wuswually ha

AWhends the | ast time you were th

ASi x months or so. 0

Cliff checked the file that Vogel had sent. It was slightly over six
months. He did the mental math. That was about three weeks before the first
overdose.

ADid you see him then?o0

iYeah, a c tNotahe ffirgt tinhe, bdtihé was there the second

AfSecond time?0
il serviced the L3 oinxitwitheut a partls t
needed, so | came back the next day. He was there the second day for a little bi

We talked about the probl em. Hebs a
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how | fixed it, what the failure rate was. That kind of thing. We dalked
maybe five minutes. 0

ADid you ever discuss the Lilac 4

il didnoét . Maybe our salesopkogl e
have any reason to. o

ADid he ever ask you about it or

iThe dongl e? 0 dde makiigeleanhe thaught Clifhnust  t
be nsane. ANo, of course not . The

i
remot el y acwhewosld hie hage abhy3nfeestimy dongl e? 0

iSo you kept your | aptop and dong

AYeosf, courseé well, essentially vy

AfEssentially yes? Meaning?06 This
skepticism.

fiLook, it was late when | finished ughe first dayand | was going to
drive directly to a r est aeavamytlaptopon me
the car, especially if | have to leave it with a valet to park. Laptops get stolen all
the time and this had all kinds of sensitive company information, @itliough
that was all encryptedSo | asked the other engineer thévkel, if he had a
secure place to keep it overnight. | knew | was coming back first thing the next
day. I couldnét | eave it in the hosp
locked up over at the engineering room at the radiology group. But | pulled the
dogl e out before | gave it to him.
positive | kept it with me. The next day | came back and put the dongle in the
bag. ldoublec hecked it when | |l ef t | t oo. | t

This explanation cameishing out and acquired a more defensive tone to
it as he got to the end. Cliff smelladole at least, if not quite a rat.

ABuster, i s t hat t he nor mal prot
cliento6s, I mean?o
fiWe do it someti mes. l &m not t he

AWhi ch me arnioCiffesaid, sbunéirg tiké a school principal
confronting a spitball thrower.

AfiTechnically, |l &m supposed to ret
there overnight or take it disrnetingl y
useful on it. Even most of the stuff on it that is encrypted is stuff Byrne already
knows from being a field enginedimself Other than the L4 stuff and the
updated Tech Tips and client infor ma

nl s t hyau were heavbus about during the polygraph? What you
meant when you said you were afraid
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iNo, 06 Crabbe al most spit o Byrme. A N
What does he have to do wiehd?i Heéady!
my laptop and the dongle to remotely access those other machines, and the Il
addresses of the other clientsdwamach
just worried that somehow if | skirtetheir rules a little bit, like that time,
soméow | might have caused a problem. But | kept the dongle that time; | know
I did. And | had the laptop with me every time the overdoses happened, except

t his | ast ti me and then i tor withsmy at
replacementAre you goingtoe port t hi s?0
il have to. But i f youobre tellir
incident could have | ed to the overd
inJesus, just when | thought | was
AfiTake it easy. You should come ol
ded t o me, especially if other field
AThey do, | swear.o
AfOkay, yowogd&.bdcknatyo be back in t

They hung up
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Chapter26

Ellen took the news stoically, but Theresa was on the brink of a nervous
breakdown. Ashley hadlreadyhad two vascular transplants in the last month to
try to save thdéeg. Both had worked for a time, but then the grafts began to fail
because the tissue around them was so damaged from the radiation overdos
Theresavas Gattissue matchEllen was gair match,and might be possiblelt
was all but certain thafshley would lose hedower legif a matching donor
could not be found. For the time being Ashley was not told of this.

When they came fr om t éled didectlg to the 6 s
FBI6 s P a IResident Agency. Although she was a relative newcomer she
knew her fellow agents would come through. Time was of the essence. She
mar ched right into the squad superyv
phone. He wasurprisedout put the caller on hold to ask what was the matter. He
trusted his agents to know when a matter was important or urgent enough to
interrupt him. Sheexplained the situation andsked him tocall a squad
conference as soon as possible. She adamd ask for her cworkers to get
tested for a tissue match. The supervisor agreed, and put a message out over tl
radio for all the Palo Alto R.A. agents to be present for a squad conference at
4:00. Many agents were out covering leads and that wasatiest possible
time.

When EIll en presented the doctoro
nearly universal response by the agents. Every agent but one volunteered to ge
tested. The one who didnét was pregrt

donorat this time.

The next day Cliff, Gina, and Matt sat at The Red Peppee of their
regular lunch spot<liff ordered his usual two enchilada lunétis morning had
consisted of more special appearances in Superior Court, note afetails
worth shanng with Matt and Gina.

The initial conversation was awkward. By now both Gina and Matt were
awarein general termsf the incident at the hospital involving Cliff, Ashley, and
Ellen, but no one wanted to be the first one to broach the subject.

Cliff broke the ice directing the question at Matt A Have you h
Ashley Bishop is doing?

iNot so goodveingglalfetn issaifdaitlhieng an:
bl ood vessel donor whodéds a good tiss
leg. ©
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i Oh, Chri st no, 0 CI| iHelbokeshaviay. er e d,

Gina had already heard this news. In fact it had begun to spread
throughout the whole division arkeBl volunteers were signing up from all over
the Bay Area. Ashley Bishop was not onlyhé niece of an agent and the
daughter of a former agent, but also the goddaughter of the DirectorfeBina
pang of sympathy fo€liff , but her curiosity was even stronger.

ACliff,o0 she said. i Wh at happene
aboutthe pobl em with the radiation mach
bl ames you for this.Oo

AThatds not true, Gina, o Cliff re
everything | could toépn dmskdat 63 tal IThlat éan
else | know bout this is attorneg | i ent pri vil eged. You
word for it.od

Gina and Matt exchanged uneasy glances. Cliff had mentored them both
whenhe was a senior agent in Saseland they were new agents on his squad.
They trusted him implicly, but he had not given them a satisfactory explanation,
not one they could take to Ellen anyway.

iSur e, Cliff,o Matt finally said.
di dndét sound all that sincere.

AHow are you doing on Pahkenotheocodeo
name of the bombing case.

AStymied, 0 Matt replied. Altds r
has been out of the country since ri
iThat sounds | i ke you have the ri
AiNot necessar il andtesWe it evesyiwhiehdvayHrons
Sunday. We coul dnot mat ch up any r

bombing. 0

Cliff asked what kind of bomb it was. Matt told him the forensic details.
Even though that was not public knowledge, he knew CIiff woutdexeal the
information. More importantly, Cliff was a smart guy who knew more about
solving crimes than anyone else Matt had ever met.

AnThat sounds | ike some of t hose
Cliff opined. i dondt sterretenreristb esing tlime a r
kind. That 6s Goodfdrsetiirfg fire, bu notsmudh @fcalbahgd d
expect a pressure cooker or something like that from Palestinians.

iYou have a good memory. But t h
Anyone caild copy it. We think this is a lonérsomeone operating by himself

without guidance from any group. It is unusual for a Palestinian group, though.
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Theybve never targeted anyone in th
support i s t opcally Ah@acdattratndbes this kindl sf stuffy or
individualsinspired by Al Qaeda the wannabeswh o do i t. Ther

for everything, though. The underwear bomber, the shoe bomber, the toner
cartridge bomb, they Wweferald things

ATr ue. Have any groups <c¢l aimed cr
AiNo. To the contrary. Theyodve all
AfHave you considered the possibi

trying to shift blame with that flag? Maybe someone with a personal grudge
against the center or someone who works there. Someone who got fired, for
exampl e. o

fiWe canot rul e it out , but we ha
who would have a motive. There haven
paid staff firings eg r . Itds mostly volunteers o
AfiHow do | volunteer?o0 Cliff asked

Nonpl ussed, Mat t r e p IYouemdnt to decame u n
Jewish®

ifiTo get tested, for a tissue matc

AiFor EIll enbs niece? Are youElenur e
bl ames you. 0o

iALl I the more reason. I 6dm not doi
anything wrong, but | want to help.

Gina and Matt exchangeaheasyglances again. Finally Gingeplied,
iokay, i fsympudgse a match theybéd be |
Hereds the contact information for

pulled it up on her phone from her email and forwarded it to CIiff.

As Gina did that Matt looked across the roaamd e mi tt ed a
o h Heé spotted someone getting up from his table after paying his bill and
recognized him.

AWhat is it?0 Gina asked.

But she didnot require a respons
looking she saw Dr. Akil Maloofvalking to heir table He had spotted Matt and
was approaching with anger painted all over his face.

Even before he got to their table he pointed accusingly at Matt and called
out in a | oud voice, AThis i s harass
and accusene of being a terrorist, but you follow me around when | go to lunch.
Do you have a GPS on my car? Are you

Al didndét follow you. Weéd but th
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AYou! 06 bell owed Mal oof ,mhaonly ngwoi n
recgni zed since Cliffdéds back had been
FBI, too. You rigged that Lilac to injure the patient so you could accuse me of

being a terrorist, is that iit?09
i No, | di dnot , | €0 Cliff nMattar t ed,
AiYoubre going to tell me itdés al

up where | work and where | eat!? How stupid do you think | &®fe | am
trying to save cae usingthemragasrificlallambes fust son d
you can make a trumped uper r ori sm case against
American! How do you even look at yourself in the mirror at nighb u 6 r e
despicable 0

By this point everyone in the restaurant was looking at them. The waiter

stood there nervously wondering what he shoulll ®urmurs buzzed

everywhere.
ANo, itdéds not I|ike that at all , o
l unch. Webre regulars here. You can

AHeds not with us, o0 Gina added, i
she said it, Ise realized how ridiculous it sounded, since CIliff was sitting right
next to her. il mean, heds retired.

AfRetired? HMugosaid yob ®Id B you were an engineer
for Xlectrix. You had a vendor badge. Since when does thénie8kadiological
engineers? You were sent to spy on
palpable.

iNo, I wasnodt, o CIliff replied we:
Without any further explanation the denial rang hollow.

Maloof turned and storndeout. The entire restaurant stared at the trio
still seated in their booth. The three of them silently watched Maloof through the
window foramoment.

inWwel | , t hat was awkward, o Gina s
around and saw the other dinera w ¢ h i n dNothinlg & see heie folks. Eat
your meals and mind your own businéss, s he bel |l owed i n h
Everybody stopped staring.

Cliff I eaned in and whispered to
one of your subjects?o0

AiNo, omeotn es | interviewed. 06 Matt |
from EI I en, t hat MalTbot was Ashbemé:
even shared with Gina.
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fiGreat, 0 Gina said di sgustedl vy,
thinks the FBlis spyingohi m and now we find out h
niece.l wonder how many tweets have already gone out from this restaurant.
Let 6s hegpet o doeno or i to6l 1o be on YouT

AfWorse, 0 Mat't replied, fi h einetthat n k
burned Ashley as part of our arsenal of dirty tricks. Sure, we sacrifice children all
the time just to make cases against innocent citizens. For Christ sakes, Cliff, wha
were you doing there?bo

Cliff knew he would be violating attornegfient privilege, but he also
knew Matt had already shared FBI information with him on the bombing that
Sshoul dnot h a voetsidé e Bureauisvsetad amdF B | wasn
really so fiexo in any of their minds

ioOkay, | ook, yolut 6csacpadiart mivietet.l dbae y o r
disbarredl was there to try to prevent th
the company that makes the cancer radiation machine. They thought someon
was sabotaging the machines and causing patients harm. | fottitketipaoblem
could be solved with a software wupd
delaying the ugdae. | was there trying tget them to do it before any further
treatment took place. | was minutes too late. It was a horrible coincidentieethat
patient there was Ashley Bishop. Until Ist®@d up t here | did
even being treated by that machine. 0
Ell en should know this, o Gina re
You candét tell her,o Cliff retor
Okay, okay, we him, rstarting td pidd atthis foads s

o 1 s 1 e 11

again.
None of them had much appetite after this but they finished their meal,
paid, and went on their separate ways.
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Chapter27

Right after lunchCliff called the hospital and arranged to be tested for
tissue matchig to Ashley Bishop. The woman in charge of thatgram told him
to come in right awaywhich he did. They took blood samples, and it was over in
a few minutes.

When he got back to the office he called Vogel to let him know about the
scene in the restaura He told him that Maloof was there and recognized him
sitting with an FBI agent who had interviewed him and somehow reached the
conclusionthat he was spying for the FBI and that the FBI had sabotaged the
Lil ac. Vogel 6s mai n ¢ amynamne waswergionadh e
When Cl i ff assured him it wasnot , vV
worried that the doctor, and anyone he confided in, would think the company
would cooperate with the FBI in any such thing.

The conversation shifted toiCf f 6s contract . Vog ¢
problem seem®& havebeen resolved, it may be time to call off the investigation.
After all, it was costing money and there was little to show for it.

AFirst of all, o Cliff couheonewhmwd,
found out about the delay in keyboard response anddimatallingthe software
sol ved. And second, we still donod
ConcernedRel ative is. o0

AncCl i ff, webdbve been over t his. Yol
we were already in the process of reinstalling; you just sped it up. And | asked
you to find out who ConcernedRel ati v
you or canbét you?o

il told you about my interview oL
has bee d o sod @f. | just need a little more timed

il ém | i stening. 0

Al think when Crabbe went to the

computer was compromised in some way that allowed Byrne or someone else
there to gain access to the other computies,ones that control all hidientsd
L46s. 0

AThat s e e mitchedtd mel Yoy told naerCrabbe says he took
the dongle with him when he |l eft. o

Al 6d I|-p&kleydroaphk him on that speci
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AiThat still me ans t hemdtely ilbpatieritshin n k
other clinics just to get revenge on
gave him a good recommendati on when

AfiHe6s suing you. He candét be @l I
drive patients to his clinic. I f heo

had to say it was a Lilac 4, not just a Lilac. His clinic has an L3 andaeteer
machines from different manufacturer

iOh come on. Pat i ent del dumimedstof tlev e 1
machines that treat them. Even if people knew of the post and believed it, they
still twenb@né&here to go. 0

AiBut the doctors do. Most oncol oc¢

than one hospital, and may have offices in twanore cities. They can send
their patients to the places they feel are safest. And look at where the incidents
have happened. Palo Alto, Milpitas, Tracy, San Jose. Fremont is almost deac
center. Fremont is just about the closest unaffected clinic to eachaf s e . 0
il donot buy it. V ¢ altigoagh not & godd ®ne a
|l &m sure heds salaried and woul dnot
to his site.Besides, how could he do it? Assuming Crabbe kept the dongle, |
mean. tédeedgaoagle right here in my sa

AiMaybe Crabbe didnot keep the do
polygraph. Or maybe he really thought he had, but actually left it with the laptop
that evening. We already know that if you can copy all the files andhg
dongle you can boot up the copied file with the dongle in and remove the dongle
later but the program works until closéfiByrne copied his laptop and had the
dongle for even a short time he could have launched the program, removed the
dongle angut it back in the bag and returned it to Crabbe. As long &efft¢the
program running, he wouldnoét need th

AiYou think heb6és kept the program
came up with Byrne out of nowséieblee bg
just think thatdés too tenuous. 0

ils there anyone &else you think
patients? Your competitors even?o

i No. O

fGi ve me a few more days to work
AHow would you do it?0

iGo out to Fremont , for starters.
AThat didnot wor k out s o wel | 0]

cust omer , t oo, you know. 0
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Trust me. 0
You have two days.

After they hung up, CIliff looked at his watch. It was late in the afternoon,
but he could make it to Fremont before normal offitesing time. He grabbed
his Xlectrix | D, told Maeva hedd be
the door.

The weather was still spectacular, so he left the top down on-Tsas
he drove east on Highway 237. Traffic was heavy, but he mawnédeiss than an
hour . He saw the main entrance, ma r
from the notes in Crabbeds file on t
office entrance on the north side of the building, where Xlectrix employees
should @. He parked near there and went in.

The small lobby held two chairs, one of which was occupied by a
voluptuous young woman, heavily made up, wearing spike heels and carrying a
valise or sample case of some kind. She had a name tag on her blouse with th
name of one of the major drug companisu bt | ety wasnot h
Cliff had head that drug companies usedtractivefemale sales reps to push
their wares on male doctors but he h

A thirtyish Asian woman & at the reception desk with scissors in one
hand and a sheet of paper in the other. Her hair was cut in a Buster Brown, anc
she wore thick glasses with round lenses and heavy black frames. Cliff thought

o} e 1

that if she were wearing a Mao suitshewouldleckact | y | i ke Du
Honey in the Doonesbury comic strip. The woman looked up expectantly, but
said nothing.

AHI, I 6m from Xlectrix. | 6d [ ik

cheerfully. He showed her his ID.
Al s he ex phewdmarediedy ou ? 0

Al didnét have an appointment, b u
i mportant technical i ssue | need to
ifHe went out. He should be back |

to talk to Mel ?0

Cliff rememberedMel as the second engineer Crabbe had mentioned.
ASure. o

AfHave a seat. l 61 | see i f hebs av

Cliff sat and pulled out his cell phone. He pretended to make a call, but
in fact was snapping pictures. The drug rep caogifairly quickly and began
smiling. CIliff noticed and pointed the camera her way. She shot him a grin and,
after looking back at Honegr whatever her name washo was paying no
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attention,struck a sexy pose, her impressive chest thrust forv@iiid snapped
severalquicks hot s. The rep i mmediately wagc¢
a naughty boy although her smile said gheknjoyed every second of the
attention

Still talking on the phone to no one, he stood up and walked around the
lobby. When he gotoverthe @t i on desk he snapped
activity. She was trimming the edges off some computer printouts, then stacking
those to one side. She paid him no attention.

Within a few minutes a shothin manwith an equallythin mustache

cameuptoth reception desk. He didnét en
he asked Cliff, AWho are you?o

ACI i ff Knowl es, Xl ectri x. You mus
held out his ID as he spoked handed him his Xlectrix business card

AWhy dcdmgohere? The Lilacds over

AiCan | come inside, Mel ? | need

have come up. 0
Mel was obviously nervous. He made no move to open the door to the

|l obby. AWhat issues? | .haavendt heard

fil-mai | ed Bri an, n Cl i ff | i ed. il
didnét read the email or forgot to t

Mel was still hesitant.

AiMel , 0 Cliff said more f orfooteplusul |
height and leaning overtheddsknt o Mel @3 hf acées i mport
be here. Now | et me in.o

I ntimidated, or perhaps swayed b

complied. They walked back to an office that resembled an electronics lab, with
workbenches covered with var®gizmos and a lot of computer parts. As they
walked, Cliff continued to snap pictures with his phone, being sure to hold it on
the opposite side of his body from Mel so as to be out of sight. Mel had a small
desk against one wall. There was only one cimathat part of the workspace,
and Mel sat in it. Cliff remained standing.

iMel , have you had any reports of

ALi ke what?0

AiLi ke anything,o Cliff responded

inWwel | , Il dm not , 9uMel wmambyed. mean

iFor Petebs sake, Mel , you know w
al I . Wedbve had some compl aints abou

know if youbve experienced the same
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iwhat happened with the others?o

AiMel , tutliheed to know what youd
could be at stake. Have you had repo

AYou mean | i ke the overdoses on
Theydédre i mmune. Just the usuayenaughl i b
to deal with.o

Eur ekal! Now he was getting some:
anything about overdoses. Where y O

0d
AiBrian said one of the rad techs
burned some people. twasgoingaund t he community. H
to worry since ours was an L3.0

il thought the | ocal hospital did

AiThey donodt . They must have hear
Or maybe they work at another site.o
il donot kannoyw oavbeorudto s e s, 0 Cliff

investigating a delayed response from the keyboard, a reported pause when th
screen doesndt seem to refresh nor ma
think Brian must have gotten some bo

iHe even knedvond ih €racy, one atSanoloss. | forget
where the other one was. 0

AiwWhen did he tell you this?9
iMaybe a month ago. What 6s so i m
sounds |l i ke an | T probl em. How i s pa

A month ago. If accurate, that was after the first two overdoses, but
before the post by ConcernedRelative. Neither Byrne nor any radiation
technician could have heard aboufrom the forum post Byrne had to have
personal knowledge.

AWherebs IBYd n€loisf desuddenl y deman

fiYou candt éo Mel protested, but (
workspace.

It took him only seconds to spy the largest, nicest desk which also had a
cubicle arrangement around it ,reonlp met
t wo, he assumed it was Byrneos. Clif

were two computer systerntisere with giant monitors. Above it was a bookshelf

mounted on the wall, filled with technical manuals and engineering books. One
of themwasc | ear |y | abeled AXlectrix L3 ¢
spotted yet another, shorter, book, really a ring binder, that also bore the Xlectrix
logo. On the desk was a paperweight made of solid metal ornamented on top witt
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a tiny model of an AK47 style assault weapon. He snapped photos of the whole
bookshelfand desk

Me | put his hand on Cliffds shou
This is private property. You nheed B

Cliff whirled, throwing off Me| 6s hand with an ef
arm. He bellied up to Mel and stared down at him.

AiwWwheredd you get the dongle? Did

At the mention of the word dongle Mel cowered and shrank visibly. His
lip quivered momentarily and he bBgedaled to the doorway. Then he flung
open the door and called out to the receptionigetdvirs. Satterlee.

Cliff recognized the name as the billing contact. He walked to the
doorway and was surprised to see Brian Byrne walk in the front door of the
lobby. The receptionist pushed an intercom button and told the female voice that
answered that she was needed in Engineering right away. Byrne walked up to the
desk and asked what was going on. The sales rep was still sitting in the waiting
room watching thelrama.

Cliff walked back out to the reception deakd arrived just as &im,
gray-haired no-nonsense woman in a black skirt and tasteful mauve blouse
reached the area. Byrne, CIliff, Mel and the woman all hovered over the
receptionistés desk.

The woma, recognizing Cliff as the only neamployee announced,
Ailém Lynda Satterlee, the manager. W

AHel l o, 06 Cliff said politely, i
seems to be an issue here. | was just discussing an einmgnissue here with
Mel and noticed that there are a number of our proprietary manualsl héren

afraid I must ask for an explanati on
Byrne snapped, yowdhoaitn gt hbea chke liln wEenr
ABri an, | et me handl efi Why sdon&tat

back to my office. o

Cliff followed her down the hallway. Mel immediately retreated to
Engineering, but Byrne started to follow CIiff. When they got to her office
Satterlee motioned for Cliff to have a seat and whispered something te. Bign
shook his head vigorously but it was clear to Cliff that she was the boss and was
directing him to butt out. He headed back to Engineering. She closed the door.

i Mr . Knowl es, t hivisit. Soswhatis this abeut p e
proprietary manual s?0

Cliff pulled out his phone and brought up one of the shots of the
bookshelf. He displayed it to her without a word.
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She seemed uni mpressed. AiAs you
manual s, 0 she replied evenly and s mi

Oh shit. A | i lboaghtsoé that. THee cliehts mhight he t
permitted to have the manuals if they paid an annual fee or as part of the
purchaseof the LilacMay be she was bl uffing. He
yet another client relation for Xlectrix.

AA cur r en ésaitlinccedutossly. He colid bluff, too.

inWwel |, of cour s e licenseafr lasnJurieT hr aetndesy
separate from the service contrabu know we hired Brian and he knewour
system inside and out. | know the contract calls for us to rétermanuals, but
you arendt r eal | Briamoffared to fetunn themhlast fall but e
he saidyou told himto keep themYour service rep, Mr. Crabbe is #aid it was
better to have Brian having a reliable referersmirce than trying todo
maintenance from memory. He said something about it being éaislém than
trying to fiXxAtBrliearsiiasBriamtald ndesAkreyou saying
that 6sonot true?

il see. Bust er diltdhe éaid thateheetlly didm tt h
have the authoritp CI i f f fTled adh nrieclaild wedt.hey di
license At least he was on solid legal footing.

ils this really a-ptohetmaintengncercontract®
That 6s a rat her Tiangtdikeposrsdmpapy slal leso w ay
losing a lot of revenue just providing repairs on an as needed basis rather than th

annual warranty service, but busi nes
have Brian and Mel do it in house. O

i Mr . Cr abbree ahsassi glmean I 6m new on
wasnot awar e. |l 6m sorry to have cau
salesPer haps you could enlighten me a:
charge, I take it?0

AiThe business i0gssowldhadylBDy etlhe adadbde
their time doing doctor stuff you know, saving lives and so on. Her t
dri pped wiltéhm stahrec aosfnf.i cie manager . I
the doctors and everyone else works for me. Brian is thé tieEngineering and
Mel reports to him. The Lilac is over at the hospital, though, not here. Why did
you even come here?o0

it was a technical i ssue. A pro
some Lilacs. I dm trying taoatt beeml as h
with your system. It sounds | i ke thi
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peopl e to mayferyos torhave thasedsanualk and we can just
consider this a meet and greet. o CIli

ifl you want the manuals back, we:¢
said pleasantly. She stood, signaling that the conversation was over. Cliff had
what he needed and was just as anxious to get out of there as she was to get rid
him. He stood, tocand turned to the door.

Satterlee walked him to the reception area. Cliff noticed on his way out
that Honey was no longer clipping paper dhd stacks of finished pages was
gone.The sales rep was no longer in the waiting room. Apparently some doctor
was n the process of getting a close personal demonstration of the therapeutic
benefits of some pharmaceutical. He exited tgptm&ing lot.

Just outside the door stood Brian Byrne. This was the first close look
Cliff had gotten of ByrneHe 6 d b e e bsculed in theecbuytroam by all the
others in the room.The man was even taller than Cliff, and heavier, too, by at
|l east fifty pounds. Still, he didnot
his gut and his butt. He had narrow shoulders and andegWap of fat hanging
from his neck. The redness of his facial vewen 6t as bad as hi
would be in a few more years. His drinking habés obvious anyway from his
breath. He waslearlya whiskey man.

il 6m Bri an By r n eick donghed bub somehawnnmoee d ,

menacing that comical. fADondt ever c
Cliff put hi s fWWel, Bean yono seem @wyceedie 6 s .
relatvelyc oncerned. Or should | say Conce

AYoubd better watchbOweoubeeasn epar rKe
pulled from his pocket a box cutter, blade retracted, and flipped it in the air once
before returning it to his pocket. He then brushed hard against Cliff as he went
back inside the lobby.

Cliff stepped back to let him by and stoadtching Byrne disappear into
the building. He then walked back to his car. When he got there, his heart sank.
The driverods seat, expensive | eather
entire seating surface. He cursed himself for driving e car out here. He
should have rented something and taken out the insurance. There was nothing t
be done about it now, so he climbed in and drove back to the office.

He parked in his usual spot in his lot and got out. He had noticed an
uncomfortable lump in his rear on the drive back and had assumed he was being
poked by a spring that had been exposed by the sliced X. He bent over to look
more closely and was surprised to see there was something wedged in the
stuffing at the crossing point of the X. Hisled it out. It was a smathetallic
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cylinder, like a miniature barreHe had not seen anything like it that he could
remember. It was about the size of a ring box. The top had been rernsidd

was a small pebblabout the size of a peppercarte picked it out and examined

it, but had no idea what it was. He turned the box over in his other hand to see if
there any markings on the bottom.

Indeed there weré markings that gave him the shock of his life.
Unmistakable on the bottom of tleglinder wasthe black and yellow radiation
warning symbol. Instinctivelyhe droppedt. Then came the sickening realization
that he had driven for an hour with that pebble directly underneath his thighs and
private parts, unshielded by the top that had been remd@ves.only thing
between him and the rock had been the seat stuffing that had been pulled uj
around thecylinder to hide it. Then he cursdadmself for dropping the pebble.

He looked down at the ground but there was loose gravel all over the parking lot.
The cylinderwas easily retrieved, but he had no chance of identifying the pebble.

He whipped out his phone to call Vogel and saw that there was one text
message. He retrieved it. The hospital was notifying him that he was a perfect
tissue match for Ashleishop. They wanted to do the transplant surgery on
Saturday, the day after tomorrow and to call immediately on getting the text.

Hewasnét ready to deal with that,
be an eligible donor if he had been irradiated.celéed Vogeb s o f fonlyc e |
gotvoicemail Thi s ¢ o u todsidérdd callirgiCtabbe, Bhe only other
person at Xl'ectrix he knew, but he
scheme with Byrne. He decided to call Matt Nguyen.

fiCall 911, Cliff, o Mat t saidd after (il Ti hf efy
have hazmat teams in every countitnow they havesGeigercounters and ways
to search for radioactive material s.
Can you get someone there right awaywatch it? You need to get to the
hospital to be tested. And dondét dri

iMatt , | f eel fine. | can get Ma e

iThatds not the point. I'tds Dmpor
been expos d |l &m pretty sure. I'f you dri v
may sit for hours, especially if you look fine. They may even send you to another
hospital i f theydre busy. By | aw t|
ambulance. Take trentainemwith youo

This was all good advice that CIli

thinking clearly. Byrne had gah to him. He was off his game.
He called 911. The conversation was awkward since the operator had
never handled an accidental radiatiop@sure case before, but she rolled police,
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fire, and ambulance to the scefide operator wanted him to stay on the line
until help arrived, so he did.

Los Altos wlice were on the scene within two minytegens wailing
Cliff explained the situation a@hpointed out the smaltylinder, still on the
ground. One officer started to pick it up, but the other one stopped him, saying it
could be dangerous.

At this point Maeva came down the stairs out to the lot to see what the
commotion was, only to find héoss standing there talking with officers. Within
another minute two fire engines rolled up, also with sirens blaring. Soon the
parking lot was milling with all the tenants of the building and various passersby.
The police were struggling to keep peopleag from the possibly comginated
scene. The fire crew wanted to know the situation and Cliff was trying to explain
to them, the police, anbllaeva all at the same time. Maeupset kept asking
why he didnét call her i mmedi atel y.

The fire crew had to sel for their hazardous materials teaihe
ambulance crew arrived last, sirens and lights once more calling attention to the
scene. When they were informed of the nature of the call they agreed Cliff should
get to the hospital immediately. Then debate érolt about theylinder. The
police wanted it left there as crime scene evidence. The ambulance crew said i
would be important for the doctors to have it to be able to determine the best
treat ment , but they didnét asagneed that i
the medical need outweighed everything else. It was decided to have the
containerplaced in the very back of the longest fire truck, farthest from where
anyone might sit or stand, and have that truck follow the ambulance to the
hospital. Anintrepid female firefighter, fed up with all the talk, walked over,
picked it up and placed it inside the back of the truck and yelled at everyone to
get the hell moving.

At this the ambulance crew led CIiff into the ambulance, making him lie
down, and tky took off for the Stanford Hospital Emergency Rodine truck
right behind. The officers and orfiee truck stayed behind guarding the scene.
Maeva stood there dumbfoundédatt Nguyen showed uand began talking to
the first responders.

The other tenats of the building were now giving the officers a hard
time, wanting to get their cars out of the lot so they could go home. The small lot
had only one entrance/exit.

Finally the fire departmentéds haz
the scene. Whethe first member of the team emerged in what looked like a
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space suit, the crowd drew back. Sakservation finally took sway over getting
home.

It di dnot take | ong for t he hazn
elevated level of radiation in the vaalized car seat, but it was very slight and
not at hazardous levels. They determined thatais wimost certainly from the
cylinder which at some point in the past had held a radioactive substance, but
probably not from the pebble. They scanned the granedl around the car and
eventually found one tiny piece of rock that registered onGhgger counter
slightly higher than anything else. They decided this was probably what had been
in the box. The most likely explanation, they explained to Matt andffivers,
was that someone had placed an ordinary piece of gravel in aordkinerthat
had once held a radioactive isotope. The gravel had picked up just enough
radioactivity to register at a slightly elevated level, but neither the seat nor the
gravelwere considered dangerous. Without tiyéinder they could not be sure,
but they believed it, too, was probably not dangerous. The bottom line: this was a
cruel joke meant to throw a scare into the victim. The police called this
information over to the hpdtal.

Meanwhile, in theemergencyroom, CIliff had been subjected tbe
indignity of having to strip and have his genitals and thigh area scanned with a
radiation detectorThe box was identified by a radiation tech as a common type
known as a pigusedto store and transport certain isotopes used {rayX
machines, but the topas missingThe labeling that would tell exactly what had
been inside would have been there. There were a number of different element:
used for diagnostic or therapeutic purposBse level of residual radioactivity
was so slight that it had probably been one with a shorilifealénd that had
probably been quite a long time ago. The radioactivity was barely higher than
that of a granite countertopphe doctors pronounced Cliffehlthy and released
him.

It was 8:30 by the time Cliff got hom#red, hungry, and very angriie
wolfed down a peanut butter sandwich and glass of milk and climbed in the
shower for a long soak. When he finally got out and dressdidg@ed down in
his recliner and opened up the bag the hospital had given him containing his
wallet and phone. When he turned on the phone there were nine missed calls
seven voice messages, and thirteen texts. He slowly read or listened to all o
them, jotting down the narseNearly all of them were people, like Maeva and
Matt, asking him if he was okay and offering to help.
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He composed one email to the effect that he was fine and back home anc
thanked everyone involved. He copied all the well s her s wi t h &
wouldhn 6t have to retype it or retell tF

That left only three he had to deal with. First was fromlthe Altos
police asking him to call the detectives. He decided to do that one the next day.
Next was the hospital who had called abtat Yein donation surgery. He called
them back and said he was ready, willing, and able. He geaiditheess and time
to show up. The hospitabordinatorsaid the vascular surgeon would be calling
him tomorrow about prep for the surgery and the risks.

Lastwas Vogel. His message to Vogel had only said it was important,
but had not provided any detail. Mea s ndt sure Vogel woul
but he tried Vogel 6s cel | . Af ter si »x
suddenly he came on the lir@liff figured Vogel was looking at his display and
debating whether to answer or let it wait until the next day.

inYes, Cliff, howod it go today?
impatience coloring his tone.

fiBul-dyd s We got our man. 0

Cliffcoudamost see the enthusiasm flo
more. o0

Cliff relayed the whole story all the way down to the chaos in the parking
lot and the trip to the hospitdt.took twenty minutes of nestop talking. Vogel

didnét interrupt him once.

WhenClI i f f was done Vogel excl ai me
Crabbebds | aptop onto a computer ther
happened when Buster left it that night. Byrne set up a complete clone of his
system, then used that to remotely manipat e t he L46s. Witht
have decrypted the | P addresses and

Cliff agreed.i As s utmh antg 6 s | canl ohly seerthree possibilities.
One Crabbe is not in on it, but is lying to cover up the faetldft the dongle
there with the laptop; twched s n o't in on it buft mi
l eave the dongl e; or three, hebs in
t hat polygraph again to nai/l down wh

AFine. I a uwhd&t youihave to ida. And Bemd me those
pictures you took. I 611 have to rev
group, and talk to Crabbe to see if he really told them they could keep those
manuals, but | think we may have a solid case against tamshould have
some leverage anyway. Even if Buster told them to keep it, the contract makes
clear that it can only be altered in
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sales representativé.t 6 s at |l east a cont r aade v
secretd
AWhy donodt I send them to Sharon
shecanfileacrossompl ai nt against Byrne and
NfGood i dea. Go ahead. l 61 | | et h
unt il |l 6ve reviewed them. o

AWild do.

As soon as he was off the line Cliff went to his home computer and
upl oaded the photos from his phone.
about to upload them en masseXd e ct r i x gits whénnhe roticecathe
onesof the pharmaceutical saleep. Hmmshe wasdefinitely photogenic, but
probably not ideal as evidence. After deleting those he uploaded the rest and ser
the link to Vogel and Sharon Perry.

The fAmessage sento notice fl ashe
savoring acertainsatisact i on that he finally had
fully solved. He still had to find out whether Crablas involved, or for that
matter, Mel or anyone else at the Fremont facility. Could Byrne have been
operating at the direction of the do&®rAs Vogel had pointed out, Byrne
probably had no financial motive in driving patients to his facility.

An email appeared on his screen. For a moment he thought it was a reply
from Vogel acknowledging the link to the photos, since it came from the KXlectr
domain. As soon as he read the subject line, though, he realized it was ar
automated notification that he had received an email on his Xlectrix account.
Vogel had had his IT people create an email address there for him as a
consultant, but no one hadtyesed it. He had set it up to notify him at his
personal email account of any incomimgil. He logged onto the Xlectrix site
and opened his email Inbox. There was one new message.

To: Cliff Knowles

From: ConcerneBerson

Subject: How is your health?

Yau must have had quite a scare today. | hope you are fine. You need to
take better care. Next time you might not be so lucky.

Cliff immediately checked the header information. It was mailed through
an anonymous remailer in Serbia. He knew tracing it hadRyrne would be
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impossible. It would never qualify as a threat, either, not for purposes of a
criminal case. Still, he printed out a copy. He would give it opblice the next
day for what it was worth.

So, the fight was on. Whether Vogel authorizgayment or not, this
wasnodét going to be over until Byrne
but it wasndédt going to be pretty.
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Chapter28

The next day was hectic. Al t he
gone from the parking lot of his offt when CIiff arrived. Maeva gave him a big
hug when he walked in the door. He called the Los Altos Police as his first order
of business after prying her off. The detective asked if he could come by and take
a full report and Cliff agreed.

The detectivaurned out to be surprisingly young. He was a weilt
fellow, blond and fair, with a crooked nose that betrayed some past boxing
experience. His erect posture and buzz cut suggested he waititayy. He
identified himself as Sergeant Hanssen.

Cliffwent through the previous dayo:
the reason for his visit to the Fremont Radiology Grodp. gave him the
printout of the email from ConcernedPerson.

When he was done the detective told him the tests afyiiraler showed
that it had probably held some radioactive isotopes used by radiologists, but did
not qualify as a weapon or even as hazardous material. There was too little
residual radioactivity detected. It was just trash. Basically, from a criminal
standpoint, he saidt was equivalent to an empty Kleenex box being stuck in
Cliffdéds car seat

The vandalism of the seat was a crime, of course, but it did not take place
in Los Altos, so he had no jurisdiction. He suggested CIiff file a report with the
Fremont police, buhe also advised that without proof Byrne did it, there was
little chance the police gorosecutorsvould pursue aar vandalism caseThe
display of the box cutter and the statement to Cliff not to come back did not
constitute threats legally, and in anyeat probably could not be proven. It was
j ust Cliffods wor d, and t he car had
Anyone could have found tha&g in the trash bin of the facility and slashed his
car seat.

Cliff thanked him and said he understood. il already concluded it
would be a waste of time to report it to the Fremont police. As the officer was
getting ready to leave Maeva appeared at the doorway with a cup df fresh
brewed coffee for the officer. He politely accepted it, despite the fauhdhgust
told Cliff he had to get back. He wae
picture of her cat on her desk.

Cliff closed his office door and called his insurance agent and filed a
claim for the car seat vandalism. The agent assured him thpreloemsive
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would cover it and gave him the name of the repair facility to take it to. When he
got off the phoneSgt. Hanssewas still there, laughing abmethingvlaevahad
said CIliff told her he had to take the carlie repaired and left.

When he rairned an hour later driving a loandre officer was gone and
he had a message from Sharon Perry,
case and one from Roger Vogel. He called Vogel first.

AcCliff,d Vogel sai d ent huasiaageld i c
mine. o

iSo those manuals were proprietar

AnActual l vy, there were two manual

thought was the problem turned out to be okay for them to have. It was licensed
to them when t hey b o Jmdnual abyluser needhowc 3
to calibrate it, all the keylaod instructions, and so forth.thought that hey
should have returned it when they terminated our maintenance contract, but |
found out from Crabbehat he did tell them to keep it, and it tarout that is the
standard practice with all our service reps. The medical safety people determinec
it was unsafe for them to have the Lilac and not the manual, and to disregard the
clause in the contract. So Satterl ee
iSo it wasnuhé s$babnwamat he probl
fi Ac t u a Thatyas tha Bech Tips binder for the Lilac 2 and Lilac 3
but, about seven years old. Tech Tips is our term for what you might call a
troubleshooting procedure manual. Only the service reps are sappo have
those but the old ones were not always shreddéase have been revised many
times. Byrne must have kegtiswhen he was | aid off.
harmless. We couldnét prove itbds a t
AThen twheatgPsl d mi ne?0
AiThe photos of the receptionist
printouts of the Tech Tips for the L4. She was trimming off the edges with our
l ogo and OProperty of Xlectrix Corp
process of apying the sheets and mourgithem n a binder, in effect cleaned of
anyevidence the pages were stolen property. Unlike the altieori3 Tech ips

binder, the L4 ones are encrypted ar
digital and encipheredThe y 6 r e -tadate @nd watuableThis shot of her

with scissors in hand trimming off t
she was trying to conceal the origirt

just to scan them as is, use OCR, and then search and replace to get rid of
t hem. That 6 s Yoocamavenlsee @ scammée a one of the shots.
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The photo might stildl show that they
trying to conceal the evidence of th
Cliff studiedthe ppp os f or a few seconds. f

the proprietarymarkings appear sideways on the edge of the sctess too? If
you run that through an optical character recognition program it woyltb
interpret those letters at a ninety degreelaiagd fail. There would be random
wrong characters stuck at the ends afshlines. Someone would have to go

through and edit every |line by hand.
with scissors before scanning. 0

AHmMmM, I h adn 6 tWell, heomug have gotten the Hilast
from Crabbebs | aptop. O

fiSo that means he must have had C
AfThat 6s what t he scientists t el |

Crabbe is in on it. How soon can you
ild call today to find out when S
AiThat al so means we have grounds

against Byrne and t h e uthorizednsbanon Pedytecgoo r
ahead and file a crossomplaintShe doesnat kmewoalko d

keepitthatwayShe shoul d be calling you soo
AShe already has. o
i Mo st i mportantly, this gets wus

overdose cases, even if the word spreads about them. An intervening criminal ac
breakpr oxi mat e cause. 0

Cliff understood that Vogel cared most about whether his employer
could be held I|iabl e, but he wasnot
that they now knew for sure that Byrne, and maybe others in Fremont, had the
dongle at sme point, but more importantly,it was now uselessince all
Crabbeds customers had t he sByrhecouldr e
no |l onger remotely access any Lil ac

AThat s great Rogenrg, 0s oGiei fffa urxe pslii
me, did you ask Bsterflat out about whether he was sure he took the dongle
with him when he |l eft the | aptop tha

iYes, and he told me the same thi
with him to the restaurante even offered to take a polygraph on it without me
asking. o

ioOkay, l 61 | call S@né mareithgng, Roger.oThis a r
now looks like intentional acts of overdosing, either for revenge or for financial
gain. We need to bring this to thtention of law enforcement.
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fi Cl,on€efthep rienvol ved i t aok Itdolhitthe preks andu r
everyone will be scared to death of using our systems, even if it was just one

rogue guy. Theyol |l think it could ha
iMaybe We sbuld.dondt know exactl
il canodét authorize bringing in po
what happened. NIbwe get the policeairtvolvedi irsakmundes w .

case this will be sensationalized by the press schnpatients will be stopping
their cancertreatments right and lefafraid of some hacker zapping holes in their

bodies. Cliff, wedre saving |lives by
ifRoger, you have a point, havet we
psychopath on the | oose. 0
ioOkay 1611 authorize this much.
trade secret theft . Wedre about t o
anyway. Thatodés a federal crime, isnbd
AYes. The FBI. dnvestigates that
AFind a discreet FBI agent and al

that. We can bring them in to the overdose thing later when we see what you
come up with.o

iokay, thatdéds a start.o

As soon as he got off the phone he made the call to Sol Bergvhan
was as crusty and profane as ever. Cliff brought him up to date on the
investigation. When Sol heard th#te dongle had been used to remotely

overdose an agentodés niece, and as a
completely.
iSet oirt tthg sf afternoon, & he instr.
AiThis afternoon? Thatoés fast. Wha
iScrew that! This is Bureau fami/l
guy had a hand in it, Il 611 find out.
iDown, bdoypu to remain ebgective. Crabbe may be innocent.
Maybe his memory is playing tricks on him and he really thought he took the
dongle with him. | dondét need a |l ync
Al dm insulted youdbdd say that. You
he had a hand in it, I 61 | find that
ioOkay, I 61 | set it up.o

A series of quick calls to Crabbe, Vogel, and Bergman resulted in the
second polygraph being arranged for 3:00 that afternoon.
Next CliffreturnedShar on Perryés call
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AacCliff, youdre d&IlPpm moe n@ ¢me nqu
thanks to you. Roger gave me theajtead to file a crossomplainto

iAre you filing dogdgomausp By rne and

ANo, just .HRpgemdes nféotr wiaonwt t o ant ag
doesnoét have t o, and naming new ipar:t
delays and so forth. A cresemplaint against Byrne is easy. We think the
doctors probably didnot k n o wake seyseé h i
financially. o

il tend to agree, but l 6m stildl
for that matter. o

AiwWwho are Mel and Honey?o0

iMel 6s the second engineer. Hi s

saucers when | mentioned the dongle. He haahdav. Honey is my name for the
recepionist who was doing the clipping and copying of the pages. She looks like
Honey Huan from the Doonesbury strip
iwWwe can worry about them | atGed . !
into th e m, t hough. When we file against
empl oyer and show them our evidence.
there involved is likely to get firedr at least their jobs will be in jeopardye
have reason to subpue everyone from the top down now as witnesses to
By r n e 6Alltherdirsamrcial records, too.

AiThat should ruin Byrnebs I|ife. H
Al o6l | file on Monday. I may need
should be able to keep ydtom any subpoenas for nowith attorneyclient and
attorney work product privilege. 0O
AfoOkay, thatds good news. Let me Kk
il wi || . | f you <can find out ar
characters, let me know. Roger has authorized unlimited investigan o n t h
AAl'l right. 1611 get on that. o
nCan you tel!]l me why he wanted t
you tell me they only had a model 37
iThatds a good question. Il 6m not
I guess. ol wgenh balkaveéeéomgre. o
ASuper. o0 There was a pause and a
our office. Have you been here befor

Al donét think so. 0
il f wedbre going to be working tocg
I can introduce you to my assates hereand they may even have additional
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work for you. Good investigators are hard to come by. | can take you to lunch.
On Roger . 0

iuUh, sur e, t h ahdve myoassisibok gtrmg eatendar | 6 |
and find a day next week.

ifGreat ,hesre.edo you t

When he finished the <call he wal
humming.

AYoubre in a good mood, 06 he said.

il am in a good mood. Itds a nice

AAny particular reason?o

AWhat do you mean?0 Maeva replied

ANever mi nd. Do | have any speci
week?0

iYou had two inquiries for Tuesda

nCal l them back and tell them | (
this Xlectrix thing. Then find a dayext week for lunch with Sharon Perry over
atHer r i ck. Youol I have to call her ass

ANo probl em. o

iOne more thing. Can you |l ook th

from Vogel and Crabbe for any mention of Mel oreMn at the Fremont
Radiology Group and try to get a last name or other identifying information. If

you do, see what you can dig umalefro
engineer, little, with a thin mustac
il édm on it, 0 s hewaa&noyed betingnassigged
investigation. It was more interesting than the clerical work.
Al dm going out running. It may be
AWhy?0
He didnoét want to tell her about

this case. 0

iOdyHave a good run. o

He headed out the door to his fitness club and changed clothes there. He
decided to run through the neighborhoods of north Los Altos. The pavement was
hard on his joints, but he enjoyed looking at the beautifully landscaped yards and

tasteful homes and he just didndét ha
to run trails. The route was hilly, but he felt strong and finished the five miles
with no troubl e. Hedd wor Kreed up a go

Afterward he showed, changed and Wad over to the local pizza
joi nt . He knew he woul dndét be able t
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surgery, so he treated himself to two large slices, loaded with salami and
pepperoni.

When he got back to the office he had a sage from the vascular
surgeon who would be doing the transplant tomorrow. He returned the call.

The doctor told him of the risks of the procedure, which he said were
relatively small.He would be taking out a portion of a major leg vdinvas
very simlar to varicose vein surgery, although they would be taking a smaller
piece than was typical for that so recovery should be fast. He said most people
are up and walking the same day &edould be back to running in two or three
days. Then he launchedtinthe things the lawyers made him saythat
sometimes people had bad reactions and he could experience pain for weeks ¢
months, his feet could lose sensation, turn bgeneralanesthesiaarried its
own risks,he could die an agonizing deayyada, yaa, yada. Cliff began to
wonder whether he was really feeling that noble.

Al n tr an sd nornal towithhotd ¢he identity of the donor from
the recipient unless both parties agree to share that information. Do you want
your name to be shared?o

iNo. [ already knioAs hwheo tBhH e hrogci |
her family to know who | am or think of me as anyone special. | know that
hundreds of FBI employees and their families have volunteered to be a donor for
her , so s he dwany mdrd than the \kin tame fiom the FBI
family.o

iAs yoa wish.

By the time this conversation was over Maeva had emailed him some
results on her search for Mel. Buried deep in the Xlectrix file was a report from
the initial salesman who landed the aaet, the sale of the Lilac 3. The technical
contact at that time was Melvin Wagner. She had found two possible Melvin
Wagner s, both in the East Bay, Shet (
had already wused Cliff 6s teedepatmen bfa |
Motor Vehicles to obtain the vehicles registered to both. The make, model, and

|l icense of each was in the email al o
He pulled up the photos from his visit to the facility and matched one of
thears in the |l ot with one from the I

date of birth, and registered vehicles. He had already pegged Mel as a weak link
Now he was beginning to form a plan of attack.

It was time to get over to Xlectrix for the pohaph. He told Maeva
where he was going, and headed oVéhen he got there, SBlergmanwas in a
conference room waiting for him. Crabbe was right outside.
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fiBad news, saidih a mdtteobfactIané anchanded him a
gl ossy 80x100 photo.

Cliff i nspected it for a minute. It was a shot of Crabbe in a nice suit with
a woman, presumably his wife, who was appropriately gussied up. They were
sitting at a restaurant table. Judging from the tablecloth, overabundant tableware
oversized menus with leatheovers,and floral centerpieci# appeared to be an
expensiveplace. They were smiling at the camera. It looked like one of those
shots done by roving photographers to commemorate special occasions.

fiSo thatoés Crabbe. Hi sr ovi If em? d o o,

AFlip it over.o

On the back was a stamp from the photographer with his name, logo and
the date. CIliff recognized the date as the one Crabbe had serviced the Fremor
facility, the time he had left his laptop bag behind. Cliff had verified tht da
with the service records.

inSo this proves he went to the r

probl em. I't doesndt prove that he ha
iTake another |l ook. Shirt pocket.
Cliff flipped it over a g acken Tha n d

guintessential nerdy engineer had a pocket protector with two pens clipped in it.
Barely visible protruding from the protectonvas the end of a silvery objedt
l ooked | i ke a computer part. He coul
conversation, it could only be one thing.

ADono6titlkee |[daoneg! e. O

iThe dongl e. When he found out wi
to be for, he went back and checked everything he could about that night. It was
his tenth wedding anniversary. hhevent to this fancy place and paid for the
phot o. By chance, the dongle happene
had Vogel verify thatodés one of their
with a magnifying glass you can actually see theckix logo stamped on the
met al . l d6m still going to polygraph
l eft the | aptop but took the dongl e,

fJesus, t hat bl ows up our entire
anoher time, with the dongle. 0

Al oll find out.o

Cliff left the conference room and went to talk to Vogel. He told Crabbe
to go on in as he | eft. When he go
everything Sol had told him.



150 FATAL DOSE

fiHe must havenl ambot hke doongbéeown,

that or Byrne is a better codebreake
iLetds hope so, and hope we <can
our case. I f Crabbe didndét | eave the

not seure. We can prove they had the encrypted Tech Tips file from your
photos, but if we left them there accessible on the laptop then it would be
impossible to make a case for theft of trade secfigtey have to be protected
information or thereds no case. o0

Cliff was getting seriously upse
l'itigation strategy. I iHayone aifhlaccess to théi Mc
laptop alone, without the dongle, can remotely control dosages of other systems
that means anyone could use radiation overdoses in distant locations,
anonymously. o0

AOf cBwt skedm sure our sysdem i s m

Cliff told him about the progress in identifying Mel and about his contact
with Sharon PerryHe also pointed out théte clippingof the Xlectrix logos and
warnings about it being proprietary information proved knowledge by the
Fremont people that it was protected information.

Alt has O6Do Not @dgesyfdtheserdeh. Ledb Sharon i
do her job. Mecatsoeo..0 Wedl | make a

ifiHave you talked to the FBI yet?090

ANo, o Cliff replied, Al plan to d

iDo youwalkantt ht sne to the cafeteri
be right next to the conference room when Sol finistiidgs they have some
realy good scones in right now. 0

They walked downstairs to the cafeteria and sampled the scones while
they waited. Eventually Sol and Crabbe emerged across the hall. Crabbe had
big smile on his face. Sol told him to go back to his normal work and he would
talk with Vogel, whom he spotted waiting with CIiff.

ifiHe6s telling the truth. He had t
night and every other time he was ever there in Fremont, at least to the best of hi
recollection. He s h asualld do it dut dteldchénmphei o 1

passed 100%. 0O

Vogel and Cliff exchanged glances. That meant there was no explanation
for how Byrne accessed the Tech Tips file and how he controlled the remote
Lilacs that overdosedif in fact he did control them remotel

ifiOkay, Sol, 0 Vogel said softly. f
we ol | regroup on Mo ndaomplairsthen ama is gding f
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to hit the doctordéds gr oup tleweeards.{Thae r e
should shakehti ngs up. 0O
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Chapter29

Cliff woke up earlySaturday He was hungry bute was under orders to
ingest nothing for the twelve hours before surgery. Since he was going to be put
under generadnesthesih e knew he shoul dnét bab dr
company to get a ride to the hospital. He could have called a friend, but he
wanted this vein donation to be anonymous.

He took a quick shower and dressed in jeans and a polo shirt. By the time
he was ready the cab was at the door. Fifteen minuteshtatgas at the hospital.

When he arrived the admitting nurse led him back to a small patient
examroom. She assured him that the donation would be anonymous so he wa:s
being isolated from the recipient and her family. She left him a hospital gown to
put an. He dutifully changed into it.

There he sat for almost half an hour. He was kicking himself for not
bringing a book, but there was a selection of old magazines in a rack. He leafed
through twaeyearold copies ofPeople He di dndt eshedsofkno
the Acelebritieso were. He must be g

The vascular surgeon finally made an appearance. He was younger thar
Cliff had expected, darkomplected with thick hammy fingeend the hairiest
arms heo6d s e e 6liff wandesed be heacddzlo the delicate
surgical work with those hands. The doctor told him there could be a delay.
There was actually a second donor, a family mengipesentwho might be a
better match.

AWhy didndét you tell me this befo
Al dm sor rer, enbbutt swer ew unt i | t his n
this other persoWWe st i 61 arendt .

Cliff figured this was probably
right away?o
This was met with a nervous shuff

reasonsAndIldi dnét say it was a female. o
ANever mind, o Cliff said disguste
nNo, no. We may stil]l need you.

matching. Everything has to be just right for this. Since the patient has had two

previous transplantsiths one i sé0 He started to
better of it Aémay be our | ast cha
youdll just have to wait a bit | onge

the nurse bring you something. o
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Exasperad,Cl i f f replied, iYes, okay. F
to reado

The doctor left and shortly thereafter a male nweey black and very
thin, brought him a pile of magazines, newer than the ones in the fdore.

The New Yorker. Outdoor Life.

Two more hours came and went. Cliff had read everything he had any
interest in and still there was no word. He snagged the male nurse as he passe
by the exam room and asked if he could at least have something to drink,
something with a few calories-Up or chicken broth or something. He was
famished and getting a headache from low blood sugar. The nurse said he woul
check. A few minutes later he returned with a small plastic glasstef.

fiSo whatos the deal , o Cliff press

Adm so sorry,0 the nurse said i/
fiNothing by mouth before the surgery. They let me give you this water, but only

this much.They had to give up the optrang t heat er s . You
Other surgeries are scheduldd.t t he t hree o06cl ock sl
i What do you mean, 6i f itds neede
not . o
iReally the doctor should tell y
recipient is doing much better. The doctorstayimg to decide if the transplant is
needed at all now. O
iYou mean her | eg may be saved af
il really cannot say. You wil|l h

scooted out.

Cliff could concentrate on nothing else after that. HBdtand began
pacing the room. He kept poking his head out, looking for the doctor. After
another twenty minutes the surgeon reappeared.

il guess the nurse told you. The
Much pinker. It was blue at the toe just yestta y . I'tds a r emal
We are now doing tests on the circulation. We, the oncologist and |, have to

consult with the radiologist before

very good. |l dm afraid | 6m ghericougle of o
hours before we can be sure. o

ifiThatds fantastic!o CIliff pract.
Thank you for telling me. o

The doctor had expected Cliff to be angry at being made towitaibut
eating another two hours, since it wadtelalunchtime now, and was gratified at



154 FATAL DOSE

the good reception to the news. iYou
liquids. Can you surviva bit longer®

inOf course. o0

Whether from the lack o$ustenancer the good news, Cliff began to
feel verylight-headed. He lay down on the examining table. A heavy weight was
slowly lifting from him. It reminded him of his high school wrestling days when
hedédd been pinned and t he vTheignominyaf u s
defeat still weighed onimm, but it felt so good finally to have the real pressure
off, the thing over. Qrin this casealmost over.

It was 5:30 by the time the doctor finally came in and told him there
would be no transplant. 't wasnveiamar
graft had taken hold in the last 24 hours. All the tests showed excellent blood
flow and all the blood gases were good. She said the pain had stopped. He
expected a full recovery.

Cliffés stomach growled | ouddty i r
suppress his delight at the news.

iSo can | go now?0d he asked.

iYou <can. Thank you again. You s
meal on us. No charge for donors. Yo

AHospit al f ood? Naratedtaarankas soon aé ngeth e

out of here. o

iThat 6s f unny,chucklihgh e A Gl dxactly avmat thssarit d
sai dé | mean the other donor. I donod

So it was Ellen, not Theresa, who was the other donor. Cliff almost mad
a remark, but felt the doctor might realize he had said too much.

The doctor made him sign some form on his clipboard and wished him
well. As soon as the doctor was out of the roGhif stripped off his hospital
gown and grabbed his clothes. He put@jeans and shoes, and walked out into
the waiting roomstill tucking in his polo shirt. He knew the fashion today was to
leave shirts untucked, but he had total disdain for whatever kids today thought
was cool or uncool.

When heneared the doorway the parking lot he stopped for a moment
to finish tucking in the shirt and was surprised to feel someone pull on the
shirttail. He turned to see Ashley Bishop. She had run ahead of her mother anc
aunt, who were ten yards or so behind.

AcCl i ff! Myo | Agltblsd yo k@wysdmedd. seem od
friend of her aunt would be in the hospital lobby.
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iThat 6s wonder ful , 0 h e shgkingHergdntlyb a c
until she giggledHe heard her stomach rumble with hunger and his own did th
same thing as if in reply. They both laughed as the two women came up to them.

ioOh no, not you, 0 Ell en said sco
ot her donor . o
il donot know what youdre talkin

betrayed the lie whitits loudest rumble yet, one so loud that others in the waiting
room turned to look at him.
AnThe FBI guy, 06 Theresa said, fina
someone from the FBI family.o
Alt could have been-coomtéhody, 6 CIl i
iYeah, right, o she said. iwel | | |
match as it turned out and Ellen, the best match, is just getting over an infection.
They didnét think she could donate vy
A T h a tt desessarpil 0

nOf course it is. Markoés father |
table atH6tel de MontparnasseMa r k 6 s canee toethe tfirst tweurgeries
but just couldndét stand t o gwhenltoldoug

them how long this day has bedrow it turned out, and how Ashley and Ellen
havenot etheadsina lagt night, he insisted | take them there, his treat.
He even said itwasashatne di dndét know whosoltkhoew o't
heéd wabdinclydkedi Mou have to come. 0

Cliff knew Hotel de Montparnasseas a fowstar hotel with a fivestar
restaurant jusa mile or so awayHe had eaten there only once, years ago on his
wi feds birthday. The food wasThefveryb ul
thought of it made his mouth water, but then the thought of a Big Mac did too at
this point. He looked at Ellen, wondering what her preference was. She was
probably still furious at him. If his presence would ruin her experience, he would
refusethe invitation.

As i f reading his mind EIlIlen said

Al d&dm not exactly dressed for itéo

AfFor Chroi sT h esr eekseasnSteve Udabg wesedetal eat there
regularly in ratty ripped up jeans. Thisis Silicon Vallgyo u 6 r e f i ne. 0

They all piled into the Mercedes, Theresa smoking the whole way, but
holding the cigarette out the window, driving with the other hand.

I't was early and the restaurant
them at the entrance.
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fi Mr s hop, Bié were expecting you. Mr. Bishop called ahead. Rlease
this way. o

AiThank you, Marcel , 0 Theresa repl
for Ashl ey. She just came from the
None of that fancy French foo8.o met hi ng f or a ki d. 0

ioOf course. Mr. Bi shop told us wh

As they sat down a waiter arrived with a silver tray bearing two plates.
One had an assortment of crackers, from Ritz to some European things Cliff
di dndt r ecogni zséver dishasdof vareus gamsaand jaliesa Hel
was pleased to see one held peanut bditex.other platter had an assortment of
Frenchh or sew@poi ncl uding shrimp and oys
name.

As soon as the first waiter had put dows bargo, asecondone arrived
with a glass of milk for Ashley, three wine glasses, and a bottle of red wine.
Marcel was still standing by, at a discreet distance. The waiter placed the wine
glasses down before the adults.

Cliff was already wolfing down spoe of the offerings. Theresa was
spreading peanut butter and jelly on a Ritz cracker for Ashley who had already
started on her milk.

When Theresglancedat the wine bottle she looked up at Marcel,
delightsuffusingher features.

A Mr . Bi s h o prcel empainedtstempingdforvard.

AncCl i ff, you have to try this,o T
supply from his own collection here in the restaurant wine célker.corkage fee
alone is $25. The wineollectionis somewhere in the thousandsis is the

Bordeaux he had i mported two years a
the best wine | 6ve ever had. o She po
own.

Cliff liked wine well enough, although he rarely drank it. Beer was his
libation of choiceHe liked beer better than cheap wine, and the really good wine
was ridiculously expensive. It also tended to lead him to overindHigevas a
big man who liked to guzzle, not siftill, he was certainly curious about this
onewith suchan introduction

They lifted their glasses and ated them together. Theresa deetha
toast to modern medicine, which Cliff seconded. He noticed Ellen cross herself
and silently monddHeremembefed thenkhahg used,to be
a nun. hey all sipped the wine.
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After the firsttaste Cliff knew why Theresa had been so excited. This
was, bar none, t he best wi ne hteird d (
marinated beethingy from the platter and munched on it, sipping the wine
gratefully. Maybe beer was overrated, he began to wonder.

By this time Ashley had wolfed down half of her cracker platter and all
ofhermik.The first waiter came back with
was the womandbdés menu, t hhe had been heve yednso u
ago he had gotten the mands version
looked over at Theresa and turned his menu so she could see. He pointed to th
missing prices. She turned hers to him, too, showing that hers was als@gmiss
the prices. Ashleyb6s grandfather mus
how much it was costing

Theresa launched into a long account of what Ashley has been through
over the last two weeks with her leg and the two operations. Then sheeslnitich
her financial woes, then the things models have toupwith. Cliff tuned her
out but nodded politely and kept sipping the wine. It veadly goodwine.

When Theresa stopped her complaining Cliff asked Ellen why she had
become a nun, and why shad quit.

il wanted to hel p Iphada degree inl hedtlts
administration and wanted to work in a hospital setting. There was an order of
nuns who did nursing work in a poor area near where | lived back in Buffalo. |
learned about themnd their work and decided to join the order, to help the poor
and si c kanurde, but & gonhived by the hospital they supported to help
on the staff. But after a while | re

iWhyos t hat 20 Cl i f f rstati;é lrod ,mucin the i c
sisters looked alike. The coloring, the hair, the striking blue eyes. If only Ellen
would grow out her hair the resemblance could be quite strong despite the
different body builds.

fi | was compédi aop pus i nsge hpva lpvas .
hel ping peopl e. I di dnot have direct
wanted to help. And it obviously was

was ready twhatomamibhubhoéommits to. o
She took another sip of wen, emptying her gl ass:s

reallyisnice, 6 she said. She reached for th
Cliff realized that they had pol

ordered yetHe looked over at Theresa, whose wine glass wadatflifull. She

was sipping water. Good, he thought, we need a designated driver.
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iWe really should order, o he sai
waiter over.
AiYoubre right, Cliff,o she said,

another bottle ofths ? We 6r e ready to order now.
i Of course, 0 he r e pl Cli# dnd Elldre both o o |
ordered beef dishesith heavysounding sauce§ heresaordereda small salad,

dressing on the side. Ashley ordered
Within minutes another bottle dordeauxappeared. The waiter filled
his glass and EIll ends but Theresa wa

During the ensuing twenty minutéisey chatted, nibbled, and laughed.
Everyone was in a good mood. It was almost like a family anfl did a
momentary pang of nostalgia of sorts. His own childhood had not been happy.
His mother was an alcoholic and his father a-abforbed narcissist with no
interest in his children. There were some good times at holiday meals, but
everyday meals wersimply a venue for arguing, scolding, and recriminations.
Cliff and his wife had tried to have a family, but his wife could not become
pregnant.This was the kind of family meal he had always yearned for, but
seldom experienced.

My egg | alddenlyblurtddomt.l ey s
Your what ?0 cohfisedd esa asked
My | eg. It aches. 0

With that all the adults at the table broke out in giggles, but Theresa
scooted over closer to Ashley and gave her a hug at the same time.

AfHoney, t he dothat dhe healimg isigoihgso fasknowe, ¢ t
and the body is getting rid of some

ot

o s 1}

ABut it hurrrts!o

AHow about if | rub it?dd Theresa

AOww! T hnaote hlub.ih stvalnlt t deveg as she spoike . 0
the waiter began bringing the first tray of food.

Theresa | ooked at the others. il
she said apologetically. AYou two sh

| eave you here?o
AWe can gegdt aa gadid laaghifglevee moresheavily
at her bgwassofneubof fius can tal k. But wt
ifiThe hors dbéoeuvres and gl ass of
take inanyway You can have t hgerfos Ashleydrweh 61 |
sheds feeling better. [Blged filled up
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With that she instructed the waiter to bring a box for the hamburger,
which he did without further add@.heresa and Ashley left as the waiter served
Cliff and Ellen.

i 6My egagnybudbklieveth® «d i ff sai d, ch
precious. Youol | have to remember t
ol der and starts dating. 0

AiToo funny. o

They began to dig into their meals. The edge had been taken off their
hunger by the hord 6 o e wndrwines but they were still both hungry and the
food was exquisite.

Af ter sever al mi nutes of enjoyin
know it wasnét your fault. What happ
What di d hesadalbrinedyou?0o CI i ff
No detail s. He just said he kn
prevent Ashleyi or anyone from getting hurt. When | askdtbw heknew, he
said he couldnot tell me . He said to
outtovolun eer to be a donor for Ashley. 0

AiYou werenot supposed to find o]
responsible, T
il know, [ know. You did it becalt
really unselfish thing to do. Thank you. For all ofcus.

She raisedher glass to him. He clinked her glass as he blushed. His
coloration made a good run at matching the Bordeaux. He realized he was
enjoying the evening much more than he had expected. He was off the hook with
El'l en. Ashl ey was f itonurdergorthd sungery. @he fbad6 t
and wine were delicious. He sat back and took another long sip. Even Ellen was
surprisingly good company. She was smart and funny and not nearly so
unattractive as he had first thought. Sure, she had the shouldetsord abut
she had other parts better suited to the cheerleading squad. She and her sister h
that in common.

i
i

iSo are you fully adjusted to Sil
Ailtés a great place to |ive if yc
the geog ap hy. And the roads! theyodre ir
Then the directional signs! Yo uler e
going north on 680 without changing
Cliff chuckled, since he knew it was all u eT.r ufe , al | tr
weird shape of the valley, a bulging

big womb or something.



160 FATAL DOSE

iAAvomb? 6 El |l en repeated dubiousl y.
would have thought of. Palo Altb o0 e s nl otwonifiblketo me 0

fi I a t hé sorthwestorner out of the warm enveloping valley center
Tham@drse ofrigatovrylgdess o Cl i ff fumbl ed a
vaguelyknowing he was getting into dicey territory but somehow not caring. He
took another swig of wine.

AThe right dJusthew are you viduaizingthis fentae?

iUh, we |l | the | eft), t he west
She rolled her eyesi West Ovary, California.
should start a petition to the city wacil to change the nam& ng | ad | di

mention Gilroyo

Cliff6 s smddiecebrain took a momeftt process the comment, then
he blushed crimson realizing the significance to her comment about Gilroy, the
southern outlet to the valley. They both beghuackling.

They continued eating, drinking and talking, sharing geocaching stories,
and FBI war stories. The food ran out as they polished off the second bottle of
wine.Or was it the third? Heewaiteriappdaned t
with a desset tray.

il Gtotallyt uf fed, 06 Cliff decl ared, K
when he realized what he had said.

El'l en began cackling. BHe pave hinb & t
playful nudge on his leg with her fodtis reaction time was dulledylihe wine,
but he suddenly realidewith some chagrin thalhe touch had given him a small
erotic thrill. But it wasalreadygone.

The waiter was quite insistent, though, claiming that Mr. Bishop would
never forgive him if they did not try any of the deds. They were the specialty
of the house. Eventually he prevailed and they agreed to share the chocolatt
mousse. The waiter placed it on the table, producing two elegant tiny dessert
spoons, and two glasses of some dessert liqueur Cliff had neveoheard

It all went down with surprising ease.

He woke up with a splitting headache. He hadn't experieosedike it
since college, but he instantly knew what it was. As soon as he lifted his head to
get out of bed a wave of nausea hit him. The wine vead,gout was it really
worth this? He had only vague memories of the previous evening after dessert,
but he remembered staggering from the taxi to his front door.

He managed to keep down some juice and coffee. He took aspirin but it
did little to help. Tk water he drank with it probably did more godte
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wondered how Ellen was feeling. Should he call her? He debated the question
but decided discretion was the better part of valor. He moped around the house

until noon, then made his way to the gym fooad workout with heavy weights.
Sunday turned into a wasted day.
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Chapter30

By Monday morning Cliff was recovered. He was anxious to see how
Byrne and his employer would react when the civil counterclaim got filed, but he
had his own business to attetwdat first. He called Matt Nguyen to ask who in
the Palo Alto office handled trade secret theft matters.

AThat would be EIIl en. Shebs been
crimes, 0 Matt answered.

AReal |l y! Thatds a coincidence. o0

AHow so?0

ANo tpa&wml!l ar Cliff anave®dy hat wanting to go into their
encounter over the weekend. ilt does
client. Can you transfer me?b90

ASur e. Hey, before you go, I want
were tryirg to save Ashley from harm, and that you wér¢a blame for the
injury. | think she believed me. | didott e | | her anynothimgr e

t hat Eedlowered his voice to a whispep no eavesdropper could hear.
Aéwoul d get you ionr tarnoyuobnlee. owi t h t he

nOkay, Matt, thanks. | 0ve spoken

iThat s good to hear. Also, did vy
doctors think her leg will be fine. They were worried about needing to amputate
it there for a while. o

AiThat s super . o

nAl I right. Il 61l transfer you now

There was a c¢lick, then two secon

AHIi , this is Cliff.o

AncCl i ff. Uh, [ see. 0 She | owered h

tocalland all, but eal | 'y t hsatyds y b enéybenteseemed like |
was flirting, but r éAgelbdthyhadytam uméch ® drinku s t
We probably said some thingséeé

ANo, | &m not <calling about that, ¢
On behalf of a client. | was guhning to report this today no matter what, but |
just found out from Matt that you handle trade secret theft and economic
espionage. O

Al do, 0 she replied skeptically,
what had happened Saturday.
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fi L ook, goddtcases We have photographic evidethat a former
employee of a highech company somehow acquired encrypted trade secrets
from his exemployer, decrypted them, and now is using them for his own ends.
A civil claim is going to be filed today bythéw t i m company. 0

nReally. Whatdéds the name of the <c

AnXl ectrix. o

The name did not ring a bell with Ellen. She was new to the valley and
there were hundreds of higlach firms, the mix constantly changing. Firms
merged, closed down for lack of fundi, or changed names every day.

AWhat do they do?0

AnThey make medical devices. Radio
This news sent an electric shock
was treating Ashley, the machine tha

Cliff had to tread carefully here. He was under orders from Vogel to
report only the trade secret théftthe clipped Tech Tipg not the possible
compromise of the Lilacand the deaths

AiThe machine did not go bad. The
investigating how that happenedt could have been operator error, a lot of
thingsBut yes, t haBuwts what clodhmpamgportin
possessed documents of ours, ones that were encrypted byapp&sved
hardware and which were clearly madkas proprietary. We have photographs of
the documentsinthehi edmgpanyds possession. He
trim off the proprietary markings. 0

Cliff knew that to prove a trade secret theft case you had to prove the
thing stolen was really a @et, that is, sufficient protections were afforded it so
that it was not accessible to nraathorized personnel or the general public.
Defense lawyers almost always defended tlcasedy saying, in essence, if my
client was able to steal it, it must niehve been a secret. It was important to
emphasize when reporting to the FBI that these protections existed, that it would
be possible to prove the defendant knew that what he was taking was someon
e | spoperty, not an innocent copying error.

Elenmd  ed this over for a few sec
doesndt have anything to do with how

iThe provable cash damages in thi
Cliffdéds answer was intended to dc
Std¢ es Attorneyds Office didnodt i ke
too hard to prove to | ay juries and

dollar damages made the case a lot more attractive to the prosecutors, especial
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if the loss waseasily proved as cash losses, like the damages paid in this case tc
the overdose victims, rather than, say, lost market share. But his real reason fo
the answer was that by dodging her question, he knew she would read betwee
the lines and conclude thdtet theft did have something dowi t h  As hl
injury, while at the same time he could stay within his orders not to reveal
privileged information That would be a motivator for her to open a case if
anything was.

ifiSo whobés the subject?9d

Cliff began laing outthecase how hedd gone to tl
Group as part of an investigation on behalf of his client and saw the receptionist
clipping sheets of papehow he confronted Mel and the office managde
explained how the photos had revealed these were the Tech Tips

AHow are those protected?0 she as

AWith a dongle. 0

fiThey used protectiowith their dongled s t hi s wher e | ¢

say | love it when you talk dirty?2o
Despite himself, Cliff | augbpeeld o
guess that 6s theetthemi ghtwwaé so fun
i Good b?adlihnaatgesounds | i ke an oxymi
AQED, 0 he r epl i eAdongld ismaudgvite thagplugsgnéoi n
a computer for security. Itds | ike a
Al wnwhat a dongle is. | was just
AThatds not a word. o
Alt is now. O

Cliff laughed again thewent on to explain aboudiow the information
was encrypted by the dongle, and how Crabbe had admitted leaving his laptop
there overnight oncé althowgh without the dongleHe told her about Byrne
being laid off by Xlectrix and how he was suing them, obviously bitter about it.

ACi vil suits can complicate these
this better than she did from his years as a whitelcar super vi sor
in the civil case claims that the victim is using the government, the big bad FBI,
to intimidate a business rival over whafust a licensing dispute. Theiminal
defense claims that the FBI is circumventing the constitubg forcing the
defendant to testify against himself in civil depositions or doing searches through
the private companyds subpoenheBBlorEi t
vice versa, or both.

il ém well aware of that.o
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AcCl iff, you kKopowey hdods 56t Ati ke
cases. The victims have their civil remedies. The case would have a lot better
chance of getting prosecuted if there was an element of violence, or harm,

especially to some innocent victim.oo
Cliff knew she was figing for him to confirm that Byrne caused
Ashl eyb6s injury, but he stildl had t
some things | ¢ acledt priviteged things: Butil.can Aetl yoo r n
this. I was the victim of violence in t

He launched into the story of the vandalism to his car and the isotope
container that was stuffed in his seat, his trip to the emergency room.

AiThat 6s terrible, Cliff. I hadnot
went through that, butitsoundkle you dondét have ,andy ¢
there was no actual physical harm to yBar that matter, your evidence on the

theft right now seems to be | imited
documents in her possession. Did you eveBsger ne wi t h t hose
ANo. O
AfAnd the dongl e. I f Crabbe didnot

decrypt the Tech Tips? The defense is just going to argue that the Tech Tips wer
left unencrypted on a laptop that was knowingly left behind byXkattrix
employee. Not a secretCopying at best.l 6 m not sur e t
misdemeanoo.

AnThat , | admi t , is a probl em. We
went as wide as pancakes when | said the word dongle. He knows something.
thinkweneedtg o after him. o

inwe? CIliff, we canot wor k tiothpet h
problem with a civil case going on at the same time. Our priority has to be
catching the thief, not your client

explained. Howdid they suffer millions of dollars in damages? Did Byrne set up
his own consulting company to provide service contracts on these radiology

devices? Did he steal business from
Al dm sorry, thatoés one thing el C .
woul d ever be able to explain, ei t he

there had been the fatal overdoses. The civil damage claims had all been pai
with iron-clad confidentiality clauses. The company would be hurt much more by
word of the Lila® sulnerabilitythat the few million it lost in damage claims.

firThat &s not going to f,buweicénleytbat w
slide fornowHer eds what 1611 do. o6l 1 writ.
it and assi ganinitd interview with yourIcl@rtget thd photos,
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and then get a preliminary prosecut:i
we can go from there. When ckdo the interviewat Xlectrix? o

Al ol | h a. Whe Geéneral Cduresel there is Roger ¥dg . He 61|
the one to interview.o

AAnd this guy Crabbe, t oo, it sou
iokay, Crabbe, t oo. That mi ght b €
k today or tomorrow. 0

As soon as Cliff was off the phone Ellen typed up an3eR of the
interview and a cover memo recommending opening the case. Although CIiff
woul dnot of ficially confirm it, she
whoever was r esponsi3héwasdoimgtowork kthis eaged s
no matter what.

Shetookhe paperwork into her supervi
it in her handThe supervisor was a bespectacled, fraiyed veteran of seven
different geographic assignments in the FBI, from Anchorage, Alaska to
Valdosta, Georgia, with several stops &IIHQ. Ellen knew he had put in a
request to step down from his supervisory desk and take an Office of Preference
transfer back to Tennessee, where he was from originally. He was busy typing
something on his computer.

ildbve got a new.trade secret thef

iOkkayyou <can | eave it in my In
attention from his screen.

il needandassignedeingehdt away. 0

This caused him to look up, finally making eye contact. One look at
Ellen and he knew this was not a routinetmatr . AWhy, what 6s

AiThe wvictim is the company that
overdose to my niece Ashley. 0

AAnd the theft had?something to d

nofficially, no. But my nose tel]l

The supervisor took the pars from her hand and quickly skimmed
them. Without a furtheewKemedi ba mhek
memo, initialed it,and handed them back. She took thentht file clerk and
went through the same exercise, getting her to stop what shdaivey and open
the case immediately.

It was almost lunch hour by the time Sharon Perry called CIiff.
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AncCl i ff, webve fil éesdklriver i townyt efrac
lawyerr i ght bef or e 5: OThatwilhgiveus hreektia Hay.b & e p
also got several deposition subpoenas to be served on the witnesses at th
Fremont Radiology Group. One for Lynda Satterlee and one for Mel for starters.

Later 1011 get the full name of the
discoveryandve can do one for her , t oo. Do
ilt would be my pleasure. Can | ¢
ARnTheyodre here. In fact, we can d
coming over, and you can meet the ot
NnOkayl. Ibe there in fifteen minut ¢

He told Maeva he was going out for lunch. He climbedigrental car
and headed over tderrick in Menlo Park.Herrick was one of the largest and
oldest corporate firms in the Bay Area. It started in San Franciscoedeeadier
and was still headquartered there, but it was one of the success stories of Silicol
Valley, getting in on the original semiconductor boom, then the dot com boom,
onto the whole Internet crazand now its Menlo Park office, in theeart of
Silicon Valley, generated as much revenue asattygerSan Francisco office.

When he got there he was quite impresgdthough theSan Francisco
office was in a skyscraper, typical of that venue, here the office was an expansive
ground floor campus nestlech dhe edge of a residential area. The décor was
corporate modern with artwork rivaling the local art museum. When he told the
receptionist a woman named Keikdiis name she virtually gushed that Sharon
was expecting him and to have a seat. She rang sesimgtaamt, a handsome
young Latino man as it turned out, who came out immediately and walked Cliff
back t o Sh Asradull pastnerohérfdigscwere in scale with the rest of
the place, making Cliffds converted

In the room with Sharon were two cleant young people dressed in the
usual business casualAsian and Latino out front, now a black and a white
female on display for his admiration like it was some sort of diversity contest.
This wasa little too muchpolitical correctness for his taste, but he saidhingt

ACliff, thanks for coming by, o SI
APl ease Geedwiln sand Robert Jackson,
hel ping me with the case. 0

Cliff shook theirhanda nd everyone exchanged I

iltds such an honor, 0 Goodwin coc
mountain |ion attacked you. That 6s s
know how you did it.o
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AiMostly by i mit apliedpnand palleccup his pand lgg,ao

few inches to show a few of the nast
joining us for |l unch?d

They both smiled hesitantly and looked expectantly at Perry, who shook
her head. iNo, theny@fag agadt Wer ldondt
clientdés bill, now do we?0

This surprised Cliff a bit, sinc

considered the primary job of a corporate lawyer, at least for the full partners.
Why bill Xlectrix for just her time wen they could bill for three lawyers to sit
around and trade stories? Maybe she juas more conscientious than most.
From the looks on their faces, they were surprised, too.
AfHere are the subpoenas, 0 Perry a
toCliffAiLet 6s do our talking over | unch.
The associates took their cue and I8®. much for the teatbuilding.
Perry gestured toward the door as she came around the desk. As they passe
through the lobby she commented knowledidg@n some of the artwork. They
bumped into two grafaired men. Perry introduced them as partners in the firm.
Cliff shook hands and made a mental note of them; he could always use gooc
sources of business. One of t hEBh s a
agenb whi ch he derouelydppdrenttylysereputation had already
preceded himOnepartnerasked him how he liked the Pinafore.

Confused, Cliff stood mute for several seconds, and looked over to
Sharon, but before she could expl#ie irside joke,it hit him: Herrick Morton
& Saldinit HMS1 as in HMS Pinafore He 6 d been forced t
Sullivan in music class in junior higind even sing.it

Ailtés great! o he repl i ettontldeawas i |
polished so carefully 8o mehow hedd managed to r el
songs, but one pertaining to a law firm and its pretentiousness.

This retortelicited fromthe partner &earty chuckle 1 YWayedl I like
your style. o0 As t fordvgthdmbsfup. Perry gave

As heand Perrywalkedinto the parking loshepushed a button on her
car key fob and the door to a BMW 7 series sedan clicked open. He climbed in
the passengeside.She drove him to a nearby Thai restaurant where they were
quickly seat e d . Thai wasnot his favorite,
gusto, so it didndédt matter to him.

After they ordered and the waitress left them with some privacy Perry
sai d, il 6ve put a cover | etter ormal wi
di scovery request isrotnyetanywah béut breqeestch o t
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certain information. If | can get it informally h e r e 6 Inded foreme oo
subpoena the doctors who own the bus

ifThe doctorsol |l hit ofhe hmoof® when

il think the proper expression i
grin.

iAre you planning to file against

AThat 61 | be up to the client, bu
want to sue their customers as loags t heyore still ge
business with them. o

ifiMakes sense. So do you want me
Wagner when | serve them?0

AAnything you get is gravy, so f
theydl associate yowi t h Xl ectri x and tlyway ofdhatn 0 t
business relationship. It 6ds a | ittl

Everyone thinks lawyers are nasty jerks. But you went in there with an Xlectrix
I D the |l ast time. o
Al ol | bmandtdaheineplied, not en:
him how to do his job. Still, he had asked for direction.

The food came and the conversation turned to the personal. They ate anc
enjoyed their food as they conversed. Perry made no effort to dpegs along.
She asked about his FBI experience and seemed genuinely interested in some
the casesespeciallythe white collar ones. Her questions made it obvious that she
understood the subtleties of the legal problems and strategies of investigating a
prosecuting such case&she marveled at how he had managed to get the goods on
some insider traders. It was the first time in a long time that anyone outside the
FBI seemed to really appreciate what he had accomplished and how hard it wa:
sometimes. Heasked about her practice, which was centered on labor and
empl oyment matter s, cases | ike Byrne
quirks of some of the labor arbitrators she had appeared before and appalled hir
with stories of how some of the worshion leaders took advantage of their
members.

The check came and she grabbed it. Xlectrix was going to end up paying
it, as they both knew. When the waitress took her credit card away, she clearec
her throat and spoke. @<€ki fbo yobhamie

AWhat is it?0
AiMy brothero6és son is getting marr
to go unaccompanied. Si nce anglatihshpor c

wi t h anWeolnle,é you understand. I danot
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firm; none of the men my age are single anyway. And especially not a client.
That 6s kind of my world right now. W
iWhen?d shei tanswered uneasily.

She gave him the date. Altds a Sa

Cliff had not seen this coming and was unsure what toTldsy Saturday
that far off made it difficult to demur on the grounds of a previous engagement.
The professional relationship could be tricky whether he said yes or no. Then
there was the personal. Ndw realized why she had shooed away the associates.
He did hit it off with her at lunch today, and he was unattached. It was clear she
had once been areal bealitthi g cor porate | aw firn
people,especiallynot ugly women, he kneivandshehad held up better than he
had over the yeargruth be told

nwel | , that 6s an attractive of fer
but it might work. Where is this goi

ASanta Barbara.o

Whoa. That was over 150 miles awanith no air service from a major
carrier. Driving both ways and attending a wedding and reception would be an
all-day affair, assuming the wedding was held midday.

As i f reading his thought s, she
Dondt wor riyhas amgnormousohbuse and has already offered to let
me and my guest stay there. o

Now this was getting complicated. She was inviting him for a weekend,

he realized. She hadndét said whether

plural. Was she thking of a romantic getawagr strictly a family obligatio2

He squirmed inwardly, but still, it
fiShar on, I think 16d |ike to go,

treat it as a tentative yes. Can | get back to you tamwmoon that before we make
it definite?o0

iof course, 0 she said beamogvgit an
a little squeeze of thanks.

They left the restaurant chatting and making jokes about some of the
local judges. She laughed heartily at @iff st ory about Judog
was a new Assistant United States Attorney and first assigrnawsecute Asian
gang matters, somethingth whichhed 4 ad no previ ous exp.
first seen some F Bl RaoketessingWnlatful figtht 7 A F N
Mur der 0o he had wanted to get an arre
Cambodian gangstefhey all had crazy, short name3liff had had to explain



FATAL DOSE 171

that FNU LNU was an FBI acronym for First Name Unknown, Last Name
Unknown. Basicallyt he ki Il Il er hadné6ét been i dent

When they got back to the office, Cliff took the subpoenas and returned
to his office. He threw on a sport coat and grabbed a sporty fedora he kept for
such occasions. This changedmediatdy | o
recognized at the Fremont clinic, at least so he hoped. Once again he told Maev
where he was going and headed out.

When he got to the Fremont clini
had Maeva run Satterl eebpr madne t mr au
All three had vehicles parked in the employee parking area. Good. Everyone was
there.

He walked into the reception area and there was Honey, once again
clipping the edges off Xlectrix documents. She was also talking to another
employeeover her shoulder and did not immediately look at him as he entered.
Cliff heard the other employee address her as Alice. He snapped another phot
with his cell phoneThe other employee left.

A Ni hao ma? Nin gui Xing?ovolcd. i ff
Hedd worked Chinese counterintellige
to say fihow are youdo and Awhatds you

Alice looked up, amazed. This was apparently the first time a white guy
had addressed her in Mandarin.

iWo hao. Bilx@ mgf iWaen.g . Ky Sha showed rio s
sign of recognizing him. AWheredd vyo

il de al with a | ot of doctors, o
seemed to satisfy her. Als Lynda her
small git-wrapped box, apparently candy, he used for such purposes.

Al can take it.o She held out her

nSorry, Adgicwvee ilt htaoveher personal

The receptionist picked up the phone and called back to Satterlee
Luckily, Cl i f ft. Sattérldencénie rightaout.eWhénshe wa o the
front desk she recognized Cliff and took on a wary look.

Cliff reached over Aliceds desk
subpoena. She todkreluctantly fiWhat 6s thi s?0 she as

AfYoubve BeeNowelrvehink we shoul d

The cold stare he got in returnvas worthy of Frozone fronThe
Incredibles

AYou can lawgetskd t o our
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iSo youbdbd rather we subpoena all
to tell them it could have been avoile but you refused to

Her demeanor became even frostier, but she relented and told him to
come in and say what he had to say. They went back to her office.

iXl ectrix is countersuing Byrne
guestion is whe#r he was doing it on his own or with the approval of you, the
doctors, or someone else in this cli

il already told you, the manual s

il dm not talking about tLAEechrips ual
At a minimum.Theremay be mor e we Thethidgs Alicerowd w
there is c¢clipping the borders off 0
Corporation Do Not Copyd. o

ilf you think threatening to sub
anyone, you thoughtwrng. They get paid $800 an
sure they6d blknow.dgepthe rdavenuedigupse ar .

iMaybe they get paid that for e
nothing otherthantravel expenses. lve subpoena them it witbibe either as
defendants or as percipient witnesse

APercipient witnesses?0

iYou know, pereave doraethingh Byewitnesses. If you
witness an auto accident, sgesomeone steal something, you can be subpoenaed
to testify, wdélesdblnearthehigesét paéd dactortingahe world.
You dondét get paid for that.o

This brought Satterlee to a grinding halt. She knew the doctors would be
outraged at being subpoenaed, and apoplectic if they became defendants. S
was also worried abouthown liability.
fi | don &hatthatpaw j e c t is that Al i ce
Byrne gave her to do. o

Bingo. That could be used. Cliff knew Satterlee was ready to throw
Byrne overboard without a life raft.

AWhat do ghewentwr regnedly.

AiFor starters, you arendt to dest
have photos of her clipping them, both the first time | was here and now, so we
canproveyod e i n possession of them. Weod

unaltered. i you destr oy olsthuetiom of justice and is lalsot 6
evidence of guilt. The case has been referred to the FBI for criminal
i nvestigati on. Sec oWagnerinhdiedso llcankserve lim. u

| have a subpoena for him, too. Thir we want to know e
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Byrnebds computers. We arenodt inter e
information at this point, just what
think heds got Xl ect r i xhatipredewad.nigdinj ifo n
you destroy it, or allow him t olikedo ¢

you to call our attorney in this case, Sharon Perry, ,aid/ou provide the
information inher cover letteyit may be possible to avoid you tiégng under
oath at a depositioh andthe doctors, tooNo guarantees. That will be up to Ms.

Perry. Dondt tell Bag plangffheacbutd subpoéna yot, .
t oo, but I doubt he will . o

Satterlee kept staring down unblinking at ghecumentsas though in
shock. fAls that i1it?06 she finally ask

AFor now. O

She picked up her phone, put it on speaker, and pressed a button. After ¢
moment Mel 6s voice came on. i Mel her

ifnMel , can you come into my office

AfBe right there.o

Within a mnute there was a knock on the door and then Mel opened it
and stepped in. When he saw Cliff, he scowled.

AfYoudbve been served, o Cliff sai d,

Mel stood there stunned for a second then looked over at Satterlee.

ADonb6t saMelandytshhenggordered. Then,

right Mr . Knowl es, [ under stand what
we ol | be in touch. I dondét want you
duty. Youbve serv.edd us, now pl ease |

CIiff stood, tipped his hat, which Head never takenofand s ai d,
be going t hWagneta sdtidiedgira and headed for the door.
Satterlee rose and followed him out to the front, apparently wanting to make sure
he di dnote Waad dt anyooe elsdvVagrercame out of her office,
trailing like a puppy dog, but she told him to go back in and wait for her.

When they got to the reception desk, Alice was still clipping the Tech
Tips. CIliff looked at Satterlee and nodded his headlatd Wang. Satterlee
sighed and said to Wang, AnAl i ce, |
work on that project any more. Put it all in boxes and bring it to me in my office.
All of it, including the completed woré&.

At that moment Byrne stepped toaf the engineering office and saw
Cliff and Satterl ee at Al'icebs desk
office and stay there
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Cliff looked at Byrne, tipped his fedora once more, and left. His rental
car, which he had carefully parked in thewded patient lot this time, was
unt ouched. Not a bad dayds wor k.

Satterlee stormed into her office and slammed the door behind her.

iOkay, what the hell is this projec
Tips thing. o0 She waaedtakenof r bime Wa
ilt was Brianbés ideaéd Wagner beg
n We t hought it woul d save t he

emphasizing the 6webdé as he gl ared at

AiYou told me you wer estitationgl &nowledgen g
from your employment at Xlectrix and
me you were copying proprietary info

AYou said Dr. Gaur approved it.o
the firm.

ADr . Gaur a pyttingontoemdtteroférm yowor knowledge for
future reference of your department. You were supposed to do that from the time
you were hired. Thatés partly why vy
about copying document s fibo wbhde yaogua i gne
anyway?o

For a moment there was silence. Wagner looked like he was about to
speak, but Byrne stared him down ag:
the exservice reps keep those when they leave Xlectrix. There are half a dozen
third-party service firms that compete with Xlectrix for servicing the Lilacs. You
even took bids from a couple of t he
common knowledge in the trade. o

Satterlee looked at the sheet again, uncertain whether to belevarid
i n any wevent wasnot about to take h
what he said was true.

AThis chart says 6L4 keyboard sho
the new modelonly two years old, | thinkyou had the documentation tire L4

when you Il eft Xlectrix?o

il thought we might want to get
gives us the ability to assess the effectiveness of the L4 and if we got ondy, to cur
our service costs if Mel and | could

This didnd t answer h e evasigrutels her enough. Shk e
reached for the phone and dialed an extension. After a moment she askec
whoever was on the other end if Dr. Gaur was available. Apparently receiving a
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negative answer s he r epl i ed,thefpMiheeccan yeunbazz ge?t s
need to see her. As so0o0n Aadsengp@ezasdvdr | e
here immediatelp. Cezar was a combination handyman, janitor, and on rare
occasions, doubled as security. As a former lineman on his higbldolatball
team and tipping the scales at over 250 pounds he was big enough to dissuac
Byrne from disregarding her orders, although Byrne was no midget himself.
Turning back to the engineers she told them both they were on
administrative leave until ftiner notice, paid for the time being. They were not
to go back into the engineering office and not to touch the computers or anything
else. She told them not to return to the office until instructed to do so and not to
talk to anyoneByrne protested thdtis jacket and laptop were in there.
As soon as Cezar arriveshe had him go in and get the jackets and
personal items of the two engineers, then stand guarding the déogiteeering
She pointed out that the laptop was property of the cni¢chat wa to stay
Then she walked them out to the employee parking area herself. Returning to
reception she told Alice Wang to c#ileir security firm and have them rekey the
door locks and recode the security access keypHusn she returned to her
office to wait for the word from her boss, Dr. Gaur.
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Chapter31

The next morning CIiff spent at Xlectrix in a legal training seminar the
company was holding to help satisfy the mandatory legal education requirements
for its lawyers The conference room held eigigople in addition to the lecturer.

The other seven lawyers, Cliff learned, were regulatory, licensing, or contract
lawyers except for one who handled the 401k plan, the executive pension system
and other tax or internal employment matters.

The lecturemwas some nebbish who had a degree in psychology and was
showing aPowerPointpresentation full of statistics about how many disbarred
lawyers had substance abuse problems, mostly from alcohol. This was hardly
news to the assemblage, especially since wbniee lawyers heard a word of it
anyway. They were all talking among themselves about their legal work, eating,
or on their laptops doing email. The buzz in the room from the employees was
much louder than the drone from tiwveakvoicedlecturer, who igneed the fact
he was being ignored and plowed mna monotone He was an authorized
provider of legal education by tretatebar and got paid whether anyone listd
to him or not.

Cliff stewed at being forced by state bar rules to undergo this mandatory

innperson training. What a watstheefaroehd e v
of the room,he gave up trying to hear, and pulled out his phone to check with
Sharon Perry. Still no word from the

h e r dcheel@l his calendar and would be happy to join her for the trip to Santa
BarbaraHe al so told her the receptdiiadmidod
haveto do a formal request for that information.

No sooner had he hung up when he got a call from Ellemé&ay.

AcCl i ff, I t hought youbd want t o
assigned. 0

ATo you?o
ATo me. 0O
AnThat s great. I was out at t he

referred the case to the FBI . 0
AWhodd you talk to?o0
iSatterl| ee, get. haso sefvddiher avith raainilasubpoena
and told her not to destroy any documeautsl to preserve whatever is on the
engineering computers. o
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inWwel | , t hat kil l s our el ement of
warrant. o EI | enfdiyamgto bave tsgivelanhdadhua o thy .
Uu. S. Attorneyodos office about this c:¢
They could be getting a call fromherlawyeo r t he doct orsdé |

nSorry, but I have to go wunseh t I
There is some good news, though. o

AWhat 6s that?o
ifSatterlee told me that the proje
Byrnebs idea. o

nOkay, I ol | write that up . It co
house or any electronics we comp with. But Satterlee could have been
covering her own involvement. 0

ATrue. O

AiDo you think shedl|l comply, or d

il heard her gi ve i n§ bher name is dlices t

Wang, by the way to bring all the documents i her office. | also sat in the
parking lot for a few minutes after | left and watched Byrne and Wagner get
wal ked out to their cars by Satterle
preserving everything until she talks to the company lawyerldl her that it
would be obstruction of justice if she destroyed anything and that | had photos of
it to prove they had it. | think she believed,rbet it might not hurt to give her a
cal l and tell her the same t hthenF@l. [
called and said not to destroy that stuff, he would advisé hed the doctors

not to. o

iThat 6s good. [ wi || . And, Cliff,

ABring s m&dulmaynhgve © aelive dinkortitude is not his
forte.1donodt know i f heodl | be at wor K
probably be on | eave tomorrow. 0

il plan to stake out his house a
| eaves. Or , whenever t hat i s, i f he

iYou donét mewe?ameappsinidt agreed

iNo, [ want to do a cold cal . [
to knock on the door and identify
probably in a bad place with her right now for besugpendedt might give me
|l everage i f he doesnodt want her t
i nvestigation. o

AfGood idea. 0

AWhat ar et oynoour rdoow nngor ni ng ? o
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Cliff smiled at this. He was hoping for this kind of cooperation, but
didndét expect i tal omAMPe® you inviting

i No, of cour se not . | 61 I have ar
working for or with a private company. We are simply investigating a possible
feder al cri me. You do vyour investig
though reciting some fmal doctrine. Then, changing to a lighter, almost playful,
tone, iOf course, youodre a free citi
street from his house at 7:00 AM sha

ifGood to know. Thatdés quite a <co
geting up at 5:30 tomorrow morning so that | can drive out to the East Bay and
take a stroll in his neighborhood to

nOkay. I ol | bring the smelling s
something to pee in. We couldbe¢ r e a whi |l e. O
nl was an agent for 25 years. | k

Al &dm sure you do. O

When the call ended CIiff looked up to realize the lawyers were filing
out. The lecturer was handing out certificates of completion. He walked up,
collected his, and iriilled next to his signature on the roster to show he was there
the entire time. In a colossal mak®rk exercise he was now officially educated
in substance abuse such that he could practice law for another three years. If th
bar ever decided to audit hifme had the magic paper to prove it.

He wal ked up to Vogel 6s office a:
Vogel on the events of the previous day and the two calls this morning. Vogel
was obviously pleased and actually clapped him on the shoulder.

As they wee talking Sharon Perry called Vogel. He put it on speaker
told her Cliff was there, ta&she explained that she had just gotten a call fham
lawyer for the Fremont clinic, a partner at another big corporate law firm she
knew well. He assureder that the radiology clinic would cooperate and would
preserve the documents and the computer files. His position was that the doctor:
and Satterlee knew nothing about t he
that he would be fired today. They weré t sure about Me |
argued, however, that the materi al v
was within their legal rights to possess all of it. If Xlectrix agreed not to name the
doctors, the clinic or Satterlee as defendants, theyldvgive all the material
back in exchange for a discounted rate on the annual sexweehat their lead
engineer is nothere They also promised that if any othreaterialsmarked with
Xl'ectrixbés proprietary mar ki pogssssiomer e
they would be returned to Xlectrix, too.
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Cliff | augh e dclientl A lobdo-G-tndié-yowlet-im-offy
h e @rbnhiseneverto-doit-agai n def ense. 0

AExactly! o Perry agreed.

i Wh at about the recepti oauttingtand t F
scannin@ 0 Vogel asked.

ifiHe said they questioned her and
her to do it and when she complained to him about the markings saying it was
proprietary he told her it was okay and that they had a license. éHagokhé d
be fired if she didndét do it. o

AiDid the | awyer say how they got
t he TecCliffackeps ? 0

iNo. He said they dondét know how
a pile of printouts every day or two froByrne and is supposed to clip the edges
off, then when she gets a full stack, send that through a big scanner Byrne bough
that has a sheet feed. The scanner has OCR software to convert the text to digit:
form. o

iThe | awyer sai d divébagktha doeuménts orphe e
computer files yet, but they will make copies of everything and provide that. He
was obviously trying to use their possession of it as leverage to get that discount
on service charges. 0

AVery ballsy, o0 Vogélycommegt bdnba

iHe was really worried about the
anything from the FBI yet but he wanted to know if his clients were targets. | told
him we woul dnot k ik to the EBha the th& O0Adt t hoar vne
of fice. o

iThat 6s great, ShfaWe nt, i ibagdhdd amio g
piece of our hardware called a dongl
ANo, nothing about a dongl e. 0

iOkay, then. Thanks again.o

They ended the call and CIliféft for his office. When he walked in,
Maeva was on the phone, but she quickly said goodbye to whoever was on the
other end.

AWho was t hianocgrily he asked

i Oh, no one. o

fiNo one? As in a male no one?0
i

Just some sal esmand Shee woalslwoppbad de |
eye contact
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iYou suppose he was mal e. I see.
his office.

After lunch he got another call from Sharon Perry. She had just gotten
off the phone with the lawyer for the Fremont clinic.

fi @ff, listen to this. The computers in the engineering section were
searched there were threé and they found various Xlectrix files and various
other filesi from Xlectrix T 6 Byr ne wasnot supposed
woul dnét say wliBare wasliredsfa hawirggthese, ndt fort the
Xlectrix information, which they still maintain is rightfully in their possession.
They also claim that he copied the
knowl edge or per mi ssi otmactirggindhe scopa of hih e
empl oyment . o

Cliff | aughed. ANot in the scope
anything wrong, but whatever he dda s n6t aut hori zed so
his actions if it was wrong. 0

AThat s theirstdtckriyngand tiheybdr e

ALet me guess. Theyobére stildl as
contract. o

AOf course, 0 Perry |l aughed.

AiDid they find a dongle? Or the T
Lilac ownerso

AThey said no t o till se;archidgo thrgughe the T |

engineering sectiowh at 6 s t his about a | ist of
Cliff realized Sharon stil!]l di dn
was not authorized to tell her . filt

servce region owns a Lilac 4. It could be of value to a competitor, either another
manufacturer, or one of those thidrty service people who try to underbid
Xlectrix for the service contracts on the Lilacs. It was encrypted with the dongle,
t oo. 0 Trheias farvasiswent, but he said nothing about the real reason
they wanted to know if that file was there.

nwel | | the | awyer said hedd mess
copied so far by the end of the day. They have to bring in an IT spetializpy
t he hard ,a&mdimereosy,stickS,bdt shey had the company computer
guy print out a file directory from the three main computers so we sholddst
be able to see the names afdhfilest oday. When | get it,
cooe over and see i f itodéos there.o
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iSounds good. So Byrne is offici
defending him on the crosso mp | ai nt , either. Heol |
| awyer of his from his own pocket. T

iH&i dn6ét say, but | assume theybor
meo

ioOkay. Thanks for |l etting me kno\
mat eri al in hand. 0

Al owi ||, but | dondét know,i fshle wa

with a tease in heroice.
AWhy is that?0 he replied warily.
fi

Youdre stealing all my bill abl e
day than | would have gotten in week

AA mands got to make a | iving, 0 h
whattheysayp Al | 6 s fair in |l ove and war. 80

AAnd which is this?o0

AnMaybe youoll find out this after

ilédm | ooking forward to it.o

The next hour was spent on reading through the mail, updating his legal
education fil e w,|ptompted bydSharro&s drectaimg rl |s ,,
his billing records for Xlectrix. This was shaping up to be his best quarter yet.
Hedd been wor-imerog thimdasepand thefclieht lwas a deep
pockets corporation. Hedd alreandkhe bi
expected billings to be even higher for the next few weeks.

The phone rang, and he let Maeva answer it. A moment later she stood in

the doorway to his office. Altés Rog
He picked up the I dfne. ARoger, wh
iSomeone took a shot at our buil d
Software DesigManager, Byrneb6és old boss. Th
AWas he hit?o0
AiNo, the angle was too high. The
hurt. We think it was smeone hidden in the shrubs across the street on the
HewletPac kar d property, but thatds jus

standing near the window seconds beftireias a very close calVe called 911.
Theybébre en route. o

ADo you want me there?o0

i No, I dondét think so. The pol i ce
processing, [ suppose. You wonot be
guess. o0
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AiThatds not my expertise anyway.

than | coul da.geHd?wdSsh atkleen mgmn? 0
Aivery much so. Cliff, the main r ¢
Byrne, and | think it is, you could
AiThatds a possibility. Omanksforahe o n
call . o

Cliff looked up to see Maeva stifitanding in the doorway, concern
distorting her features

AWhat happened, Cliff?20

AfMaeva, stay right here. o

He rushed out into the hallway and downstairs to the building lobby. The
building was too small to have a security guard or receptidktishe entry, there
was just a small lobby with a building directory, with stand an elevator to the
left anda hallway with tenant offices to the right. He looked around for any sign
of anything out of order, but saw nothing unusual. Standing to the sitte of
front door he peeked out into the parking lot. dtethere.

He reflected that it was fortunate his office was on the second floor and
had no exterior windows or doors. The only access was into the halkxayo
the rest rooms, around the corneanfr Cross and Silver. The other end was the
wall that had been put in to separate the two offices when the law firm had given
him the library space. That also meant there was no emergencyf &gtne
came for them, the only way out was through the officer into the hall, the
same way he would have to come in.

After a few more minutes of looking, he ventured out into the parking
lot. No one had passed him going in or out of the building during that time. He
darted quickly left then right. Nothing happa. He felt foolish, and slowed to a
normal walking pace. He circled the building trying to identify where a sniper
might secret himself. He satisfied himself that there was no way for anyone to
shoot into his office from the street, or even from a neaghly building.
Someone could, however, shoot into Cross and Silver. If they could get onto the
roof of the twastory building across the parking lot, they could even shoot at a
downward angle. For now, though, there was no sign of daBgere probably
still thought Cliff was an employee of Xlectrix with an office there, based on the
business card he had left, but he knew Byrne was sophisticated with computers
I't woul dnot take him Il ong to figure
website and a tephone directory listing.

He went back upstairs.

iMaeva, youdre on vacation. Pai d
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ifiWhat ? No, |l m not . I took my | a
when lvisitedmy parent s. O

Al dm giving you a vacat i oamPackiught
your stuff and go. o

iBut if | wuse my | eave now | wono
get éo

i Maeva, this is in addition to t6bh
tostayhoméor go visit your parend.sdO again

iCl i ff, youbre scaring me. l's it

i stnd t ?0

Al j ustt hcehreecbkse dno one out there. o

iAre you coming with me?0d

nltdéds better i f | donodot .0 deverseerh e
thetwoof s t oget her. He woul dndt know wt
mi ght identify you as a target. Just
unt il I tell you. o

He grabbed her arm and led her to the front door. She had to break away
to grab her pursand a sweater. They then both stepped into the hallway and she
headed around the corner, looking back at Cliff over her shoulder as she turned
He gave her the thumbs up sign and she disappeared.

He went back to his desk. He had just cleared out allrhiEleninutes
ago and now there was another. It was a notification that he had rearotber
email at the Xlectrix email address. He logged in there and found a single
anonymous message with onlYpuéar . estdebher!
forwarded itto Vogeland Ellen

He called the noemergency number of the Los Altos police and said he
wanted to report a death threat, adding that it was related to a matter being
investigated by Detectivédanssen. Surprisingly, Hanssen came on the line
almost immeliately. Cliff started to tell him about the email, but Hanssen said to
just wait there, he would be right over.

Since Cliffbés office was in downt
so on a side, and the police department was too, Hanssen wasntiere i
minutes, a patrolman by his side.

ifiWhereds your secretary?0 Hanssen

i | sent her home. I was afraid s«
want her in the line of fire.o

No sooner had he said that when his phone.ddegnade his excuse on
the grounds it might be important, and picked up the phone. It was Maeva telling
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him that she was now halfway home, waiting at a light, and wanted to let him
know that she was safe. Cliff thanked her for calling, said that thetidetaas

t her e, and t hat erchlghosehvile drigdimyoThey huad up o
and he told Hanssen that was Maeva and she was okay.

He showed Hanss e ndalehdy priatedsoit,lincludiwgh i C
all the header information, and told hthmt he thought it was sent by Byrne, the
same man whom he suspected of planting the isotope container in his car, as we
as the likely suspect in the shooting over at Xlectrix. This time Hanssen took
much more detailed information about Byrne, the Fremadiology clinic, and
the shootingat Xlectrix, which apparently was being handled by a different
detective at that very moment, along with patrol officers.

Hanssen told him he thought it would be wise to stay away from the
office for the near term, armaybe from his homerhich was also in Los Altos
He askedhomdad@lriess6svas | isted. CIliff
since a simple check with any of dozens of Internet businesses could obtain his
home address in a matter of secor@lgf gave him the address, which Hanssen
recognized as a cdle-sac. e detective told him that since it was on a-amil
sac it would be much harder for a sniper to set up without someone noticing than
in downtown with its relatively dense buildings and geomoving around
constantly. He told Cliff he would have patrol officers make a point to drive by
the area frequently and be on the lookout for Byrne or anyonevhlseseemed
suspicious

After the police left, Cliff decided to take their advice andhgme, but
first he shot off another email tdl& and Vogel saying he was going to stay
away from the office for the rest of the day at least, but would be in touch from
home. He left his home address and telephone with both. He closed down the
office andwalked ou to the parking lot and drove home.

As soon as hgot home, Ellen called him and asked if he was okay. He
assured her he was.

Al ol | make sure the whole squad |
hi m. ADono6t be s ur pfagents doing drivehy Nobale e
messes with the FBI family. o

AnThanks, ElIl en, it means a | ot.

A

t h o u g hbesuposediftyou seeanexgent out at Mel 0s
il expected no | e dsleing whabHappenedadday. b
Do you carry a weapon?o
i No . [ donot have a carry permit
private investigator, but [ wasnot
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Bureau, and since my | aermore ofayhazardstiian g e
anything el se. 0

ARemi nd me twhenthey dayve esmgenty day out at the
range, o0 she | aughed. il shot a possi
beat. A possiblas the FBI term for gettingn perfect score on theahdgun
course
Why does that not surprise me?0
Be careful, Cliff. See you tomor
See you tomorrow. 0

o 1 s ! s 14
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Chapter32

The next morning Cliff was alreac
7:15 AM when he saw Ellerand Matt Nguyen pull up in front dWagner 6
house. CIliff had parked three houses down, in front of a construction site where a
home was being remodel ed, and appear
make sure hedéd have time to have hi s
got on #e. He knew that public bathrooms were scarce in residential
neighborhoods, and he wouldnodot want
anyway. As it turned out, there was a Pdrtaty for the construction crewot
ten feet away.

Ellen and Matt wex soon joined by another car, which CIiff quickly
recognized as FBI. That car drove up the street, madeuanand pulled in
behind CIiff. Cliff recognized the two agents in that car as squadmates from Palo
Alto, no doubt the back up Ellen had mentioniedthe reatview mirror e saw
the driver grinning at him. The agent habviouslyrecognized him, too. They
exchanged waves.

Fortunately, the waitvasonly a half hour before Mel Wagner emerged,
his son in towEllen judgedhe boyto be about nine.lEen approachetel as he
walked down the front walk to the driveway, Matt standing next to the Bureau
car at the curb, his right hand on his belt ready to draw if necessary.

ACol in, [ j ust remembered | forg
scene,said o his son in a calm voice. i Go
think | lTeft it on my desk. o

The boy seemed puzzled, but did as he was told, disappearing onto the
house. As soon as he was inside Wag!

S 0o nplea® . O
iWebre not here to arrest you, O

and badge. Al 6m with the FBI. We jus
of your wife I wasndét sure she knew youodd
youtheoptm of doing it privately. o
AThis is hardly private. 1tds my
iwell, we could go inside then.o
i No, donot . My wife doesnodt know
accumul ated too many | eave hours and

iWwhere are you going?bo0
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AiMy son has judo class. 0
il tell you what: waadd After fyoa droapdim vy o
of f we can talk there.o

Wagner agreed and told them the name and location aldjoe Ellen

and Matt got back in their car asthepp r et urned with hi
radioed the plan to the other car. She watched as the agent behind Cliff got ou
and walked up to Cliff and said something to him through the window. CIliff
nodded.

Wagner 6s car | eft, b utb brikd uhneaessarye | ¢
attention to the processiowhen the car was a block away she pulled out, too,
and then the three <cars, Cliffds in

school.

The martial arts school was in a suburban strip n#siter Wagner
dropped off his sonhe walked back to his car. Ellen and Matt were waiting
there.

AMr. Wagner, 0 EIll en began, i We 6 d
documents from your office. Why doné
ALook, 0 he repliedt my ang g ad&c
anyone. If | talk to you | could be
ilf y oiuar theblangyesi t ol d you not to tal
obstruction of justice, 0 Matt warned

AiNo, they didané6ét Jaeyi didnke say
They just said not to talk about thi
hard time getting the words out, the dryness in his mouth evident.

ilf you donbt tal k t o dien,of aypdmed | |

suspect, y&Ellenkwamedw t hat ?0

Al want a | awyer. o

Matt and Ellen looked at each other.

ADo you have a | awyer?0 Matt aske

AMy boss sai déo

AWho?o06 EIllen interrupted. fAByrne?

i No, Lynda. She said i f avé toastepk e d
guestioning me.o

ils she a | awyer?06 EIll en said sco

AActuall vy, she i s. At | east s he
practiced | aw. o

AwWell, shebs got a few things wroc

custody and they kejguestioning him, anything he said would be excluded from
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evidence against hi m, but t hat wasnbo
and anything he said could still be used against someone else, like a co
conspirator, or a lyintrestediaid Byrnd, WMo yeou. Yow e 0
dondt mind talking about him do you?

AAm | wunder arrest?o

El'l en | et out a big sigh before a

AThen | want to go. 0 He motioned
blocking. Resignation on her facehe stepped aside. He walked up to his door
and opened it a few inches, but she
all the way.

i Mel |, I 61 1 |l et you go, but you h:

him her business cardal iwal phi hkh&ye
happy to prosecute two instead of one. Your lawyer will tell you the first one to

cooperate is the one that gets the g
|l awyer is not your | awyedyouwhilevéstinther i
best i nterest of the clinic, not vyou

your own lawyeror come talk to usPreferably both

With that she stepped away and told Mativas time to go. Mel got in
his car quickly ad backed out as the agents walked several aisles over in the
crowded parking lot to their car. They all drove away.

Cliff watched the questioning fro
was going on, but he could tell from the short duration and oml en 6 s
language that she was not getting cooperatiten.hoped someone would clue
him in, but no one came over to talk to him. He knew Ellen would not want to
create a record of providing i nf
lawyer/investigator whavas prepping for a civil case, so he was not surprised
when she drove off without calling or texting him.

The agents all drove west toward Palo Alto. Wagner drove back uphill
toward his home, to the east. CIiff followed him at a discreet distance in his
rental car, a fulkize Ford. When they got to a stretwhroad over ax arroyq
Cliff pulled right behind him, honked his hgrand flashed his lights. As he
expected, Wagner thought it was the agents again, and pulled over to the curb
Although there wasccasional passing traffic t hey wer endét r i
residences.

Wagner rolled down his window and waited. Cliff got out and almost
sprinted to Wagneroés door, reached i
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thus preventing Wagner from ldoky the door and rolling up the window.
Wagner was soO0 surprised he didnét re
AHey, what are you doing?d6 he pr
eyes went wide anide cowered backward toward the passenger seat.
AfHel | o, ektdddiscudsa certam isotgug that was planted in

my car, o0 Cliff announced in an omino
reached in and unbuckled his seat be
AYou candt éo
iBut [ can. o0 Cliff gr aldakedandlified f |
him bodily from his seat and shoved him over to the passengelikgda rag
dol. Then he sat in the driveroés side
il asked for a |l awyer, o Mel whi ne
AiThat 6s ni ce. Youdbdre going idddo ne
give me cancer of the gonads or was
Ailt wasndét me, I swear . He just
him it was. I di dnot know he was go
swear. It was years old and the isotope had asteoyt halfl i f e . Thter e

have been any radiation danger left. He just grabbed it off the Ehalfidle all
the isotopesWe keep spare pigs around in case we need to divide up the
sampled

iSo | suppose youbdr e g osthatgook ashot e |
at the Xlectrix building yesterday
next, that wasnodédt you either. o Cliff
iJesus, [ donot know anything ab

wasnot . o

fi Lcky for you | believe you, you little piece of garbage. The FBI is the
least of your worries right now with their white collar ca8eyear in a federal
resort at worstl f you helped him in any way
accessory to attempted murde hat 6 s ten years of har
youor eTdlulc knye what happened. 0

ANot hing. I donodt know. I me an,
home. Brian didnot say anything to
what he did. He judeft, ik me.But hebés a gun nut ., He

bear up in Canada somewhere and brags about his trophies. It must have beel
him.Ar e you going to hurt me?0

Cliff thought about that for a f e
mean.loetHego of Wagnero6s jacket a&ed r
pulled out a packet of photographs.
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fiTake a | ook at these. 0 He spreac
the seats. The photos were from the compensation claims made by the overdos
victims. There were autopsy photos of the two dead victims, several showing the
deep burn marks from thé-ray beam, and several of the woman who lost her
leg, one showing the amputated leg on the floor. Last was a picture of Ashley
Bi shop6s | edaifter tha faskveimtransplagtivith the surgicalscar
prominently displayed.

Wagner got noticeably queasy after a quick glance and looked away.
Cliff grabbed his hair and yanked hi

AWhat saer?e0 tWeaakedaut. c h

fiwhat if | told you these arehte peopl e Byrneobs
mai ming with 2rabbebds dongl e

Wagner 6s jaw dropped and a | ook
features as he made eye contact with Cliff again. He forced himself to look down
again Still, he said nothing.

fiDo you knowifle 6s been remotely acdngssi
overdoses with their Lilacé? Cl i ff demanded.

Wagner 6s | ower | ip began to tremb
I & He wiped t heacsd owibtelr tflre ms lhé esv €f
di dnét know. Oh God. Oh my God. o0 He
his fingers, bowed his head and started to pray.

Cliff concluded Mel waprobablyp ei ng trut hful , al't
hundred percdnconvinced. He decided not to interrupt the prayer. If Wagner
was religious, it would work in his favor.

When Wagner opened his eyes and
the whole story. How did he do this?

Wagner looked up toward the sky, althoulgl toof of the car was all he
coul d see. fiDear God f e tumedvowardn@Géff add h e
in a calm voice, told him what he wanted to know in a long, rambling account.

He explained how Crabbe had come out for a service on the Lilagd 3 an
coul dnét finish the repair. He need
Since he was going to have to come back the next day, he asked if he could leav
the laptop there in a safe place because he was going direct to some fancy dinne
and d andtoléave tive laptop in his car. Mel told him yes and agreed to take
the laptop back to the engineering section of the clinic. Mel watched him remove
the dongle from the laptop bag and had asked him what it was. Crabbe told him it
was adongleanditenr ypt ed al | the sensitive s
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Mel to take offense, but it was company rules that he could never leave the laptor
and dongle together where anyone else could access it.

Mel took the laptop back to the clinic and when he wdlikn Byrne
asked him what it was . He told him
coming back for it the next day. Byrmeamediatelysaid they should see what
was on it. Melknew thisw a s righttandexplained about the dongle, trying to
convince Byre t hat there woul dn6tBybreneanwad
direct supervisor, though, and paid no attention. He took the laptop and booted it
up.

Byrne found that he could launch the normal applications, like Word or
Excel. When he opened the Lila@agplication, it opened, too. The interface was
much like the Lilac 3 interface, and he quickly got bored \eitploring that
There just wasndédt much to see at fir
about how the dongle needed to be plugged imvthe program was launched in
order to enable diagnostic mode. He also saw the Tech Tips file, but when he
tried to open it, it just flickered and then shut down again. At that point, he
decided to copy the whole hard drive.

Byrne was an expert with comjgwus, Mel told him, better than the

clinicds own | T guy. He had a spare
installed it on one of the computers in the Engineering sectind, copied
Crabbeds entire C drive to i Xlectrixa ¢

directories to his own laptop.

When Crabbe returned the next morning, Byrne and Wagner were both at
thehospital They watched Crabbe put the dongle back in the laptop bag where it
had been before. Byrne then distracted Crabbe with some qeationt the L4

and how it compared with the L3 whil
the dongle from the bag. Wagner 6s | i
story. He swor e he halprdtested stronglynlut Byrme d

threatened to fire him f h e d. Byine toltd hirh al they were going to do
was learn how to service the L3 and L4 from the Tech Tips file, to save the clinic
money. Mel surreptitiously handed the dongle off to Byrne, who raced back to
the clinic and fugged the dongle into both computers, then relaunched all the
Xlectrix applications. He theanplugged the dongle and checked the programs.
He | earned then that the programs cC¢
need the dongle to be plugged in aftee program was opened. So he took the
dongle back to the hospital where Crabbe was working on installing the circuit
board.
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This is where it got tense, Wagner explained. Crabbe finished up quicker
than they anticipated By r ne wasnodt dwasjkstggteng reath e r
to go. Mel called Byrne, who told him to stall Crabbe a few more minutes since
he was already in the car and would be there very soon. Wagner then had Crabb
check out the printer that was attached to the L3. He made up somalstoty
how it malfunctioned Crabbe checked all the cable connections for a few
minutesand printed somethingobtut coul dndt find anyt
showed up and secretly passed the dongle back to Mel as he questioned Crabl
again about the L4. M replaced the donglehile Crabbe was distracte@rabbe
never suspected a thing.

After Crabbe left, Byrne switched to the Tech Tips program. He tried to
print out the information on the screen but there was no print menu. He tried to
do ascreencapter wi th the PrintScrn button
minimize the Tech Tips window, but when he tried to paste the screen shot into
the graphics program there was nothing there. So he maximized the Tech Tips
window again took out hiscell phonecames, and starting shooting pictures of
the screefi page after page of photd#/hen he realized how big the file was, he
went out and bought a digital camera, OCR software and a sheet feeder for the
copier/scanner. Byrne controlled the engiimegebudget.

He ordered Wagner to take photos of the Tech Tips screens whenever he
wasndt busy with anything else. They
print out the photos and give them to Alice, the receptionist. She was instructed
to cut off the warnings othe edgesthat said property of Xlectrixdo not copy,
and then scan them. The software would turn the image into text. Some of the
pages didnot work very wel/l, especi
letters representing radiological symbols. Byhael to review them and write in
the corrected formula or symbol. It took a lot of time, and they were only about
halfway through the file. Alice asked about whether it was okay to do this and
Byrne told her they had Bcenseto do it. She was totally chless, Mel said,
guilty only of stupidity, or at leastaiveté

Mel knew that Byrne had the L4 program running in diagnostic mode,
but he never saw it used. They didno
wanted to keep it running so that if theyeewgot an L4 he could do the
diagnostics himself, saving the company mortég.warned Mel not to turn off
the computers or c¢close the Xlectrix
without the dongle. For weeks the spare computer with the copied hagdrdit
was kept running. The programs were never closed. Byrne would keep his
company laptop plugged in during the day htinight e always made sure it
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wasin sleep modeThen one day they came into work to discover there had been
a power failure ouwmight. The backup generator had kicked in, but not soon
enough. The spare computer had shut
access the Tech Tips or other sensit
dongl e. Fort unat e rdythe laptép waslstll inGsleep tndde  r
and retained its state Af t er that , they only ha
company laptop, running the programs.

Mel stopped at this point in the narrative and reached into the console.
Cliff was worried there mighbe a gun there, and gtzdd Me | 6 s ashha n d
reached inbutwhen he looked in there was no gun, so he let go.duigd out
a wal of tissue and blew his nogEgliff took the opportunity to ask him about the
remote access to the other clinic Lilacs.

Wagh e r denied knowing anything ab
know that it was possible to remotely access a Lilac, much less one belonging tc
someone else. Byrneeverlet him read the Lilac 4 operation manual and Mel
di dnot have any.Me hrbanrespsrsibility was dhe isatoge s ¢

machines, notthe Lilagndh ey di dnot have an L4. B
He once overheard Brian talking on the phone abpbeisaid It was obvious to
Me | after heari ng s o mesatianfthat Beywastalkingto e n

a thirdparty service compang,group of exemployees of Xlectrix who went out

on their own and competed against Xlectrix for servicing the Lilacs. Byrne had
obviously promised he could bring a printed copy of the complét&dch Tips.

From what he could gather, the job offer was contingent on him bringing that.
After that ke assumed that Byrne kept rushing him and Alice to finish the
photographing and scanning so he could take the manual and jump ship. Byrne
didn 6t wadechTips th lkeelp the clilc, he wanted tgo into competition

with Xlectrix and get a highgpaying job.

Cliff asked him whyByrne might want to remotely accesarother
clinicsd system to overdose patients
Cliff asked him if Byrne had any financial incentive to increase business there in
Fremont, Mel had an epiphany.

AiLynda and Dr . Gaur were seriousl
AiBrian told them he thought iwmHewads a
he thought it would be uniable and mighteven be recalledHe tried to
convince them the L3 was good enough. That was his expertise, you know. He
serviced L306s at Xlectrix.o

AGo on. O
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i Wel | some of t he doct ormetimes, arct i
went to conventions and talked to ot
problemswith the L4 They thought theyl be losing business because other
doctors would refer patients to thainics with the newest equipment®he
hospital adhinistrator wasalso giving them pressure to stay current with the
technology.The L4 supposedly could be tuned more finely in dosage and aimed
more exactly, so it was supposed to be safer for the patmussservice costs
were lessput Brian told thenthat he had heard different. He said if they waited
another couple of months, he bet it would come out that the L4 had a safety flaw
and patients would be flocking to
systems. 0

iAWwel | | t hat d o e s medsdn tosge &illimg pedpleeSo e n
what i f he was wrong? He was sal ari e
get fired if it didndt happen. o

'Y e a s sdlaged. But he hated the doctors. He hacked into the
company payroll system and saw how much thm@ake. Dr. Gaur makes over a
million. The others all make at least eight hundred thouddred. di dndét t
he knew this, of course, but he told me and Alide.was fuming that they only
paid him seventyive. So he made a deal. He said if patient icafibr the L3
d i dincdetse by at leagen percentovert he next sd take emo n't
twentyf i ve K cut for the year, but i f i

AfYoubve got to be kifddieng.r afhdr har
patients?Eve ki | | i ng t hem?2d
Al dondét know. |l never knew he wa
possi ble? And how would that increas

ADid you hear about the post i n
was overdosing patients and that it wasafa? It implied that patients and
doctors should avoid those treatment

i O my Lord, he was ranting about that a couple of weeks ago. He said
the word was out and hebéd soon be pr
that. The paent load was up a little, but not then percent. It actually would
have cost him fifty grand, too, not twerfiye. Remember, he would take a cut of
twentyf i ve i f we didnodét hit the target.

AYoubre right, 0 Clalthbugh |sl@btlk,docters h a |
would actually cut his salarsince e could always leavié they did, but he may
have thought they woulke him up on the cuilow much longer did he have to
get it up to the target?0

Al think another two months or so
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AWho el satknédvwe almacking into the g

AfJust Al i ce, | t hink. Brian tol d
heard him talking to her about it once or twice. They used to go out drinking
someti mes after work. | ethdtds th& doctoasyab e
much as he does. Satterlee makes overfilige Alice hates her even more.
Alice only makes fortyf i v e . That 6s why sheb6éd do
ten percent target, and do his scannitgg. If they find out about thahim
hacking the payroll records,h ey 61 16 fi re hi m.

This was the first ti me CIliff re
been fired. He should have picked uj
not MAwas. 0

AfHe has been. o

ABri ands be e nwoddihave  Pave bdém @ goed actor to
feign the surprise, Cliff decided.

AnThat 6s what |l 6ve been told. It
the Xlectrix building, andhet hr eat ened me. 0

iSo what happened to the p athei e n
photos.

fil canot t el | you everything we |
think Byrne remotely accessed tlempeting hospitafsand clinic Lilacs
during reatment, slaved the Lilato his laptop, then disabled the dgss-pulse
monitor andncreased theurrent | think he was trying to injure people and then
spread the word that the L406s were
clinic.0

AfAnd were patients hurt? Killed e

Cliff had skirted the edge of his attornreljent privilege #eady,
probably crossed itin fact, bwo ul dnét go as far as th
only | et you draw your own concl usi
then picked them up and put them in his pocket.

AJesus Chri st , 0n dEspmg lesrhandsan pgraged and a

|l ooking skyward. AForgive me. 0

ifiHave you heard of the felony mur

AUmm, | think so. o0

ifiThe simplified version is this.
trade secret theft, or conspira@nd then he kills someone, evaacidentally
heés guilty of murder. 0

il never killed anyone, e Therewaa ¢ c |

desperatiomn n Mel 6 s voi ce.
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iArendt you? Thereds more. The ru
co-consprators, are guilty of all the crimes committed by any of them. The
getaway car driver is guilty of murder if the guy inside the bank accidentally kills
someone during a robbery.o

Wagner 6s eyes went glassy and he
Ido?6 he finally asked.

nGet a | awyer, a good criminal | &
best deal you <can. You may have to
they donot have jurisdiction ov@&mre m
going tofind outeverythingsooner or later. Yaubest chance of making a good
dealisinthe nextfouo eighthour s. And dondét tell y
your lawyer about thgossibility of overdosed patentEand |1 6 m not
there were any 0

nl eaw | di dnot know it was even

system, much less cause intentional overdoses. | never thought | was hurting

anyonel just took a little computer widgétom a bagand shot some photas.
iThat may save ybotyau haaeslsghef judgnment por i s

worryabout 6 Cl i ff pointed a finger skywa
After a |l ong pause Wagner nodded
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Chapter33

When CIiff returned home he was both elated and troubled. He had
finally solved the mystery. Byrne hastolen the dongle and launched all the
programs thatusediiedd r emot el y accessed the L.
hospitals and caused overdoses in order to drive business to the Fremon
radiology centerBut what was héo do with this information?

He had to tell Vogel , but Vogel
provided to the FBI or police. That would inevitably bring out the fact that
patients had received overdoses and could make doctors and patients afraid to u:
any Xlectrix machine.T h e yb& dviewed as vulnerable to hackinghe
settlements in the overdose <cases 71
lawyers claiming that the company knew there veagroduct defectand
concealed that information. But this was murder. He would have bgaltyle
required to provide the information to authorities if he knew of a crime in
progressor oneaboutt o be committed, but-cliéne c
privilege just to report a past cri
permission, anyay.

First, he called Sharon Perry and told her that Mel Wagner had admitted

stealing the dongle at Byrnedbds direc
AncCl i ff, t hat 6s fantasti c! That t
mi ght have that it waartatoni when somebade s

physically steals something and carries it away. That looks like stealing to any
judge or jury. We can prove the secret part of trade secret theft. The theft part,
too. 0

AThe o6csl iomn cft heée obd ook ClT N efft wadeepthei e d
course of business. 0

iThe clinic, t oo. Vogel probably
webve got | everage. I 61 | call their
admi ssion in writing?o

ANo. O

ARecord it?o0

i No . Yo u ¢ia @diforniadnithout toasent of both parties. |
didnét think | could get it out of h
tell her that he di dn éhanded dareatmentof Med, c o

either.
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iSo i tés | ust idyhs.uHow arcome doing th prave ihife
he recants?o0
iHe wonoét . l 6m willing to bet het¢

twenty-four hours, trying to cut a dedltold him to get a criminal lawyer and not
let the company lawyer tell him what to.d

iThat 6s great for the criminal c a
statements he makes. 0
iYou can question Mel about it in

If he takes the Fifth, vyoudfWelldwd my
wonot demyitunder amthwhi ch he wonét with cr
pending and the chance of perjury being added bt 6 s my uncolt
testi mony. O

AiThat could work. Itds enough toc
Theyodére aovegatbhard ti me clai ming
empl oyment with two employees involyv

AThr ee. Alice Wang wasnbot i nvol v

knew the scanning she was doing was

ARi ght on! o

AOne other thing. OO

AWhat ?0

fiThat lawyer was probably telling the truth about why Byrne was fired.
He hacked into the company personnel files and saw the salaries of the doctors
Eight hundred grand at the bottom end, over a million at the top. He told Mel and
Alice. They were resentf| at what they saw as the

iThe doctors arendét going to want
them Mel spilled the beans to as.

nloll | eave you to it, then. Hold

il can hardly wfafit . .HdJWwaalksutaglaumg

ANot today. Too much going on. o

AOkay. Talk to you soon. o0

ALater. o

Cliff called Vogel next and left a messageo c a |l | him whe
get through. It was stil]l only 10: 30
lunc h . Hedd been up for six hours and

had put off lunch with Sharon not because he was too busy but because he wa
hungry and wanted to eanmediately Hek new s he weatingfad n ot
another two hours or moreide al so wasnot SO sure
anything with her. Lunch once a week was plenty of togetherness for now.
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He fixed himself a sandwich and ate, then, with not much else to do, took
a nap to make up for his lost sleep. He managed to getfamjy minutes in
before his phone rang. It was Vogel calling him back.

Cliff told him the whole story with Mel, except, of course, for the part
about him picking Mel up bodily and shoving him into the other seat.

AYou told him aboustattdewbvbrdbae:t
t he FBI thatds going to come out in
that our systems can be compromised this ayere compromised this way
webdbre doomed. I never authorized tha

fil di dnodét t eds bvertioserh | jashtglcohimel suspected that
was what Byrne was intending to do,
confirm those were Lilapatients He drew hi s own concl

AsStill, that could | et theowhol e

il think youdr e exagg evasantintentignal adt o w
by a saboteur j ust what you told me when yo
Cliff realized he had exceeded his authority showing Mel the photos, but it had
done the trick. He gdhe confession. Now it was time to control the damage.

fi tiwas a flaw to design it in a way that it could be compromi&eteast
that 6s what pl ai ntWefcodufilstill kwe diablenthedry Buto u |
our settlement agreemerdge ironclada nd t her e wo nldabiltyb e |
i sndt the issue. | ®m worried about f

fi L ook, bount to eomes out sooner or later. These doctors all go to
the same conferences and the rad techs move from town to dioanging
employers Eventually it had to become knowrto the whole radiology
communityb u t youodl | have months or year :
longer a problemAt least now you can point out how you fixed it. It was the act

A

of a crazed thiefa brazen sabotel¥ o u 6 v ein dpaarsforghato

iDo we know if he stildl has Q@hat
destroy the evidenae.
iYoubve reinstalled al/l the syste

hurt anyone even if he has Mel said it was just the one laptol watched
Satterlee walk them out of the building. Neither had any laptop in their hands

when they 1 eft. Didndét the clinic | a
the files? Did you check to see what
il donot know what 6yebeeWedlulr néd

software people review it. From what you say, the files are going to be in there at
| east from the one desktop machi ne,
company has the | aptop in hand. 0
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il dm more cdBryocaremesd ralidwet, especi e
pointed my direction. Digou read the email | forwarde®a y i ng & 6 m n e
Yes. Jesus. |l 6m sorry. o0
Did they find anything useful ye
They traced t hantheaindow upthrodgihthe fdisa | |
ceiling into the ductwork of the HVA
system to find the bullet, and wefused to let themThey told me they were
pretty sure it was a highowered hunting rifle based on how fapénetrated and
the distance. 0

ADid you or anyone el se get a thr

iNo. No oneds r epoThda police saitl wet shouldne
consider getting increased security,

fiYou can alk to your security providesbout that. They all have armed
guards on call. A lot of oftluty cops or retired agents do that. But it gets
expensi ve, and a stalker can just a
everywhere indefinitely. | f til heecoastdsn t s
clear . o

AfiHow about you? alMutsdcuri@oe you doin

Al Om stayi ng a,arayos AllooPD. is doieg incredsedc e
patrok around my house. Some of the local FBI agents know about it, too, and
may be coming by.

Douyoarry a gun?o0

No. Just a GPS wunit.o

GPS?
Thatés a joke. Never mind. o CIlif

ot Ot D

jun 1 S 1 S | S 1
o

to Vogel.

So how |l ong until the FBI arrest
Maybe a year. Maybe never. o

What ?hbpe thad 6s a joke, too.
Cal m The KBhonly has a case of trade secret theft started, not
murder, and they only just got it. T
Attorneyds office. Someone there wil
or maybe not. If they do, thethey present it to a grand jury and get an
indictment . Since Byrne is represen
letter and give him a chance to come in and testify to the grand jury if he wants,
but that 6s hheidgdh | dyberutehyadtk 1 pr obabl y gi
to come in ad self-surrender. ThefB usuallyn o ar r est . That 6

o2 S | S } S 1]
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works. The prosecutors are more concerned with making nice wittiefease
attorneys thagiving the agentstats 0

AHow about makihbenvtcetiwvmsd attor

AiYoubre not a party in the crat mir
least until sentencing You wonot be standing wup
defense attorneys will be screaming about constitutional violations, ethical
breaches, yada, yada. The AUSAO6s do

nSo Byrne will be free to hunt wus
anything?9

AYoubre the one who didndét want n

They still d o n 0 ttheykknow ¥hereavirere killingginings willo n ¢ e
change. Violent crimes are a whole o

AMurder is a | ocal c rabomehe ovéfdoksds t
Oof cour s e, we stil/l think the deaths

Cliff noticed hav the cause of death cegniently changed according to
Vogel 6s and the coimpmanydisndgetsa dotmy
the shooting orByrne The police can work on that for now. The FBI knows
about the email, toandThéegaéll!| at &akeet
Al stil |l wshosviiWagnertbhe photosl @ 6 t

AiYoubd better change theavardosssea nd ti
happen again. You should probably di
il dondt teghniaalwhadd chat would be to implement, but |
dondot think | could get that pushed
Webve cut the average time spent by
ticket. Half the calls we gatow can be diagnoseadmotely and the service rep
can direct the rad tech engineerat t he clientés | ocat
adjustment, or try this or t hat . Not
wait hours or even days for a rep to get there, eio tip timeis much greater
and servicecosts arelower | t 6s been a huge sellini

i Wel | at | east make the progr ams

iThat 6s what the dongle is for. [
it, somethingncrediblylong and totallyunge s sabl e. 0

AiYoudbr e mi s sYounnged & he#t ang suspendaighen the
dongle is stolen, it doesndét matter
a password typed in manually by the
bag or ora disk or in a note. Something he can remember but not easily guessed
like a long phrase with digits in it, too. If Byrne had had to enter a password by

hand in addition to the dongl e, t his
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il never thought rofght hat 61 Yot almk
peopl e. It doesndét sound that hard t
say webve already i mplemented that r
stolen | aptop and dongl e. 0

AfAnd maybe you c ayone alsetfromadetting hup ore v |
kill ed. Dondt you think thatédés a bit

Anof course. Of course. That too. 0

il have to ask you something el se

killing patients with what he was doing? What kind of trainirgytbe service
reps get?0

fil donét know. They get trained i
cour se. Theyoére well aware that the
see them in clinical use much and may not realize how much more dangerous
they are when unmoderated by the DPP. It might be like driving and drinking.
You hear all the time itds deadly, I
trouble they think the rhetoric is exaggerated doesndt .Hepopld y t
have thought he wasigt going to administer a little burn, enough to get the
patient to change to a different cli

fi | hope yHa®dd ehaveghtao be a col d |

killing people. o

inWwel |, he obviously knows heodos
relocatedthe managet e mpor ar i | y. Hi s family, t
forever. Youbve got to get this reso

A

iWwWait al Goatagetdt.resolved? Why mé? di dndt t
into a homicidal maniac. He was firéas last time for hacking into the company
personnel records and sowing dissent among the clinic workers. That had nothinc
to do with me And he was angry at Xlectrix and his boss long before | was on
the scene. 0

ABut youdre the ooaki who bxrxpssednd
him fired. | expected you to investigate the cause of the overdoses, not put target
on our backs. 0

ifObviously the targets were on yi
was zapping your patient base with fatal doses difatimn trying to ruin your
company. And | did what you hired me to tdind out the cause. Something
none of your engineers or anyone else at your company was able to do, | mighi
add. o

AAnd |1 &m gratef ul for that. @é&wut |
overboard. o
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iWent over boatsdiVed theecasa. Nowe appéass to!be
gunning for me, too. Are you going t

AYoubre not our empl oyee. We hir
situations like this, not the other way around.

AThanks for nothing. o

Vogel started to respond, but CIiff hung up on him 4sgetence.

He needed to blow off steam, he decided. He changed into his running
clothesand headed out to the park, forgetting to look around for Byrne when he
left his house

He parked at the main lot at the same park where he had helped Ashley
and Ellen with the geocache. He started running hard at first, expending the
nervous energy he had built up. It felt good, but he soon got winded and slowed
down.

Settling into a joghe approaatd the demonstration farrwhere goats
and other animals are raised to show schoolchildren the agricultural heritage of
the valley.Six miles later he was totally drained and thoroughly relaxed, bathed
in endorphingo the point of nirvana. Allhe cares of the world had melted away.

He drove homepassing a police cruiser on his bloghowered and
changed clothes, and popped open a beer. He had just sat down in his recline
wanting to think about nothing at all when his doorbell rang. Onnhstiert, he
moved from the family room to a bedroom from which he could see who was on
his porch. It was Ellen Kennedy. She had rung the bell four times with no
response, and was turning to leave, when CIiff rapped on the window and
motioned for her to aly there.He went to the entry hall and opened the front
door.

Ell en greeted him with a question

Puzzled, he hesitattde f or e replying simply,
back.

Ellen stepped insideSeeing his look, she conn nu e d , i Wagne
just called me. He wants to set up a meeting with me and the AUSA. He says
Wagner 6s ready to cooperate fully an

AfiThat 6s great, ElIl en, 0O he replie
another shoe to drop.

AThatods the fastest | 6ve ever sol
people?0 She gave him a stern | ook.
Aiwhy? What did he tell you??o

AThe question is, what arendt you

AEI |l en, come on, you -ckentorivilede® m bou
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AiThen | et me make it easy for y
Crabbeldsdrhae, then when he coul dnot
Wagnerto steahed ongl e t hat decrypted it al/l
Then, apparently, Byrne rertaty accessed some Lilacs belonging to competing
radiology clinics and caused them to overdose patients in order to drive busines:
to the Fremont facility. The lawyer insiskdel knew nothing about this until
yesterday when 6an lowedais somg @ctues of deadr
patients. That was you, | 6m sure. Ar

Cliff nodded throughout the reci
denying it.o

AAnd thatds how As hl &hgglogveraed atdhime r d o

He realized he wastill standingin the entrywaywith a beer in his hand.
fiCome on, |l et ds sit down. Woul d you

il di dnét come here for a drink.
living room and accepted the invitation to sitdown i So ar e you g
the whole story? If this is a murder case instead of a white collar crime the
AUSA needs to know right away. o

AYou dondét need me to confirm wh
and the documents from the clinic they took affit. But | swear | diti& know
Ashley or any other patient was being targeted. | had my suspicions, but it could
have been a software glitch design problemgr something else. If | had known
for sureByrne, or anyone, was intentionally overdosingigras | would have
taken action to stop it. did try to stopit in fact, even without knowing the
caused

ADid some patients die from overd

nAl I I @rabably sbaitthat cosld be hard to prove beyond a
reasonable doupt whi c h i sieedvfbraatcriminal oasédlac patients
have cancer; when they die saaiter treatmentthey usually die from cancdf.

I were you, t hough, | 6d | everage tFh
worried about him going to prison or even get a deattienice for murdethe
lawye® d pr obably get him to agree to a
yet since he got fired. He got fired for hacking into the payroll records, not for
overdosing anyondf anyone was overdoséda n d | Saginganyote wasi

Byrne would assume no one else knows he ditlalve Mel wear a wirand

meet with him to ask what he should do if anyone questions Bim

AYou told me yoemaaontd a hdeeaeaetdrs tthra
the Xlectrix window.It now looks like Byrne is on a murderous revenge birige.
donét think I could putoa civilian t
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nAt | east do consensual moni tori.
what youdre worried about. o
AThanks for telling meoulikemeto @l r u

you how to run your business?o

He liked her independent spirit, even if her anger was directed at him. He
would have reacted the same way in her position.

APoint taken. Sorry. But Il 6m t he
have ar i gh't to want to get this over w
certain things, but | have a right to spieservation. | can tell you this much. |
have reason to believe Byrne has killed before and is fully capable of doing it
again.Il 6 m | ately in fearfor my life. More than | ever was when | was an
FBI agentd

The scowl |l eft Ell ends face at th
to get the Assistant U.S. Attorney to authorize search warasatsdictment on
the trade secret theftt might not be enough to arreByrne yet, but she could
probably get the AUSA to cut Me | a
handed to him on a platter. Mel and his lawyer would first have to convince her
and the AUSA t hladw albut ther ogeadbsing, of ddurd&ined
had achieved her godhr now at leastand, satisfied, finally smiletriefly at
Cliff.

He noticed for the first time that she was letting her hair grow out. She
no longer had that msaulinel o o k , but i & hairwla ok diim aj u ¢
mo me n t to place what i t Brezhreveyel8dwe 0 d
plucked! It gave her face a whole new look. Maybe Theresa inspired a bit of
vanity in her.

AAl I right, | hadven sorpgyp, abetre 6
life. | know several of us from the R.A. have done some drived s ljust r e .
hope you mghwitmMel If yowfarced a confession out of him and
it gets attributed to us, we could |

Cliff smiledbackat her .ndiltehownei tk goes wit
When is that going to be?b0

AwWebve set it for tomorrow with t
wicked scowl Al o6l 1l Il et iyloiuk &k nyoowy 6 vad |1 erti grhe
i nvestigation has gone. 0

Hemanagedaansmile fARul es are rul es. 0

AExactl y. Rul es are rules. o0 She s
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Chapter34

After ElI'l en | eft, Cliff t hought
Sharon Perry called him at 5:30 and said there had been big developments in th
civil case.

Al édm al l ears, o0 he told her.
iLook, I 6m on my. QGaralgtopdoyan mpway horhe® o
I have some stuff to show you. I f |

management committee meeting. 0
il guess that wouydubkiwaéePoright.
ADoes it matter?0 she said coyly.
He gave her his address and she
hung up. Cliff was exhausted. The early morning expedition to the East Bay and
the long run had taen i ts tol . The nap had h
enough and the beer hadnot ke eivil gasal ,
could be winding up and he wasxiousto hear what happened.
It took her fortyfive minutes to go the fifteen miefrom the Herrick
of fices to Cliffés house, B a yWhéenrsleea ¢
arrived Cliff opened the door without checkititgoughthe bedroom window as
he had done with Ellen. He was just too tired to be paranoid,amysvay,he
wasexpecting her.

ACliff,d Sharon gushed, iwe have
bottle of champagnand stepped inside without waiting for the invitatibnS o r r y
Il om | ate. The police pulled me over

theydet aki ng this threat thing seriousl
Mixed fe el i ngs f | o wegystem.HtrsaundgchlikeGHe iciilf 6
suit was going to end well for his client, which was good news for him, but he

j ust wasnot in the mood t o d$tinow. Stihd d
he didnét want to be rude and he def
Al ol l get some gl asses. 0 He gest.

seat while he went to the kitcheé®he sat on the sofele returned with twavine

glasses He didndédt have champagne gl asse:
As he peeled off the foil he aske
i No, I havendédt heard from Byrneés

right now. | have better news. 0
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Cliff dislodged the cork and poured. He had no intention of finishing his
gl ass. He didndt even | ike champagne
ent husi asm. AWhat?0 was all he coul d

iThe Fremont Radiol ogy GrdaheypwantT h €
to settle any and all claims stemming from whatever Byrne may have done.
Theybébve dropped their demand for dis
4 at full pricel no hagglingi and a fiveyear service contracOf course they
want a retase from any claims. Roger is delighted. He has to clear it with the
V.P. of sales and a couple of other people, but the deal should be wrapped up b
tomorrow morning. o0 She raised her gl

Cliff clinked his with [aletheoriginai T h ¢
materials Byrnetookd el et ing all the fil es?9d

ANo, t hantydst htihneg.f uHeds offered to
computers. Our people can watch and verify that the disk is reformatted and sc

on. But he does ndopy ofwehat twas tor thag iThe énitiall s
materials he gave us had a copytleé desktop computer in the engineering
secti on, but he hasnot turned over t

the same stuff as on the other compu
Cliff realized immediately what this meant. Mel or his attorney must

have told the <c¢clindvcerabomauitngBya nmpest i

order to increase business. They wer

such a thing, or provide anyone with evidertf it. That would look like it was

at the partnersé direction and coul

criminal prosecution or yanking of t
they found evidence of that activity on the laptopl $ti, Vo gel hadn
him to tell Sharon about the overdoses so he said nothing about it.

il nteresting. Maybe heds trying

that makes them look liahle Maybe therebds somet hi
another company 0

fiCome on, dr i nk up . What 6s t he N
Sharonheldherneempty gl ass up again. CIliff:/{
Altés just been one helluva day,

company. | was up at 4:30 this morningsollcah get on statio
this morning, then the whole business with Mel, then briefing you and Vogel,
t hen | did a | ong run. On top of t h;:
assassin all/l day. Il 6m just plain bea

APoor boy, d smandsodd keffilyou coul c
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She wasnot geetbdbegsbhe hhet coff o
time when | can really enjoy it. How about if you put this champagne in the

fridge for now and | 61 | taackrainlastfulnass n
in his voice, but wasnoét sure hedd p
ANo probl em, Cliff. | shoul d have
bef ore barging in here. That 6s terri
better than our usual investiga r . 0
This piqued Cliffds interest. | f
|l i ke Herrick, it would be a major bo
AHol den BouHBIler .t oHe.00s e X
ABoulter ?! Youbve got t oporrban thk i d

I nternet. 0 Wasladuwervis® awhol haderetired about five years
before Cliff had. He was one of many who got promoted for no other reason than
he drank with the front office brass. In addition to being lazy and never around,
heéeénba terrible investigator and c
save his |ife. Hedd been known arour
play on his name. Cliff had no ide@wh e 6d gotten his P. I
gotten a major law firmsa client.

AMy my. A |ittle professional | ea

AHar dl y. How did you find him? He
of your partners. o

nGol fing buddy, actually, i1f | re

Ah, golf. They always say the real business get® donthe golf course.
Boulter was a good golfer, Cliff remembered. Maybe he should take up golf, too,
instead of geocaching. Naw. Geocaching was more fun.

AAnyway, 06 Sharon continued, il o6l
sorry for being too presumptusu 6 She rose to go.
AiNot at all . Your timing just isn

the entrywayhe put his hands on her shouldargending to give her a warm
hug, but sheurnedto face him,closed her eyesand puckered her lipsHe
realized there was no polite way to avoid kissing her, so he bent his head anc
their lips metShe wrapped her armasound him and pulled him close.

AfnAre you sure you dondét want that

AAnot her day. Or night. o

She smiled and let loose fromthe emd c € . AAnot her ni
the champagne. 0 She turned the doorl
stepped out with her, watched her walk down the walk to her car, and smiled

weakly when she gave him a little wave as she pulled away fronuthe ¢
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Chapter3s

Cliff woke the next morning with a sense of accomplishment and
satisfaction for solving the mystery, but it was tempered by the realization that
the situation was far from resolved. Byrne, a killer, was still out there and even
more enaged and desperate than before.

He got up and made his way to the kitchen where he fixed himself a
small breakfast half abran muffin, juice, coffee ansbme strawberries. He was
trying to be virtuous with his diet after the excesses of the past fesv day

When he came out of the shower he found his answering machine was
beeping. He was at first surprised anyone would call so early, but then he looked
at his watch and realized it was after 9:00. He was normally in the office by this
time, buthehadsléep | ate to make up for yeste
wasnodét planning to go into the offic
went to the phone to play the message.

It was Ellen asking him to call right away. There was a distinct uygenc
in her voice. He dialed her number. She picked up immediately.

AcCl i ff, | have some bad news. 0

AShoot . O

AnThatdos a bad choice of words. I

the Fremont radiology clinic. There was a brekak t her e | as't

| aptop was taken from Satterl eeds

justification, at | east unt il we can
iThat should increase your probab

fiMaybe but do you really think he would steal it and kéept home?
We have PC to search his home anyway
Itdéds probably at the bottom of the B

ioOkay, so youbve got an evident.
still havéeeMedi, lamd) Itdd bet whoever C
computer for the clinic knows what 0-s
who it was. o0

AfiThatds the real reason | 6m calli
regular IT guy fortheclinic s omeone named Garci a. B

AWhy not ?0
ifiHeb6s dead. Shot through tlthwas ahe a
rifle round. Whoever did it is quite the marksman. | think Byrne is out to



210 FATAL DOSE

eliminate the evidence against himbé m ¢ a tell yowntlgat the aleath threat
against you should be taken very ser

il wasitsteakiorugs!l y. 0

inwel | , take it more seriously. Ar

nYes. O

fCl ose t hem, and donot stand in
recommendyou@n 6t go outside until we <can
should find another place to stay. D

il woul d assume so. He knows hov
engine. My address would be otk and fifteen dollars away.appreciate the
warning, but [ canobt stay away fror
enough to get an arrest warrant for him?

fFor the trade secret t heft | yes.
whichmeane ven i f we fiay thdhm rhde bwvaornsd tf osr
be at risk. Do you have another pl ac

il dondét have any relatives arour
office is, | assume. | stopped going there. | could find a motel somewieae
affordthatforavhi | e anyway. 0

i Do o the lawyerhave a copy of the hard drive from the laptop?
Dondét you do civil discovery?0o

AnHerrick, t hat 6s t he l aw firm re€
di scovery, including a ton ohthanoimpu
could go through them and see, but | think they only got the files from the
desktop computer, not the | aptop. o

N Ok ay , somethang a kasWill they turn them over or are they
going to claim attorney work product

il f i tgettingeByrnesarrested for murdérand keeping him from
huntingmedowrit hey damn wel | better not re
ACan you work from there?o9
AProbably. 16l contact Sharé, uh
theyol | | e ¢re. imshould prabably ptay away from Xlectrix, too,
considering the shot that was taken
nOkay, good. I ol 1 €©.0.canl BdlonAlotPeD. swi t |

they can alert their patrol peopie this latest developmenitntil we get Byrne
locked up you, the company people, anthybethe lavyer at Herrick could all
beatr i sk. 0

fOkay. So is someone coming over
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iYes, Mattbbegbh how whByh anot her
you get out of there safely. o

nl realatye atphparte.cil 6d better pack

iokay, I 61 | |l et you go. Stay safe

AThatds my plan. o

After they hung up CIiff dug out a suitcase and packed it with a minimal
supply of clothes, shaving kit and toiletries. His smart phone would suffice for
computer for now. He was still packing when the doorbell rang.

He went to the front door, stood to the side and asked who it was. Matt
Nguyen yelled back that it was him. Cliff opened the door. In theleshc,
idling at the curb were two Bureau cai3ave Warner, the Arabispeaking
agent , was at the wheel of one. The
Los AltosP.D.patrol car cruised the through street beyond

They exchanged handshakes and the usual greetings. CIiff finished his
packing andold Matt he would be backing his rental car out of the garage. Matt
said theydd escort him out unt il he
were sure no one was following him.

Cliff made sure the house was locked up and eadiis neighbor asking
her to pick up his mail for a few d
several times in the past. Then he headed to the garage and backed out &
planned.

When they got a mile or so from his house the patrol car peeled away
into the left turn lane. CIiff waved his thanks at the officers who returned a
thumbs up. Cliff drove to the rental car company, Matt and Warner still behind.
There, he told them he was going to exchange his rental car for something else
just in case Byrne hasken this one when he served the subpoenas. His own car
was still in the upholstery shop. Matt told him he had to get back, and another
round of thanks took place.

Cliff renteda big SUV with plenty of power. He wanted something more
substantial and talte with better visibility, now that he was a target. His
insurance which was paying for the first car while the vandalized Volvo was
being repairedwo ul dnét cover the more expens:t
no time to stint. Vogel had said theywod n 6t pay to rel oca
damn well going on his next bill. They could argue about the money later.

He drove directly to the Herrick offices and was promptly ushered into
Sharondés office. She was i n Ieocametn, b
to greet him and give him congratulations on solving the case. He explained that
there was still a lot of work to do and he was there to review the discovery that
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had been turned over. Apparently they had already been doing that and they
briefed him on what theyo6d found among

They told him they had found a gold mine of trade secret theft
information: the Tech Tips and IP chart as expected, but also customer lists anc
the internal operations manual for the Lilac 4, all normatigrgpted with the
dongle and marked &% X | e ¢ ompany corfidatial, Do not copyd These
were in paper form, buheywerenot a photocopy of the Xlectrix version. It was
now obvious that these had bebrought up on the screen, photographed, then
the plotos had been printed, the edges cut off where the Xlectrix warnings were,
then scanned with optical character recognition software. Voila! Brand new
documentgontaining the Xlectrix texihad been createdith a new formatand
the evidence of Xlectrix omership expunged. Byrne and his receptionist had
been busy little beavers. Theagld him Sharon considered the counterclaim
against Byrne a slam dunk.

Cliff asked them if they had examined the cloned hard drive of the
desktop computer that Byrne usétk knew that had been turned over, although
he would have pref er r @hkeysadtheyhadmet. He f E
suggested that he do thahile they work on the paper documents. One of them
showed him the computer that now housed the cloned drides@inhim up a
workspace there.

He told them hedd be fine and to

supposed to be doing. They had said nothing about the shooting at Xlectrix, the
death threat email Cliff had received, or the murder of the cliniguyr Garcia.
He assumed they hadnot heard about e
now. It would only make them paranoi
Al s o, he di dnot want them around wh
di dn dvtabolt theooverdoses, either, he assumed, and Vogel wanted that kep
under wraps.

Once alone, he booted up the cloned computer and began to examine it
He didnét really care about the trad
evidence of that, angith the clinic making its settlement with Xlectrix, the suit
against Byrne would never result in collectible damadssne was brokei
judgmentproof, in the legal jargonCliff mainly wanted some evidence that
Byrne had used the computer to accestthel acs at competito

He wasndédt a computer expert and v
done. Maybe through an FTP client or, more likely, through the Lilac operations
program itself. Since he di dteddtostarh ow
with the browser. The Firefox icon was prominent on the desktop, so he -double
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clicked that. When it came up he clicked on the Most Visited button. At the top
of the I ist wasThéwyame &dogle, BenBingt | nb o x .

The fourthwebsie was t he one tHe ditkedomatheg h t
link. | t was a blog by a Canadian #dApas
religion Sharon had told him Byrne followed. Although it avoided overt hate
language, it was remarkably foul stuff. Theiterr, who used the name Oberherr
Franz, explained how positive Christianity was {t@mominational, but
enveloped therinciplesof all the Christian denominations, which, he explained
further, were devoted to acting for the common good, as opposed wvithe
i s g lofo whalives of the Jewish religion. He made clear that Christ was an
Aryan, not a Jew, and | auded Adol f
heard of this guy, but it wasvidentthat he was an older male who was
something of a leader the movement, at least in North America

Much of the blog was not much different frahat ofany other blogger,
recounting his dayo-day travels and problems. He railed against various stores
when he felt he was treated batlly a clerkor cheated in sne way, and railed
even more at Canadian government agencies. Fascinated, Cliff read further. Ac
he did so, he noted that two months earlier Franz mentioned that he had had t
travel to California to get the medical treatment he needed since the Canadiar
system had put him on a wai't i st. H
regretted that he could not givarere specifidocationa sJewishh at e gr o
would hunt him down and drive him from his doctors if they knew where he was.
He bragged that hiead fooled the incompetent American bureaucracy by driving
across the bordeostensibly to shop for a day, but kept on driving until he got to
California. Cliff reread the later posts. There wasmentionof him returning to
Canada. Could he stilbe@al i f or ni a? Coul d Byrne e

Some passages Cliff had read earlier rung a bell with him. He reread one
blog entry, aquite recent one, about being assigned a doctor from an inferior
non-Aryan race and complaining about the lack of Argaictors at the hospital
But, Franz explained, the doctor was from India, and despite their dark skin,
since Indians are actually Caucasians, he deemed this acceptable. He mentione
how he had strolled the nearby campus and how the beautiful rdiiilsg
reminded him of the Weinstrasse€lffreg
looked up that region to get an idea of the geography.

When he had first read it, Cliff had assumed kiaspitalwas somewhere
in Canada, but now thae knew Franz was in Ctdrnia, it sounded like it could
be Stanford. A hospital near a campus and rolling hills, with manyAngsn
doctors. Stanford/ledical Centefit the bill, butprobably several other places in



214 FATAL DOSE

California did, too. UCLA was certainly hilly enough, but was urban andilso
toodry, being situated in the Westwood area of Los Angeles. USC had a medical
school , but Cliff hadnot been there.
description. UC San Francisco had a major medical school with cutting edge
research, but that was another one in an urban environment, not far from Sar
Francisco Bay. Cliff thought a blogger would more likely comment on the ocean
or bay scenery than rolling hills if that was his location. There were certainly
many other hospitalsear hills, and it was not clear that the campus was
connected with the hospital gotinstiecr t
told him the dear Oberherr was getting treated at Stanford where many specialist:
practiced the newest forms of medicine

How many fdisciple® of a fringe cult leader from Canada could live
within commuting distance of Stanf o
certainly made him a prime candidate for that role. Cliff went from the blog to
t he websit edé foundreaGaltery peatigrethat showed photos. Many
were of Nazi parades, Hitler saluting, a cross with a red and black swastika on it.
There were even several of Oberherr Franz, but he was very young in the
pictures. In one he had a Hitler mustache. In andibhervas working on a farm
somewhere in Germany as part of an exchange program, if the caption was
accurate. He was a scrawny youth with a pinched nose, tousled blond hair, higt
cheekbones, and piercing blue eyes. He would have been quite handsome had
nat been for bad acne, but perhaps that had cleared up long ago. The man had 1
be at least in his sixties ndvased on the date of the photo

Cliff tired of this, but figured he should find a way to get this information
to the FBI. It was relevant to tleiginal discrimination claim that cited religion
as a groundggiving hima possibleevengemotive for the trade secret theft, and
didnét give away anything about the
why Vogel would object. Cliff moved on toxamining the rest of the cloned
drive, but nothing pointed to it having been used to acotes Lilacs, at least
nothing he could spot with his skill set. He knew it needed theoFRlforensic
evidence firmto do a thorough job. He would have to distisat with Sharon
and Vogel.

As if on cue, Sharon walked in, back from court. She smiled brightly on
seeing him. She refrained from any display of affection since they were in a work
area with glass walls, visible to the rest of the office. He explaim&dhe had
been examining the drive and ther described what he had found. She was
interested and agreed titae information on the Oberherr Franz site should be
shared with the FBI, if Vogel was okay with that, but said it would hurt their case
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if they volunteered it. It might look like they were agents of the FBI, or using
government influence.

iNow, if the FBI were to send us
said theydd have a grand jury subpo
choie but to turn it over. o0 She gave h
this.

AFine, o CIliff replied, n oke lobked h e |
around to see if anyone el se was w
killing?o

Sharon looked &t i m, perpl exed. AWhat Kkil/

AnThe | T guy over at the Fremont
have been the one who copied this hard drive. No doubt he examined what wa:
on it, too, but | think whatever he

AiYou think Byrne killed him? For
the doctorsd pay information?o

Cliff realized he had made a tact
the radiation overdoses. It was the evidence of muirdile overdose$ that
probably got him killed, but Sharond
Kknew. He decided to play along. i We |
that rifle shot at Byrneds ol d boss
gottobe® rne, out for revenge. o0

fi Omi ,gomidod This is for real. You think he could be coming for
me ? 0

iltdés possible, but [ think he b
you, has he?b9d

i No. O

AnwWell, -bhedseuvuVatave. May b eacknga d o

woman. O

Sharon sat down heavily arttle flush of fear colored her neck and
cheeksBeads of sweappeaed on her forehea&he said nothing for a minute.

iwhat are you going to do, Cliff?

AFor now |1 6m going to omhm@yofficeanda r
house. With this latest killing | have to believe the Bureau or the police will have
enough to arrest Byrne. Unt i | t hen,
operations. Byrne might be Il ooking
there . 0

AYou want to work here?d0 The doult
ears.



216 FATAL DOSE

fi Of cour se. You donoét mind do Yy
evidence |1 d6m reviewing is here, too.
as he saw her hesitation gro

AWell & itdéds just that é I[1&dn maove
theyéd agree i f theredbs a gunman ou

personnel heré&. She made eye contact with hi
profusely
AiYoubrenarpaarendt you?o0

nYes, of course. And if it were
have t o check trialiawyér she Was surpdsindgtyaincongincing.

il canét do my job holed up in a
tinge in hs voice.

AiYou were in the FBI. Arendét you

carried a gun and locked up murderers and@la n 6 t you go a
something®
il 6ve never had anexpgrishotenvithsathanting iifle, g 1

noless Inévereeenshotaand now | dondét <carry a
vest. Look, that heroic bravado bullshit you see on TV is justithatal crap.

Medals for heroism are usually given posthumously. No thank lydu.l | | et
FBI SWAT team handle thattluyy . They | ive for that |

His voice level had risen to a point where others in the office were
noticing. Alargishmal e associ ate came over and
you okay heaSkecar on? 0

Al ém fine. Il 6m fWeé&re Lieavyte havia
di scussion. 0

The man left but Cliff could see he was hanging out in the nearest
hallway within easy shouting range.

AncCl i ff, l &dm so sorry. This is not
it cleared, really, but fornomyhy donodt you stay away
of days wuntil the weekly management

He stared down at her in disgust
way you want it See you artamed dut,0
without looking back to see if she made any further effort to remonstrate with
him.

When he got out to the parking lot he was confused for a few moments.
He coul dnét find his rental car at f
the SW/. He drove to a nearby extended stay matadl checked in. This was
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going to get expensive fast and he had no idea whether Vogel would pay for his

itravel . o0 He was i n whatbitleheHad mood as
He wanted to know what was going ontwihe FBI case. As he had told

Sharon, he felt they should have enough to arrest Byrnett®walled Ellen, but

only got her voice mail. Rather than leave a message, he hung up and callec

Matt. Matt picked up.

iMatt, I want t o trhirag,rfok esgoing maautdi n

ANo probl em. o

filt meant a lotAnyway, | need tatalk toE| | e n . Il s she th

fiElends over at the U.S. Attorneyos
Byrnebés place. 0

AAn arrest warrant, t oo, I hope?o

Al thinki mghefosr piuts,h but she wasnd

enough for the trade secret theft, she saidthmyd o n 6 t aut hori ze
know. Thi s | atest shootingé if she <can
probable cause that it was Byrne, well, tlsbre should be able to get a warrant
for obstruction of justice at leasthen maybe an arrest warrafhe said the
problem was that Byrne never had any criminal record beyond some traffic

tickets in I daho. No violence. Mot i v
AiL&o | 6ve got more information. B
ASeriously? You know this how?o0
iwel | it was ©privileged infor mat

screw that. ltds my own | ife on the

lay it all out but Ellen needs to know before she leaves. She needs an arres
warrant for a murder case to keep By

AiYou call her . Therebbs no point i
cel |l phone number. AnHey, do ya&sparenee
around here. o

ildm tempted to say yes, but i f |

isnét going to do much good. A nddty y o u
ones are. What | could use, though, is some place to hang out and do my work.
got kicked out of Herrick, and Xlectrix and my house are both off limits for now,
too. | need to see Ellen anyway.

nJust come on over her e. 61 | c |
youbre stildl Bureau family. Yooknows ho
head shots are rare because theyobre
mass for a reason. o

AMuch appobéeti beedver there in abo
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iSee you then. o

He decided to stop by his house to get a few more things. &ace
coul dndt use the computers at Herric
were for internal use only. They might let him hang out there at a desk, but not
use their own intranet. He also figured he was going to be without any evidence
to review forat least the next two daybut he wasstill going to needo stay
current on his email, keep Maeva informed, and generally tend to budifeess.
could do most of that frortihe hote) but more importantly, he wanted to be at the
FBI office because he knelwe 6 d b e a b T @& evendbe aonseltedhweha r
abouti any developments in the case

He called EIl 1l enbs cel | . She answe

AEI 1l en itdéds Cliff. I need to tal/l
arrest him for that, notawhiteo | | ar cr i me. 0

il believe you but we donét have

Cliff could tell from the sound of her voice that she was in the car and using
Bluetooth

ANot him. Well, yeah, him, too. B
AfHe has dno reco

iltés what | couldndét tell you be
ASwell, now you tell me, 0 she sai

Alto. The AUSA would only authorize a search warrant, but he said if Byrne
gave us any guff to arresthimforolb r uct i on. 0
AoGuff?6 Like shooting you throug

ifiYeah, t hat kind of guf f . Look, |
right now. Can you come by the RA?O0

Al dm already planning to. Matt sa
overthee as soon as | <can. o

AfOkay, bye. o0 She was off the Iline

He drove back to the area near his house, but stayed two blocks away
and cruised around, looking for any suspicious vehicle or person on the street.
After his second pass around the area he sawtral gar pull behind him,
flashing its lights. He pulled over and the officers pulled up behind him, vehicle
at an angle. Two officers got out, hands on guns, and approached his car, one o
each side.

iStep out ofhandedc¢car t bmgedihunpiegs t
the left rear bumper.

He compl i ed. il 6m CIl i fpfatKrmd wli engy, |
stood in the street, hands empty, fingers splayed so the officer could see them.
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AiDriverd6s License, o the of hds oar (
his face.

Cliff gently reached his rear pocket and pulled out his wallet. He opened
it, extracted the license and held it out to the officer. The officer examined it
carefully while the other one kept his hand on his gun butt and never took his
eyes off CIiff.

AThank you Mr. Knowl es, 0 the firs
Al odm sorry, but we were told youodd
sedan. o

iThe Volvods in the shop and | sw
thoughttht Byr ne mi ght Kknow what the Forc

Al o6l | update the other oWdwertlds.
you had moved to another locati?thhy ar e you here now??o

il need to go back to my house t
thearea myself to make sure it was saf

AwWedll|l escort you.o

They drove around his block and into his-delsac while he waited two
blocks away. They came back and said things looked clear. They then led him
back there and idled at theteance to the cuillesac while he drove into his
garage. He packed up some more clothes, including running clothes, the novel he
was reading, his laptop, his GPS unit, his reading glassg$ew of his favorite
snacks for the motel fridge. It all wentanacardboardox and that was loaded
into the SUV. The officers were still waiting when he came out. He drove away,
waving at this pair as he had at the officers this morning. In twenty minutes he
was at the door to the Palo Alto Resident Agency of thie EBen was already
there.

AcCl i ff, how are you holding up?o
voice.

nSo far Sso good. Except Xl ectri:
persona non grata o

nWel |l gayabed®ree But | have some bad

AWhaow?0 he asked with an air of

il got a <call from Mel 6s | awyer .
scared him off. He must have heard a

s he in hiding? Coming back?o

i
AiThe | awyer didndét know. 0O
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i So n oaptoptishgene,Ithe guy who examined it is dead, and Mel,
your cooperatig witness, has disappeared. | guess that puts me next on the hit

l'ist. o

AncCliff, webve got a search warr
Byrneds house. | 6 m sduar the trade Geclet cape, but w
what s this about him killing bandor e
your s. We dondét have an arrest warr a
the spot if hebds there and we get th

Cliff laid out the whole story for her from beginning to end. Matt
Nguyen joined them in the middle. It took over a half hour. When it was over,
Ellen and Matt exchanged looks that told Cliff they finally realized this was more
serious than they had thougha lot more serios.

AwWhy didndét you tel!]l us this befo
il coul dndét .cllitenwa sprad tvti d rergeeyd . A
overdoses were intentional criminal acts until last week. By then the danger had
passed since all the vulnerable Lilacs had hgmfatedwith reinstalled software
No one was at risk.o

iSo what 86 Mhahgaedked.

ANow | d&m at risk. The hell wi th \
rules allow breaking privilege where human life is at risk, anyway. | might lose a
client,b u t | wonot be disbarred. 0

iSo thatds why the |l aptop is so
worried about the evidence of trade secret theft. He was worried about whatevel
digital traces were there to show
compet t or s6 Lil acs. 0

AnWe stildl have no direct evidenc
Nguyen replied. nOr even that the o

machines or their software. o

i Oh, come on, o CIliff shot bta ek .
Byrne. He had the motivi fifty thou worth of motive, plus the revenge factor
against Xlectrix. He commented to Mel about the post from ConcernedRelative,
trying to spread the word about the

fi | agree, Cliff, b have eholigh prpofi yett Wes a
need to move fast and execute the search warrants before he has a chance
destroy any more evidence. There could be something in his house that ties hin
tothose deathst he overdoses or Garciads mur

AiYou coul di bteo wal Beagh trap, Ma t
proven his willingness to use vVviolen
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AiThat brings wup another probl em,
good photo of Byrne. He doesndt have
be able toecognizenimi f or our own safety as CIl i

AiYoubre kidding, o6 Matt responded.

nYes, but | candét get a photo fr
from California DMV. o
Al ol | cal l over t ohe)probably havexa, pboto,C1 |

for their security badge system.o0 H
secretary who put him on hold to find out whether they still had a photo. After a
minute she came back to tell him that they had deleted his recordttiem
security system after he got laid off. He relayed the information to Ellen and
Matt.

AcCliff,o Ellen said, Ayou can i de
search warrant? You also know a lot more about this case than we do. You car
helpidentifyX ectri x intell ectual property.

ASur e, I can heangnotaBagentanylongedb ot ar

fiwe 6 | | secure the stéhée fHoratsk yb
can get SWAT for this. o EIlIl en went
seveal minutes to explain the new developments. She emerged and said the
supervisor called the ASAC, but it tgahout the number one SWAT teamas in
Bakersfield in a SWAT competition.

AfHe said to take Dave Warner and
agres we need to move fast on this before Byrne can destroy any more evidence.
Letdbs go do it.o

Al ol | call Gina, 0 Mat't sai d. il k
They work violent crime an#iehmadet hh
his wife in San Jose and she took only two minutes to tell him he could have
Woody Braswell, the same agent who had helped Cliff at the bank robbery. She
also said she had an extra protective vest for ClIiff.

It took another forty minutes of working out the logisticsl driefing the
AUSA. The prosecutor said they didn
killings, but he gave Ellen the authority to arrest him on sight for the trade secret
theft. There was no warrant yet, but enough probable cause for the arrest to hol
up. That would at least get him off the street long enough to find evidence of the
violent crimes and get hitmeld longer]l n t he meanti me, hed
statute that covered murder by Internet.

They ended up with eight agents. Four wersigteated to search the
Fremont clinic. The other four Ellen, Matt, Warner, and Braswell would
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execute the sear ch wWaneramltBraswelerBboth n e 6
ex-SWAT. Cliff was to go with the four to the residence and help them identify
Xlectrix property oany evidence of the overdoses, and, of course, Byrne.

They headed out from Palo Alto threecars. Cliff rode with Ellen and
Warner rode with MattThe third car contained two other squad members who
were designated for the clinic selarlt was always good to have at least one
agentwithout a car in case you needed to put someone out on foot, and it was
also helpful to have a passenger to work the radio and look things up on the
briefing material, like license plate numbers, while ithigv They stopped in San
Jose and met up with the agents fron
for CIiff, which he donned immediately. All the agents had theirs on. Braswell
told them hedd f oBy ronesigiesice ithe other Sdose ¢ «
agents joined the two headed for the clinic.

In the car Ellen kept the air conditioning cranked up to maximum. It was
over 90 degrees and expected to get hotter during the day. Since Byrne lived ir
the south valley area it would be even hottereah@earing thick Kevlar vests in
that climate was never comfortable.

AHowd6s Ashl ey noawtheydr@é i ff asked h

AnSheds al most back to nor mal. He |
very pleased. They expect a compl ete

AThat éesr fwondnews. You know that i

ncCliff, stop. Say no mor e. I real
prevent what happened. And volunteering for the vascular transplant was above
and beyond. | 6m sorry for the way |

He said nothing for several minutes. Ellen got a radio call from the squad
supervisowho sai d he had notified the Sh
other radio traffic passed between the different cars. When there was a pause, h
spoke up again.

AYo6re | etting your hair grow out

AThanks. Yeah, I donate my hair t
short when you met mé. 6 d donated t wo Inmobnimbmted eo r
before | can donate again. They have minimum lengthregerat s . | d o
it, either, for that reason.

i Wh alibakssof Love 0

iltdés a charitable organizati on
chemo patients who | ose their hair.o

Cliff realized he had misjudged Ellen, and in more than one way. She
was obviously more giving, more caring, than he had given her creditidor.



FATAL DOSE 223

tough exterior hid a selfless natuFew women, young single women especially,
would sacrifice something so critical to their appearance as their hair for the sake
of some unkown strangers. From nun to FBI agent, and now to caring aunt
sister,and organ donoiThis was a woman who put others above herself.
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Chapter 36

The caravan wound its way up Dunne Avenue until they reached the
junction with Finley Ridge RoadThat took over twenty minutes from the
freeway.Ellen senBraswell in for a drivedy justto get the lay of the land. After
aminute or two he radioed back that it was quiet, no exterior sign of any vehicles
or people at Byrneobs. T hceuld e ingides Thare | a
was an SUV parked across the road on
registered to Byrne and he thought it was probably associatedomattofthe
house on the other sidef the road

They moved in. Since Ellen had f€lin her car, she pulled over about
fity yards from Byrnebs driveway and pe
the car and out of sight until she came back forl8.e got i n Br &
and they all drove in and parked on

Cliff watched from his vantage point. The house was on the uphilbkide
the road acroswhat was a fairly substantial mountain. He could see the front of
the structure, a 19288ntage wooden ranch house built by someone who would
not qualify as a DIY instretor. The shakes on the roof were so warped it had to
leak in the rain, which, fortunately, almost never occurred here. Up the hill two
hundred yards or so from the house Cliff spotted two large hay bales positioned
on top of a small rise. He recognizec thapers fastened to them as targets
riflery targets. He coul dnét see we
willing to bet theb u |-dyedveere obliterated.

As soon as thagentsstepped out of the cars, the heat began to brutalize
them. MattNguyen sweat streaming from under his vest, moved around to the
back of the house. The yard was clear. He stepped back to the side and signale
to Ellen that there was no sign of anyone in back. He moved to the corner so he
could cover the back and left sid&aswell positioned himself back toward the
road diagonally opposite Matt so he could cover the front and other side. He
caried the Heckler & Koch MPHt the ready positionEllen and Warner
approached the hous€his was her case, so she was in chav¥garner held a
shotgun. Ellen held her credential case in her left hand and pushed the doorbel
with her right hand, which she then placed on the butt of her handgun.

They heard someone move inside. She moved to the side one step
Warner moved back furtheso he was out of sight of the living room window,
but where he had a clear shot at the front door.

AWhods there?0 a male voice calle



FATAL DOSE 225

iOpen up, Byrne. ltds the FBI . We

ABrian i snot here, 0 the voice rep

nWwWore coming in to search one wa
open up or web6ll force the door. o

They heard the rattle of a chain
whether it was sliding into the locked or unlocked position. Then the door
craclked operabout two inchesEllen wasgasping for breath from a combination
of the heat and the tension. She saw one eye of the man as he peeked around t
door right at her . She coul dndt see
She held up the credgals for the man to see.

SimultaneouslyWarner ran low and fast from the other side and threw
his weight into the door, knocking it opatl the way The man inside went
sprawling, landing on his butt. His hands were empty.

Ellen rushed in, hand on guand quickly scanned the area. She could
tell the man on the floor posed no d
there. She moved through the living room to the kitchen, which had a door to the
back yard. She opened that door and called to Mattthey were inside. He
came to the door and stepped inside. Together they cleared the dining room an
garage. No one was there.

Before venturing down the hall they stopped to question the man, whom
Warner was now helping updatt kept his gunrained bward the hall while
Ellen moved back to the frombom of the house. The mawold them there was

no one el se in t he house. He i dent
roommat e. Byrne was out and hechdtz dné
had a wak t on hi m, which he offered to

confirmed his identity.

Ellen knew it was possible for Byrne to have false identity papers, but
this man did not meet Byrneb6s descri
Schulz was five eight and much older. Byrne was bald; Schultz had plenty of
gray hair.

Ellen explained to him that they had a search warrant for the entire house
and that they would search his bedroom or other private area as part of that. He
told her his waghe one on the right. She asked him if he had any weapons or
anything dangerousthere and he said no. When she started questioning him
further he said he didndt know anyth
to talk to the FBI about him.

Am lerurad rest ?0 he asked.

i
ANo. Wedre just here to search. 0
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AiThen 16d |ike to go. I 61 | come b
Al t hough she was disappointed he
to have him out of t he hous eolddhinr i n

anyway.

iALl I right, you can | eave. How a
hundred degrees out there and too fa

AfiThat 6s okay. My car is parked
town. o

Elenwoul d have |liked to search his

warrant nor was it on the premises, so they had no legal grounds. She was a b
uncomfortable with the fact they Kkne

done enough searchesto knowth wasnét so unusual
had money troubl es, so it wasnot p
roommate.

She called Matt over.

iMatt, why dondét you t akWoodiknaw Sc
wedre inside and dwerbyt ltilregparappmpeonot
we tell you webve cleared the rest
way. o0

ASur e. Come on,0 he said to Schu
him outside. ADo you have your car Kk

The man pndded. Matt frisked himthen they walked out to where
Braswel | was standing. Mat t told Br .

would be leaving when Ellen gave the all clear sign.
Braswell grunted an okay, sweat running off his brow in rivulets. He was

clearly wilting under the heal I t el | you what, 0 Mat't
here for now. The house has air cond
of f. o

AThanks, Mat t . | owe you one. 0

Braswell headed into the house while Matt stooereéhwith Schultz.

After another twominutesEllen yelled from the door that they had cleared the
rest of the house and Schultz could go. Matt motionecchol& with a jerk of
his head to take off. Schultz walked across the road and got in the SUV.

Matt hadn ot pai d mthe vehiclaltefore sirice lenwast o
focused on the house, but now something about it seemed familiar. It was the
samemakea s Ab b o uhd @dor wab slightly different; maybe it was a
different year It was a shiny black onadp, but the lower section was lighter,
because it was dusty and splattered with niutlad a Canadian plate, but there
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was nothing suspicious about that since the man was Canadian. It could have
beentheonelded chaséethe bombinga bot Die®UN
then that could have been that one.
make a positive 1Don any of them. There was nothing to tie this one to that
bombing eitherThis old white Canadianwas hardly Palestiniaide watched it

drive off.

Inside Ellen and the others formed a search plan. Now thhbtisewas
clear they needed to focus on executing the search. Since the warrant include:
documents and electronic media, they could look anywhere without limitation, at
least anywhre a posit or SD card could conceivably fit. Warner stayed there
while the others went back to their cars and got their search kite boxes,
bags, evidence tags, gloves, and forms needed. The evidence clerks kept the:s
kits ready for such occasiors it had been quick work to grab a few on the way
out the door.

Back at her car Ellen told Cliff he could come in now. His thanks were
effusive, since hedd been sweltering
t he shade, but gshwithbhdr s e khadmo dir eonditioning

He could see that she was perspiring heavily, too. Her bangs hung in wet
ringlets around her forehead and her cheeks were flushed. Dark stains marred he
shirt where it emerged from the vest. He thought she madget aff her vest now
that the house was clear and no one was hasé&e would have donBut she
kept it on so he did tooShe drove her car closty the house and they went
inside. Blessed relief!

Warner and Braswell, with their shoulder weapons, towks guarding
the front in case Byrne returned. Now that Schultz was gone, they assumed he
would call Byrne and alert him to the search. She guessed he would avoid the
area, but you never knew. Some subjects rushed back home to see what we
going on. Shénstructed everyone to keep their vests on.

Cliff was ordered to stay just inside the front door and not touch
anything. If they needed something identified, they would bring it to him. This
would remove or at least reduce the chance that some defémseyatcould
contend he planted some evidence or took something that would cast blame or
Xlectrix.

Braswell walked inside, trading places with Warner, cell phone to his

ear . Cliff heard him say fAno shito a
Braswell was looking straight at him when he said that, he got very curious.
AncCl i ff, you wonot believe this, 0

know that bank robber you tackl ed?o0
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Ther adgo guy ?0

Yep. He wwhen we naughtdhimosb leetgent right back to

San Quentin as a parole violator. o
AThatds good. o Cliff waited for t

shito news.

n
i

iAWwel |, hebs part of ceewgplimogit. withHhe a
rival gang, some drug dealers from downtso They jumped one of theimthat
copkiller Houck. Houclkd s i n critical condition,

i Nkidding?! And they say our justice

fGodoés honest truth. Didnoét | hea

il di idwas jbst a routine prer i al hearing. |t

difference. He pled out to save himself from the gas chamber. The prosecutor
said hedbd probably have a higher chc¢
death penaltysince death row inmatese isolated from other inmataad never

actuallygetexecuted | guess she was right. o
Braswell addedfi A n d theaobber is up for both bank robbery and
mur der . Hi s trial i s schedul edhdidttor n
add the murder That 6s Ttwhirtehe vsitorlieknecse . Hedl |
the rest of |life. o
A wistful smil e crept fAmtothimlesongeo r n
people dondt believe in natural sele

At that pointEllen called to Braswell, and he tef

Cliff pulled out his smart phone and logged onto a news site. Already
there was a headline saying ACopanKi |
hour behind times. Houdkad diedhalf an hour ago. Cliff noticed that his phone
had already lost hits charge. He was far enough away from the cell towers on
Highway 101 that the phone was using a lot of power to stay connected. He
decided to turn it off to save the juice.

El'l en and Mat't had been concentr
where he B0 had a desktop computer. She was about to get Braswell started on
the garage but a phone call had caused her to herd everyone back out to the frol
where ClIiff was standing.

AnThat was the other search team.
shauld be no trouble there, but | have some bad news. They did an inventory of
their radiological isotopes and some are missiBg.are some other medical
suppliesi scalpels, hypodermicsome powerful drugByrne must have taken
themwhen he broke in to aal the laptop 0
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AfWhat does that mean?0 Braswell i
on the case.

Ail't means that there could be ver
here.The ones he took were the most dangeiousost radioactivé thatthey
had.Everyone needs to be very careful. Cliff, do you know what we should look

for? You had that container in your
iThe one Byrne put in my |scaledavas
pig. dondt k n o whawthey alltoekrikethduda.t 00 s
iHas anyone collected anything th

Everyone shook #ir heads no. The only things taken so far were
address books, letters, and similar documentary items, all of which had been
shown to Ellen for her to initial the igkence tag.

AElI 1l en, 06 Mat't sai d, ifnWe have to
team in here. | f we open somet hing
radioactive, that could be a death s

She hesitated for a few moments but the stern look Mae her
convinced her quickly. AMattds right
call for the county hazmat team. That could take an hour or more for them to get
that truck up the mountain, assumingythz even availablé.

She went outside artdld Warner the latest. When she returned she told
everyone to gather in the living room and not touch anything. She pointed out
they had to keep someone out front, since Byrne could come back at any time
but at least now all the agents could share thg go no one had to roafir
more than ten minutes at a timehe temperature was well over 100 degrees
here.

She retreated to another room to make a call to her supervisor and ask
him to get the hazmat teaBraswell went back tthefront to watch foByrne.

For the first time since theydd ¢
rest had a chance to compare notes.

AncCl i ff, did you know that Byrne h

i No . Il's that who | saw |l eave in t

i Y eAsCanadian guy named Schut . 0

On the word D€apadbapeedEKetddtfal | vy

Ober herr Franz in the excitement ano
of the SUV when ipassed him as lieft the area.
ifiAn ol der guy, first name Franz?9d
AFr anegaid, bitkes| | cense read Fr an ¢he s .

GermanFr an z, i snot it 2?0
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iltbés got to be Oberherr Franz. I
selffst yl ed pastor, the spiritual head

AWhat church is that?o

iltod Pabkieive Christianity.,thnbor t
he had a specific chdermrdmi nathisomalp.po
a quasireligious rationalization ofNazism using biblical quotes and phony

history. The main thrust of is anttJ e wi s h . |t was daene ¢
websites. I read some of Ober herr F
getting some medi cal treatment that

with a o6discipleb. T h a td ofnity lketwashgettingB y r
treated at Stanford. o

At this Matt jumped up and ran into S
front when Ell en cdbeamed etalmathi mgomyr
he came back in. He hadnét | ooked in

When heopened that bedroom door he saw nothing unusual at first. He
began to open drawers. Ellerow off the phonesame rushing in.

AWhat are you doing?!0 she al most
me to stop searching. o

AThis i s ScohtulBRyzrénse érso.o M, hins sy ¢
car was identical to the one | chased. He conti nued to rif
of the chest of drawers.

AWhat are you talking about?0

Matt told her to go talk to Cliff about Schultz. She left. When hetgot
the bottom drawer, he no longer had any doubt. In it were two Palestinian flags
with Made in China tags on them, appearing identical tdflfgefound at the
Palo Alto bombing site. Right next to thosere dozens of small containers of
gunpowder and packet of primers.

ADammit! o he muttered wunder hi s
pointed to the stashinthetboo m dr awer . AnWe | et him

iBack off, Matt . Youdre too excif
more reason to bring the hazmat glyo

iWe have t o putdsoteten ta theBldtom .of thee
mountain yet. i te® minutes? [The ddpetiesrcomimdy @ptthis
way could stop him.o

AnAnd do what? Thereds no warrant
Maybe he enterethte country il l egally, accord
going to hold him for that. | CE wono
here. o
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AThey will i f we tell them hebs v
| 6m going afbembéim. | Hedbewt he. 0

He turned toward the bedroom door to leave, but Ellen put her hand on
his ar m. iMatt, think about it . Youé

But Matt shook off her hand and bolted for his car. Within twenty
seconds he was racing down the street, lights and sirébafi.

AfYou better go after Ihlookslike hd buy e n
Schultzcould bet he Pal o Al to Jewish Center

al most killed himself chasing him on
Schultz could hee a whole arsenal in his c&Ve never searchedat.
Aiwhat about you guys? That | eaves
i Weobl | be fine. We canét | eave CI
arrest not for a bombing suspect We 6 | | stay and wdi't

call for more agents, too. The clinic team should be finishing up anyway. They
told me theemployeeghere had all the stuff in the warrant nicely organized for

t hem. I 61 I have a team break off fr
intercept Schultzor at least Matt, at the bottom of the mountain. If not, we can
use the help finishing the search he
send as many bodies as we need when he heéryget the bomber identified
Nowga 0O

Warner grabbed the stgun and left Within seconds they heard his car
start up and spit gravel on the driveway as he rushed to catch up to Nguyen.

She pulled out her cell phone and started towh#n she realized her
battery was dead. They were just too far up the moung&ie. should have
thought of thakarlierand turned it off. She walked into the kitch&here there
was a wall phoneShe called the Assistant Special Agent in Charge of the
division and explained the situation. He told her to sit tight. He was sending
evayone but the marines. n f act , hedd send namnyf ew
agents were erarines.

AfoOkay, hel p, d sshoen & é&iedt dtaogy gl iofuft s
briefWoody For chain of custody | <canot

Cliff followed her out to the front driveway to talk to Braswdlo
sooner had they gathered by the edge of the road when a rifle shot rang out.
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Chapter37

Braswell was knocked backward as the round penetrated his protective
ballistic garmentthen his shoulder, stiaring his right clavicleand pas&d out
his back and ameto rest inside the vest. Agents were warned that the Kevlar
garments were goodregliyfidtue d teiegn .6 oldu ta tw
for high-velocity ammunition. Braswell had the untfienate distinction of
demonstratig this fact He layface up moaning, blood seeping from his wound,
his right arm useless.

Braswell had been standing between Cliff and Ellen. Since he was
holding the longpbarreled weapon, he was the logical one to take first.
Instinctively, both Cliff and Ellen had dived and rolled from their positions, but
in opposite directions. Cliff had launched himself into the shallow depression that
ran along the side of thead, aroughgutter of sorts carved out by the rimg
water when those rare rainstorms hit this mountainside. Ellen took two steps
toward the house and dove behind a decorative boulder

The second shot hit theavement nc hes above CIliff
more than sufficient to remind him not to look e remained prostrate and
immobile in the gutter. After this there were no shots or other sounds for half a
minute that to Cliff feltmorelike aweek

Ell en coul dnodt tell where the shec
to the nortlvest toward theintersectionof this street with Dunne, the only exit
from the area. She could see Braswel

dare expose herself to give himaglh e coul dnét t el Kfrom f I
where she crouched~rom the bloodshe could tell he had been hit in the
shoulder, and that alone probably would not be fatal, but he had fallen backward
and hit his head on the pavement of the drivewdyeasent down.

She also didndt knowitBliedadbdeet deld s e
the boul der and at | east knew it had
a peek around the far end of the boulder. She saw nothing. She had been ¢
firearms ranges enough to know from the sound the shot was from a rifle and not
a handgun andva s n 0t very <c¢l ose, at | east
shooter, Byrne or Schult z s he assum
spotted them, but had stopped well short of the house and set up an ambush.

A third shot ki ck eoditiougnd tlis time shensaw t
the impact. She decidgd make her move while the shooter was looking the
other direction. She sprinted for Br
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ground, made a sharp left and ran back toward the front door of tise.htust
before reaching the door, which she now cursed for being closed to keep in the
cool air, another shot passed inches from her face, shattering the front window.
She dove back the other direction and rolled, not letting go of the rifle.

Cliff, heaing the glass crackome distance awayook the opportunity
to change his location. He jumped up and sprinted across the rodidvealy was
no house or yard there, just a barwéte fence which he leaptclumsily,
shredding his pants leg and tearing tlesh of his calf. There wasome low
brush for visual coverand he could see some short ridges and shallow arroyos
beyondthat would provide better cover if he could get to thele.made it to the
nearest bush, whidhid most of his body from the shoofes di r ect i on.

His clothing was completely saturated with swdeim both exertion
andfear. He was pinned down by a marksman with a rifle in an unfamiliar area,
unarmed. At least he had his phone. He pulled this out and turned ibback
Thank Gd hed had the presence of mind to turn it off before the battery was
drained. It came on and showed reception of one Harhada signal He
immediately dialed 911. It rang seven times before anyone picked up and then he
was immediately put on hold.

An eon pased while the 911 operator dealt wjtheceding callers. He
imagined them akamebrains calling emergency services to get their cat out of a
tree or to complain about the neighbor who threw his plastic trash into the
garbage can instead of the recyclimally connected to a human, he managed
only to give his location.

The next shot came before beuld say more; ihit the gravel only six
inches from his footHe turned off the phone and scooted further behind the
bush.The shot was clearly coming mofiem the northeast now. The shooter
was circling aroundrom west to easto get a better shot.he sniperhad to be

moving up the hill. Cliff s faodarust wa
have been visibleThe shot had not ricocheted into hig.ldét had either buried
itself in theditor ski pped over his | eg, he d

was kicked up, though, peppered his shin, shredding his kba&is moreand
producing stingingeminders that he was under fire.

Ellen, hearing theshot coming behind her now, faklatively safe in
moving since the house would bl ock t
could not be sure, so she assumed a start position like an Olympic sprinter
behind her boulder, then toexross the yardnd around the north side of the
houseinto the back yardThere was a shed of sorts, almost like a bus shelter,
with a roof and three sides, filled with garden tools, paper targets, and hay bales
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She positioned herself behind the hay bales, which gheefi would provide the
best protectionThen she peeked around the edge toward the direction of the last
shot.

There was movementiigh on the hillside ananwas moving through
the scrub oak that populated that side of the street. The downhill side, Glifer
was,featued only a fewsmall busheson theserehillside, but up the hill, where
the shooter was, the foliage was dense enough to pregidesolid & well as
visual cover.The trees were sparse, but they were trees with trunks, not bushes.
Still, at least she knew where he was, and as he moved, he was coming furthe
into her line of sight. She had been trained on the MP5 like every other agent, bu
shedd never had mor e t haii parhhpstemrounds mu
once a year at daionary paper target.

The MP5 was a top quality weapon, but it used 9 millimeter rounds, the
same as her handgun. It waght, had little kick, and wasemarkably easy to be
accurate withup to 100 yards or savhich is why it was so popular with law
enforcement agencies worldwide, but its range was nowhere near that of the
hunting rifle that they opposed8oraShe
.308, or maybe something else, but it would have a much larger round, a longer
barrel, and the adveaage of the uphill position, allowing gravity to extend the
range, rather than shorten Ii. brief, it had more range and more killing power
than her carbineShe had never tried to hit a distant target with the MP5, but she
was quite sure she had littleance at the distance where she had seen the figure
move despite being an excellent shot with the handgun

Then she spotted the man move again, and his silhouette appearec
against the lighter soil behind him as he took a shooting position, rifle r&ised.
could tell he was aiming at Cliff across the street. She raised her MP5, sighted
quickly, and cranked off a round toward the man. The shooter moved quickly in
response, positioning himself sbat atree protected hinfrom her direction
Ellen had nodea where her round had landed, but if she could keephooter
distractedong enough for the cavalry to arrivghe might be able to save a life,
either Cliffds or HRaymsvwreherlodns , prefer



FATAL DOSE 235

Chapter 8

Matt Nguyen caughsight of the SUV on East Dunne only three blocks
before the entrance to U.S. 1(Matt had no doubt that if he did not make the
stop, Schultz would be gone from Californtdowever, this spot was right in
front of an elementary school and the kids were beihgue He could not make
the stop here.

He turned off his lights and siren, but moved up close behind the SUV,
almost tailgating. When Schultz passed the school, he started to accelerate
toward the freeway ramp, but Matt turned the siren back on andddsh red
light once. Schultz pulled over to the curb.

Matt unbuckled his seatbelt and pulled out his handgun, holding it in his
right hand. With his left he reached across his body and flipped on the
loudspeaker on the console, then lifted the microphon

AFBI, 0 he announced. nGet OuHle of
opened his own dr i ver 0slhedkchoing resonamce sft o
the amplifier made him sound more authoritative than he was. Still, Schultz did
not get out.

Matt repeated the command. He saw the door ppahSchultz remained
in the car. At that moment thr&®n e r ivdhicléssane racing off the freeway
toward them, on the opposite side of the street. Matt realized his Bureau car wa:
unmarked and had no siren orhig going. He was afraid the deputies would race
past, heading up the hill, and just mistake him and Schultz for a couple of
motorists pulled over to the curb.

The first two vehicles, one of which was a hazmat team trudiK,
exactly that, leaving Matt Iénd; but the third car spotted Matt holding the gun
and the mike and did a quick-turn to come up behind hinMatt was wearing
his FBI raid jacket, which identified him to the deputy without the need to show a
badge.Schultz stayed in his car. As the dgparrived, Matt announced again
AiFBI . Get out of the car with your h
the deputy than for Schultz, but it had the desired effect. Seeing the patrol car
was enogh to convinceSchultzfleeing or reisting wouldnot be possible. He
got outof the SUV with his hands above his head.

Matt exited his car and approached Schultz. At the same time, the deputy
who had pulled up behind, stepped out, hand on gunfaamkda position at an
angle so that Matt was not betwekim and Schultz. Matt handcuffed Schultz



236 FATAL DOSE

and began to frisk him. The old man did not resist or say anything. Matt found no

weapon on his person, but he removed
The deputy approached. AYoudr e Me

as a gquestion. fiWe received a dispat
Al might. | Dd a6 6 dMak #hen wirngdeot Schultz and

read him the Miranda warnings. When he was done, he asked if Schultz
understood them. Schultz justdued yes.
iAre you Oberherr Franz?o

il write a religious blog using t
religion and the press in this count
ADid you call Byrne to warn him a
Schultz took a moment to answer. Then he lookeldisatell phone in
Mattdés hand and realized Matt coul d
Al s it a crime in America to call a
executing a search warrant at his ho
il didnét sayked iwfasya@au cadlmeed. 0 a
il choose to invoke my right t o

Schultz replied.

Matt tried several more questions, his accusatory tone increasing in
intensity, but Schultz said nothing in response. Finally, in frustration, Matt
informed him that he was being placed under arrest for illegal entry to the United
States. He walked him back to the deputy and asked the deputy to maintain
custody while he searched the SUV.

Dave Warner pulled up, tires screeching like a banshee agsrtostal
overran the scene and had to brake hard. After a quick display of credentials tc
the deputy, Warner asked how he could help. Matt said he could help with the
search of theehicle

They dug through the contents of the SUV and found nothing of
evidentary value. No explosives, no gas can, no Palestinian flags. Not even a
suitcase or a toothbrush. Schultz had been surprised at the house with no chanc
to pack and was probably traveling with just the car, his wallet and passport, and
the clothes on hisazk

Matt consulted with Warner for a minute, then turned to the deputy. He

told him to put Schultz in the patrHt
overhear. The officer did so.
ALook, herebs the story. Thiso guy
ifiThe Jewish Center ? | tihPalestnians ort h a

somet hing. o
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iAiRi ght , t hat one. BNazi ant#Sendits Wesjustm e
found Palesnian flags in his room. | think he did the bombing and planted the
flagtocastssipi ci on. I 6m not sur e we hbatve
heés admitted to being this Franz gl
ill egally. We can start with that. I
to see if we can arrest ¢ime terrorism chargéVe need to complete the search of
his room, but wedre waitdng for the

The deputy, tired Yofuowdi tbien d,e rwo l
what youdr dhewtake torevergcanftransporhim to main jail and
heodol | be held overnight ogetybuhautharitynmi
worked out and either charge him with something else or pick him up in the

morning. He ol | go to federal court w
somet hing else, heodoll probably get Kk

Mat t and Warner exchanged | ooks
wor k. But make sure you donodét rel eas

to the house to help complete the search.
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Chapter39

Cliff now knew the shots were coming from the uphill direction, from
the northwestHearing the exchange from the MP5 and the hunting Triflbe
sound of the two wvere distinctly differenti he guessedthe shooter was
momentarily distracted he made a break in the southeast direction, parallel with
the street and going downhill.

He figured he had been saved largely because of the fact he was

downhill . The hay bales with the tar
the hill behind the hous®yrne was used to shooting that direction. The steep
downhi || changed his aiming point si

His best protection in this nearly open environment was thus distance, both
horizontal and vertical. He wanted to @g much space and elevation between
him and Byrne.

The sprint acrosshe barrenhillside was grueling. He realized that he
was no longer sweatingle was toadehydrated. With temperatures in the triple
digits and the humidity near zerbquids disappeack from his body at near
relaivi sti c speed. He reached a beayaled
and collapsed in a heap. All that was going through his mind was that he just hac
to lie down for a moment and catch his breath. He also knew he éotuldn
continue to wear the protective vest. It was causing heat exhaustion and really
wasnot much protection against a rif
fall into the dust. The relief was immediate.

He could see a house on the other side efféince about twenty yards.

His best hope was to get help from the resident thHdes/be someone there
would give him a ride out of the areAt least he could get out of sight, although
he feared Byrne would have been able to see his direction of treval His
vantage point.

The front door of the house was on the street side, of course, which
meant it faced uphill, and would be visible to the shooter. Cliff planted one hand
on the fence post and tried to vault the fence. This atfeogivas unsuccefid.

His pants leg caught on the tbprbedwire andhe tumbled into the dirt on the

far side. One of the fence barbs shredded the fabric along his calf and gouget
anotherlong scratch through his flesh. It was a superficial wound, but it produced
quite abit of blood. In addition, he sprained his left wrist when he land&d.

least he heard no further shots. He no longer knew where the shooter was, o
where Ellen was. He began to have hope that he had not been seen making h
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way her e, b u t coktinue w lielthere in theu dirtd He ddd no visible
cover. He struggled to his feet and trotiethe fastest speed he could manage
towardthe rear of the house, outtbie sightof anyone uphill.

Then the most wonderful vision appeared to him. Hedeoed for a
moment if he was hallucinating. There across the yard, or what he now realized
was actually a corral, was a watering trough. Instead of diverting left toward the
back door of the house he made a beeline straight ahead for the trough. It was ful
of water. Wi thout a moment s hesitat
Dirt, bugs and horse slobber notwithstanding, it was ambrosia from the gods.
Never had anything tasted sogdod ot even the wine Mar
imported.

He spashed his shirt and pants with the heavenly nectar; the evaporation
providedimmediaterelief to his overheated body. He crumpled to his knees and
gasped withgratitude All he needed was another minute of this and he would be
rejuvenatedenough to thinkstraight. He took another long drink and let out a
loud, involuntary belch.

ADond6t move. o

The words came frorhehind him Al t hough he coul d
Cliff immediately reogn i z e d Begp bhass &ace. He could also tell that
Byrne was closenough to put a bullet through his head at a whim, no problem.
He froze.

ANow turn around. O

Cliff did so. He saw Brian Byrne standing twenty yards away, panting
heavily. His right hand held a hunting rifle pointed directly at Cliff. His left hand
was funbling with something in the pocket of his hunting vest. The pockets were
bulging with shellsbutCl i f f coul d t el l he wasnot
He was digging deep for something else.

The water heodd drunk and saddsting d c
buoying effect on Cliff. He knew he could run at a sprint now and react faster
thanhe might havaninutes before, but Byrne was still too cldsand too far
away. This corral area was relatively level, open, and surrounded by barbed wire.
Cliff would be gunned down before he could go more than ten yards. Byrne was
obviously exhausted, not only panting heavily, but his face was flushed and his
eyes gl assy. Cliff saw an empty wat
hunting vest. No doubt he walehydrated, tgo b u t it |l ooked |
and woul odverlyliad dhapeCliffjudged that if he could get to him, he
would have an advantage over Byrne in a physical fight, but Byrne was too smart
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to get that closeHe also kept his eyesn Cliff the whole time rather than look
down to help him find whatever it was he was digdmgn his pocket.

Then Byrne extracted from that pocket somethiogiinous i a
hypodermic need|ecapped with a plastic covdt was wrapped in some kind of
foil-lined fabric, but the shape was still obvioBgrne tucked the rifle under his
right arm for a fewsecondswhile he used his right hand tmwrap the foil and
pull thecep df the needle butnever took his eyes from CIiff.

fiYou rui ned ndgclaredinf ae matierofBagt rtane still

panting.
Al d&m just a process serretodrgpof€| i |
thepapers. Yau compl ai nt i s with Xlectrix o
ABul | shit. Youdr e n @ hached mansfar s
Xl ectrix. You |l eft your card at the
destoysomeoned6s |ydwdr eangloinmogw t o have

unless you choose to end it right hbyetryingtorun  Wel come t o my
fiwhy did you kill those people with the overdoses? Was it really
necessary justtogat r ai se at wor k?0
Byrne cocked an eyebrow at this remark and hesitated before replying.

He | ooked genuinely puzzled. AnKil 1l e
anywy . | 6 myouhgive merageason to change that

iWhen you hac kLdags andrkitled the poveer to thetD@P,
the overdoses killed two patients an

AiNo way. Youbre | ying. thathappenad. Ild &
calculated the doses. It should just have left a small bmough to make the
patients afraid to go back there. | wanted to show the world that the design of the
L4 is unsafe. If | could hackto it, anyone could. The whole remote ass thing
ithat 6s | i ke |wasdoingthe warld alsersigest er .

AYou dr e il ® md ¢ e i tid ohtlge patients diedAnother one
had her leg amputated.

i Imusthave beecancer that killed them.
first; | always made sure my machines were working perfeétlyalibraed to
exact specificationsl hat 6 s why it was so unfair

at my joh the besttheyhad Youdér e j ust agndtabysi nngo tmi gnc
work. Come closeo.

Cliff didndt move.

i | said come closer. 0 Byrne raist¢
chest.

Cliff started walking slowly toward Byrne.



FATAL DOSE 241

i St op Turnhamwund .

Cliff stopped about ten yards from Byraed turned his back to him.

ANokmeel down. 0O

Cliff knelt.

Byrne shifted the rifle from his right hand to his lefhd took the
hypodermic in his rightCliff considered making his movéle could hear Byrne
behind doing something that occupi ec
Byrne was obviously in a slightly awkward positidrut he distance was just too
great.B y r nwedpsnwas not amerehandgun. One shot would probably Kill
him.

Byrne advanced toward CliffGlancing down, heently squeezed the
plunger until a bead of ligd oozed from the tip of the needle.

Yo u wtalkhabouttaadiation overdose? Cesidbh37 brine A little
cocktail of my own inventionT hat 6 s t h aot yoar dulishidYew |
shoul dnot have searched my house.
experimental sample andccidentally stuck yourselfThat was your mistake.
You got a fatal dose.

Cliff still couldndét see what Byr

fildonodt know what youdre talking
searchingd
fi | was s holard who gereaifling by hogse. How was | to
know it was the FBWith a searchwarradt And | only fired
wanted to killthe agentd®ack there | could have done it half a dozen times. With
that pea shooteéhe Gg i rgbt&ee wasaist t i ng duck. Shebds
hay shed, afraid to come out and play with the big Idoys.
fi | never said anwatahtiHo gd §eulkrow aboud s
that? Ober herr Franz called you, di dnot
your house. 0

AEnough tal k.o

Byrneadvanced toward him arited thehypoafew more degrees.



